
 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
 

 
Gerard Watson 
395 2194 

 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

1 

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 

Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 at 1.00 pm 
 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

Councillors 
 
K Wakefield (Chair) 
J Blake 
M Dobson 
P Gruen 
R Lewis 
L Mulherin 
A Ogilvie 
L Yeadon 

A Carter S Golton  

 

Public Document Pack



 

2 

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers 
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below: 
 
9.0  Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access 
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, 
and minutes will also be excluded. 

 

9.2 Confidential information means 
(a)  information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which 

forbid its public disclosure or  
(b)  information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another 

Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an 
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights 
rules.  

 

10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access 
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed provided: 
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and 
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public. 

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or 
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  

 

10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will 
also be excluded.  

 
10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 

affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 

any condition): 
1 Information relating to any individual 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3  Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information). 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-
holders under the authority. 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
(a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

 

 



 

3 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded) 
  
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting) 
  
 

 

2   
 

  

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1         To highlight reports or appendices which officers 
have identified as containing exempt information within 
the meaning of Section 100I of the Local Government 
Act 1972, and where officers consider that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information, for the 
reasons outlined in the report. 
  
2          To consider whether or not to accept the officers 
recommendation in respect of the above information. 
  
3          If the recommendation is accepted, to formally 
pass the following resolution:- 
  
RESOLVED –  That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of 
the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of those parts of the 
agenda designated as exempt  on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if 
members of the press and public were present there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information. 
  
  
  
 

 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

4 

3   
 

  

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration 
  
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes) 
 

 

4   
 

  

  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
  
 

 

5   
 

  

  MINUTES 
 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 15th October 2014 
 

1 - 10 

   NEIGHBOURHOODS, PLANNING AND 
PERSONNEL 
 

 

6   
 

  

Ardsley and 
Robin Hood; 
Bramley and 
Stanningley; 
City and 
Hunslet; Cross 
Gates and 
Whinmoor; 
Kippax and 
Methley; 
Morley North; 
Morley South; 
Otley and 
Yeadon; 
Rothwell; 
Weetwood 

 COMMUNITY CENTRES REVIEW - PROPOSALS 
TO CONSULT 
 
To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities) presenting a 
number of proposals in regard to a range of 
community centres across the city. The report 
builds on the paper that was considered by 
Executive Board at its meeting in June 2014 and 
recommends that a formal 12 week consultation 
period is now commenced on a number of possible 
changes to ten community centres identified as 
requiring action in the short term. 
 

11 - 
22 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

5 

7   
 

  

  LEEDS HOMES REFURBISHMENT STANDARD 
 
To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing which seeks agreement 
to a new standard for the refurbishment of Council 
Housing following the completion of the Decent 
Homes Standard programme of improvement 
work. 
 

23 - 
36 

8   
 

K 

  SUPPLY OF SPECIALIST HOUSING FOR 
OLDER PEOPLE 
 
To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing, the Director of City 
Development and the Director of Adult Social 
Services outlining the progress made to date and 
identifying how the delivery of specialist housing 
units could be increased, particularly in those 
areas of the city where there is a current or 
predicted shortfall. In addition, the report also sets 
out the scope of the review of Council-owned 
sheltered housing in the city which will look to 
expand the housing and support options and 
choices for older people, and provide flexibility to 
meet changing needs. 
  
  
 

37 - 
54 

   ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
 

 

9   
 

K 

  DELIVERING THE BETTER LIVES STRATEGY 
IN LEEDS: PROPOSED NEXT STEPS 
 
To consider the report of the Director of Adult 
Social Services providing information on the 
progress which has been made in relation to the 
Better Lives programme to date.  Taking this into 
account, together with current opportunities and 
challenges, the report will also make 
recommendations for next steps, including the 
future direction of travel for those services currently 
provided by the Council. 
  
  
 

55 - 
82 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

6 

10   
 

  

  EXTERNAL PROVISION OF HOME CARE 
SERVICES 
 
To consider the report of the Director of Adult 
Social Services providing details of the progress 
made to date with the re-commissioning and re-
design of the external home care services and the 
next steps to be taken. 
  
 

83 - 
116 

11   
 

K 

  LEEDS CITY COUNCIL SOCIAL CARE AND 
HEALTH CAPITAL FUND 
 
To consider the report of the Interim Director of 
Adult Social Services advising of the intention to 
commit Health and Social Care capital funding to 
two information and technology led schemes in 
order to support the City’s ambitious plans to be 
the Best City in the country for Health and 
Wellbeing. The report follows the decision of the 
Executive Board to create a specific Capital fund of 
£25 Million to support the City's ambitious plans to 
be the Best City for Health and Wellbeing. The 
Capital Fund is also intended to ensure that such 
plans are achieved on a sustainable basis, through 
the reduction of future revenue costs across the 
health and care system.  
  
 

117 - 
124 

   FINANCE AND INEQUALTY 
 

 

12   
 

  

  FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2014/15 - 
HALF YEAR 
 
To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive setting out the Council’s projected 
financial position for 2014/2015 at the half year 
stage of the financial year. 
 

125 - 
146 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

7 

13   
 

  

  CAPITAL PROGRAMME QUARTER 2 UPDATE 
2014-2017 
 
To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive providing an update on the Capital 
Programme position as at period 6, the end of 
September 2014.  The report includes an analysis 
of major changes and progress on schemes within 
the Capital Programme since July 2014, an 
analysis of the impact that any changes in capital 
resources may have on the cost of borrowing 
within the revenue budget as the key control of 
capital investment. The report also provides a brief 
update of progress on major schemes within the 
programme’s objectives and seeks some specific 
approvals in relation to funding injections for 
specific schemes. 
  
 

147 - 
162 

14   
 

  

  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
UPDATE 2014/15 
 
To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive presenting a review and update of the 
Treasury Management Strategy for the period 
2014/15. 
 

163 - 
172 

   HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

 

15   
 

  

  THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE FINANCIAL 
CHALLENGE IN LEEDS 
 
To consider the joint report of the Director of Public 
Health and the Director of Adult Social Services 
providing an overview of the current state of the 
Leeds health and social care ‘£’, the financial 
challenge facing the Leeds health and social care 
economy and the measures that are currently 
being put in place to transform the system for the 
benefit of citizens in a way that is financially 
sustainable.   

  

  
 

173 - 
186 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

8 

   TRANSPORT AND THE ECONOMY 
 

 

16   
 

K 

City and 
Hunslet 

 TEMPLE MILL 
 
To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development setting out the current status of the 
Grade 1 listed and at risk Temple Mill and detailing 
the proposals of a private sector led development 
proposition. Additionally, the report seeks 
agreement to the principles of how the Council can 
support the redevelopment of Temple Mill and the 
regeneration efforts in the area 
  
 

187 - 
206 

17   
 

K 

Calverley and 
Farsley 

10.4(3) 
(Appendix 
1 only) 

DESIGN AND COST REPORT FOR PLAYING 
PITCHES AND LAND AT WOODHALL LANE, 
PUDSEY, LS28 
 
To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development seeking the necessary approvals 
which would enable the acquisition of three parcels 
of land primarily laid out as playing pitches and 
grazing land from Bradford University and Bradford 
City Council on the heads of terms detailed within 
the exempt appendix. In addition, the report seeks 
approval of the sale of the long leasehold interest 
of the area outlined within the appended plan to 
Albion Sports Juniors Football Association, on the 
terms identified in the exempt appendix, subject to 
Albion Sports covenanting to share the use of the 
pitches with other clubs and schools in the area. 
  
(Please note that Appendix 1 to this report is 
designated as exempt from publication under the 
provisions of Access to Information Procedure 
Rule 10.4 (3)) 
  
  
 

207 - 
216 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

9 

18   
 

K 

City and 
Hunslet 

 LEEDS CITY CENTRE BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 
To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development providing an update on the progress 
which has been made in the development of the 
Leeds City Centre Business Improvement District 
(BID) proposals since the last report was submitted 
to Executive Board in April of this year.   

  

217 - 
282 

19   
 

K 

City and 
Hunslet; 
Gipton and 
Harehills; 
Killingbeck 
and Seacroft; 
Middleton 
Park; Temple 
Newsam 

 NEXT STEPS IN THE BROWNFIELD LAND 
PROGRAMME 
 
To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development providing an update on the progress 
made to deliver new housing on brownfield sites 
through the Council’s Brownfield Land Programme. 
In addition, the report seeks approval of an 
approach to secure further sustained development 
over the next 5 years. 
  
  

283 - 
310 

20   
 

K 

City and 
Hunslet 

10.4(3) 
(Appendix 
1 only) 

DESIGN AND COST REPORT FOR NCP CAR 
PARK, HARPER STREET, LEEDS 
 
To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development seeking approval to the proposed 
acquisition of the Council’s head tenant’s leasehold 
interest, which would allow the Council to receive 
direct a substantial rental income from their sub 
tenant NCP. 

(Please note that Appendix 1 to this report is 
designated as exempt from publication under the 
provisions of Access to Information Procedure 
Rule 10.4 (3)) 
  
 

311 - 
326 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

10 

21   
 

K 

City and 
Hunslet 

10.4(3) 
(Appendix 
1 only) 

CONNECTIVITY IMPROVEMENTS TO SOUTH 
BANK 
 
To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development outlining issues which impact upon 
the potential success of Leeds Dock and the rest of 
South Bank and proposes the contribution of 
funding and in-kind support to a number of public 
realm, cycling and public transport improvements 
in order to improve connectivity to South Bank. 

(Please note that Appendix 2 to this report is 
designated as exempt from publication under the 
provisions of Access to Information Procedure 
Rule 10.4 (3)). 
  

327 - 
342 

   CHILDREN AND FAMILIES 
 

 

22   
 

K 

Armley; 
Bramley and 
Stanningley 

 OUTCOMES OF STATUTORY NOTICES TO 
INCREASE PRIMARY SCHOOL PROVISION IN 
ARMLEY AND BRAMLEY & STANNINGLEY 
 
To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services detailing proposals submitted to meet the 
local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of 
school places. The report is divided into two parts - 
Part A describes the outcome of a statutory notice 
in relation to the expansion of primary provision in 
Armley for September 2016, and seeks a final 
decision on the proposal.  Part B describes the 
outcome of a statutory notice in relation to the 
expansion of primary provision in Bramley and 
Stanningley for September 2016, and seeks a final 
decision on the proposal. 
 

343 - 
354 

23   
 

  

  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN 2015-
19 
 
To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services setting out the intention to consult with 
stakeholders on the development of the 2015-19 
Children and Young People’s Plan before the final 
draft is submitted to full Council for approval in 
April 2015. 
  
  
 

355 - 
362 



Item 
No 
K=Key 
Decision 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 

11 

Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 15TH OCTOBER, 2014 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor K Wakefield in the Chair 

 Councillors J Blake, M Dobson,  
S Golton, P Gruen, R Lewis, L Mulherin, 
A Ogilvie and L Yeadon 

 
SUBSTITUTE MEMBER: Councillor J Procter 

 
 

79 Substitute Member  
Under the terms of Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.1.6, 
Councillor J Procter was invited to attend the meeting on behalf of Councillor 
A Carter. 
 

80 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows:- 
  
Appendix A to the report entitled, ‘Leeds City Region Green Deal and ECO 
Scheme’, referred to in Minute No. 86 is designated as exempt in accordance 
with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 
on the grounds that the information contained within the appendix is 
commercially sensitive and is extracted from bids received by the Council. 
The publication of such information would prejudice the commercial interests 
of the bidders involved, and it would also damage the Council’s interests, as it 
would decrease bidders’ confidence in the Council’s procurement processes. 
It is therefore determined that in all circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

81 Late Items  
There were no late items as such, however, prior to the meeting an updated 
version of exempt Appendix A to agenda item 7 entitled, ‘Leeds City Region 
Green Deal and ECO Scheme’ had been circulated to Board members for 
their consideration (Minute No. 86 refers).   
  

82 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
There were no declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests made during 
the meeting.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

83 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th 
September 2014 be approved as a correct record. 
  
TRANSPORT AND THE ECONOMY 
 

84 Leeds Bradford International Airport  
The Director of City Development submitted a report setting out the main 
principles for the development of the Council’s policy relating to the growth of 
Leeds Bradford International Airport (LBIA). The report considered the 
Council’s approach towards enhancing the positive role of LBIA in supporting 
economic and jobs growth and providing international connections. 
Additionally, the report presented the framework for the planned growth and 
improvement of the airport and its wider supporting infrastructure; together 
with the Council’s intentions around developing a unified approach across site 
allocations, transport and economic development. 
  
Emphasis was placed upon the integral role played by the airport in ensuring 
the future economic competitiveness of both the local and regional economy, 
whilst the support which existed for improvements to the airport’s accessibility 
and connectivity was highlighted.    
  
Responding to an enquiry, the Board received an update regarding the 
development of the Surface Access Strategy and the wider work being 
undertaken around the improvement of road access to the airport. 
  
RESOLVED – That in the context of the White Paper Motion approved at the 
meeting of Council on 26th March 2014, and the growth potential of LBIA as 
outlined by the Department for Transport (DfT):- 
  
(a)          That the main policy principles relating to the growth of LBIA, as set out 

at section 5.1 of the submitted report be agreed; 

(b)          That officers be requested to work with LBIA in order to support them in 
the timely completion of the Airport Masterplan and Surface Access 
Strategy work, to inform the development of the Council’s policy 
position; 

(c)          That officers be requested to develop work on the proposals for surface 
access, working closely with LBIA, DfT and the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority; 

(d)          That Development Plans Panel be requested to take account of the 
submitted report in preparing land proposals through the Site 
Allocations Plan process for land use in the area surrounding LBIA; 

(e)          That officers be requested to develop proposals for the sustainable 
growth and enhancement of the economic and employment role of 
LBIA, working closely with the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP); and 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

  
(f)           That the Director of City Development be instructed to co-ordinate the 

work set out in the resolutions above and to submit a progress report 
on such matters to Executive Board in mid-2015. 

NEIGHBOURHOODS, PLANNING AND PERSONNEL 
 

85 Update on Response to Leeds Students' Unions Deputation of March 
2014  
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report responding to the deputation 
presented to full Council on 26th March 2014 by representatives of Leeds 
University Union, Leeds Beckett Students’ Union and Leeds Trinity Students’ 
Union regarding “Student Representation at Policy Making Level”. 
  
By way of an introduction to the submitted report, the Executive Member for 
Neighbourhoods, Planning and Personnel provided an update on the 
continuing actions being taken to ensure increased student involvement in 
policy making in Leeds. Furthermore, the Executive Member made a specific 
request to the relevant officers to ensure the establishment of appropriate 
students’ union representation/input on the Communities Partnership Board 
and also the Housing Forum.  
  
RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report be noted. 
  
CLEANER, STRONGER AND SAFER COMMUNITIES 
 

86 Leeds City Region Green Deal and ECO scheme  
Further to Minute No. 39, 16th July 2014, the Director of Environment and 
Housing submitted a report which provided the Board with information on the 
progress made to date on the procurement of the Leeds City Region (LCR) 
Green Deal and Energy Companies’ Obligation (ECO) scheme and which 
sought approval to call off from the Framework Agreement. In addition, the 
submitted report also detailed the benefits of the scheme in order to assist 
with the decision making in respect of call-off. 
  
An updated version of exempt Appendix A to the submitted report had been 
circulated to Board Members prior to the meeting for their consideration. 
  
The Executive Member for Cleaner, Stronger and Safer Communities 
highlighted the range of potential benefits which would be realised by the 
initiative detailed within the report, whilst also highlighting how the 
collaborative procurement process had provided a good example of the Leeds 
City Region and Local Authorities effectively working in partnership in order to 
deliver large scale projects for the benefit of the community. 
  
Following consideration of the updated Appendix A to the submitted report, 
designated as exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3), which was considered in private at the 
conclusion of the meeting it was 
  

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the participation of Leeds City Council in the Leeds City Region 

Green Deal and ECO scheme, including support for the Framework 
and commitment to use the Call-Off Contract be approved in principle; 

(b)          That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of 
Environment and Housing in order to agree the commercial terms of 
the Call-Off Contract and to sign the Contract; 

(c)          That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of 
Environment and Housing in order to take operational decisions, 
including attendance at the Home Energy Project Board (HEPB); 

(d)          That the progress being made in respect of this matter be monitored 
through the HEPB and that annual progress reports be submitted to the 
Executive Board for consideration. 

DIGITAL AND CREATIVE TECHNOLOGIES, CULTURE AND SKILLS 
 

87 Review of Library Opening Hours  
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining the outcomes 
arising from the period of consultation and analysis which had taken place as 
part of the review of library opening hours. In addition, the report sought 
approval to implement the resulting proposed hours, with the aim of delivering 
identified savings, whilst also ensuring that the service was provided in the 
most efficient manner to meet customers’ needs. 
  
Members welcomed the comprehensive consultation exercise which had been 
undertaken on this matter, the outcomes from which had been reflected within 
the proposals detailed within the submitted report. In addition, emphasis was 
placed upon the difficult decisions which needed to be taken in respect of 
library provision, however it was highlighted that the proposals under 
consideration aimed to ensure that a sustainable and innovative service 
continued in Leeds which was responsive to changing local circumstances.   
  
On behalf of the Board, the Executive Member for Digital and Creative 
Technologies, Culture and Skills thanked all of those who had been involved 
in the delivery of the consultation and analysis exercise, which had been 
integral to the proposals detailed within the submitted report.  
  
RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the changes to library opening hours, as identified in Appendix 1 to 

the submitted report, be approved with effect from Monday, 1st 
December 2014; 

(b)          That it be noted that the Head of the Library and Information Service will 
be responsible for the implementation of such matters. 

 
 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
 

88 Out of the Shadows: Time to Shine  
The Director of Adult Social Services and the Director of Public Health 
submitted a joint report providing a briefing on the vision of the ‘Time to 
Shine’ project, the aim of which was to reduce loneliness and isolation by 
breaking down barriers and building strong communities. In addition, the 
report described the project’s strategy for making better use of existing 
assets, whilst also changing society’s attitudes and behaviours towards older 
people. 
  
On behalf of the Board, the Executive Members for Adult Social Care and 
Health and Wellbeing welcomed the grant which had been awarded to the city 
of Leeds and respectively paid tribute to the Leeds Older People’s Forum for 
the work that the organisation had undertaken as part of the successful bid 
submission process. 
  
RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the Leeds Older People’s Forum and its partners be congratulated 

on the success of their bid; 

(b)          That the aims, vision and strategy of the ‘Time to Shine’ project be 
noted and endorsed; 

(c)          That further annual updates on the progress of the project be received 
by the Executive Board over the next six years; 

(d)          That it be noted that the lead officer for ensuring updates are submitted 
to Executive Board is the Deputy Director, Adult Social Care. 

89 Director of Adult Social Services - Sandie Keene  
On behalf of the Board, the Chair paid tribute to and thanked the Director of 
Adult Social Services, Sandie Keene, for her services to the Council, as this 
would be the final Executive Board meeting in which she would be in 
attendance prior to her retirement. 
  
FINANCE AND INEQUALITY 
 

90 Discretionary Housing Payments  
The Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) submitted a report 
providing an update on Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) expenditure 
and the actions which were being taken to both meet the needs of vulnerable 
tenants and also manage the scheme’s expenditure within the available 
budget.   
  
In addition, it was noted that the report also sought the Board’s approval to 
submit an application to the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) to utilise Housing Revenue Account funding up to a 
maximum of £250,000, in order to help deal with DHP awards for Housing 
Leeds tenants with severe disabilities living in significantly adapted properties. 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

  
In considering the report, Members discussed a number of matters which 
related to the current national policies affecting vulnerable tenants and the 
impact of such policies upon the demand for DHPs.   
  
RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the pressures on the DHP fund and the actions being taken to deal 

with the pressures, be noted; 

(b)          That the application to the DCLG to use Housing Revenue Account 
funding up to a maximum of £250,000 to help deal with DHP awards 
for Housing Leeds tenants with severe disabilities living in significantly 
adapted properties, be approved; 

(c)          That a report be received in the new year from the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities) on a proposed DHP scheme for 
2015/16, following Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 
confirmation of DHP funding. 

91 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015/16 - 2016/17  
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which set out the principles 
and assumptions underlying the proposed financial strategy covering the 
years 2015/16 to 2016/17. It was noted that the financial strategy would 
provide the framework for the preparation of the 2015/16 initial budget 
proposals which were scheduled to be presented to Executive Board in 
December 2014. 
  
In considering the proposed medium term financial strategy, the Board 
discussed the national context specifically in respect of the cumulative funding 
reductions which had been experienced by the Council to date, together with 
the indicative financial settlement proposals for 2015/16. Members also gave 
consideration to a range of issues relating to the Government’s current 
funding model for Local Authorities and looking to the future, highlighted the 
unprecedented financial challenge that the Council faced.  
  
RESOLVED – That the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2015/16 - 
2016/17 be approved, and that the assumptions and principles outlined in the 
submitted report be used as a basis for the detailed preparation of the Initial 
Budget Proposals for 2015/16. 
  

92 Financial Health Monitoring 2014/15: Month 5  
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report presenting the Council’s 
projected financial position for 2014/15 after five months of the financial year. 
  
The Deputy Chief Executive provided an update to the Board and indicated 
that the draft month 6 figures showed a further deterioration in the Council’s 
financial position by approximately £1,000,000. 
  
RESOLVED – That the projected financial position of the authority after five 
months of 2014/15, as detailed within the submitted report, be noted.   

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

  
93 Citizens@Leeds:Delivering Community Hubs Across the City  

Further to Minute No. 47, 16th July 2014, the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) submitted a report which set out proposals aimed 
at the delivery of a sustainable network of Community Hubs across the city. 
The report outlined the high-level basis upon which a city-wide network of 
Community Hubs could be developed; building upon the successes and 
learning from the three pathfinder hubs agreed by Executive Board in 
November 2013. 
  
Members welcomed the proposals detailed within the submitted report, 
particularly with regard to their integrated and innovative nature.   
  
RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the adoption of a city-wide community hub model which sees a 

network based approach, developed in partnership with Community 
Committee’s and local Ward Councillors, and supported by a city 
centre community hub, be approved; 

(b)          That the proposal to bring together all existing community based one 
stop centres, libraries and housing management offices, to be 
managed as a single set of ‘front of house’ services, in order to enable 
the development of a city-wide network of community hubs, be 
approved; 

(c)          That the proposal to create a single ‘front of house team’ in order to 
provide the community hub workforce, be approved, with the team 
being made up from all existing ‘front-of-house’ staff based in customer 
services, libraries, housing Leeds and jobs and skills; 

(d)          That the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) be 
authorised to progress the detailed design of the proposed city-wide 
community hub network and associated workforce arrangements, as 
set out within Section 5 of the submitted report; 

(e)          That an update report be submitted to Executive Board in March 2015 
providing an update on the progress being made and the development 
of a detailed business case to support delivery of the aspirations, as 
outlined within the submitted report. 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

94 Due North: Report of the Inquiry on Health Equity for the North  
The Director of Public Health submitted a report which outlined the key 
recommendations arising from the report entitled ‘Due North’, a document 
which reported the findings from the inquiry undertaken in relation to health 
equity for the North.  In addition, the report sought agreement on ways to 
implement those recommendations through the Leeds City Region. 
  

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

Members discussed the detail of the Executive Summary from the ‘Due North’ 
report, which had been compiled by the Inquiry Panel on Health Equity for the 
North of England, specifically around the nature of the associated 
recommendations, the narrative used and also the findings in respect of 
young people.  
  
RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the findings and recommendations of the ‘Due North’ report be 

supported;  

(b)          That the Board’s influence be used in the Leeds City Region and the 
Combined Authority in order to progress the recommendations of the 
‘Due North’ report and to help achieve the ambitions of the city; 

(c)          That the Health and Wellbeing Board be requested to review the 
recommendations and to identify opportunities for further progress at 
both city wide and local level. 

TRANSPORT AND THE ECONOMY 
 

95 Asset Management Plan  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval of 
the Asset Management Plan for the period 2014 - 2017, as presented within 
Appendix 1 to the submitted report.  
  
Councillor Groves, as Chair of the Scrutiny Board (Sustainable Economy and 
Culture) presented the key findings of the Scrutiny Board arising from its prior 
consideration of the draft Asset Management Plan. The Scrutiny Board’s 
comments were detailed within Appendix 2 to the submitted report. 
  
The work which was being undertaken in line with the Government’s ‘One 
Public Estate’ programme was noted, together with the progress which was 
being made with other public sector partners as part of this initiative. 
  
RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the Asset Management Plan be approved; 

(b)          That it be noted that the implementation timescale for the plan is 2014- 
2017; and 

(c)          That it be noted that the Head of Asset Management is responsible for 
implementation of the plan. 

96 Chief Asset Management and Regeneration Officer - Christine Addison  
On behalf of the Board, the Chair paid tribute to and thanked the Chief Asset 
Management and Regeneration Officer, Christine Addison, for her services to 
the Council, as this would be the final Executive Board meeting in which she 
would be in attendance prior to her leaving the Council for a new position. 
  
  

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES 
 

97 Domestic Violence and Abuse Programme Update  
The Director of Children’s Services, the Director of Environment and Housing 
and the Director of Public Health submitted a joint report providing an update 
on the progress made in tackling domestic violence and abuse, both in terms 
of response to Scrutiny Board findings and in the wider programme of work 
aimed at addressing Domestic Violence and Abuse in Leeds. In addition, the 
report also sought support for the approach being adopted to tackle such 
matters in Leeds. 
  
Councillor Anderson, as Chair of the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger 
Communities) presented the key findings and recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Board following its Inquiry into this matter.  A summary of the 
Scrutiny Board’s desired outcomes and recommendations were detailed 
within Appendix A to the submitted report.   
  
Members welcomed the submitted report and paid tribute to the members of 
the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger Communities) for the considerable 
work which they had undertaken on this wide ranging Inquiry. In considering 
the report, specific emphasis was placed upon the vital importance of a cross-
departmental and multi-agency approach when tackling the issues arising in 
this area. 
  
RESOLVED –  
(a)          That the actions being taken across the Council and by partners to 

tackle Domestic Violence and Abuse be noted, and that the direction of 
travel being taken, be agreed;  

(b)          That the recommendations of the Scrutiny Board (Safer and Stronger 
Communities), as detailed within Appendix A to the submitted report, 
be received and endorsed. 

98 Information on the annual admissions round for September 2014 entry 
and upcoming consultation for 2016 policy.  
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report which provided 
statistical information on the annual admissions round for entry to Reception 
and Year 7 for September 2014. The report highlighted that the rising birth 
rate had been impacting upon entry to Reception particularly since 2009 and 
the impact on entry to year 7 was now affecting some areas of the city. In 
addition, the report further considered the potential effect of the latest 
government consultation on changes to the Admissions Code, and the 
potential for changes within the Leeds City Council Admissions Policy. 
  
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 

•        The numbers of applications for both phases of education, the 
percentage of successful first preferences for secondary admissions 
was 86% (up from 84% last year) and for Reception admissions was 
85% (same as last year). 

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 19th November, 2014 

 

•        The percentage of parents receiving one of their top three preferences 
was 96% for secondary and 94% for primary, compared to 94% for 

each last year.  

•        The percentage of parents getting none of their preferences and made 
an alternative offer instead was 3.2% in secondary (6.5% last year) and 
5% in primary (same as last year) 

•        The contents of the government consultation on changes to the 
admissions code for 2016. 

•        The work with key partners in order to provide a package of measures 
to support families to ensure their applications are made appropriately 
and in a timely fashion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:            FRIDAY, 17TH OCTOBER 2014 
  
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:           FRIDAY, 24TH OCTOBER 2014 AT 
5.00P.M. 
  
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12.00noon on 
Monday, 27th October 2014) 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
 

 

 

Report of Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19 November 2014 

Subject: Community Centre Review – Proposals to Consult 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 

 City & Hunslet, Rothwell, Ardsley & 
Robin Hood, Morley North, Morley South, Kippax & Methley, 
Cross Gates & Whinmoor, , Weetwood, Otley & Yeadon, 
Bramley & Stanningley,  

  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 

Summary of main issues  

1. At its June 2014 meeting, Members of Executive Board received a report on the 
progress made in reviewing the council’s community centre portfolio and agreed to 
receive a further report making a number of proposals for consultation.   

2. This report now proposes the commencement of formal consultation on the future of a 
number of community centres managed by the council.  The report details the review 
evidence which supports the conclusions reached and proposals made in regard to a 
number of community centres. 

3. Upon completion of a formal 12 week consultation period, a further report will be 
brought back to Members making firm proposals for closure, asset transfer and centre 
improvements in relation to the ten centres requiring short term action. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Report author:  M Dean, B Logan 

Tel: 39 51652 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

 

Recommendations 

4. Members of Executive Board are recommended to request that by 27 February 2015 
the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities):  

i) consults on the proposed future of the following community centres:  

 St Gabriel's Community Centre, Fall Lane, East Ardsley 

 Bramley Community Centre,  Waterloo Lane, Bramley 

 Old Cockburn Sports Hall, Primrose Lane, Hunslet 

 Kippax Youth Centre, known as the Kippax Kabin, Cross Hills, Kippax 

 Gildersome Youth Club Street Lane, Gildersome 

 Lewisham Park Centre, Clough Street, Morley 

 Weston Lane Community Centre, Weston Ridge, Otley 

 Windmill Youth Centre, Marsh Street, Rothwell 

 Fieldhead Youth and Adult Centre, Naburn Appoach, Whinmoor 

 Meanwood Community Centre, Stainbeck Avenue, Meanwood 

ii) works with the Director of City Development to enter into discussions with the 
owners of the buildings not owned by the Council to consider the future use 
of the buildings. 

iii) provides a report back to Executive Board outlining the outcome of 
consultation and seeking approval to a final set of proposals for the above 
ten centres. 

iv) undertakes a strategic review of caretaking arrangements across the 
community centre portfolio with a view to bringing forward savings proposals 
wherever possible. 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 12



 
 

 

 

1.      Purpose of this report 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to present to Members of Executive Board a number of 
proposals in regard to a range of community centres across the city.  The report 
builds on the paper that was considered by Executive Board at its meeting in June 
2014 and recommends that a formal 12 week consultation period is now 
commenced on a number of possible changes to ten community centres identified 
as requiring action in the short term. 

2.      Background information 

2.1. In summary, Leeds City Council has maintained community centres for many years 
with the objective of providing space for community groups and community activity 
to take place.  

2.2. The approved budget position for the whole portfolio is £1.4m revenue. This reflects 
a reduction of £250k compared to expenditure in 2013/14.  One of the objectives of 
the review is to bring forward proposals to enable the service to meet budget 
sustainability.  

2.3. Income is generated by a combination of lease income (from long-term users of the 
centres including other council services such children services and adult social 
care) and from lettings of individual rooms by community groups and individuals. 
The current income generated is £92k from internal sources and £260k of external 
income. 

2.4. In recognition of the contribution the centres make in council housing estates the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) contributes £473k to the budget. 

2.5. Revenue savings of £100k have already been achieved through efficiencies in 
facility management arrangements (e.g. caretaking costs) and as a result of a 
number of centre closures already actioned. However further action will be needed 
to meet the required level of savings. 

3.      Main issues 

3.1. Community centres play a valuable role in bringing communities together 
supporting delivery of the council’s wider objectives and it is appropriate, therefore, 
for the council to support the effective running of the centres where they can 
demonstrate they are well used and it is a good use of public money to continue to 
support them. 

3.2. As part of the financial strategy all operational buildings are being reviewed in terms 
of their future need, based on such criteria as: running cost; building condition; 
backlog maintenance; level of use and occupation; lease status; and where 
applicable locality need and demand. 

3.3. In undertaking the city wide asset Management review, approved by Executive 
Board in October 2014, a strategic assessment of all local assets has been 
undertaken, including community centres. This has classified them as requiring 
consideration in the short, medium and longer term in respect of need and the 
ability for them to achieve running cost savings.  Of the buildings identified in the 

Page 13



 
 

 

 

short term category (i.e. running cost savings to be achieved by March 2017) ten 
were from the community centre portfolio. 

3.4. In undertaking this review, a detailed analysis has been undertaken of the whole 
community centre portfolio considering current backlog maintenance, current usage 
and current income.   

3.5. For the ten identified as requiring short term action, proposals for their future are 
now being made and are subject to the recommendation to formally consult upon a 
number of changes.  This report therefore seeks approval to formally consult with 
local members, stakeholders and users which will include the opportunity to develop 
alternative local solutions. This work will take into account the opportunities offered 
by the local asset management review,taking into account all buildings in the area 
which could deliver new opportunities. The options include: 

i) New uses and income, and opportunities to reduce costs improving the 
viability of the building concerned  

ii) The transfer of the building to a community organisation, who can run the 
building more effectively with the local community; or 

iii) The potential closure of the building and users transferred to alternative 
provision as a last resort..  

3.6. See detailed list and analysis at appendix 1 for the ten centres subject to formal 
consultation on their future.  In the case of two buildings that are not owned by the 
Council (St Gabriel’s Community Centre and Windmill Youth Centre) an agreement 
as to the future of the building will need to be reached with the owners. This report 
asks Executive Board to instruct the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and 
Communities) and the Director of Development to enter discussions with those 
owners on the future of those buildings as part of the consultation process. 

3.7. One of the major costs incurred across the community centre portfolio relates to 
care-taking costs and whilst some changes have been made in recent years to 
reduce these wherever possible they have been mainly done an ad-hoc and 
opportunistic basis.  As part of the further work to be progressed it is proposed that 
a strategic review be undertaken of caretaking arrangements in regard to all 
community centres with a view to seeking to reduce costs wherever possible. 

4.      Corporate considerations 

4.1. Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1. Throughout the asset and community centre reviews there has been discussion 
with members and users about the future of these buildings. This review presents 
detailed evidence on the viability of these buildings and alternatives for existing 
users. This provides a firm basis for a further consultation as recommended in this 
report. 

  

Page 14



 
 

 

 

 

4.2. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1. In finalising proposals a full Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken for each 
building. At this stage an equality screening exercise has been conducted and is 
attached at Appendix 2.  

4.3. Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1. The Vision for Leeds 2011 – 2030 sets out the long-term aim for Leeds to be the 
Best City in the UK. A key aim is that; Our communities will thrive and people will be 
confident, skilled, enterprising, active and involved. 

4.3.2. The provision of community centres fits into this long-term strategic aim, and also 
the Best Council 2013-17 objectives of ‘supporting communities and tackling 
poverty’ and ‘becoming a more efficient and enterprising council’ which includes 
respectively the priorities of ‘strengthening local accountability and being more 
responsive to the needs of local communities’ and ‘improving how we’re organised 
and making the best use of our assets’. 

4.4. Resources and value for money  

4.4.1. The approved budget position for the whole portfolio is £1.4m revenue. This reflects 
a reduction of £250k compared to expenditure in 2013/14.  The current income 
generated is £92k from internal sources and £260k of external income.  In 
recognition of the contribution the centres make in council housing estates the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) contributes £473k to the budget.  Revenue 
savings of £100k have already been achieved through efficiencies in facility 
management arrangements (e.g. care taking costs) and as a result of a number of 
centre closures already actioned. However further action will be needed to meet the 
required level of savings. 

4.5. Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1. If it is not possible to reach agreement as to the proposed future use of any building 
leased to the Council, the Council will then need to retain the building. In the event 
of the freehold of the building reverting to the owner there may also be cost 
implications to address in relation to fulfilling various obligations under the lease 
such as removing alterations and reinstating the premises or carrying out repairs.  

4.6. Risk Management 

4.6.1. The primary risk of the Community Centre portfolio is that a failure to control costs 
results in the costs exceeding budgets. There is a competing risk of insufficient 
community infrastructure to meet the council’s vision for vibrant localities. The 
review has examined the appropriate balance and made recommendations 
accordingly. 

  

Page 15



 
 

 

 

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The community centre portfolio contributes to Leeds City Council’s priorities for the 
development of local communities, creating a space for community activity, meeting 
the needs of citizens older and young; and bringing different communities together. 
However, there is a need to avoid duplication, make better use of buildings retained 
and to control costs. The proposals in this report will provide a significant reduction 
in costs, marginal impact on users and income, and remove the difficulty of ongoing 
backlog maintenance costs. 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Members of Executive Board are recommended to request that by 27 February 
2015 the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities): 

i) consults on the future of the following community centres:  

 St Gabriel's Community Centre, Fall Lane, East Ardsley 

 Bramley Community Centre,  Waterloo Lane, Bramley 

 Old Cockburn Sports Hall, Primrose Lane, Hunslet 

 Kippax Youth Centre, known as the Kippax Kabin, Cross Hills, Kippax 

 Gildersome Youth Club Street Lane, Gildersome 

 Lewisham Park Centre, Clough Street, Morley 

 Weston Lane Community Centre, Weston Ridge, Otley 

 Windmill Youth Centre, Marsh Street, Rothwell 

 Fieldhead Youth and Adult Centre, Naburn Appoach, Whinmoor 

 Meanwood Community Centre, Stainbeck Avenue, Meanwood 

ii) works with the Director of City Development to enter into discussions with the 
owners of the buildings not owned by the Council to consider the future use of 
the buildings. 

iii) Takes forward actions arising from the consultation, except closure, in 
consultation with the Executive member for Neighbourhoods, Planning and 
Personnel. Where the outcome recommends closure, this to be reported to 
Executive Board for decision.  

iv) undertakes a strategic review of caretaking arrangements across the community 
centre portfolio with a view to bringing forward savings proposals wherever 
possible. 

7. Background Documents1 
 
7.1 None 
 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 16



 
 

 

 

Appendix 1 - Community centres where it is proposed to now consult on their future  

Ward Name  
Backlog 

Maint 
Usage 

Percentage
% costs 

recovered
Proposal 

Ardsley & 
Robin Hood 

St Gabriel's 
Community 
Centre, Fall 
Lane, East 
Ardsley 

 
9.5 1% 

To consult on transfer back to the Church of 
England who owns the building. Work with 
local community group to become self-
sustaining, with support from the Council. 

Bramley 
and 
Stanningley 

Bramley 
Community 
Centre,  
Waterloo 
Lane, 
Bramley 

£60,340 10.7 0% 

To consult on the future of this building. 
Examine option for users’ needs to be met 
elsewhere and a saving made for the 
Council. 

City & 
Hunslet 

Old 
Cockburn 
Sports Hall, 
Primrose 
Lane, 
Hunslet 

£59,761 20.2 7% 
To consult on the future of this building. 
Including examining the possibility of it 
being community run. 

Crossgates 
& 
Whinmoor 

Fieldhead 
Youth and 
Adult 
Centre, 
Naburn 
Appoach, 
Whinmoor 

* 21.4 0% 

This building provides a positive contribution 
particularly through delivery of Rugby. To 
consult on more economic arrangements, 
including the possibility of leasing to the 
users. 

Kippax & 
Methley 

Kippax 
Youth 
Centre, KA 
Kippax 
Kabin), 
Cross Hills, 
Kippax 

£19,619 19 0% 
This building is of poor quality, to consult on 
alternatives for users. 

Morley 
North 

Gildersome 
Youth Club 
Street Lane, 
Gildersome 

£103,839 24.8 0% 
This building is of poor quality with 
unaffordable backlog maintenance. To 
consult on alternatives for users. 

Morley 
South 

Lewisham 
Park 
Centre, 
Clough 
Street, 
Morley 

£58,625 21.4 0% 

There are opportunities to relocate activity 
from this building to refurbished local 
schools. To consult on these alternatives for 
users. 

Otley & 
Yeadon 

Weston 
Lane 
Community 
Centre, 
Weston 
Ridge, Otley 

* 4.8 1% 
Poor quality facility which offers little benefit 
to the community. To consult on options for 
existing users. 

Rothwell 

Windmill 
Youth 
Centre, 
Marsh 
Street, 
Rothwell 

 
20.8 0% 

Utilised but expensive facility. To consult on 
alternative more economic arrangements.   

Weetwood 

Meanwood 
Community 
Centre, 
Stainbeck 
Avenue, 
Meanwood 

£5,656 22.9 21% 
To consult on the possible transfer of the 
building, to maintain the building while 
reducing its present high costs. 

Page 17



 
 

 

 

 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate:Citizens and Communities Service area: Community Centres 

 
Lead person: Martin Dean 
 

Contact number: 

 
1. Title: Community Centre Review 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Report which examines the viability, suitability and effectiveness of the Council’s 
Community Centres with a view to making savings and eliminating duplication in 
provision. 
 
 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 x  

 Appendix 2 

Page 18



 
 

 

 

 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected,  equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
This paper has been generated by a desktop analysis and gathering of evidence on the 
ground. Consultation has at this stage primarily been as part of asset management 
review activity with members, and engagement with locality groups with an interest in 
Community Centres. 
 
While portfolio has the potential to make a contribution to equality objectives, the minimal 
investment in the portfolio and the lack of a specific focus means that at present that is 
not fulfilled 
 
 

Page 19



 
 

 

 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Our findings indicate that there are a number of buildings where the costs are 
disproportionally high, and usage disproportionately high.  
 
We have examined the usages and considered:- 
• Who is utilising the space 
• The alternatives in localities 
• The cost and accessibility of those alternatives 
 
Our conclusion is that there are alternatives, often of similar or higher quality which can 
meet the needs of communities to rent space. 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

The next step subject to Executive Board approval is to consult on the future of the 
buildings identified 
This will draw direct evidence from users about the potential impacts of our proposal 
on equality groups. 
We will consider ways to mitigate the impacts going forward, and equality impact, 
screen and if appropriate impact assess the proposals 
 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Martin Dean 
 

Area Leader 16 10 14 

 
 
7. Publishing 

Page 20



 
 

 

 

This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed  

 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of  Director of Environment and Housing 

Report to Executive Board 

Date:   November 2014 

Subject:  Leeds Homes Refurbishment Standard 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes X  No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes X  No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. Leeds achieved the Decent Homes Standard in 2010 through the work done by the 

Leeds Arms-Length Management Organisations.  The Standard achieved a 

measurable improvement in the condition of the majority of the Council’s housing stock.  

However it only provided for a ‘reasonable’ level of modernisation and repair of 

components and failed to address fundamental issues with how people use their home 

and experience their environment.  It also did not keep pace with emerging agendas 

such as the Code for Sustainable Homes and key council properties, such as tackling 

fuel poverty and improving community safety.  This Report proposes a new Leeds 

Homes Refurbishment Standard that will improve on the level achieved by the Decent 

Homes Standard. 

Recommendations 

2. Executive Board is asked to endorse the new Leeds Homes Refurbishment Standard 

as detailed in the Report. 

 Report author:  Steve Hunt 

Tel:  81105 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 To agree a new standard for refurbishment of Council Housing following 
completion of the Decent Homes Standard programme of improvement work. 

2 Background information 

2.1 Leeds achieved the national Decent Homes Standard for Council Housing in 2010 
through the work done by the three Arms-Length Management Organisations 
(ALMOs). The Standard was conceived in 1997 and a 10 year achievement target 
was set for Councils in 2000 which had a number of objectives for a property:- 

• It meets the current statutory minimum standard for housing; 

The property is free of category 1 hazards as defined within the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) introduced in 2006 in the 
amended Housing Act 2004. 

• It is in a reasonable state of repair; 

None of the key building components (such as walls, roof, windows and 
doors, plumbing and electrics) or two or more of other components are old 
and need replacing.  

• It has reasonably modern facilities and services;  

A property fails if it lacks three or more of the following:- 

1. A kitchen which is less than 20 years old; 

2. A kitchen with adequate space and layout; 

3. A bathroom which is less than 30 years old; 

4. An appropriately located bathroom and WC;  

5. Adequate external noise insulation; and 

6. Adequate size and layout of communal areas.   

• It provides a reasonable degree of thermal comfort.  

The primary heat source must be programmable and provide heat to two or 
more rooms of the home.  Insulation should be a minimum of 50mm in the 
roof space or cavity wall insulation for gas heating and 200mm in the roof 
space and cavity wall insulation (where possible) for electric or solid fuel 
heating.  The SAP rating has to be above 35, which is the HHSRS minimum. 

 

 

Page 24



 

 

3 Main issues 

3.2 There can be no doubt that the Decent Homes Standard (DHS) programme 
achieved a massive improvement to the majority of Council owned housing stock.  
In Leeds, only 40% met the standard in 2003.  However it had limitations and only 
required properties to be brought to a ‘reasonable’ level which in the guidance 
was defined as a minimum standard.  In practice it therefore failed to tackle some 
of the fundamental issues within the Council’s housing stock.  A property can 
meet DHS even where it has a kitchen that is more than 20 years old, or a 
bathroom that is more than 30 years old, and has single glazed windows and 
programmable heating in only two rooms in the house.   It also applied principally 
to individual dwellings and failed to tackle some of the issues and legislative 
requirements such as the Disability Discrimination Act which impact on properties 
with communal areas such as Multi-storey Flats and Sheltered Housing Schemes.  
This has unfortunately meant that many people remain in fuel poverty even 
though their homes meet the DHS. 

3.3 The Standard also dated quickly as the climate change and carbon saving agenda 
developed over the last decade, leaving the existing housing stock falling far short 
of ambition for new homes contained within guidance such as The Code for 
Sustainable Homes published in 2012.  A ‘reasonable’ level of thermal efficiency 
and SAP of more than 35 falls far short of the low carbon and ecological ambition 
for a modern home particularly with regards to standards of insulation and space 
heating.  The Standard also fails to address issues such as fuel and water 
efficiency, effective waste management, pollution, health and well-being and 
carbon dioxide emissions that are all contained within the Code.   

3.4 The Decent Homes Standard also focused exclusively on the property and its 
individual building components.  It did not take account of any issues with the 
estate within which an individual property was located, such as the standard of the 
environment.  It failed to address the ‘location’ factor that is a key consideration 
for people looking for a new home and properties were brought to a good 
condition on estates where their location meant they were less popular and 
demand was consequently lower.        

3.5 A new Leeds Homes Refurbishment Standard, to supersede the Decent Homes 
Standard, is now considered to be essential to inform future investment plans for 
the Council’s housing stock. This report proposes the improvements that will be 
made to the Council’s housing stock through a new Standard that has a broader 
remit than the old Decent Homes Standard.  Where reasonable and practical the 
new Standard will address the short-comings in the Decent Homes Standard and 
pick up appropriate and achievable elements within the Code for Sustainable 
Housing.  The new Standard will also look to address the following elements:- 

• Housing conditions that are known to be detrimental to health particularly 
those related to fuel poverty. Cold, damp, condensation and black mould are 
known to contribute to health issues such as respiratory problems particularly 
in the very young and very old.  The main causes are known to be 
inadequate insulation, ventilation and heating.  The Standard will pick up on 
and address these issues in the Council’s housing stock. 

Page 25



 

 

• Community Safety by developing and consolidating the contribution that 
current programmes to upgrade some building components (such as high 
security locks) have already made to crime reduction within the City.  All 
components used will meet relevant British Standards (such as PAS 23 and 
24:2012 for windows and doors) as a minimum.  Secure by Design principles 
(the Police initiative for designing out crime) will be incorporated where 
possible into all improvement work done in future.   

• Environmental standards and the general safety and standard of the estate 
environment within which properties are located.  Issues such as off-street 
parking, monitored CCTV, green space improvement and improved waste 
management/collection will be included in the new Standard.      

3.6 Whilst some retro-fit building components are now industry standard with proven 
benefits, such as replacement UPVC double glazing and cavity wall insulation, 
there are other emerging components the benefits of which are less well tested, 
such as upgrade to triple glazing.  In order to better understand whether newer 
components should be incorporated into the Standard joint research is being 
undertaken with both Leeds University and Leeds Beckett University to test 
components in actual application to occupied and void properties.  The results of 
this research will be used to inform future updates to the Standard.  

3.7 It is proposed that the Leeds Homes Refurbishment Standard comprises the 
following elements, some of which will be retained from the Decent Homes 
Standard:- 

• Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

The Council has a statutory duty to keep its properties free from Category 1 
hazards and the existence of such hazards is, and will remain, a trigger for 
action.  The vast majority of the Council’s housing stock is already free from 
hazards and defects and so maintaining this can be achieved at relatively low 
cost or within normal works programmes. Excess cold is one of the main 
Category 1 hazards in the private sector and remains a problem in some solid 
walled and system built council homes. 

• Building Components are in a good state of repair 

The structural parts of the dwelling will be free from defects and in a good state 
of repair.  This includes the external walls, roof structure and covering, 
chimneys, heating, plumbing and electrics.  These components will be repaired 
as appropriate and if any fail or are identified as being in an old and poor 
condition (both conditions to apply) then they will be replaced.  Windows and 
doors also fall within the definition of building components and they are dealt 
with separately below. This currently falls within the essential investment 
element of the existing capital programme and is identified through the ongoing 
stock condition surveys which update information within the Council’s Asset 
Management Database.  The projected costs are identified within the Housing 
Revenue Account Business Plan and the Investment Need Plan for the next 30 
years.  

Page 26



 

 

Maintenance of these elements of the housing stock is estimated to 
require over £260m of investment over the next 30 years, with almost £6m 
in the proposed programme for 2015/16. 

• UPVC Double Glazed Windows 

The benefits of double glazing are now widely acknowledged from both thermal 
efficiency and noise insulation perspectives.  The Energy Saving Trust 
estimates that up to 18% of heat can be lost through single glazed windows in a 
poorly insulated house which contributes to issues with condensation and damp 
particularly in properties with partial or no central heating.  Any remaining single 
glazed windows will therefore be upgraded to ‘A’ rated windows with Argon gas 
filled low-emissivity glazing that meet PAS 24:2012 glazing and PAS 23 security 
standards.  Glass will be laminated in appropriate locations, particularly after 
forced entry as an additional security measure.  The benefits of triple glazing 
will be analysed as part of the University research.     

• Composite Doors 

As mentioned earlier Secure by Design principles will be incorporated into the 
investment programme and all replacement external doors will be composite 
doors that are Secure by Design and meet PAS 23 security standards with a 
diamond standard lock.  The programme of replacing Eurolock cylinders with 
diamond standard cylinders on UPVC doors will continue until Eurolock 
cylinders are eradicated.  This will continue Housing Leeds support for the 
domestic Burglary Reduction Programme.  Doors on individual flats which are in 
blocks with communal entrances will meet Building Regulations and Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order requirements to ensure the Council continues to 
meet the concordat it has with West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue.   

The draft capital programme for 2015/16 is expected to include around 
£2m of planned replacement windows and doors.  The HRA Business Plan 
estimates that around £150m of investment is needed on windows and 
doors over the next 30 years. 

• Central Heating 

Many Council properties still only have partial gas central heating or electric 
heating in the form of storage radiators or warm air or under-floor systems.  
Even with double glazed windows partial heating systems can result in 
condensation and damp/mould problems which impact on the health of residents 
and their family.  Partial gas central heating will be upgraded to full central 
heating either when a boiler needs replacing or, if the boiler is already large 
enough, as part of a programme following the next annual service.  All gas 
boilers will be upgraded to SEDBUK A Rated appliances as a minimum when 
they fall due for replacement.  Gas central heating will be offered to tenants in all 
electric properties if there is a gas supply.  If no gas is present (such as in most 
multi-storey flats) then alternatives such as District Heating will be considered. 

The HRA Business Plan estimates an investment requirement of £220m 
over the next 30 years with around £12m of that to be included in the 
2015/16 programme.  

Page 27



 

 

• Thermal Efficiency 

      All properties will have their thermal efficiency improved such that they become 
as close to the current Council house average of Standard Assessment 
Procedure (SAP) 72. By comparison, the Government have proposed a target 
“to ensure that as many fuel poor homes as is reasonably practicable achieve a 
minimum energy efficiency standard of B and C by 2030” (SAP Ratings 69 – 
91). We will ensure that cost effective opportunities are prioritised whilst also 
targeting major investments to properties on worst first basis.  All low-rise 
properties with a cavity wall (or hollow panel) will have the cavity filled.  Loft 
insulation will be a minimum for 300mm irrespective of heating type.  Multi-
storey flat roofs will be re-clad and insulated and any cavity walls will be filled 
with insulation.  Large panel system multi-storey and medium rise blocks will be 
clad with external wall insulation (EWI).  Solid wall properties (such as back-to-
back terrace) will be considered for EWI where possible or alternatively internal 
wall insulation where that doesn’t impact adversely on space standards.  These 
will be the key methods for tackling fuel poverty. 

 The HRA Business Plan identifies an investment need of around £180m 
over the next 30 years on thermal efficiency work.  Next years proposed 
programme includes £2.5m for this work.    

• Fire Safety 

The Council has a concordat with West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 
(WYFRS) covering compliance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005.  At the end of this financial year work required to comply with the Order 
and meet the initial concordat has been completed and this level will be 
maintained through annual Fire Risk Assessments of blocks.  A new, higher 
level concordat has been agreed and the Standard will include work required to 
deliver that new concordat.  Earlier this year a retro-fit fire sprinkler system was 
installed in a multi-storey block which is a sheltered housing scheme following 
dialogue with WYFRS.  This has proven successful and so the system will now 
be installed in the remaining four multi-storey sheltered blocks (one done 
annually) and then consideration given to installing at other blocks occupied by 
older residents.    

Investment this year on Fire Safety work will be around £4m (including 
£0.5m on Sprinklers) with a similar amount proposed for next year’s 
programme.  Over 30 years the investment requirement is only estimated 
at £15m as the programme is front loaded. 

• Renewable Energy 

In tandem with energy efficiency, the use of renewable energy will form part of 
the Standard.  Solar PV Panels will be fitted to appropriate properties with 
sufficient roof space and the right aspect.  Inefficient electric heating will be 
upgraded or replaced with options such as District Heating (Heat from Waste or 
Bio-mass) being installed where appropriate. 

Page 28



 

 

Next year’s draft investment programme proposes £3m for installation of 
Solar PV on suitable properties and an as yet unquantified contribution to 
development of the Heat from Waste system.  

• Disability Discrimination Act Compliance 

 All properties with communal areas or that are public access should already 
comply with the requirements in the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (and 
subsequent amendments) in so far as access is concerned.  Properties will be 
maintained at this level and where major alterations are being done then 
consideration will be given to incorporating as many of the Lifetime Homes 
Standard design criteria as possible.   

• Environmental Improvement 

 The new Standard will focus on improving the sense of ‘place’ – the condition of 
the estates within which properties are located.  Improvements to the 
environment will address community safety alongside all other work to assist 
better waste management.  Upgrading green space on estates and better car 
parking provision will also be factored into the Standard. 

 The proposed investment programme for 15/16 includes over £3m for 
environmental improvements (some through Housing Advisory Panels) 
and CCTV installation.     

• Shared Bathing Bedsits 

    There are still a number of single room or bedsit properties where residents 
have to share bathing facilities.  This is no longer considered to be appropriate.  
All properties with shared bathing facilities will therefore be converted (where 
possible) to create self-contained accommodation that has separate living and 
sleeping accommodation and its own bathing facilities that are appropriately 
located and laid out within the dwelling.   

• Communal facilities, fixtures and fittings 

Many properties share communal facilities such as door entries, communal 
rooms, walk-ways and lifts. These are mainly located in complexes such as 
multi-storey flats and sheltered housing schemes.  The existing replacement 
programme which focuses on failure rates will be supplemented to improve the 
quality of communal areas and facilities based on considerations of future stock 
use and resident profile.  Lifts that stop on alternate floors will be replaced with 
smart lifts that stop on every floor and can be programmed to restrict access 
within the blocks.  CCTV roll-out to all multi-storey blocks will be completed.  

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

Page 29



 

 

• The proposed Refurbishment Standard has been discussed at Housing Advisory 
Board and will be subject to further discussion through appropriate representative 
groups such as the Older Persons Housing Forum.  It is not suggested that the 
Standard is a ‘finished product’ as it will need to keep abreast of emerging tenant 
aspirations, building technologies and component development.  As such it will be 
informed by future consultation and the research being undertaken by the two 
Leeds Universities.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

• An equality impact screening document is attached as Appendix A.  

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

• The Standard will contribute to the Best City priorities in that they will: 

• support more people to live independently in their home; 

• improve the environment through reduced carbon emissions; 

• reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds; 

• improve housing conditions and energy efficiency. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

• Delivery of the Refurbishment Standard will be funded through the Council House 
Improvement Programme.  VFM is achieved through effective procurement of 
Contractors to deliver the works. 

Next year’s Housing Revenue Account Investment Programme proposes that 
£33m is allocated to works that will start to deliver the Leeds Homes 
Refurbishment Standard.  The 30 year Investment Programme within the HRA 
Business Plan will be refreshed to reflect delivery of the new Standard and be 
presented to the Executive Board for approval in March 2015.    

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

• There are no legal implications to these proposals.  The Report is subject to call-
in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

• Without a new Standard there is a risk that the Council’s existing housing stock 
falls further behind the standards being achieved in private sector developments 
and new Council House building.    

5 Conclusions 

5.1 The Decent Homes Standard (DHS) sought to bring all Council Houses up to what 
was considered to be a reasonable standard but it has not kept pace with the 
Carbon Saving agenda, ambitions to tackle fuel poverty and new aspirations for 

Page 30



 

 

housing within the Code for Sustainable Homes.  The new Leeds Homes 
Refurbishment Standard will address the short-comings in the DHS and make 
Council Homes fit for modern day lifestyles.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board are asked to endorse the new Leeds Homes Refurbishment 
Standard as outlined within this Report.  

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate: E & H Service area:  Housing Leeds 
 

Lead person: Steve Hunt 
 

Contact number: 81105 

 

1. Title: Leeds Homes Refurbishment Standard 
 

Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 

 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

 
Introduction of a new Standard for Leeds Council Houses that will supersede 
the Decent Homes Standard.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 33



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

• Advancing equality of opportunity 
• Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

4

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Steve Hunt 
 

Chief Officer Property and 
Contracts 

24-10-14 

Date screening completed 24-10-14 
 

 

7. Publishing 

Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 

For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 36



 
 

1 

Report of the Director of Environments & Housing, Director of City 
Development and Director of Adult Social Services, 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19 November 2014 

Subject: Supply of Specialist Housing for Older People  

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):  
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion 
and integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:    

Appendix number:                                                                    

Summary of main issues  

1 This report updates Executive Board with progress since the report in 
February 2013 on the delivery of specialist new housing for older people 
which supports the objectives of the Best Council Plan: through providing 
quality housing growth to meet the needs of residents and through the 
delivery of the Better Lives programme with a focus on helping people with 
care and support needs to live independent lives.  
    

2 Since the Executive Board report in February 2013 there has been progress 
in delivering new supply, with around 850 units of sheltered housing, extra 
care or residential care with or without nursing in the delivery pipeline. The 
report notes however that there remains a need for further provision of 
housing for older people with care needs. 
 

3 The report includes the recommendation to use a number of Council owned 
sites in principle to enable delivery and identifies the need for ongoing actions 
to secure delivery through the commercial and Registered Provider sectors. It 
highlights the potential need to acquire land to support and accelerate delivery 
in key areas.    
 

 

Report authors:  Maggie Gjessing / 
Anna Clifford 

39 50502 / 247 6692      

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



 
 

2 

4 The current review of the Council’s sheltered housing provision is described 
and the next steps outlined in developing an investment approach to ensure it 
meets current needs and is of good quality. 

 

Recommendations 

The Executive Board is recommended to: 
 

1 Note the progress made in increasing the delivery of specialist housing for 
older people. 

 
2 Support further consideration of the  Council owned sites at 3.25 – 3.26 for 

investment in Extra Care housing, either by direct delivery or through disposal 
as part of mixed tenure development schemes, and that they are progressed 
for further Ward Member consultation.  
 

3 Note the role that the Council’s sheltered housing stock can play in expanding 
the housing and support options available for older people and a review is 
being carried out by the Director of Environment and Housing to develop the 
investment approach. 

1.  Purpose of this report 

1.1. In February 2013, Executive Board agreed an approach to increasing the 
amount, and modernising the type, of specialist housing for older people.  
This included working with developers and specialist housing providers; 
the use of council assets through development; disposal or reinvestment 
in existing stock; bids for external funding and direct investment in new 
build council housing. 

 
1.2. The report outlines progress to date and identifies how delivery of 

specialist housing units can be increased in particular in those areas of 
the city where there is a current or predicted shortfall.  

 
1.3. The report also sets out the scope of the review of Council-owned 

sheltered housing in the city which will look to expand the housing and 
support options and choices for older people, and provide flexibility to 
meet changing needs. 

2. Background information 

2.1. High quality housing growth is central to the wider growth ambitions of the 
city and contributes to the well-being of residents. The delivery of new 
homes which are designed to higher standards and contributes to place 
making within neighbourhoods underpins this ambition.  
 

2.2. The delivery of specialist housing for older people supports the objectives 
of the Best Council Plan by contributing to sustainable and inclusive 

Page 38



 
 

3 

growth, by providing housing which meets the needs of older people and 
providing choice and quality in the housing market.  

 
2.3. The Council supports growth in older people’s housing through direct 

delivery; use of its own land; working with Registered Providers (housing 
associations primarily), and the independent care sector to secure new 
accommodation, and through its role as the Local Planning Authority in 
facilitating delivery through the planning system.     

 
2.4. The Leeds Core Strategy provides the spatial and land use planning 

framework for Leeds to 2028. Integral to the plan is an overall approach to 
housing growth, which has been determined through an objective 
assessment of all housing needs for the plan period. A range of policies 
support the need for older people’s housing, including housing mix, 
affordability and homes for independent living. Within it is a requirement 
for applications for large schemes to produce Housing Market 
Assessments so that the needs of communities can be identified.   

 
2.5. Executive Board has recently approved the introduction of the Leeds 

Standard to ensure excellent quality in the delivery of new homes under 
three themes: Design Quality, Space Standards and Energy Efficiency 
Standards. Working with partners including Public Health, the Leeds 
Standard has a focus on flexible, adaptable and energy efficient 
properties. The Standard includes measures to deliver affordable warmth 
and a best practice approach to the construction of accessible properties 
to meet the needs of households with older or disabled people which will 
take into account the Government’s emergent Housing Standards Review.   

 
2.6. Although there is an increase in older people nationally, the demand for 

residential care homes has fallen. In Leeds the length of time people 
spend in a care home has reduced, reflecting people’s choice to remain 
independent and living at home for as long as possible. As more people 
aspire to live at home for longer, the increasing importance of maintaining 
independence and giving people more choice and control drives a need to 
change service provision to better suit individual needs. The Council is to 
move away from directly owned and operated long-stay care homes to 
support the development of Extra Care housing, which provides this level 
of independence, in those areas where there is currently an undersupply. 

 
2.7. In December 2010 Leeds City Council launched a review of the Council’s 

residential care homes. The review concluded that to maintain and 
operate much of the Council’s residential facilities was unrealistic both in 
terms of changing future demand, expectations about building quality and 
unaffordable in terms of the level of investment needed to upgrade the 
stock to make it viable for use in the future. Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the 
review have now been completed with some homes decommissioned, 
others retained as specialist facilities and a smaller number of residential 
homes earmarked for closure when new care facilities become available 
within the area. The future of the retained specialist facilities are the 
subject of a report “Delivering the Better Lives strategy in Leeds – 

Page 39



 
 

4 

proposed next steps” elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting of 
Executive Board. 

 
2.8. In February 2013, Executive Board considered the need for new specialist 

accommodation for older people to be delivered in the context of an 
increasing number of old and very old people and reduced public 
resources. Executive Board noted the requirement for additional specialist 
accommodation for older people in Leeds.  

3. Main Issues 
 

3.1. The delivery of specialist accommodation for older people has been 
established as a priority through the Better Lives strategy. This will deliver 
specialist accommodation in locations across the city including facilitating 
the delivery of extra care housing. The programme is led by a cross 
departmental team with representation from Planning, Asset Management 
& Regeneration, Housing and Adult Social Care. Overall governance 
responsibility lies with the Housing Growth Board. 

 
3.2. Extra care Housing is seen both locally and nationally as a potential 

alternative to traditional residential care. In Leeds, it is viewed as 
representing one of a range of options for older people who are in need of 
accommodation in which different levels of care and support can be 
provided.  

 
3.3. Extra care enables older people to remain living safely in their own home 

while receiving the support and care they require. This model allows older 
people to maintain greater independence and control whilst continuing to 
live in the community rather than entering long-term residential care with 
associated higher support costs.  A number of Councils including Bristol, 
East Sussex, Darlington and Hull have found evidence that in addition to 
improved health and wellbeing outcomes, extra care housing is more cost 
effective to deliver than residential care and it is with this in mind that 
Leeds is planning further extra care developments as an alternative to 
residential care homes. 

   
Progress to date on delivering accommodation for older people 

3.4. There has been significant progress in delivering specialist 
accommodation since the report to Executive Board in February 2013. 
Table 1 shows the number of units which are expected to be delivered in 
each locality by 2018 (i.e. schemes which are on site, at advanced 
position within the planning process or which are resulting from council 
land disposals for agreed schemes). Taking into account the totality of 
schemes including those at pre-planning stage, the table shows an 
anticipated delivery pipeline of c850 units across all supply types. Of 
these, 219 are either on site or have completed (including 75 extra care 
units).  
 
 

Page 40



 
 

5 

Table 1 – Planned new supply of older peoples’ provision by locality by 
2018  

Inner North East 
No of 
units 

Inner East 
No of 
units 

Independent Sector provision: 
Southlands – 15 additional net new ECH 
units  
Oakhaven Care Home – 14 nursing beds 

29 
Registered Provider (HCA grant 
funded) 
Boggart Hill – 18 sheltered units 

18 

Registered Provider (HCA grant funded) 
Stratford Court – 28 sheltered units 

28 
Independent Sector provision- use of 
LCC land 
Richmond Court – 60  specialist units   

60 

Total No   57 Total No  78 

Outer North East 
No of 
units 

Inner South 
No of 
units 

Independent Sector provision - use of 
LCC land 
Squirrel Way – 60 ECH units  

60 
LCC Council Housing Growth 
Programme 
Ingram Court – 23 sheltered units 

23 

Total No  60 Total No  23 

Outer West 
No of 
units 

Inner West 
No of 
units 

Independent sector provision 
Red Court Pudsey – 38 care beds 
without nursing 

38 
Independent Sector provision 
Theaker Lane (Tizer Factory) – 64 care 
beds without nursing 

64 

Total No  38 Total No  64 

Inner North West 
No of 
units 

Outer South 
No of 
units 

S106  
Former Cookridge Hospital – 40 care 
beds without nursing 
56 ECH units 
Headingley Hall – 5 ECH units 

101 

Social Enterprise - use of LCC land 
Windlesford Green – 60 care beds 
without nursing  
Independent Sector provision China 
Red Dragon – 74 care beds without 
nursing 

60 
 
 
74 

Total No  101 Total No  134 

Outer North West 
No of 
units 

Outer East 
No of 
units 

LCC Council Housing Growth 
Programme 
Haworth Court – 45 ECH units 

45 

LCC Council Housing Growth 
Programme 
Squinting Cat – 18 apartments for older 
people 

18 

Independent Sector provision - use of 
LCC land (currently being marketed) 
Kirkland House – c30  specialist units 
Ashfield Works – c60 specialist units  

90 

Independent Sector provision - use of 
LCC land 
Grange Court – 58 care beds without 
nursing 
Ash Tree Primary School – c30 
specialist units 

88 

Commercial Provision 
Former Otley School – 48 ECH units 

48 
  

Total No  183 Total No 106 

 
 
Delivery of extra care accommodation  

3.5. It is recognised that, given the increase in the number of older people 
requiring care In Leeds, that there remains a need for more specialist 
housing, in particular extra care as part of the Better Lives strategy.     
 

3.6. There are 75 units of extra care provision currently under construction 
with a further 187 in the development pipeline which are expected to 
deliver or commence delivery by 2018. These are largely through the 
independent care sector and include 86 apartments in Otley, 56 in 

Page 41



 
 

6 

Weetwood, plus the Council’s extra care scheme at Yeadon which will 
deliver 45 units.   
 

3.7. There remains however the requirement for further supply across a range 
of tenures (i.e. affordable rent and accommodation for sale) across the 
city.   

 
3.8. The Executive Board report in February 2013 set out the routes through 

which the supply of housing with care could be provided and accelerated 
including: stimulating commercial provision; use of the Council’s land and 
assets; and dialogue with providers through the planning system, 
alongside delivery of affordable units by the council and housing 
association partners. 

 
Commercial provision and delivery through the Planning mechanism 

3.9. City-wide, a proactive dialogue takes place with commercial providers to 
identify opportunities. The sector is attractive to commercial providers and 
there is development activity, largely in areas of the city which have higher 
values and income levels.  Across the services work with developers and 
RPs takes place to encourage identification of private sites and scope for 
delivery as part of the mix within schemes or through s106. Close working 
with commercial providers will continue to identify routes to maximise and 
accelerate delivery as part of the wider housing growth programme. 

 
3.10. Facilitated by the Core Strategy’s requirement for Housing Needs 

Assessments for schemes over 250 units, negotiation takes place with 
developers on the provision of housing for older people. An exercise to 
determine land availability through the Site Allocations Plan for specialist 
older persons’ accommodation is ongoing and will also support activity to 
secure future supply. 

 
3.11. Negotiating specialist provision with developers on individual schemes 

through the s106 mechanism is an ongoing process using the demand 
mapping as an evidence base for negotiation. The scheme at the 
Cookridge Hospital site is an example where Plans Panel supported the 
delivery of the affordable housing contribution in the form of a single extra 
care development. 

 
Use of Council owned sites 

3.12. The Council has facilitated the independent sector  delivery of specialist 
accommodation (both extra care and care home provision) through the 
use of its own land which has the potential to  deliver 300 new units : 

• Squirrel Way, Shadwell, 60 Extra Care apartments   

• Grange Court, Garforth, 58 bedroom care home  

• Ashfield Works, Otley, 60 assisted living apartments  

• Richmond Court, Richmond Hill, c60 specialist units  

• Ash Tree Primary School, Kippax, c30 units –  site to be disposed of for 
specialist accommodation  

• Kirkland House, Yeadon, c30 units –  site to be disposed of for 
specialist accommodation  

Page 42



 
 

7 

 
Delivery by Registered Providers  

3.13. The Council has also facilitated the delivery of sheltered housing via 
Registered Providers  (RPs) which is delivering 46 units at: 

• Stratford Court, Chapel Allerton 
• Boggart Hill, Seacroft 

 
3.14. Work with RPs including working with the Homes and Communities 

Agency through the national Affordable Homes Programme will continue 
to identify additional scheme opportunities.   
 
Council Housing Growth Programme 

3.15. The Council House Growth Programme is providing some £81m of 
investment in new housing and will provide energy efficient and 
sustainable homes for a range of needs. The programme is currently 
delivering three schemes specifically for older people which will deliver 86 
properties:  

 

• Haworth Court, Yeadon – 45 Extra Care apartments  

• Ingram Court, Beeston Hill – 23 Sheltered Housing units (via the 
Little London PFI Initiative) 

• Squinting Cat, Whinmoor, 18 older peoples apartments 
 
3.16. In addition the delivery of smaller flexibly designed properties facilitates 

active asset management by freeing up larger council owned stock.    
 

3.17. Further resources could be made available through the use of commuted 
sums to support the strategy and delivery of affordable older people’s housing 
to meet needs within neighbourhoods. 

 
3.18. Partial grant funding for the Howarth Court development was secured via 

Department of Health funding (the Care and Specialist Supported Housing 
Fund) via the Homes and Communities Agency. The HCA has advised that 
the DOH intend to announce a second bidding round for in the coming 
months. Opportunities to bid again for funding from this source are being 
worked up in preparation for the release of the prospectus from government.  

 
3.19. The Council is also utilising Right to Buy receipts to support affordable 

housing delivery via housing associations and the delivery of accommodation 
for older people, including extra care, through this route is being encouraged. 

 
Accelerating the future provision of extra care housing 

3.20. Meeting the city’s need for specialist housing for older people cannot be met 
through a single approach and will be through a combination of routes. The 
Council will continue to take a pro-active approach including: the use of 
Council owned land and exploring the possibilities for the re-use or re-
designation of Council assets; exploring the possibility of acquiring privately 
owned land to facilitate supply; the analysis of land opportunities through the 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment and continuing to work with 

Page 43



 
 

8 

commercial providers and Registered Providers through the mechanisms 
described above. 

 
3.21. It is anticipated that development potential may be released from sites 

decommissioned under Phases One and Two of the Residential Care Home 
Review which, if considered to be of sufficient capacity, could be used for the 
development of specialist housing for older people. Whese sites are  small 
they  are more likely to be sold on the open market and any capital receipts 
ring fenced to support extra care development is areas of undersupply. 

 
3.22. Within this approach there will potentially be opportunities for the use of 

further council owned sites to accelerate supply which could contribute to the 
areas which require new supply and which contribute to the overall quantum 
of requirements for the city.  
 

3.23. This includes exploring the potential for sites within the Brownfield Land 
Programme (BLP) which seeks to identify market-led mixed tenure housing 
development solutions for several regeneration area sites, some of which 
have the benefit of HCA affordable housing grant funding which may help to 
support viability and which could present an opportunity to incorporate 
specialist provision.  

 
3.24. The BLP delivery routes proposed may allow for the provision of affordable 

mixed tenure (i.e. rent and shared ownership) in these locations and the exact 
mix would be developed as part of detailed project appraisals. This is within 
the context of discussions and consultations with ward members and 
stakeholders and locally agreed Neighbourhood Frameworks.  A separate 
report to this Executive Board “Next Steps in the Brownfield Land Programme” 
sets out proposals for the delivery of new housing including the incorporation 
of older people’s housing and the procurement of a delivery vehicle to 
accelerate this programme. 

 
3.25. Within that programme there may be opportunities to identify sites through 

which extra care could be provided. These include Brooklands Avenue, 
Seacroft – the site was marketed in 2013 for a mix of general needs and 
housing for elderly people and whilst the proposals received were supported 
locally a scheme was not progressed pending further discussions on the local 
regeneration strategy; the site can deliver around 100 units of which a c50 unit 
extra care scheme could form part. Similarly the Middleton Neighbourhood 
Framework, which was approved by Executive Board in September 2013, 
supports the provision of new housing for older people as part of the local 
regeneration strategy and work to determine which  site which most lends 
itself to this provision will be identified 

 
3.26. In addition to opportunities through the BLP, in the more medium term, the 

emerging masterplan for Holt Park District Centre includes within it a 
reference to the potential for extra care housing as part of the comprehensive 
solution for the area and this will form part of the ongoing development of 
investment options. 

 

Page 44



 
 

9 

3.27. This report has set out the quantum of delivery of accommodation for older 
people which is either in delivery or where delivery is anticipated in the short 
term. In addition there are approximately a further 14 sites which are either at 
the early stages of planning and development or which have planning but 
which have not yet started on site. Through the Council’s dedicated Housing 
Growth Team the barriers to delivery on these sites will be worked through 
with a view to further accelerating specialist supply. 

4. Review of Sheltered Council Housing  

4.1   The Department of Environment and Housing is undertaking a review of 
investment needs in sheltered housing in order to identify sustainable housing 
and support options with sufficient flexibility to meet the changing needs of 
older people. The review of sheltered housing facilities may offer opportunities 
for the development of new models of housing and support for older people. 

 
4.2     The Council has a portfolio of 420 sheltered homes within 127 schemes  

 across the city. These include 8 multi-storey blocks, 27 ‘complexes’ with 
integral communal facilities with the remainder being dispersed bungalows or 
flat schemes. 

 
4.3  The service vision is to provide a needs-led service which enables tenants to 

remain as independent as possible whilst living in a caring and supportive 
environment. Planned improvements include reviewing the support models for 
sheltered housing and developing closer links with Adult Social Care to 
ensure that wider needs of tenants are considered as part of service 
development. 

 
4.4  A review   has been undertaken of the Council’s sheltered housing provision 

in order to identify sustainable housing and support options for older 
 people in Council Housing. This review looked at a range of factors including 
 property and investment data (eg whether there are bedsits, shared bathing 
etc) and demand data. The outcomes will be used to inform future asset 
management and investment decisions relating to council housing stock and 
to develop scheme  specific investment proposals to be built into future capital 
programmes.  

 
4.5 The project has found that the majority of sheltered housing schemes provide 

housing which is suitable for older people. Approximately 45% of schemes are 
showing as being generally highly sustainable in their current form. For the 
remaining schemes there are differing issues which require investment 
approaches to be developed: 

• 4 schemes include bedsits with shared bathing facilities. 

• 8 schemes include bedsits with self-contained bathing facilities. 

• 22 schemes are within blocks mixed within general needs housing. 

• 49 schemes include first floor flats without a lift. 
 
4.5  Over the next few months the investment plans will be developed and 

prioritised to determine the next steps, .  
 

Page 45



 
 

10 

4.6  Included within the capital programme for 2014/15 are resources for schemes 
which require investment. Work is about to begin to Farrar Lane, Holt Park, to 
convert sheltered bedsits with shared bathing into fully self-contained flats, at 
a total cost of £1.46m. Further resources are identified within future years’ 
programmes, to support investment in other schemes. 

 
 4.9  The allocation of further funds will be dependent on the outcome of the 

 review of individual schemes as noted above, with the appraised schemes 
being considered as a whole, rather than making individual decisions as the 
reviews are completed. This will also be affected by the ongoing review of the 
HRA Business Plan and is dependent on the identification of sufficient funding 
to carry out the recommended options. 

5 Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement 

5.1.1  Consultation with the Executive Member Neighbourhoods, Planning and 
Personnel has taken place and consultation with the Ward Members, where 
reprovision on LCC owned land is proposed, will be undertaken before 
proposals are progressed.   

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

5.2.1 It is the aim of the Better Lives strategy to provide older people the 
opportunity to access specialist housing with care within the area that they 
live, have family roots or currently have family living. The Equality and 
Diversity/Cohesion and Integration screening tool has been used to ensure 
due regard to equality issues. The screening process found that it is a positive 
opportunity to promote the delivery of significant investment in improved, 
sustainable, specifically designed homes for older people.   

5.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

5.3.1  The proposals in this report are consistent with the Best Council Plan 2013-
2017 by providing housing as the city grows and through supporting the 
delivery of the Better Lives programme - helping local people with care and 
support needs to enjoy better lives. With a focus on:  

• helping people to stay living at home 

• joining up health and social care services  
• creating the right housing, care and support  
 

5.3.2 The Better Lives strategy established in 2011 aims to improve the lives of 
older people through integration, enterprise and specialist housing with care. 
The programme has emerged through Better Lives to work with the market 
to balance the supply of independent residential care home places in wards 
affected by the Phase One and Two review of LCC owned and operated 
older peoples residential care homes and increase the supply of specialist 
housing for older people who require care and support in those area where a 
deficit is predicted. 

Page 46



 
 

11 

5.4 Resources and Value for Money 

5.4.1 There are no direct resource implications arising out of the proposals in this 
report. Where there are proposals for Council owned sites to be used in some 
instances there will be a requirement for a ring fenced capital receipt which 
will be taken into account in determining the disposal or reinvestment routes 
of specific sites.  

5.4.2 There may be opportunities to stimulate the construction of specialist housing 
for older people in areas of undersupply through the reinvestment of capital 
receipts realised from the future sale of assets related to the review of LCC 
owned and operated residential care homes.  

5.4.3 Research on the effectiveness of extra care in reducing the amount of care or 
delaying an increase in care combined with an improvement in individual 
wellbeing has indicated that access to extra care housing has a positive 
impact on health and social care services leading to a reduction in whole 
system costs. 

5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications resulting from this report  

5.6 Risk Management 

5.6.1 Delivery risks will be managed in association with specific sites  

6 Summary and Conclusions 

6.1 The Housing Care Futures Programme has a multi stranded approach to  
 delivering extra care housing to provide independent living for older people.  

 
6.2 Locality specific solutions are identified which take into account local  

 opportunities in terms of sites and provision through other providers. 
 
6.3 The review of the Council’s sheltered stock forms part of the comprehensive 

 approach and the investment solutions which flow out of the review will form 
 part of the ongoing Housing Care Futures programme.   

7 Recommendations 

7.1 The Executive Board is recommended to: 
 
1 Note the progress made in increasing the delivery of specialist housing for 

older people 
 

2 Support further consideration of the  Council owned sites at 3.25 – 3.26 for 
investment in Extra Care housing either by direct delivery or through 
disposal as part of mixed tenure development schemes and that they are 
progressed for further Ward Member consultation. 
 

Page 47



 
 

12 

3 Note the role that the Council’s sheltered housing stock can play in expanding 
the housing and support options available for older people and a review is 
being carried out by the Director of Environment and Housing to develop the 
investment approach. 

8 Background documents1  

8.1 None 

 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s 
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents 
does not include published works. 

Page 48



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   

   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate:  
City Development  
Adult Social Care 
Environment and Neighbourhoods  

Service area: Specialist Older People’s 
Housing with Care Programme 
 

Lead person:  
Maggie Gjessing & Anna Clifford 
 

Contact number: 0113 3952297 

 

1. Title:  Supply of Specialist Housing for Older People 
 

Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify:  Programme 
 

 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

The corporate Specialist Older People’s Housing Programme sets out a holistic, city-wide 
approach to investment in older peoples’ housing, working in partnership across 
disciplines and departments (Leeds City Council’s Adult Social Care, Environment and 
Neighbourhoods and City Development), across public and commercial sector specialist 
housing providers and increasingly through integration with other services such as 
health. The aim is to utilise a range of delivery mechanisms to provide new specialist 
housing with care for older people and meet the identified shortfall of extra care 
accommodation. 
 
This screening is intended to support the Leeds City Council Executive Board report of 
19 November 2014 updating on recent and planned cross sector developments and 
proposing the further use of council sites. It should be read in conjunction with a 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 49



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   

   

2

companion report to the same meeting setting out the next steps for the overall Better 
Lives for Older People strategy.  
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

• Advancing equality of opportunity 

• Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   

   

3

 
 
 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 
 

• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The Programme’s focus by definition prioritises older people and by implication their 
carers, families and service providers. It recognises the need to respond to the increased 
likelihood of physical and mental disability in that age cohort. New build apartments are 
to lifelong homes standards, the HAPPI standards and are of dementia friendly design 
 
Specifically, the programme is a response to evidence of specialist need, demand and 
supply of accommodation for people over 75 in need of care identified in LCC’s Adult 
Social Care’s strategy ‘Better Lives for Older People’ against the background of the 
Government’s White Paper ‘Caring for our Future’. Leeds has a growing number of older 
people, with a predicted increase over the period to 2026 of 30% in householders aged 
75 years. Approximately 700 units of extra care accommodation are required to meet 
need before 2020 at a time of economic constraints with consequent pressure on public 
sector provision and the housing market in general.   
 
Capacity to deliver the programme is therefore being drawn out from a range of sources, 
including the independent sector, registered providers, the Council House Growth 
Programme and dedicated central government funding, with the aim of providing a 
flexible and integrated overall resource.  
 
Leeds City Council’s related Better Lives for Older People  Programme includes the 
reconfiguration of specialist accommodation for older people including the  closure of 
some existing care homes that would require significant investment to make them fit for 
purpose.  There is potential risk of heightened sensitivity as local people and those more 
directly affected share their concerns about the perceived loss of care home places. The 
closure programme is supported by a comprehensive communication and engagement 
strategy to ensure stakeholders are involved in decision-making about their future 
 
As older people aspire to be independent for longer there is an emphasis on choice and 
control and services that are more responsive to individual need.  There is an on-going 
reallocation of resources and a cultural and organisational shift towards community 
based support including specialist housing with care and support. 
 
In recent years promoting independence and providing people with more choice and 
control over their care and support has been a feature of health and social care 
legislation.  The Care Act (2014) brings together previous legislation and places new 

Page 51



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   

   

4

duties and responsibilities on local authorities relating to care and support for adults and 
in particular improving (older) people’s independence and wellbeing and preventing the 
need for increasing care and support. 
 
Although there is an increasing number of older people in the population nationally, the 
demand for residential care homes has fallen as people have chosen and been 
supported to remain as independent as possible in suitable housing.  In Leeds the length 
of time people spend in a care home has fallen, reflecting people’s choice to remain 
independent and living at home for as long as possible. As more people aspire to live at 
home for longer, the increasing importance of maintaining independence and giving 
people more choice and control drives a need to change service provision to better suit 
individual needs. 
 
Loneliness and isolation are key elements leading to admission to residential or nursing 
care.  This can be avoided if older people live in a safe environment where they can 
retain their independence, are not socially isolated, can get immediate access to 
emergency care and support and the assurance that any additional support will be 
available without the need to move. 
 
Specialist housing with care support for older people such as extra care can provide this 
safe environment and is a viable and (for many older people) a preferable alternative to 
residential care. Reflecting the national trend the Council is moving away from directly 
owned and operated long-stay care homes and supporting the development of extra care 
housing in those wards where there is currently an undersupply. 
 
Older people often want to live in older age in a community with which they are familiar 
and near to family members that are able to offer them greater support. The ambition to 
develop extra care accommodation in areas of undersupply across the city, in a variety of 
tenures and by a range of providers will ensure that older people have a choice about 
where they live. 
 

• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The programme is modelled to reflect differences in need, existing supply and response 
capacity across the city’s neighbourhoods and prioritises the areas needing most urgent 
investment. 
 
The proposals seek to facilitate a move from residential care to specialist housing, 
including Extra Care, to promote independent living and levels of care which are 
developed around the individual. Extra Care differs from residential care in that it 
provides the opportunity for people to live in their own home with services brought to 
them, allowing “ageing in place” as far as possible rather than having to move home as 
their needs change   
 
Proposed provision will have regard to the needs of BME elders in terms of cultural 
requirements and expectations. There are providers of extra care in Leeds that work with 

Page 52



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   

   

5

specific cultural groups. However it is recognised that more work needs to be done to 
understand the needs of different BME communities. The message emerging from 
service user consultation carried out by ASC last year can be summarised as older 
people wanting to remain in their current locality, close to families and friends and the 
neighbourhoods they are familiar with. This aspiration may not be far removed from the 
wishes of aging BME communities who live in inner city areas, but without appropriate 
consultation and engagement this remains an assumption. Consultation with BME 
communities may help explore traditional perceptions of communities looking after their 
own and whether future ECH provision should be specifically targeted to meet specific 
cultural needs within identified areas. 
 
No diversion of resources from other equality provision is anticipated, since funding is 
likely either to come via dedicated, specialist routes, including that only available to 
housing associations, or benefit from commercial sector investment. 
 
Of particular relevance for integration and cohesion, Better Lives for Older People is 
predicated on the principle that outcomes for older people improve when they are able to 
stay, for as long as possible, in familiar surroundings with services delivered to them.  
This means that families and carers are also able to remain in close contact with their 
elders, offering support but also deriving well-being from maintaining an integrated family 
life and contributing to a more sustainably diverse economic neighbourhood profile. 
 
The incremental approach to increasing care that preferences individual choice will have 
positive impact on the high incidence of poverty in many areas of the city gained by 
releasing larger council and housing association homes for general family use. 
 
Other than older people and their respective cultural requirements it is expected that the 
impact on people grouped under other protected characteristics of the Equality Act 2010 
will be neutral, although this will be monitored via feedback from service providers and 
neighbourhood networks including LCC Area Support Officers and locally based ALMO 
teams. 
 
A number of council owned sites have been identified to support the proposed 
programme which are located in areas which will help meet the wider ancillary needs of 
older people For example; older people require access to a range of facilities and 
services within the local community.  

• ASC services – day care, neighbourhood networks, community transport, 
community safety, cleaning and home help services, support for carers, access to 
voluntary, community and faith sector services  

• Leisure and recreational facilities  - enable older people to maintain links with their 
cultural roots and their lives enhanced by social interaction.  

• Access to healthcare and preventative health and well-being services by public 
transport  
 

These are issues that the Council will consider in future planning proposals 
 

• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Governance is provided by a Chief Officer-led Steering Group who will continue to 

Page 53



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   

   

6

monitor progress.  Clearly programme managers will be looking for measurable positive 
impact on older people, their carers, families and neighbourhood well-being. 
 
It is anticipated that EDCI screening reviews will be undertaken at agreed Programme 
milestones to ensure continued compliance. 
 
As individual proposals come forward, managers will undertake project specific edci 
screening and action plans that will look in detail at potential edci impact. 
 
The planned incremental roll out of the Programme in areas of need across the city will 
ensure that learning can be shared going forward.   

 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Maggie Gjessing Housing Investment 
Programme Manager 

7th November  2014 

Adrian Dean City Development Equality 
Representative  

7th November  2014 

 
 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 

Date screening completed 7  November  2014 
 

Date sent to Corporate Support Team 
 

10 November 2014 

Date to be published 
 

19 November 2014 

 

Page 54



 

Report of Director of Adult Social Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th November 2014 

Subject: Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds – Proposed Next Steps 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1 In recent years the health and social care world has been one of changing policies, vision 
and strategies to which Leeds has responded well.  Our Better Lives agenda, has so far 
built on earlier measures to deliver personalised care services:  the Fulfilling Lives service, 
which has modernised day services for people with learning disabilities; the move to a 
recovery model for people with mental health needs; the development of extra care housing 
for older people; the re-provision of a number of residential care homes and day services; 
the modernisation of services for people with physical disabilities; integration with health 
partners and the strong partnerships developing with the health, independent and voluntary 
sectors. 

 
2 Major steps forward have been taken to move Adult Social Care services closer to people’s 

homes and to shift the focus away from buildings and facilities.  The first two stages of the 
Better Lives plan have been successfully implemented over the last three years.  The 
measures outlined in this report represent a continuation, leading to the conclusion of this 
process.  The demand for accommodation in residential care homes has fallen.  In Leeds 
the length of time people spend in a care home has reduced, reflecting people’s choice to 
remain independent and living at home for as long as possible.  As more people aspire to 
live at home for longer, the increasing importance of maintaining independence and giving 
people more choice and control drives a need to change service provision to better suit 
individual needs.  The Specialist Housing for Older People report which is being considered 
elsewhere on the agenda today, refers to the Council’s approach in moving away from 
directly owned and operated long-stay care homes to support the development of extra 
care housing in those areas where there is currently an undersupply. 

 
3 All parts of the Adult Social Care service have been impacted by wholesale change brought 

about by external drivers, coupled internally with severely challenging budgetary 
reductions.  Nevertheless, through imaginative reconfiguration of services, Leeds has 

Report author:  Dennis Holmes / 
Anna Maria Clifford      

Tel:  2478647 / 3952297 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



 

succeeded in reducing costs at the same time as providing different, but better services for 
people across the various parts of the Adult Social Care portfolio.  For example 152 
residents of LCC care homes moved to independent homes and 219 day centre users 
moved to alternative day support.  This has been done by inclusive management of change 
through consultation with people who use services, carers, partners and staff.  Service 
transformation has been achieved through co-production and in an atmosphere where 
people are empowered to express their views and influence the shape of emerging new 
services.  Past experience has shown that this involvement is greatly valued both by those 
who propose the changes and the people who are affected by them. 

 
4 With deepening financial challenges, the time has now come to consider the remaining 

parts of the Adult Social Care portfolio, in order to ensure that we are both maximising 
value for money and delivering improved outcomes.  This is seen as an opportunity for 
further consultation with the public, service users and carers, and deeper involvement of 
partners.  It is proposed that stakeholders will, jointly with the Council, shape the remaining 
elements of the Adult Social Care service so that they move forward to provide high quality 
services that are improved by being delivered differently and not necessarily by the Council. 

 
5 This report contains proposals for the future delivery of Adult Social Care’s directly provided 

services. 

Recommendations 

1. To approve the proposals contained in this report for the Better Lives programme relating to 
the specific services detailed in section 5 of this report. 

2. To approve the four-year timetable set out in the report and summarised in Appendix 1. 

3. To commence consultation immediately (January 2015) on the proposed decommissioning 
of the three remaining specialist residential care homes and associated day centres 
(Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green).  The consultation will seek views on the 
proposed decommissioning of these establishments when suitable alternative facilities 
become available in their vicinity as detailed in sections 5.2-5.4 and 5.19-5.21. 

4. When it is considered that suitable alternative provision is available for Knowle Manor and 
Spring Gardens, the Director of Adult Social Services, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Adult Social Care, will consider a decision to cease permanent admissions 
from an agreed date as detailed in section 5.5. 

5. To continue to seek the creation of local alternative care provision for those residential care 
services which have been previously approved by Executive Board for closure.  In the case 
of both Home Lea House and Dolphin Manor, it is proposed that a progress report setting 
out a clear and conclusive business case for a local social enterprise is submitted and 
considered by Executive Board in summer 2015.  If that is not possible, an alternative 
proposal is to be brought back to the Executive Board within that same timescale.  Staff are 
to be fully engaged throughout this period as detailed in section 5.7. 

6. To continue to pursue the development of a transitional and respite care facility at Suffolk 
Court as previously approved by Executive board in partnership with the Leeds Community 
Healthcare Trust (LCHT), subject to commissioning / procurement of Community 
Intermediate Care (CIC) beds and the project being undertaken by the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the Public Private Partnership Unit (PPPU), as 
detailed in sections 5.8-5.10 and 5.18. 

7. In order to support the introduction of new city-wide contracts for the provision of homecare, 
which are planned to be introduced during 2016, to commence in January 2015, 

Page 56



 

consultation on the proposal to cease the provision of the in house community support 
service (long term generic and mental health) with the intention of the service being fully 
withdrawn by the end of March 2016.  During the consultation period, positive redeployment 
options will be actively pursued as detailed in sections 5.12-5.14. 

8. To begin work to align the provision of care support in the three extra care schemes where 
Adult Social Care is the care provider to that contained in the new city-wide extra care 
model by the end of March 2016.  After that date, to undertake a further review to ascertain 
whether further efficiencies could be delivered through market testing these three schemes 
as detailed in section 5.15. 

9. To support work currently under way to identify a site for a new leisure / sport / wellbeing 
facility in East Leeds as outlined in section 5.16-5.17. 

10. To commence consultation immediately (January 2015) on the decommissioning of 
Springfield day centre (Beeston and Holbeck).  The consultation will seek views on the 
proposed decommissioning of this establishment when suitable alternative facilities become 
available in the vicinity as detailed in section 5.22. 

11. To identify sufficient alternative work placements and job opportunities within Council 
directorates for all disabled staff currently working in the Roseville laundry.  When this has 
been achieved and all staff accommodated, then a decision be made to cease trading as 
soon as practical.  Other staff attached to Roseville will be supported to find alternative 
options as detailed in section 5.27. 

12. In relation to all other direct care services provided in house and not specifically mentioned 
above, to identify appropriate and sustainable opportunities for those services to be either 
transferred to or delivered in partnership with either the Council or with  health or voluntary 
sector organisations as detailed in section 5.28. 

13. To undertake joint work with colleagues in the Leeds and York Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust (LYPFT) to develop a business case for the further integration of services 
comprising all of the current council delivered mental health day, recovery and supported 
housing services, the physical impairment service and older people’s dementia day support 
at Calverlands and Laurel Bank, through an updated and revised section 75 agreement as 
detailed in sections 5.28 and 5.30. 

14. To identify alternative and appropriate job opportunities for staff impacted by these 
proposals, within the Council and across the wider health and social care sector in the city 
and to support staff to take up such opportunities through targeted training and 
development support as detailed in sections 6.9-6.14. 

15. To approve the next key steps as follows: 

a. January 2015: commence consultation immediately on the proposed 
decommissioning of the three remaining specialist residential care homes and 
associated day centres (Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green) and Springfield 
day centre.  The consultation will seek views on the proposed decommissioning of 
these establishments when suitable alternative facilities become available in their 
vicinity using the proposed approach in sections 6.1-6.5. 

b. January 2015: commence consultation on the proposal to cease the provision of the 
in house community support service (long term generic and mental health) with the 
intention of the service being fully withdrawn by the end of March 2016. 

Page 57



 

c. Summer 2015: to provide an update report on progress made in relation to all of the 
above proposals with annual reports on progress thereafter. 

16. To note that the Interim Director of Adult Social Services is lead officer for this work. 

Page 58



 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with information on the progress made 
in relation to the Better Lives programme to date.  Taking this into account, together with 
current opportunities and challenges, the report will also make recommendations for next 
steps, including the future direction of travel for those services currently provided by the 
Council. 

1.2 In relation to this, the report will recommend some areas for immediate service change 
and consultation, together with other areas where further review is required.  A further 
report on progress made will be brought back to Members in summer 2015. 

1.3 These recommendations are made in the context of the Council’s “Better Lives” strategy 
that focuses on delivering improved and cost effective services through enterprise, 
housing and integration. 

1.4 The report also acknowledges the way in which Adult Social Care commission’s services 
to offer prevention, recovery and continued support to people and the future role of Adult 
Social Care in directly providing these services. 

1.5 Based on the initial review of Adult Social Care’s directly provided service the report 
identifies a future role for the service that would offer short term support and care to 
promote independence, support carers and aid recovery.  Investing in preventative 
services and short term recovery services will benefit people in retaining or regaining their 
independence.  It will also help Adult Social Care to manage increased demand in a 
climate of budget pressures as these services can reduce the demand on long-term 
residential care. 

1.6 This report does not include proposals for the Learning Disability Service provided by 
Adult Social Care. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The background to the report lies in the success of the modernisation of Adult Social 
Care in the context of financial challenges faced by Adult Social Care and the wider 
context of the Care Act 2014, the gathering pace of Health and Social Care integration 
and the continuing demographic pressures being exerted on the social care system. 

2.2 A particular challenge lies in the cost of directly-provided Adult Social Care services 
compared with similar services provided by the voluntary and independent sector. 

2.3 This should be viewed in the context of a well-established and growing independent 
residential and extra care sector in the city; the well-respected work being done by 
Neighbourhood Networks in older people’s support services; current work under way to 
review contractual arrangements for independently-provided home care; and the work of 
many third-sector organisations in mental health services.  

2.4 The progress to date and the plans for the future will see Adult Social Care carry out its 
duties in a much more personalised way.  This requires a continued move away from long 
term institutional models of care and offering instead the opportunity for people to live in 
their own homes, access mainstream services in their own community and have tailor 
made care packages that suit them and their carers. 

2.5 This will entail the commissioning of services around three categories of care and 
support: Prevention, Recovery and Continued Support. Leeds already has a vibrant 
independent and voluntary sector which provides services for people directly or through 

Page 59



 

contracts that the Council has with them.  The specification, cost and quality of these 
services is subject to set standards and regular monitoring. 

2.6 Adult Social Care has an in-house care delivery service that has provided, over many 
years, high quality services to the people of Leeds.  The service has reduced in size in 
recent years as many of these services have undergone change to make them more 
efficient and capable of meeting the needs and aspirations of future generations.  
However, there remain a number of services that require significant capital investment 
and / or have running costs that make them uncompetitive in the wider housing and care 
market. 

2.7 The demand for residential care homes has fallen.  In Leeds the length of time people 
spend in a care home has reduced, reflecting people’s choice to remain independent and 
living at home for as long as possible.  As more people aspire to live at home for longer, 
the increasing importance of maintaining independence and giving people more choice 
and control drives a need to change service provision to better suit individual needs.  The 
Specialist Housing for Older People report which is being considered elsewhere on the 
agenda, refers to the Council’s approach in moving away from directly owned and 
operated long-stay care homes to support the development of extra care housing in those 
areas where there is currently an undersupply. 

Housing and Care  

2.8 A Scrutiny Board Inquiry was established in June 2010 to review the older people’s 
residential and day care services directly provided by Adult Social Care.  The review 
concluded that to maintain and operate the Council’s residential and day care facilities as 
they were then was unrealistic in terms of changing future demand and expectations; and 
unaffordable in terms of the resources needed to provide the quality required to make 
them viable for the future.  The inquiry accepted that people’s expectations around 
choice, quality and control over their residential accommodation had increased 
significantly and that a position of ‘no change’ in the provision of Council-run residential 
care was not an option. 

2.9 Following the Scrutiny Board inquiry the Better Lives for Older People programme went 
on to review and reform the residential care directly provided by Adult Social Care.  The 
review took into account the demand for services, the cost of services and the alternative 
services available in each area of Leeds. 

2.10 Following the review and two phases of extensive consultation, the Executive Board 
meetings of September 2011 and September 2013 approved proposals to close a 
number of residential care homes: 

Residential Care Home Closures approved 

2011 
Dolphin Manor (Rothwell) 
Grange Court (Garforth & Swillington) 
Kirkland House (Guiseley & Rawdon) 
Knowle Manor (Morley South) 
Harry Booth House (Beeston & Holbeck) 
Richmond House (Calverley & Farsley) 
Spring Gardens (Otley & Yeadon) 
Westholme (Farnley & Wortley) 
 
See sections 2.10 to 2.13 below 

2013 
Amberton Court (Gipton & Harehills) 
Burley Willows (Hyde Park and Woodhouse) 
Home Lea House (Rothwell) 
Fairview (Killingbeck & Seacroft) 
Manorfield House (Horsforth) 
Musgrave Court (Pudsey) 
Primrose Hill (Wetherby) 
Suffolk Court (Otley & Yeadon) 

2.11 After the implementation of the 2011 and 2013 Executive Board recommendations, the 
following homes remain open: Knowle Manor, Spring Gardens, Manorfield House and 

Page 60



 

Primrose Hill.  These homes will close once alternative provision is available.  New long 
stay admissions have stopped at Manorfield House and Primrose Hill (as alternatives are 
available) but they are still taking place at Knowle Manor and Spring Gardens.  This 
position is subject to ongoing review.  When it is considered that suitable alternative 
provision is available for the latter two establishments, the Director of Adult Social 
Services, in consultation with the Executive member for Adult Social Care, will consider a 
decision to cease permanent admissions from an agreed date as detailed in section 5.5. 

2.12 Harry Booth House has ceased to be a residential care home and has since re-opened 
as a new Council / NHS intermediate care facility – the South Leeds Independence 
Centre.  The provision of care is registered under Leeds Community Healthcare Trust and 
commissioned by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). 

2.13 Suffolk Court is to operate as a short-stay intermediate care / reablement / respite centre 
with no further long-term admissions.  Non-recurrent funding is received from the NHS 
CCGs to support 10 intermediate care beds.  This income fluctuates according to need. 

2.14 Alongside the programme looking at the future of the existing local authority older 
peoples residential homes, on 15th February 2013, Executive Board agreed an approach 
to investment in specialist housing for older people.  This includes working with a range of 
partners across sectors including developers and providers, the use of Council assets 
through development, disposal or reinvestment, bids for external funding and direct 
investment in new build council housing. 

Day Support 

2.15 In parallel with the review and consultation for older people’s residential care homes, a 
review of older people’s day centres was carried out.  This followed the same process 
and timescales as the residential programme, with Executive Board meetings of 
September 2011 and September 2013 approving proposals to close a number of day 
centres: 

Day Centre Closures approved 

2011 
Firthfields (Garforth and Swillington) 
Lincolnfields (Burmantofts & Richmond Hill) 
Rose Farm (Rothwell) 
Spring Gardens (Otley & Yeadon) 
 

2013 
Burley Willows (Hyde Park & Woodhouse) 
Doreen Hamilton (Burmantofts & Richmond Hill) 
Naburn Court (Crossgates & Whinmoor) 
Queenswood Drive (Kirkstall) 

2.16 Decisions to close the day centres were made due to the availability of alternative day 
support services in the voluntary and independent sectors, including the Neighbourhood 
Networks, the declining demand for the day centre model and the cost of day centre 
provision.  The city now has a much broader range of services available for older people. 

2.17 Some of the sites of day centres decommissioned during phase 1 and 2 of the Better 
Lives programme have been used to provide alternative services for older people. This 
includes; Firthfields (Garforth and Swillington) which has been handed over to Garforth 
Neighbourhood Elders Team who are using the building as their operational base for 
delivering services to older people in the area; Naburn Court (Crossgates and Whinmoor) 
which is being used by ASC Learning Disability Service as their North Leeds Community 
Base and by Swarcliffe Neighbourhood Network and Queenswood Drive (Kirkstall) which 
is being handed over to STEP Neighbourhood Network in November 2014. 

2.18 Alongside the closure of day centres, a new model of day activities has been developed 
at Holt Park Active, which offers an alternative approach to day centre care, with 70 
people now benefiting from a wider choice of services in a community setting.  Positive 

Page 61



 

outcomes continue to be recorded among this group of people with a wide variety of 
activities, flexibility of services and independence being key aspects of the Holt Park 
model. 

Summary of the Better Lives Programme – Progress to Date 

2.19 The changes that have been introduced under the Better Lives Programme are a result of 
demand analysis, consultation and partnership working.  Where closures have taken 
place, this has been proposed with the knowledge that there is declining demand for the 
service and alternatives are available which will meet the needs of the current service 
users and future generations. 

2.20 Major steps forward have been taken to move Adult Social Care services closer to 
people’s homes and into communities, as articulated in the Better Lives vision.  The first 
two stages of achieving this vision have been successfully implemented over the past 
three years.  The proposals contained in this report represent a continuation of that 
strategy and will lead to its completion. 

2.21 In order to achieve the residential care home and day centre closures, the Better Lives for 
Older People programme developed an approach that ensures that existing service users 
and their families are supported throughout the change process.  This includes a 
dedicated social work team working to an Assessment and Transition Protocol, a Care 
Guarantee clearly stating the service user’s and carer’s rights and a quality assurance 
process to monitor the programme to ensure that the safety and best interests of service 
users is maintained during and after the transition. 

2.22 The implementation of the recommendations approved by Executive Board in 2011 and 
2013 has been successful in transferring 152 residential home residents and 219 day 
service users to alternative provision and has achieved financial savings of over £4 
million relating to running costs and by avoiding the future costs of maintaining and 
bringing buildings up to the necessary standard.  Some 261 staff were directly affected by 
these changes, with 170 being redeployed into other service areas and 91 choosing to 
leave through early leavers’ initiatives or voluntary early retirement. 

2.23 A formal review of alternative options for our directly provided services is under way to 
identify how they could be delivered more effectively and efficiently in the future, thus 
ensuring they meet the needs of the people of Leeds, while also representing value for 
money for the Council.  Details of the initial stage of the review and proposed outcomes 
are contained in section 5 of this report. 

2.24 This report is concerned with all Adult Social Care provider services except Learning 
Disability Services.   

3 Main issues 

The National and Local Social Care Landscape 

3.1 Leeds City Council is faced with ongoing financial pressures.  Adult Social Care has to 
play its part in responding to these pressures while improving services and dealing with 
increased demand within certain demographics.  Demographic changes including an 
ageing society, increased life expectancy of people with long term conditions and the 
increasing number of family carers are factors that will have to be taken into account 
when planning for the future. 

3.2 Adult Social Care will also need to respond to the legislative changes with the 
introduction of the Care Act in April 2015.  The Care Act (2014) represents a radical 

Page 62



 

redesign of adult social care services.  The Act will consolidate all existing legislation for 
adult social care into one statute.  It places an individual’s wellbeing at the heart of social 
care with the aim of preventing, reducing or delaying the need for care and support. 

3.3 The Care Act also introduces new duties on Councils responsible for Adult Social Care.  
These include: the promotion of wellbeing, compliance with a national assessment and 
eligibility criteria, recognising and responding to individual carers’ rights, focusing 
resources on prevention, integrating services with the NHS, offering a comprehensive 
advice and information service, widening access to personal budgets (to include carers), 
ensuring safeguarding procedures are in place and overseeing and shaping the care 
market. 

3.4 The introduction of the Care Act (2014) will require changes to the way in which services 
are currently delivered. Assessments will be offered to a broader group of people 
including carers and people funding their own care and support from 2016 and achieving 
the desired outcomes will entail giving greater access to personal budgets. 

Housing and Care 

3.5 Work within Adult Social Care to develop a better understanding of current supply and 
future demand for residential / nursing care and specialist housing has confirmed the 
predicted fall in the numbers of residential care places required and has highlighted a 
significant shortfall in specialist housing with care such as extra care housing. 

3.6 Extra care housing offers an alternative to residential care by providing the opportunity for 
older people with a range of support needs to live in their own home, with their own front 
door, in a safe and secure environment within a community setting.  It allows people to 
maintain their independence and receive a flexible range of support and care services 
that meet their individual needs.  Extra Care Housing can come in many built forms, 
including blocks of flats, bungalow estates and retirement villages.  Regardless of the 
type of building and tenancy type, it is important that Extra Care Housing presents and 
functions as a domestic rather than an institutional environment.  There are generally 
communal facilities within Extra Care, but these vary depending on what services are 
already available within the local community.  Domestic support, personal care and 
activities are available and can be provided by on-site staff or through other providers. 

3.7 Acknowledging this shift in the market, the Housing and Care Futures Programme has 
emerged from the Better Lives through Housing, Care and Support theme of the Better 
Lives programme with the aim of developing a corporate response to the specialist 
housing and care needs of an ageing population. 

3.8 Progress has been made in increasing the delivery of specialist housing for older people 
through commercial provision, the use of council owned sites, the Council Housing 
Growth Programme and through successful application for external grant funding. 

3.9 The Better Lives for People in Leeds – Housing and Care Futures Programme report 
(elsewhere on this Agenda) sets out recommendations relating to the further actions now 
required to accelerate the growth in specialist housing supply to meet the needs of 
increasing numbers of older people across the city. 

3.10 This approach is indicative of the Council’s revised role in providing specialist models of 
service, and working corporately to enable and facilitate the development of types of 
service fit for the 21st century. 

3.11 The Community Support Service, which provides domiciliary care, underwent a significant 
change between 2010 and 2011.  This involved creating the city wide reablement (SkILs 

Page 63



 

– Skills for Independent Living Service), and separating the Long Term Generic, Extra 
Care and Long Term Mental Health services.  Since this change in service the 
reablement (SkILs) teams have expanded in response to increased demand.  There is a 
large independent sector market for the provision of home care in Leeds which has grown 
in size in recent years.  This significant growth has resulted in a corresponding reduction 
in the share of the market provided by the Council’s in-house service. 

Day Support 

3.12 The traditional building based model of day care has declined in popularity and impact.  
The attendance levels have continued to reduce and emphasis is increasingly put on day 
services that are community based and can cater for a larger number of people.  The new 
model of day service supports people to engage with wider community based activities 
reflecting their interests and allowing them to choose rather than ‘a one size fits all’ day 
centre. 

3.13 Despite extensive reconfiguration of day services in the past four years, attendance at the 
older people’s day centres continues to decline.  Reasons for this decline include the 
variety of opportunities within the voluntary sector and the changing aspirations of older 
people.  This has seen the emergence of new models of support to better meet the needs 
of older people in a variety of community settings.  Holt Park Active has been seen as a 
success in providing older people with access to activities in a community setting and 
there is potential to replicate this model across the city.  In addition, the Neighbourhood 
Networks and others, including Age UK and the Alzheimer’s Disease Society, continue to 
provide a range of day opportunities for older people. 

3.14 The mental health transformation programme which has been strongly influenced by 
national policy drivers, most recently an updated Mental Health Strategy launched in 
2011:  No Health without Mental Health.  The strategy outlines how an emphasis on early 
intervention and prevention will help tackle the underlying causes of mental ill-health; and 
where services are more personalised, more preventive and more focused on delivering 
the best outcomes for the people who use them.  The resulting ‘recovery’ model has 
become embedded throughout the whole service.  The primary aim is to deliver a model 
aimed at keeping people well and offering a varied choice of service provision.  The 
service works with each person to understand what keeps him / her well. It strives to 
make sure that the service user is at the heart of developing his or her own support plan, 
working towards building a fulfilling life, wishes, aspirations and goals. 

3.15 The physical impairment transformation programme has been driven by the changing 
aspirations of disabled people.  The Equality Act 2010: carries forward the protection 
previously provided by the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (DDA).  This generally 
strengthens anti-discrimination legislation and a duty to make reasonable adjustments for 
disabled people.  This fits with the social model approach which describes society as the 
disabling barrier and not the disabled person. 

3.16 Holt Park Active opened in December 2013 and offers various opportunities for those 
people accessing Osmondthorpe and Mariners resource centres for people with physical 
disabilities. The success of the service has meant that the Mariners building was no 
longer required by the service and was declared surplus from a service perspective in 
May 2014.  The Physical Impairment Service now consists of Osmondthorpe Hub and a 
co-located base at Holt Park Active in addition to the community activities already on 
offer. Disabled people are one of the groups where there has been a big uptake of 
personal budgets and individuals have chosen to employ their own personal assistant 
(PA) and access community resources. 

 

Page 64



 

4 Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds:  Proposed Next Steps 

4.1 The main issues discussed in this report are concerned with Adult Social Care directly 
provided services.  These are the remaining residential and day services, the community 
support service (long term care and mental health), the reablement service, respite 
services, dementia services and the Roseville Enterprises supported workshop.  Learning 
Disability services are excluded from this review. 

4.2 The list of remaining services (which in the vast majority of cases are provided to people 
with assessed, eligible social care needs) are laid out in the table below: 

  Service Area Establishment 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 C
a
re
 

Older People’s Residential Homes – 
Approved for closure / alternative provision / 
change of use (September 2011 & September 
2013 Executive Board Reports) 

Dolphin Manor 

Home Lea House 

Knowle Manor 

Manorfield House 

Primrose Hill 

Spring Gardens 

Suffolk Court 

Richmond House 

South Leeds Independence Centre 

Older People Residential Homes – Remaining 

Middlecross 

Siegen Manor 

The Green 

Community Support including Long Term Generic Home Care and Long Term Mental 
Health Care 

Skills for Independent Living (SkILS) Service 

Older People Extra Care Housing 

Woodview 

Bramley Rossefield Manor 

Cardinal Court 

Mental Health Transitional Housing Units 

Bewerley Croft 

Cottingley Court 

Spen Lane 

Mental Health Impact Service 
North 

South 

Homeless Team 

Shared Lives Service - Short breaks and Respite in the Community 

Peer Support Network 

D
a
y
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

 
Older People Services 

APNA 

Calverlands 

Frederick Hurdle 

Holt Park Active 

Laurel Bank 

Middlecross 

Radcliffe Lane 

Siegen Manor 

Springfield 

The Green 

Wykebeck Valley 

Physical Impairment Services 
Osmondthorpe Hub 

Holt Park Active  

Mental Health Day and Community Support Services & 
Community Alternatives Team 

Lovell Park Centre Hub 

Stocks Hill Centre 

Vale Circles 

Roseville Laundry Service 

4.3 Although many of the in-house services have undergone reform there remain a number 
of services that rely on buildings which require significant capital investment and / or are 

Page 65



 

uncompetitive within the wider care market.  In order to “do better for less”, Adult Social 
Care will need to identify the most cost effective way of delivering the desired outcomes 
for people.  It is proposed that Adult Social Care’s directly provided services will, in future, 
focus on short term care and support to aid recovery, support carers, and step in when 
other providers have difficulty in providing a service.  In addition Adult Social Care will 
use every opportunity to ensure that an integrated approach (with the NHS or voluntary 
organisations) is adopted to promote a more holistic service and to achieve greater 
efficiencies. 

4.4 The Council’s future role in regard to continued support will be to commission the majority 
of home care from the independent sector, enable the development of more specialist 
housing for older people including Extra Care Housing (which can be a viable and 
preferable alternative to residential care) and to support the independent sector in the 
strategic development of care homes.  This will ensure that each area of Leeds has a 
range of accessible support and care options.  Work will continue with NHS colleagues to 
establish a more viable and robust community bed base as an alternative to acute 
hospital care (as in the South Leeds Independence Centre). 

4.5 Over the next four years, Adult Social Care proposes to withdraw from the direct provision 
of long term care services.  This will entail reviewing existing services, identifying options 
for the future delivery of these services, agreeing on a preferred option, consulting on the 
proposals and implementing the change. 

4.6 The Better Lives for Older People programme has already had an impact on the way that 
services can be reformed and efficiencies gained. Taking best practice from work carried 
out in the earlier stages of the programme, the remainder of the services directly provided 
by Adult Social Care are now proposed for further review.  The range of options for the 
future of each of the services will incorporate the broader Better Lives strategy that 
identifies development opportunities through housing and care, integration and 
enterprise. 

4.7 The retained Council services will, in future, complement rather than compete with 
services commissioned from the independent sector.  Focusing the Council’s own 
services on specific areas of need offers a more efficient way of achieving better 
outcomes for people, given the severe financial constraints faced by the Council.  The 
disposal of capital assets would also contribute towards the savings necessary in order to 
meet the Council’s overall budget strategy. 

4.8 Disinvesting in the Council’s long term care services that are not sustainable in the 
current economic climate will also allow reinvestment into the services which the Care Act 
(2014) will place a duty on the Council to provide. 

4.9 The cumulative effect on communities brought about by changes in the Council’s 
provision is recognised and the measures proposed in this report take account of the 
need to maintain some existing services until alternative provision is available. 

5 Review of Services 

5.1 The initial review stage of Adult Social Care’s directly provided services has identified 
those services where the implementation of the proposed recommended option is seen 
as a priority taking into account the availability of alternative services and the impact on 
service users. 

 

 

Page 66



 

Housing and Care 

Siegen Manor (Morley South ward), Middlecross (Armley ward) and The Green 
(Killingbeck & Seacroft ward) 

5.2 The residential care homes at Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green were reviewed 
during phase 1 and 2 of the Better Lives programme and retained.  This was due to the 
perceived need for direct council provision of specialist residential dementia services.  
This judgement was based on; the associated risks of moving people with dementia, 
concerns over the level of alternative services available and the level of demand for these 
homes.  However, these risks have been reassessed after the successful implementation 
of changes made to date. 

5.3 During phase 1 and 2, residents with dementia were successfully assessed and 
transferred to alternative local provision following closure of Musgrave Court and Fairview 
residential homes.  This was achieved by using the Assessment and Transfer Protocol, 
Care Guarantee and quality assurance process for 16 Residents at Fairview and 25 
Residents at Musgrave Court. 

5.4 The demand for Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green has declined.  This has 
resulted in continued provision of services which are declining in demand and increasing 
the unit cost per service user.  Considering these factors and the availability of alternative 
provision as part of the review, it is recommended that formal consultation takes place 
immediately (January 2015) with service users, staff and key stakeholders.  The 
consultation will seek views on the proposed decommissioning of Siegen Manor, 
Middlecross and The Green residential homes when suitable alternative facilities become 
available in their vicinity. Consultation will be carried out using the same approach used 
in phase 1 and 2 of the Better Lives programme and a further report will be provided to 
Executive Board with consultation outcomes and revised proposals in summer 2015. 

Knowle Manor (Morley South) and Spring Gardens (Otley & Yeadon) 

5.5 As a result of proposals made in the report to Executive Board in 2011, it was agreed that 
Knowle Manor and Spring Gardens would close once alternatives were developed in the 
area.  Until such time, admissions would continue at both homes.  At the present time, no 
change is recommended in this position, but when it is considered that suitable 
alternative provision is available, the Director of Adult Social Services, in consultation with 
the Executive member for Adult Social Care, will consider a decision to cease permanent 
admissions from an agreed date. 

Manorfield House (Horsforth) and Primrose Hill (Wetherby) 

5.6 As a result of proposals made in the report to Executive Board in 2013, it was agreed that 
Manorfield House and Primrose Hill would close once alternative placements were 
identified in the area.  It was also agreed to stop long stay admissions due to the 
availability of independent alternatives in each area.  Both homes are now operating 
under capacity and it will be necessary to review the position if the health and wellbeing 
of the remaining residents cannot be maintained 

Dolphin Manor (Rothwell) and Home Lea House (Rothwell) 

5.7 Interest has been shown in developing the services at Dolphin Manor and Home Lea 
House  as a community resource outside the control of the Council.  It is proposed that a 
progress report setting out a clear and conclusive business case for a local social 
enterprise is submitted and considered by Executive Board in summer 2015.  If that is not 

Page 67



 

possible, an alternative proposal is to be brought back to the Executive Board within that 
same timescale.  Staff are to be fully engaged throughout this period. 

The South Leeds Independence Centre (Beeston & Holbeck), Richmond House 
(Calverley and Farsley) and Suffolk Court (Otley & Yeadon) 

5.8 The South Leeds Independence Centre (SLIC) is an integrated health and social care 
partnership providing intermediate care in a converted residential home.  It was intended 
that this model could be replicated at further homes, subject to a viable business case 
and sites being agreed by both partners. 

5.9 Richmond House and Suffolk Court were identified as possible sites for further joint-
initiative Independence Centres.  The NHS is currently considering a number of options 
for intermediate care beds as part of the Leeds Community Bed Strategy. 

5.10 It is intended that Richmond House and Suffolk Court are retained to provide short stays 
including intermediate / recuperative/ respite care for older people, from across the City, 
who are borderline for placement in residential or high dependency residential care.  The 
key objective of the service will be to assist people to improve their health and social 
functioning within an environment that affords service users privacy, dignity and promotes 
their independence.  The provision of the two residential units will complement the 
existing Reablement Service (incorporating assistive technology) which is community 
based and works closely with the integrated (LA/NHS) neighbourhood teams.  The 
proposed enhanced service will have an important role to play in delivering the Care Act 
(2014) objective to prevent people from entering a long term care home or being admitted 
inappropriately to an acute hospital and supporting carers in their task. 

Older people’s specialist housing: market position statement 

5.11 Development of specialist housing within Leeds is slowly increasing and the pace may 
begin to accelerate as the housing market recovers. To capture this impetus within the 
market an Older Person’s Specialist Housing Market Position Statement has been 
drafted. The aim of this document would be to provide encouragement to the market by 
setting out the Council’s ambitions for older people in Leeds, by identifying those areas 
where a shortfall of specialist accommodation (including residential care with and without 
nursing, extra care, sheltered accommodation), exists and by indicating the tenure mix 
which is likely to be most successful in each ward where additional units are required.  A 
companion report elsewhere on this agenda describes the planned service transformation 
in more detail. 

The Community Support Service – Long term generic, mental health, extra care housing 
and SkILS 

5.12 The long term Community Support Service is what remains following the local authority’s 
decision to transfer staff and resources into the recovery model of provision (the SkILS 
team) and commission long term home care from the independent sector.  Staffing levels 
within the Community Support Service are likely to be further reduced by a combination 
of take up of the Early Leaver Initiative and by staff taking up new opportunities in related 
activity within the Directorate and wider Council, including other Adult Social Care 
services, Civic Enterprise Leeds and the Health Service. 

5.13 The review of the service has found that services of a similar nature are available from 
alternative providers, at a lower cost and continued delivery is not sustainable given the 
financial challenges to the Council.  Positive opportunities are currently available for staff 
redeployment, e.g. in Housing Services, Learning and Leisure and the Health Service.  It 
is recommended that consultation with individual service users and family carers takes 

Page 68



 

place on the proposal to ultimately cease the service with service users transferring to 
alternative providers.  Should the proposal be approved, transferring on an individual 
basis will minimise disruption for the service users. 

5.14 Savings relating to the commissioning of services from the independent sector at a lower 
unit cost (e.g. using a benchmark of £16.80 as the independent sector cost and £25 as 
the local authority gross cost per hour) would lead to an annual saving of £2m (£8m over 
the 4 year plan period). This would be in addition to annual revenue cost savings of 
£360,000 - relating to premises supplies and transport.  The intention is to support the 
introduction of the new city wide contracts for the provision of homecare from April 2016 
(details in a separate Executive Board report elsewhere on the agenda) and to 
commence consultation on ceasing the provision of the in house long term community 
support service as soon as the direction of travel is agreed. 

5.15 Where LCC has nomination rights to extra care with external extra care providers, the 
contract for the provision of care is currently being renegotiated with the aim of moving 
towards a core and add on model.  This model provides 24 hour on site emergency care 
(the core) from which all residents benefit as required plus individual care packages (the 
add on)that are provided by visiting domiciliary staff.  This model will be used for the 
provision of care at the new LCC extra care complex in Yeadon.  In a separate 
arrangement, ASC staff currently provide static care teams in three extra care complexes 
where the landlord function is provided by either Housing Leeds or Registered Social 
Landlords.  It is proposed that work begin to align the model of care with the core and add 
on model with the static staff teams changing to a more peripatetic approach. 

Day support 

5.16 Despite extensive reconfiguration of day services in the past four years, attendance at the 
older people’s day centres continues to decline.  Reasons for this decline include the 
variety of opportunities within the independent sector and the changing aspirations of 
older people.  This has seen the emergence of new models of support to better meet the 
needs of older people in a variety of community settings. Holt Park Active has been seen 
as a success in providing older people with access to activities in a community setting 
and there is potential to replicate this model across the city.  In addition, the 
Neighbourhood Networks continue to provide a range of day opportunities for older 
people. 

5.17 People who do still use older peoples’ day centres primarily do so to provide respite for 
their carer. Respite services provide carers with a break from caring and without support 
the task of caring can become too much for carers having an impact on their health and 
leading to the person they care for being admitted to a care home or hospital. The 
development of services such as Holt Park would capitalise on the Council’s resources 
and partnership approach. It is proposed that Executive Board support is sought to 
identify a site for a new facility similar to Holt Park Active to be located in East Leeds. 

5.18 There is also the potential to use Richmond House and Suffolk Court as dedicated short 
breaks / recuperative care facilities and develop closer working between the Shared Lives 
service and other partner organisations. 

Siegen Manor (Morley South), Middlecross (Armley) and The Green (Killingbeck and 
Seacroft) 

5.19 The day centres at Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green were reviewed during 
phase 1 and 2 of the Better Lives programme and retained.  This was due to the 
perceived need for direct council provision of specialist dementia day services and their 
link to retained residential care homes.  This judgement was based on; the associated 

Page 69



 

risks of moving people with dementia and concerns over the level of alternative services 
available.  However, these risks have been reassessed after the successful 
implementation of changes made to date. 

5.20 During phase 1 and 2 day centre users with dementia were successfully assessed and 
transferred to alternative local provision.  This was achieved by using the Assessment 
and Transfer Protocol, Care Guarantee and quality assurance process 

5.21 The demand for Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green has declined, with 
attendance continuing to reduce.  Attendance figures for May 2011 averaged 78% with 
this dropping to 62% by January 2014.  Coupled with this are a range of alternative day 
support services such as Shared Lives, Alzheimer’s Society services, Neighbourhood 
Networks and other third-sector resource centres.  This has resulted in continued 
provision of services at these locations which are declining in demand and becoming less 
cost efficient to run.  Considering these factors as part of the review, it is recommended 
that formal consultation takes place immediately (January 2015) with service users, staff 
and key stakeholders.  The consultation will seek views on the proposed 
decommissioning of Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green day centres when 
suitable alternative facilities become available in their vicinity.  Consultation will be carried 
out using the same approach used in phase 1 and 2 of the Better Lives programme and a 
further report will be provided to Executive Board with consultation outcomes and revised 
proposals in summer 2015. 

Springfield Day Centre (Beeston and Holbeck) 

5.22 Springfield day centre has been subject to an initial stage review and the falling 
attendance level and the availability of alternative day activities in the area are the two 
main factors that support the proposal to decommission the centre and offer service 
users an alternative day service in their locality.  Attendance has fallen from 62% in May 
2011 to 35% in January 2014.  A range of third-sector alternatives are available, including 
Shared Lives and community based day support services.  Considering these factors as 
part of the review, it is recommended that formal consultation takes place immediately 
(January 2015) with service users, staff and key stakeholders.  The consultation will seek 
views on the proposed decommissioning of Springfield day centre when suitable 
alternative services become available in the vicinity.  Consultation will be carried out 
using the same approach used in phase 1 and 2 of the Better Lives programme and a 
further report will be provided to Executive Board with consultation outcomes and revised 
proposals in summer 2015. 

Wykebeck Day Centre (Gipton and Harehills) 

5.23 Wykebeck Day Centre has also been subject to review and has falling attendance levels 
(54% in May 2011, 36% in January 2014).  Although there are alternative day activities in 
the area, the building has been recently refurbished to a high standard and until an 
alternative use for the building can be identified it would seem appropriate to retain it at 
this stage.  In addition, 28 people transferred to the centre following previous day centre 
closures and there is a high level of service users with personal care needs (51% 
compared to 29% at Springfield) for whom it may be difficult to find short term alternative 
provision that meets their needs.  There is also the potential for the development in the 
area of a model of service provision similar to the successful “Holt Park Active”.  It is 
therefore proposed that Wykebeck Day Centre is decommissioned when an alternative 
use for the building is identified and when a Holt Park style of day service is available in 
the locality. 

 

Page 70



 

Frederick Hurdle (Chapel Allerton) and Apna (Hyde Park and Woodhouse) Day Centres 

5.24 Following review of these two specialist (BME) day centres it is unlikely that they have a 
long term future in their current form of provision as the attendance levels are low and 
declining.  Frederick Hurdle has an attendance of 48% (January 2014) compared to 66% 
in May 2011.  In the same period, APNA has seen a decline in attendance from 90% to 
50%.  However, rather than requesting that they are decommissioned, the opportunity to 
develop an alternative service model should be considered.  Interest has been shown in 
developing Frederick Hurdle and APNA day centres as community resources.  This may 
include the opportunity to develop the centres outside of Council control or re commission 
a third sector provider to run a revised service. 

Radcliffe Lane (Pudsey) 

5.25 Radcliffe Lane has been identified as a potential joint health and social care service, 
developed in partnership with the Robin Lane GP practice in Pudsey.  A working group 
has been established to progress discussion around the proposal which will be developed 
subject to a service specification alongside a robust business case demonstrating that the 
new model of delivery is beneficial to the Council and to service users. It is intended that 
a business case will be developed for this service during 2015 with a further report on 
progress and revised proposals provided to Executive Board in summer 2015. 

Calverlands (Horsforth) and Laurel Bank (Middleton Park) 

5.26 Dementia services in the community offer personalised support to carers and service 
users. In response to the increasing levels of dementia, the national Dementia Strategy 
and the Leeds Dementia Strategy the potential for a specialist dementia service would be 
explored with the NHS.  This would include the opportunity to use two existing day 
centres, Laurel Bank and Calverlands as joint resources for the Leeds and York 
Partnership Foundation Trust and LCC.  A partnership of this nature would be in keeping 
with other mental health services in Leeds that are delivered jointly by the NHS and the 
local authority.  It would also build on the existing staff skills and the Council’s resources 
to offer short term support to people in their own home or a specialist centre.  The next 
stage will entail joint work to develop a business case for the further integration of 
services. 

Roseville (City & Hunslet) 

5.27 The Roseville Business Plan Review Group was established in early 2014 and has made 
significant progress in developing plans for the future of Roseville.  This work is overseen 
by the Roseville Advisory Board.  Currently there are consultations taking place with staff 
to secure their future with the Council in alternative work placements. Civic Enterprise 
Leeds and Parks and Countryside have both offered alternative placements and these 
are being explored.  It is anticipated that all of the staff in the supported business will be 
offered an alternative place within the Council.  When this has been achieved and all staff 
accommodated, then a decision will be made to cease trading as soon as practical. 

Further opportunities for partnership / integrated working 

5.28 Over the planned four year period of service transformation the following services will be 
subject to review in relation to identifying appropriate opportunities for such services to be 
provided either in partnership with other voluntary or health organisations or by the 
independent sector: 

• Older People’s Day Support at APNA, Frederick Hurdle, Radcliffe Lane and 
Wykebeck 

Page 71



 

• Shared Lives – including short breaks and respite in the community 

• Older Peoples Extra Care Housing Support Service – including Woodview, 
Rossefield Manor and Cardinal Court 

• Peer Support Network 

• SkILS 

• Physical Impairment Services – including Osmondthorpe Hub 

• Mental Health Day and Community Support Services & Community Alternatives 
Team – including Lovell Park Centre, Stocks Hill Centre and Vale Circles  

• Older People Dementia Day Support at Calverlands and Laurel Bank  

• Mental Health Transitional Housing Units – including Bewerley Croft, Cottingley 
Court and Spen Lane  

• Mental Health Impact Service – North and South  

• Homelessness Team  
 

5.29 Recommendations in relation to the future delivery and management of these services 
will be reported to Executive Board during 2015.  The current strategy for the SkILS team 
is to develop an integrated health and social care rehabilitation and rapid response 
service closely linked to the neighbourhood teams and intermediate care beds.  The 
financial challenges of the Council may require a review of this strategy.  Further reports 
will be submitted should this be the case.  

5.30 In relation to mental health and physical impairment services, initial discussions have 
already commenced with the Leeds & York Partnership Foundation Trust, with a view to 
developing a business case for a fully integrated service, which would include all of the 
Council’s directly provided mental health and physical impairment services. 

Summary of Proposals 

5.31 The proposals made in this report would allow services to be remodelled in a way that 
provides improvements in terms of; value for money, meeting the changing needs of the 
people of Leeds and working in an integrated way with partners and the independent 
sector. 

6 Corporate Considerations 

Consultation and Engagement  

6.1 Consultation will form an essential part of progressing with the proposals, as the views of 
key stakeholders are essential to developing services to meet current and future needs.  
It is intended that the best practice used during consultation in phase 1 and 2 of the 
Better Lives for Older People programme will be used to shape the consultation on 
proposals made within this report.  As a result of the previous consultation, stakeholder 
and service user input influenced the proposals which were revised following the 
consultation period before being presented back to Executive Board.  This allowed 
proposals to be refined to ensure better outcomes and minimal disruption to services 
when implementing the changes.  A comprehensive suite of information will explain the 
review process to all key stakeholders, including how a proposed option has been 
reached for each service. 

6.2 Consultation will take place with all relevant stakeholders, including: service users and 
their families and carers;  the general public; Adult Social Care staff and service 
managers; elected Members; community groups; partnership organisations; HR/ Trade 
unions; Corporate Management and Leadership Teams; commissioners; independent 
sector / third sector providers; and health partners.   For the consultation to be conducted 
effectively it will be phased as proposals for change are implemented. 

Page 72



 

6.3 The level of consultation and type of communication will vary depending on the 
stakeholder being consulted.  The following methods were used during phase 1 and 2 
and will be adapted and used for the proposals outlined in this document: 

• One to one interviews with all service users, relatives and carers 

• Ward Member briefings 

• Attendance at Area Committees 

• Providing questionnaires to all stakeholders, including online 

• Producing fact sheets setting out options and how these have been arrived at 

• Effective feedback arrangements 

• Meetings and events with community groups with a particular interest in older 
people and the issues being consulted upon 

• Meetings and events with trades unions, specifically in relation to the options being 
consulted on 

• Group Q&A sessions for people who use services and all interested parties 

• Documentation that gives background information about each service and options 
available 

• Staff meetings 

• Meetings with key partner organisations, particularly NHS partners 

• Newsletters and web-based information 

• A media campaign 

6.4 Formal advocacy will be provided for service users during the consultation phase when 
required and as requested.  All options will be subject to a formal equality impact 
assessment. 

6.5 To coincide with the publication of this report, letters have been sent to:  

• Residents, families and staff of residential care homes to be immediately and 
directly affected by the proposals in this report 

• Service users, carers and staff of day centres to be immediately and directly 
affected 

• Community support staff and people in receipt of the community support service 

• All Adult Social Care staff, so that they can understand the breadth of the changes 
proposed in this report. 

• Communications with staff and carers at the Roseville service are already well 
established and will continue. 

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

6.6 The Council has a duty as defined in the Equality Act 2010. The main requirements under 
the Act are as follows:  A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 

a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it. 

6.7 An initial Equality Screening Assessment (Appendix 2) has been undertaken on the 
proposed options  and this has identified that there will be equality impacts relating to 
older and disabled people, their families and carers, whose care is currently provided by 
the in-house service.  Staff will also be affected, particularly women, who make up 90% of 

Page 73



 

the workforce.  The findings of the Equality Screening have informed the proposals.  If the 
proposals are agreed, a full Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken. 

Council Policies and City Priorities  

6.8 The proposals made in this report are consistent with Council policies and priorities 
including: 

Leeds City Priority Plan 2011 – 2015 

• Support more people to live safely in their own homes 

• Give people choice and control over their health and social care services 

• Reduce the rate of emergency admissions to hospital 

• Reduce the rate of admission to residential care homes 

• Increase the proportion of people with long-term conditions feeling supported to be 
independent and manage their condition 

 
Best Council Plan 2013-2017 
Delivery of Better Lives programme – helping local people with care and support needs 
to enjoy better lives with a focus on: 

• giving choice 

• helping people to stay living at home 

• joining up health and social care services  

• creating the right housing, care and support 
• achieve the savings and efficiencies required to continue to deliver frontline 

services 

HR Implications 

6.9 The Adult Social Care directorate has experienced significant challenge in reducing 
employee numbers over recent years; however, this has always been carefully planned 
with an inclusive communications and engagement process.  The Directorate has a 
good track record for redeployment and those employees that have left the council have 
done so through voluntary means.  Since November 2010, there has been a net loss of 
570 full time equivalent staff (829 staff headcount) from the ASC provider services 
referred to within this report.  Throughout these challenging times they have maintained 
high levels of participation in the appraisal process together with high employee 
engagement results. 

6.10 The directorate in conjunction with the Council as a whole will continue workforce 
planning and development planning to inform the future resource requirements for the 
organisation.  The workforce plans will outline what anticipated changes are likely to, or 
have a potential to happen as a result of internal and external influences, for example 
legislative changes, national and local policy, together with responding to the financial 
challenges.  The workforce requirements are also being evaluated in order to meet the 
requirements of the Care Act and this should also provide some opportunities for 
alternative work and career pathways for existing employees.   

6.11 The directorate will continue to take a cautious approach in managing vacancies in all 
provider services and will continue to review all requests for voluntary severance and 
voluntary early retirement (under the Council’s Early Leaver Initiative [ELI] scheme).  
Temporary short term resources will be considered where vacancies occur. 

6.12 In order to avoid unnecessary job losses the directorate will be proactive in working 
across the Council to ensure a flexible and agile workforce that can be deployed to 
areas of priority.  Development opportunities will be afforded to staff to retrain into 
complementary roles such as opportunities within Children’s Services, Customer 

Page 74



 

Service, Parks and Sheltered Housing.  The directorate will continue to work 
collaboratively with Civic Enterprise Leeds to pool its catering and domestic roles.  This 
will provide an improved career path for these staff groups going forward. 

6.13 The directorate will build on its links with health and other sector partners to review 
career opportunities for care roles across the City. The directorate will work closely with 
Employment and Skills to advise on other job and career opportunities across the City. 
The directorate will also use the Council’s ‘Help Employee Assistance’ programme to 
support staff through the change programme. 

Resources and Value for Money 

6.14 The Council's Budget for 2014/15 was approved at full council on 26 February 2014.  
The Council to date has been successful in responding to the challenging reductions to 
its funding since 2010 which has been in the region of £94m over the past three years.  
Based on the national spending totals announced in the 2013 Spending Review, and a 
subsequent technical consultation, the Council now anticipates that there will be a 
further reduction in funding from Government of around £81m for core services over the 
two years 2014/15 and 2015/16.  This reduction in funding is in addition to the need to 
meet the cost of inflation and continuing spending demands across a range of services. 

6.15 At a national level Adult Social Care services have made budget savings of more than a 
quarter over the last four years, according to the Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services (ADASS Sept 2014).  Although local authorities have on average increased the 
proportion of money spent on adult social care, from 30% to 35%, budgets are down in 
real terms due to significant cuts in the overall money allocated to local authorities by the 
government.  Short term funding initiatives such as the Better Care Fund, introduced by 
the government to speed up the process of integration between the NHS and Social 
Care, and the subsequent shared funding arrangements, cannot be relied on in the 
longer term.  Adult Social Care is faced with increased pressure on its budgets due to 
rising levels of demand created by demographic and legislative changes.  To meet the 
increased level of demand and in the absence of additional long term funding, Adult 
Social Care will be required to gain greater efficiencies through major service 
reconfiguration. 

6.16 Across the whole Council savings of £200m have been achieved over the past three 
years and the Council will continue to become a smaller organisation employing fewer 
staff over the next few years.  There will be a need to further review many of the 
services we currently provide and consider how they will be provided in future.  This will 
require many challenging decisions to be taken.  The proposals for next year include 
significant reductions across a broad range of services totaling £48m and includes net 
reductions in staffing equating to 177 full time posts by the end of 2014/15 (Our 
Financial Plans 2014/15– Leeds City Council). 

6.17 If the proposals contained within this report are supported following the consultation 
process that will be undertaken, net council spend will be in the region of £4m lower by 
2018/19.  This does not include any reductions in overhead costs and takes into account 
the costs of providing alternative services for customers. 

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

6.18 Local Authorities responsible for Adult Social Care have a legal duty to assess and meet 
needs using resources to best effects.  Additional requirements will come into effect as a 
result of the Care Act (2014).  The proposals in this report are consistent with the future 
priorities of the local authority. 

Page 75



 

6.19 Legal advice has been provided on the process and timing of consultation. 

This is a Key Decision and is subject to call-in. 

Risk Management 

6.20 Risks in implementing the proposals made in this report relate to timely and 
comprehensive consultation, effective communication, robust project management, clear 
governance  arrangements and the capacity to deliver the changes.  

6.21 Risks in not implementing the proposals made in this report relate to the Council’s ability 
to meet its statutory requirements due to a lack of resources. 

7 Conclusions 

7.1 This is a time of unprecedented pressures on local authority budgets and Adult Social 
Care has been significantly impacted due to rising demand and expectation but reducing 
budgets.  A national figure of some £3.65 billion reduced from local authority Adult Social 
Care budgets over the last three years and this trend is set to continue for the 
foreseeable future. 

7.2 Within this context Adult Social Care in Leeds has already delivered £30 million in 
savings over the four year period from 2010/11 and has maintained service users without 
reducing care to individuals, but in order to maintain service levels, continued 
reorganisation and change is required. The Council’s ‘Better Lives’ strategy has resulted 
in more choice through innovative new approaches to service delivery and will enable to 
Council to meet obligations under the Care Act.  Adult Social Care has a proven track 
record in delivering significant re-design of service resulting in improved levels of 
satisfaction. 

7.3 Subject to consultation, the successful implementation of the proposals in this report will 
result in reconfigured Adult Social Care services which meet the needs of the citizens of 
Leeds. This will include meeting the requirements of the Care Act and through co-
production with service users will ensure a service is developed that is fit for the future. 

8 Recommendations 

8.1 To approve the proposals contained in this report for the Better Lives programme relating 
to the specific services detailed in section 5 of this report. 

8.2 To approve the four-year timetable set out in the report and summarised in Appendix 1. 

8.3 To commence consultation immediately (January 2015) on the proposed 
decommissioning of the three remaining specialist residential care homes and associated 
day centres (Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green).  The consultation will seek 
views on the proposed decommissioning of these establishments when suitable 
alternative facilities become available in their vicinity as detailed in sections 5.2-5.4 and 
5.19-5.21. 

8.4 When it is considered that suitable alternative provision is available for Knowle Manor 
and Spring Gardens, the Director of Adult Social Services, in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Adult Social Care, will consider a decision to cease permanent 
admissions from an agreed date as detailed in section 5.5. 

8.5 To continue to seek the creation of local alternative care provision for those residential 
care services which have been previously approved by Executive Board for closure.  In 

Page 76



 

the case of both Home Lea House and Dolphin Manor, it is proposed that a progress 
report setting out a clear and conclusive business case for a local social enterprise is 
submitted and considered by Executive Board in summer 2015.  If that is not possible, an 
alternative proposal is to be brought back to the Executive Board within that same 
timescale.  Staff are to be fully engaged throughout this period as detailed in section 5.7. 

8.6 To continue to pursue the development of a transitional and respite care facility at Suffolk 
Court as previously approved by Executive board in partnership with health partners and 
others, subject to the outcome of options appraisals being undertaken by the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the Public Private Partnership Unit (PPPU), as 
detailed in sections 5.8-5.10 and 5.18. 

8.7 In order to support the introduction of new city-wide contracts for the provision of 
homecare, which are planned to be introduced during 2016, to commence in January 
2015, consultation on the proposal to cease the provision of the in house community 
support service (long term generic and mental health) with the intention of the service 
being fully withdrawn by the end of March 2016.  During the consultation period, positive 
redeployment options will be actively pursued as detailed in sections 5.12-5.14. 

8.8 To begin work to align the provision of care support in the three extra care schemes 
where Adult Social Care is the care provider to that contained in the new city-wide extra 
care model by the end of March 2016.  After that date, to undertake a further review to 
ascertain whether further efficiencies could be delivered through market testing these 
three schemes as detailed in section 5.15. 

8.9 To support work currently under way to identify a site for a new leisure / sport / wellbeing 
facility in East Leeds as outlined in section 5.16. 

8.10 To commence consultation immediately (January 2015) on the decommissioning of 
Springfield day centre (Beeston and Holbeck).  The consultation will seek views on the 
proposed decommissioning of this establishment when suitable alternative facilities 
become available in the vicinity as detailed in section 5.22. 

8.11 To identify sufficient alternative work placements and job opportunities within Council 
directorates for all disabled staff currently working in the Roseville laundry.  When this 
has been achieved and all staff accommodated, then a decision be made to cease 
trading as soon as practical.  Other staff attached to Roseville will be supported to find 
alternative options as detailed in section 5.27. 

8.12 In relation to all other direct care services provided in house and not specifically 
mentioned above, to identify appropriate and sustainable opportunities for those services 
to be either transferred to or delivered in partnership with either the Council or with  
health or voluntary sector organisations as detailed in section 5.28. 

8.13 To undertake joint work with colleagues in the Leeds and York Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust (LYPFT) to develop a business case for the further integration of 
services comprising all of the current council delivered mental health day, recovery and 
supported housing services, the physical impairment service and older people’s dementia 
day support at Calverlands and Laurel Bank, through an updated and revised section 75 
agreement (Health Act 2011) as detailed in sections 5.28 and 5.30. 

8.14 To identify alternative and appropriate job opportunities for staff impacted by these 
proposals, within the Council and across the wider health and social care sector in the 
city and to support staff to take up such opportunities through targeted training and 
development support as detailed in sections 6.9-6.14. 

Page 77



 

8.15 To approve the next key steps as follows: 

a. January 2015: commence consultation immediately on the proposed 
decommissioning of the three remaining specialist residential care homes and 
associated day centres (Siegen Manor, Middlecross and The Green) and Springfield 
day centre.  The consultation will seek views on the proposed decommissioning of 
these establishments when suitable alternative facilities become available in their 
vicinity using the proposed approach in sections 6.1-6.5. 

b. January 2015: commence consultation on the proposal to cease the provision of the 
in house community support service (long term generic and mental health) with the 
intention of the service being fully withdrawn by the end of March 2016. 

c. Summer 2015: to provide an update report on progress made in relation to all of the 
above proposals with annual reports on progress thereafter. 

8.16 To note that the Interim Director of Adult Social Services is lead officer for this work. 

 

9 Background documents1 

9.1 None. 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 78



201720162014 20182015

4 Year Timeline – November 2014 Executive Board Report – ‘Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds – Proposed Next Steps’

2015

01/09/14 01/01/19
01/01/15 01/01/16 01/01/17 01/01/18

2016 2017 2018

Housing, Care & Support (2015 – 2018)

Day Support (2015 – 2018)

PRODUCED BY ASC PROGRAMME OFFICE

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
B

oa
rd

 R
ep

or
t t

o 
be

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 in

 N
ov

em
be

r 2
01

4.
Th

is
 is

 to
 b

e 
in

iti
al

liy
 fo

llo
w

ed
 u

p 
by

 a
n 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
B

oa
rd

 R
ep

or
t i

n 
Se

pt
em

be
r 2

01
5 

an
d 

at
 la

te
r d

at
es

 w
he

n 
re

qu
ire

d.

Community Support Service (Long Term Generic and Mental 
Health) – Review, consult and withdraw from service (by end of 
March 2016)

Peer Support Service – Review and subject to business case, enhance service (by Dec 2017?)

Shared Lives Service – Subject to business case, develop partnership working with St Annes (by Dec 2018)

Roseville Laundry Services – Identify alternative work placements 
and job opportunities within Council directorates for all disabled 
staff.  When this has been achieved a decision be made to cease 
trading as soon as practical (estimated by April 2016)

Middlecross & The Green (Older People Residential Dementia 
Homes) – Review, consult, identify alternatives (by June 2015 –
Exec Board Report) and assess/transfer residents (by April 2016)

Siegen Manor (Older People Residential Dementia Home) – Review, consult (by June 2015 – Exec Board Report) and identify alternatives and assess/transfer residents (by Dec 2018)
Spring Gardens, Knowle Manor, Manorfield House & Primrose Hill (Older People Residential Homes) – Identify alternatives to already reviewed homes and assess/transfer residents (by Dec 2018)

Dolphin Manor / Home Lea (Older People Residential Homes) – Agree viability of Buisness Case Develop Social 
Enterprise (by June 2015 – Exec Board Report) and transfer service to social enterprise (by Feb 2017?)

Bramley Rossefield Manor, Cardinal Court & Woodview (Older People Extra Care Housing Service) – Align the provision of care support to that contained in the new city-wide extra care model 
(by the end of March 2016). After that date to undertake a further review to ascertain whether further efficiencies could be delivered through market testing (by June 2018)

Middlecross, Springfield & The Green (Older People Day 
Services) – Review, consult, identify alternatives (by June 2015 –
Exec Board Report) and assess/transfer service users (by April 
2016)

Siegen Manor (Older People Day Services) – Review, consult and identify alternatives and and assess/transfer service users (by Dec 2018)

Calverlands & Laurel Bank (Older People Dementia Day Services); Osmondthorpe (Physical Impairment Day Services); 
Lovell Park Centre Hub, Stocks Hill Centre & Vale Circles (Mental Health Day and Community Support Services & 
Community Alternatives Team) – Review, develop and implement a proposal for a fully integrated service with Leeds and 
York Partnership Foundation Trust (LYPFT) (by April 2017)

Radcliffe Lane (Older People Day Services) – Review and develop partnership with Robin Lane GP practice and develop into a potential resource centre (by Dec 2018)

Wykebeck Valley (Older People Day Services) – Review and identify Neighbourhood Network Provision or potential development of Holt Park Active 2 (by Dec 2018)

Richmond House & Suffolk Court (Older People Residential Homes) – Pursue development of a transitional care & respite facility (by Dec 2017?)

Bewerley Croft, Cottingley Court & Spen Lane (Mental Health Transitional Housing Units); Mental Health North & South 
Impact Teams; and Mental Health Homeless Team – Review, develop and implement a proposal for a fully integrated 
service with Leeds and York Partnership Foundation Trust (LYPFT) (by April 2017)

2014

Pr
e-

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

an
d 

w
or

ks
tr

ea
m

 a
llo

ca
tio

n 
(N

ov
em

be
r 2

01
4 

–
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

15
)

APNA & Frederick Hurdle (Older People Day Services) – Review opportunites for third sector partnership.  If viable, develop model – including staff engagement, support development of business case (by Dec 2018)

Long-TermMedium-TermImmediate

Appendix 1

Appendix 1 - Delivering Better Lives Strategy in Leeds - Proposed Next Steps High Level Timeline v6

P
age 79



This page is intentionally left blank



                   
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening 

 

Directorate: Adult Social Care Service area: 
Adult Social Care directly provided services  

Lead person:  
 

Contact number 

1. Title: Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds 
 

Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
Following the establishment of the Better Lives for People in Leeds vision in 2011, Adult Social 
Care has been subject to a wide range of changes.  
 
An approved programme of older people’s residential homes and day service closures, coupled 
with development of alternative approaches has remodelled service provision to better meet the 
needs of the people of Leeds in an efficient, effective manner.  
 
Building on the progress made in remodelling services so far within the Better Lives Programme, 
Adult Social Care is working towards a four year vision for the remaining directly provided 
services. This involves reviewing services currently provided by Adult Social Care and how the 
needs and demands of future generations can be best provided.  

Criteria for determining the future options for these services have already been assessed with due 
regard to equality. These criteria have been considered and agreed by the Executive Board. 
 
The review is now at a stage where we are able to put specific options to the Executive Board, 
who will be requested at its meeting on 19 November 2014 to begin a process of consultation on 
the proposed options identified for each of the services. 
 

1. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the policy 
or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment practices? X  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

• Advancing equality of opportunity 

• Fostering good relations 

X  

 
X  

Page 81



4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

 

The full impact on individuals directly affected by the proposals (including service users, 
carers and staff) for each service is not known and to this end an impact assessment will 
be completed for each option involving relevant and appropriate consultation and 
involvement through the Adult Social Care Programme Team. The impact on future users 
of the services will also be assessed. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

December 2014- July 2015 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

August 2015 
 
 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Anna Clifford 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Dennis Holmes Acting Director, Adult Social 
Care 

 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity has been 
given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the screening document will 
need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 

Date screening completed 15/10/2014 

If relates to a Key Decision send to Corporate 
Governance 

 

Any other decision please send to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 82



 

 

Report of Director of Adult Social Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th November 2014 

Subject: External Provision of Homecare Services 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. Adult Social Care (ASC) has a statutory duty to provide services to people who have 
‘eligible’ care needs.  The current eligibility level in Leeds is ‘substantial and critical’ as 
defined in ‘Prioritising need in the context of Putting People First’, Department of Health 
(2010).  Non – specialist support is provided to people with eligible needs in their 
homes by a range of organisations, this includes ASC’s Community Support Service 
and a range of independent and third sector companies.   

2. Commissioned home care services in the City are currently secured under the terms of  
the Community Home Care Framework Agreement, this contract was let in 2010 
following the agreement of the DDP, that contractual agreement is nearing its end and 
in doing so creates an opportunity to recommission home care services which meet the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014, secure quality and value within a fair fee rate that 
incentivises good employment practices by care providers.  The current expenditure by 
ASC on home care is in the region of £27m. 

3. Whilst the current contract and services are generally working well, new requirements 
have led officers to undertake extensive work over the past year with a range of key 
stakeholders to determine how home care services could become more focussed on 
improving outcomes for people they serve. The outcome of that engagement and the 
considerations which will need to be made as a consequence, prior to the 
commencement of a procurement exercise are set out in this report. 

 

 Report author: Dennis Holmes  

Tel:  0113 2474939 

Page 83

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Recommendations 

4. Executive Board are asked to note the content of this report and endorse the 
continuation of the work on the recommissioning and redesign of external homecare 
provision.  

5. Members of the Executive Board are also recommended to agree to receive a further 
report in April 2015 setting out recommendations in relation to fully costed service 
delivery models (the various options for which are set out in this report) including the 
financial implications in relation to the adoption of these models and containing 
recommendations in relation to the implementation post procurement.    

6. The Head of Commissioning, ASC will be responsible for the continuation of this work 
subject to Executive Board approval. 

 

Page 84



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 To inform Executive Board members of progress to date with the re-
commissioning and re-design of the external home care services and the next 
steps to be taken. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The existing independent sector homecare contracts ran from 1st October 2010 to 
31st October 2013 and were extended in September 2013 for a period of two 
years (in line with the clauses contained within the existing contract)  to allow for 
substantial consultation and to prepare for a significant re-commissioning 
exercise.  Formal approval for this approach was agreed by Delegated Decision 
Panel in September 2013. The expiry of the current contractual agreement now 
provides an opportunity to address a range of issues that have arisen nationally 
and locally over the past couple of years. 

2.2 The independent sector, including the 32 home care framework providers 
(representing both national and local businesses) delivered 86% of the total 
commissioned home care support in Leeds in 2013-14, this equates to 1,525,701 
hours of support annually.  The contracts generally have worked well in terms of 
quality and value, the latter feature has allowed ASC, over the term of the 
contracts, to constrain spending in this area against a backdrop of increased need 
among the population.  

2.3 The overall aim of this re-commissioning and re-design of homecare services is to 
create, implement and evaluate a new contract arrangement and service delivery 
model for independent sector home care provision in Leeds by November 2015. 
As indicated previously, this presents an opportunity to respond to a range of 
national issues including, the introduction of the Care Act 2014, the impact of the 
Equality and Human Rights Commission Inquiry into Home Care of Older People 
and respond to reports such as the ‘Time to Care’ report published this year by 
the trade union, Unison. These developments continue to drive and shape the 
strategic direction of care provided to people alongside their need to be 
personalised, to maximise people’s independence and for care to be provided in 
ways which is seamless.  

2.4 The Human Rights Act, highlighted in the report referred to earlier, requires local 
authorities to take into account their ‘positive obligations’ to actively promote and 
protect the rights of people as described in the Convention and therefore 
maintains that all providers of publicly funded home care should consider 
themselves bound by the Human Rights Act. The report highlighted the ways in 
which companies organised their call schedules sometimes conflicted with public 
service values of dignity, choice, fairness and equality which should underpin 
practice.   

2.5 The Care Act emphasis on people experiencing personalised care over which 
they exercise choice and control (an ‘outcome’ based model of care) requires 
changes to be made to systems and processes by ASC and independent sector 
home care providers to facilitate a move from activity which is specified, 

Page 85



 

 

commissioned and delivered on a pure ‘task and time’ basis, to one which is 
significantly more defined by the people receiving care. 

2.6 The integrated nature of health and care services has been increasingly reflected 
by health and care commissioners working much more closely in these areas 
hence officers representing three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are 
actively involved in the Home Care/Personal Assistance Commissioning Board, 
which has been established to oversee this programme of work. 

2.7 It is clear that, against this background, a range of challenges and opportunities 
exist to better meet the needs and expectations of people receiving care in their 
own home, to ensure that the people providing that care do so effectively and are 
well supported and fairly treated by their employing organisation in so doing. 
Through this recommissioning process the opportunity also exists to prepare the 
sector for the inevitable increase in demand which will arise in the coming years 
as a consequence of the shifting demographic profile of the City, this will require 
providers to actively plan recruitment and retention initiatives to secure a 
sufficiency of care workers in the City. 

2.8 To assist in this overall process, a cross sector and cross party strategic 
homecare group was established in November 2013. This group, which consists 
of elected members, service provider representatives, service user 
representatives, NHS representation, trade union representation and other ASC 
representation, has provided information and guidance to the Officers undertaking 
this work to date and the options highlighted later in this report are reflective of the 
input of this group to date.   

3 Main issues 

3.1 A Framework arrangement is currently in place with 32 providers registered on the 
framework, for various reasons 6 providers are not currently active .The current 
contract is due to expire in October 2015. Given the complex nature of the issues 
to be addressed through this commissioning process, it is intended to seek to 
extend the current framework arrangement until April 2016, thus allowing 
sufficient time to design and cost the new model of service, secure the necessary 
agreements and complete the procurement process.  

3.2 Whilst the current contract and services are generally working well, as has 
previously been described the opportunity now exists to seek to address a range 
of issues which would include, aspirations in relation to living wage; personalised 
‘outcome based’ commissioning; consistency of staff providing services; flexibility 
of service providers to meet needs of service users; the use of 15 minute visits, 
staff travel, the recruitment and retention of a care workforce sufficient for the 
future needs of the City.   

3.3 The proposed commissioning and contracting model has been developed and is 
covered in more detail in the report below, the proposal is designed to lay the 
foundations for meeting some or all of the requirements of the ethical care charter 
(Appendix 1), including improved terms and conditions for homecare staff. 

Page 86



 

 

3.4 Following extensive consultation and analysis of information, options were created 
and appraised by a broad cross-section of stakeholders including:  Service users, 
Councillors, NHS partners, trade unions, and providers (contracted and non-
contracted). 

3.5 Listed below in Section 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 are the options that 
arose out of the extensive consultation, which have been determined as being the 
preferred options. However, further work is required with all stakeholders to 
provide the necessary assurance that the proposed model will address the issues 
identified previously in this report and remain affordable to the Authority. The 
inter-linked nature of options generated mirrors the complexity of the task and 
reinforces the need for a measured, step-wise approach to the development of 
detailed costed proposals. 

3.6 Contract Type 

3.6.1 A number of contract types were appraised by all stakeholders and then 
discussed by the Homecare Strategic Commissioning Group. The clear 
preference was for a contract which gave providers some guarantee of business 
whilst retaining some of the benefits of a Framework Agreement.  

3.6.2 The initial outline proposal would see the existing Framework Agreement ceasing 
when the suggested additional contract extension expires in March 2016 and 
replace with a new contract arrangement which envisages a small number of ‘lead 
providers’ with a guaranteed block of hours (based on current levels of activity 
undertaken) and envisages a number of other ‘secondary’ providers having the 
ability to undertake work as directed by the lead provider beyond the guaranteed 
block.  Care providers would be expected to compete to undertake either role. 

3.6.3 In anticipation that there will be some people who do not wish to transfer to 
another provider (where the new provider has not been granted another contract 
with LCC) ASC would offer additional information and support to enable them to 
purchase their own care using a direct payment or individual service fund from the 
existing provider.  Where there are any issues relating to possible change of care 
provider that cannot be resolved through direct payments or discussion they will 
be resolved on a case-by-case basis. 

3.6.4 Further work will be undertaken to identify the potential numbers of service users 
that could be affected and to produce an action plan that will allow us to proceed 
with this option but in a way that causes the least disruption for service users.  

3.6.5 Additionally further research needs to be undertaken to define the size of the 
‘block’ number of hours to be let in each area. 

3.7  Pricing Model 

3.7.1 During the consultation there was widespread support for a model which would 
include an inner and outer area based price. This reflects the geography of the 
City which has differing travel requirements and contains some areas where it has 
been traditionally difficult to recruit and deploy care workers, consequently 

Page 87



 

 

individual providers could potentially submit one price for inner Leeds and one 
price for outer Leeds.   

3.7.2 In terms of the competitive pricing element of the procurement process, it is 
proposed that providers be invited to submit an hourly rate tender within a pre-
determined range (floor & ceiling pricing), the lower and upper levels would be 
generated by building a fee range reflective of the operators costs in providing 
that care with due regard to the scale of the organisations likely to tender, local 
market conditions and benchmarking data provided from a range of independent 
sources.    

3.7.3 The pricing model is crucial to providing organisations in terms of their 
sustainability, the quality of care they can offer and the circumstances of their 
workforce, however, the pricing model is also critical to the Authority in terms of 
it’s overall affordability continually adverse financial circumstances. Hence, whilst 
significant work has already been undertaken, further, more detailed research, 
analysis and modelling needs to be conducted to fully understand what the overall 
impact will be when setting the floor (minimum hourly price) and ceiling (maximum 
hourly price) prices. 

3.8 Introduction of Unisons Ethical Care Charter (including Terms and 
Conditions of Home Care Staff) 

3.8.1 Throughout the consultation there was support from all stakeholder groups to try 
and move to implementation of Unisons Ethical Care Charter, however much of 
this relates to staff terms and conditions of provider organisations.  The known 
financial impact for the Council of implementing all of the ethical care charter 
standard requirements are complex and are outlined in Appendix 2.  Naturally, to 
incentivise organisations to comply with all the expectations of the Charter due 
regard would need to be given to our assessment of the costs in the 
establishment of the pricing model described previously. 

3.9 Locality-based Services 

3.9.1 There was strong support for more locality based services; ensuring staff could 
assist service users to engage more in local communities and for home care staff 
to link more with other local voluntary sector services and other local statutory 
sector teams. 

3.9.2 It is proposed, therefore that we divide Leeds into three areas, broadly 
coterminous with the areas covered by the CCGs within these three larger areas 
the arrangements would require providers to have a locality-focus to their service 
delivery teams broadly associated with the thirteen integrated health and social 
care neighbourhood teams. The model envisages 2 lead providers per area who 
would be responsible for delivering services within the area they successfully 
tender for, directly and by working with other providers 

3.9.3 Outcome Based Commissioning 

3.9.1 In discussions with stakeholders there is a general agreement that we need to 
carry forward into the new contract the elements relating to outcomes-based 

Page 88



 

 

commissioning and service delivery included in the existing Framework 
Agreement.  This is a key area within the Care Act which is due to come into 
effect in April 2015 and is at the heart of the personalisation of services for service 
users. 

3.9.2 However in order to ensure effective implementation of outcomes-based 
commissioning further work needs to be undertaken to identify: 

• Which systems, processes and practice would need to be changed so that 
outcome based commissioning could be introduced at the start of the new 
contract. 

• If a shift from detailed care planning by Access and Care staff to detailed 
care planning and support by providers, will lead to improved efficiencies and 
foster better communication and information sharing. 

3.10 Procurement Model 

3.10.1 All providers will be required to compete for a place on the new arrangement and 
will be subject to an evaluation of price and quality, with the main weighting being 
on quality, subject to a competitive price being submitted. 

3.10.2 Expectations from the Care Act with particular regard to personalisation and 
outcomes will be introduced within the contract terms and conditions and all 
providers will have to demonstrate that they can meet these expectations at 
procurement.    

3.10.3 In order to reduce the risks associated with having fewer providers a framework of 
other providers will also operate so that if the lead providers are unable to pick up 
any work they can partner with other providers.  This will also enable direct 
payment/individual service fund holders a choice of provider as well as supporting 
options for self-funders. 

3.10.4 The procurement process will give us an opportunity to take account of the Social 
Value Act and we will determine how additional social value can be sought from 
providers as part of this process. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.5 All existing homecare service users (approx. 3,000) were issued with a request 
asking them if they would like to participate in the review of the existing homecare 
services.  238 completed requests were returned to Adult Social Care.  Of these 
completed requests 152 service users requested a questionnaire be sent to them, 
72 requested face to face meetings and 14 requested a focus group. The 
information from these questionnaires and meetings informed the options 
described above. 

4.1.6 A service user reference group was established through Leeds Involving People 
and nine meetings were held with this reference group (between January and 
October 2014) in order to ascertain what works well with the current contract and 

Page 89



 

 

how improvements could be made in the future.  Future meetings are scheduled 
to take place so that service users can contribute to the development of the 
quality standards that will be implemented and the service specification which will 
be used at procurement. 

4.1.7 People using both Osmondthorpe and Mariners Day Resources were also 
consulted and approximately 15 people participated in either the focus groups or 
completed a questionnaire about homecare services. 

4.1.8 Three consultation events have been held between February and September 
2014 for the existing contracted service providers and two consultation events 
have also been held for non- contracted service providers.   

4.1.9 A Homecare Leadership Group has been established through Leeds Care 
Association and this group of contracted and non-contracted providers are 
contributing to the development of the quality standards.  A future meeting will be 
held for all contracted/noncontracted providers in order that we can ascertain any 
further views. 

4.1.10 A Homecare Strategic Commissioning group was established in November 2013 
and this group which consists of elected members, service provider 
representatives, service user representatives, NHS representation, trade union 
representation and other ASC representation have informed and provided 
guidance to the Officers undertaking this work.   

4.1.11 Any views expressed as part of the consultation have been considered and 
wherever possible have been used to inform the decision making process. 

4.1.12 Furthermore information gained from all of the consultation is being utilised to 
develop the service specification and other associated contract documentation 
especially with regard to key issues identified by service users e.g. consistent and 
trained staff. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.3 An Equality and Diversity Impact Assessment was undertaken when the original 
framework agreement was developed and a further assessment has been 
undertaken as part of the re-design and re-commissioning process and is 
attached at Appendix 3. 

4.4 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.4.1 The proposals outlined in this report will help to deliver a number of crucial 
elements of the Adult Social Care ‘Better Lives’ strategy by helping local people 
with care and support needs to enjoy better lives. With a focus on: promoting 
choice, helping people to stay living at home, joining up health and social care 
services.  These in turn support the ambition for Leeds to be the Best City in the 
country, in addition the proposals will contribute to the achievement of the 
objectives set out in the city’s Health and Well-Being plan: people will live full 
active and independent lives, people’s quality of life will be improved by access to 
quality services, people will be involved in decisions made about them and the 

Page 90



 

 

city’s Priority Plan by contributing to the indicators for: best city for health and 
wellbeing, best city for business, best city for communities . 

4.5 Resources and value for money  

4.5.1 A ‘Fair rate of care’ exercise (based on the UK Home Care Association template) 
was undertaken in June 2014 in order to: a) determine the actual cost of home 
care in the Leeds market so that a review of the current price could be undertaken 
and: b) establish the potential base rate for the new contract that will commence 
in March 2016.   

4.5.2 All contracted framework providers were contacted at the end of May 2014 to 
forewarn them that we would be undertaking a Fair Rate for Care exercise which 
we would be inviting them to participate in.  The template documents were sent to 
providers in the first week of June 2014 and due to the poor number of responses 
the deadline for completion was extended several times.  

4.5.3 In total 13 providers (out of 32 on the framework) completed the template 
documents, reflecting a good sample and range of providers.  However it should 
be noted that not all providers fully completed the documents and in effect only 10 
responses could be utilised.   

4.5.4 As indicated at para 3.7.2 the information gleaned from this exercise will be used 
as part of a suite of information to inform the floor and ceiling prices of the 
proposed new contract model but more detailed analysis will be required, along 
with further consultation to better understand the full financial impact that this and 
possible implementation of the ethical care standards will have. 

4.5.5 Early indications are that to implement the full ethical care standards related to 
staff terms and conditions the cost to the council based on the current price is 
circa £5.5m (Appendix 2), clearly further detailed work needs to be undertaken to 
refine and more accurately assess this potential cost. Part of our assessment of 
affordability will be to also assess the impact on the uptake of Council benefits If 
staff conditions were permanently improved as a consequence of this process. 
Further work needs to be undertaken to determine the extent of savings for the 
Council as a whole as fewer people would claim working tax credits, assistance 
with housing costs etc. 

4.5.6 The subject of much recent public debate, it is widely recognised that many staff 
who work in the homecare sector work to the terms of zero hours contracts and 
thus are unable to get mortgages or have difficulties renting property hence the 
proposal to guarantee to providers a block number of hours would enable 
providers to offer staff a set number of contracted hours per week. 

4.6 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.6.1 Legal services have been consulted and will continue to be consulted as part of 
the ongoing re commissioning process. 

4.6.2 Officers from the PPPU  are involved in the process and are represented on both 
the Homecare Project Board and the Homecare Project Team. 

Page 91



 

 

4.7 Risk Management 

4.7.1 The previous procurement process was conducted in accordance with the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in order to ensure that a fair, open and 
transparent process was undertaken. This will also be the case with any future 
procurement. 

4.7.2 Risks are being managed throughout this process.  Risks have been identified 
and recorded and mitigating actions have been identified to reduce the likelihood 
of the risk occurring. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Much work has been undertaken to date to ensure full understanding of the issues 
affecting homecare service users, homecare staff and the wider homecare market 
within Leeds. This has enabled a basic operating model to be developed. 

5.2 Considerable work and more detailed research, analysis and modelling needs to 
be conducted to fully understand what the overall impact will be when setting the 
floor (minimum hourly price) and ceiling (maximum hourly price) prices. 

5.3 Further detailed analysis needs to be undertaken to ensure that the proposed 
service model will meet the needs of service users in the future but also provide 
for improving the circumstances of those people providing that care, this includes 
developing a detailed understanding of the overall financial implications for the 
Council.  

5.4 Further benchmarking needs to be undertaken to understand the implications of 
moving towards a ‘block contract’.  Our intelligence is that other authorities who 
have recently completed similar recommissioing exercises have moved towards 
this way of working and we will work with those Authorities to determine if there 
are any lessons to be learnt that can inform the way we proceed. 

5.5 The proposed model will reduce the number of service providers who we contract 
with but we need to be assured that these providers offer good quality services 
that can provide safe effective services that are flexible enough to meet the needs 
of the service users. 

5.6 There are clearly a number of risks and opportunities highlighted in this report, a 
combination of circumstances have arisen that will make it impossible to maintain 
the status quo, even if that were desirable. This report highlights to Members of 
the Executive Board the issues we are seeking to address, the remedies that exist 
in some areas and the further work that needs to be undertaken in others to refine 
and complete all aspects of the service model before proceeding to procurement. 

6 Recommendations 

7 Executive Board are asked to note the content of this report and endorse the 
continuation of the work on the recommissioning and redesign of external 
homecare provision.  

Page 92



 

 

8 Members of the Executive Board are also recommended to agree to receive a 
further report in April 2015 setting out recommendations in relation to fully costed 
service delivery models (the various options for which are set out in this report) 
including the financial implications in relation to the adoption of these models and 
containing recommendations in relation to the implementation post procurement.    

9. The Head Of Commissioning, ASC will be responsible for the continuation of this    
work subject to Executive Board approval 

10. Background documents1  

  None 

 

 

 

 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



UNISON’s ethical 
care charter 

Page 95



UNISON’s ethical care charterUNISON’s ethical care charter

Page 96



Contents

Introduction .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .1

Key .findings . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .2

Ethical .care .councils .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4

Ethical .care .charter .for .the .commissioning
of .homecare .services  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .5

Guidance .for .councils .and .other .providers
on .adopting .the .charter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .6

Page 97



UNISON’s ethical care charter

Page 98



1

Introduction

A number of reports from client organisations, consumer groups, 
and homecare providers have recently been produced which  
have been highly critical of the state of homecare services in the 
UK. Little consideration however has been given to the views of 
homecare workers themselves as to why there are so many 
problems in this sector.

UNISON, the largest public service union, conducted a survey of 
homecare workers entitled “Time to Care” to help address this 
imbalance and to illustrate the reality of homecare work. The online 
survey which was open to homecare workers who were either 
UNISON members or non-members attracted 431 responses 
between June and July of 2012.

The responses showed a committed but poorly paid and treated 
workforce which is doing its best to maintain good levels of quality 
care in a system that is in crisis. The report highlights how poor 
terms and conditions for workers can help contribute towards lower 
standards of care for people in receipt of homecare services.

Page 99



UNISON’s ethical care charter

2

56.1% – had their pay made worse
59.7% – had their hours adversely changed
52.1% – had been given more duties

–– 36.7% of respondents reported that  
they were often allocated different clients 
affecting care continuity and the ability  
of clients to form relationships with their 
care workers. This is crucial, especially for 
people with such conditions as dementia.

–– Whilst the vast majority of respondents 
had a clearly defined way of reporting 
concerns about their clients’ wellbeing, 
52.3% reported that these concerns were 
only sometimes acted on, highlighting a 
major potential safeguarding problem.

–– Only 43.7% of respondents see fellow 
homecare workers on a daily basis at 
work. This isolation is not good for morale 
and impacts on the ability to learn and 
develop in the role.

–– 41.1% are not given specialist training  
to deal with their clients specific medical 
needs, such as dementia and stroke 
related conditions.

The written responses to our survey paint a 
disturbing picture of a system in which the 
ability to provide some companionship and 
conversation to often lonely and isolated 
clients is being stripped away. Some 
recounted the shame of providing rushed 
and insufficient levels of care because of the 
terms and conditions of their job, whilst 
many detailed insufficient levels of training 
that they had been given to carry out the 
role. Others made the point that rushed  
visits are a false economy leading to a 
greater likelihood of falls, medication errors 
and deterioration through loneliness.

–– 79.1% of respondents reported that their 
work schedule is arranged in such a way 
that they either have to rush their work or 
leave a client early to get to their next visit 
on time. This practice of ‘call cramming’, 
where homecare workers are routinely 
given too many visits too close together, 
means clients can find themselves not 
getting the service they are entitled to. 
Homecare workers are often forced to 
rush their work or leave early. Those 
workers who refuse to leave early and stay 
to provide the level of care they believe is 
necessary, also lose out as it means they 
end up working for free in their own time.

–– 56% of respondents received between the 
national minimum wage of £6.08 an hour 
at the time of the survey and £8 an hour. 
The majority of respondents did not 
receive set wages making it hard to plan 
and budget. Very low pay means a high 
level of staff turnover as workers cannot 
afford to stay in the sector. Clients 
therefore have to suffer a succession of 
new care staff.

–– 57.8% of respondents were not paid  
for their travelling time between visits.  
As well as being potentially a breach of 
the minimum wage law, this practice  
eats away at homecare workers’ already 
low pay.

–– Over half the respondents reported that 
their terms and conditions had worsened 
over the last year, providing further 
evidence of the race to the bottom 
mentality in the provision of homecare 
services.

Key findings

Page 100



3

However the survey also showed the 
selflessness and bravery of homecare 
workers who, to their own personal cost, 
refused to accept the imposition of 
outrageously short visits and worked in  
their own time to ensure that their clients 
received good levels of care. Some 
homecare workers were doing tasks and 
errands for their clients in their spare time, 
despite the seemingly best efforts of the 
current care model to strip away any sense 
of personal warmth or humanity.

Homecare workers are personally propping 
up a deteriorating system of adult social 
care, but they are being pushed to breaking 
point. That they are still willing to deliver 
good levels of care in spite of the system  
is nothing short of heroic. For the system  
to work it needs to be underpinned by 
adequate funding and a workforce whose 
terms and conditions reflect the respect  
and value they deserve. Crucially they must 
be given the time to care. 

“–I never seem to have 
enough time for the human 
contact and care that these 
people deserve. ”

“–A lot of the people I 
care for, are old and lonely, 
they are not only in need of 
physical support, but they are 
also in need of company and 
someone to talk to. The times 
given to these people are the 
bare minimum to get the job 
done, no time for a chat, just 
in and out. ”

“–People are being failed 
by a system which does not 
recognise importance of 
person centred care. ”

“–We are poorly paid and 
undervalued except by the 
people we care for! ”

“–I have worked as 
homecare worker for 15 
years. Things have to change 
but not at the expensive of 
clients. It’s appalling the care 
they receive now. ”

Page 101



UNISON’s ethical care charter

4

Ethical care councils

UNISON’s ethical care charter

In light of UNISON’s findings, we are calling for councils to commit 
to becoming Ethical Care Councils by commissioning homecare 
services which adhere our Ethical Care Charter. 

The over-riding objective behind the Charter is to establish a 
minimum baseline for the safety, quality and dignity of care by 
ensuring employment conditions which a) do not routinely short-
change clients and b) ensure the recruitment and retention of a 
more stable workforce through more sustainable pay, conditions 
and training levels. Rather than councils seeking to achieve  
savings by driving down the pay and conditions that have been  
the norm for council – employed staff, they should be using these 
as a benchmark against which to level up.

Councils will be asked to sign up to the Charter and UNISON will 
regularly publish the names of councils who do. 

Page 102



Ethical care charter for the 
commissioning of homecare services

5

Stage 1 

–› The starting point for commissioning  
of visits will be client need and not 
minutes or tasks. Workers will have  
the freedom to provide appropriate 
care and will be given time to talk to 
their clients

–› The time allocated to visits will match 
the needs of the clients. In general, 
15-minute visits will not be used as 
they undermine the dignity of the clients 

–› Homecare workers will be paid for  
their travel time, their travel costs  
and other necessary expenses such  
as mobile phones

–› Visits will be scheduled so that 
homecare workers are not forced to 
rush their time with clients or leave  
their clients early to get to the next  
one on time

–› Those homecare workers who are 
eligible must be paid statutory sick pay

Stage 2 

–› Clients will be allocated the same 
homecare worker(s) wherever possible

–› Zero hour contracts will not be used  
in place of permanent contracts

–› Providers will have a clear and 
accountable procedure for following  
up staff concerns about their clients’ 
wellbeing

–› All homecare workers will be regularly 
trained to the necessary standard  
to provide a good service (at no  
cost to themselves and in work time)

–› Homecare workers will be given the 
opportunity to regularly meet 
co-workers to share best practice  
and limit their isolation

Stage 3

–› All homecare workers will be paid  
at least the Living Wage (As of 
September 2012 it is currently £7.20  
an hour for the whole of the UK apart 
from London. For London it is £8.30  
an hour. The Living Wage will be 
calculated again in November 2012  
and in each subsequent November).  
If Council employed homecare workers 
paid above this rate are outsourced  
it should be on the basis that the 
provider is required, and is funded,  
to maintain these pay levels throughout 
the contract

–› All homecare workers will be covered 
by an occupational sick pay scheme  
to ensure that staff do not feel 
pressurised to work when they are ill  
in order to protect the welfare of their 
vulnerable clients.

Page 103



UNISON’s ethical care charter

Guidance for councils and other 
providers on adopting the charter

6

UNISON’s ethical care charter

Seeking agreements with existing 
providers

1. Convene a review group with 
representation from providers, local 
NHS and UNISON reps to work on a 
plan for adopting the charter – with  
an immediate commitment to stage 1 
and a plan for adopting stages 2 & 3

2. Start by securing agreement for a 
review of all visits which are under  
30 minutes. The review will include 
getting views of the homecare workers 
and client (and/or their family) on  
how long the client actually needs for  
a visit and what their care package 
should be

Looking for savings

3. Are providers’ rostering efficiently – for 
example are there cases of workers 
travelling long distances to clients 
when there are more local workers who 
could take over these calls?

4. How much is staff turnover costing 
providers in recruitment and training 
costs?

5. How much are falls and hospital 
admissions amongst homecare clients 
costing the NHS and could some of  
these be prevented by longer calls and 
higher quality care?

6. Are there opportunities for economies 
of scale by providers collaborating 
around the delivery of training and 
networking/mentoring for workers?

7. Are there opportunities for 
collaboration between providers  
to achieve savings on procurement  
of mobile phones, uniforms  
and equipment for workers?

The commissioning process

1. UNISON’s evidence, along with that  
of other bodies such as the UKHCA, 
shows that working conditions are 
intrinsically bound up with the quality 
of care.

2. When councils are conducting service 
reviews and drawing up service 
improvement plans, the Charter will 
provide a helpful benchmark for 
ensuring service quality – whether for 
an improved in-house service or in 
relation to externally commissioned 
services.

3. Where a decision has been taken  
to commission homecare externally, 
identify how the elements of the 
charter will be included as service 
delivery processes, contract conditions 
or corporate objectives in the invitation 
to tender documents. It must explain 
how these are material to the quality of  
the service and achieving best value.

Page 104



7

Service monitoring

1. Work with providers and trade unions 
to agree how service quality will be 
monitored and compliance with the 
Charter assured

2. Build regular surveys of homecare 
workers into this process to gain their 
views and consider establishing a 
homecare workers panel from across 
local providers who can provide 
feedback and ideas on care delivery

The provisions of this charter 
constitute minimum and not 
maximum standards. This charter 
should not be used to prevent 
providers of homecare services 
from exceeding these standards.

Page 105



UNISON’s ethical care charter

UNISON .has .more .than .a .
million .members .delivering .
essential .services .to .the .
public . .Services .that .protect, .
enrich .and .change .lives . .
 .
We .want .to .see .changes .that .
put .people .before .profit .and .
public .interest .before .private .
greed . .Join .our .campaign .to .
create .a .fairer .society . .
 .
To .find .out .more .go .to . .
unison .org .uk/million

Join .UNISON .online .today .at .
unison .org .uk/join . .
or .call .0845 .355 .0845

Published and printed by UNISON, The UNISON Centre, 130 Euston Road London NW1 2AY unison.org.uk
CU/OCT 2012/21049/stock no: 3179

Page 106



Appendix 2 – Supporting Information for Future Rate of Care Options 

Table 1 – Scenarios showing Cost Implication for Future Contract 
 

Scenario 
 
 
Excludes any inflationary 
aspect to employee pay for 
future years 
 
 

Average 
Hourly pay 
to Care 
Worker 

Calculated 
Hourly rate 
to provider 
 

% uplift to 
providers 
on current 
average 

14/15 Annual 
Cost 
implications 
(above current 
£13.10 
average)  
See note 

below * 

Scenario 1  
– Assumes care worker paid 
national minimum wage, 
includes travel time and 
travel cost 

£6.31 £14.38 9.8% £1,569,493 

Scenario  2  
- Assumes care worker paid 
£7 per hour, includes travel 
time and travel costs 

£7.00 £15.83 20.8% £3,341,054 

Scenario  3 
 - Assumes care worker paid 
£7 per hour, includes travel 
time but excludes travel costs  

£7.00 £14.67 12.0% £1,926,952 

Scenario  4 
 - Assumes care worker paid 
£7 per hour, includes travel 
cost but excludes travel time 

£7.00 £13.91 6.2% £990,109 

Scenario  5 
 - Assumes care worker paid 
£7 per hour, excludes both 
travel cost and travel time 

£7.00 £12.75 -2.6% -£423,992 
 

Scenario  6 
 - Assumes care worker paid 
living wage, includes both 
travel cost and travel time 

£7.65 £17.19 31.2% £5,009,916 

Scenario  7 
 - Assumes care worker paid 
living wage, includes travel 
time but excludes travel costs 

£7.65 £16.04 22.4% £3,595,813 

Scenario  8 
 - Assumes care worker paid 
living wage, includes travel 
cost but excludes travel time 

£7.65 £15.09 15.2% £2,440,669. 

Scenario  9 
 - Assumes care worker paid 
living wage, excludes both 
travel cost and travel time 

£7.65 
 

£13.94 6.4% £1,026,566 

 

• The additional costs are based on the current model. If all elements of the proposal are 
accepted, it is expected that elements such as guaranteed hours, local delivery and price 
banding will allow providers to operate at a lower price per hour, whilst still meeting the 
requirements above 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate:  Adult Social Care Service area:  ASC Commissioning 

 
Lead person:  Georgia Young 
 

Contact number:  0113 247 8885 

 
 
1. Title:  Home Care Redesign and Commissioning Project 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
Procurement of home care services 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The aim of Home Care Redesign and Commissioning Project is to review, improve, 
implement and evaluate the service delivery model, procurement and contracting 
approach for independent sector home care provision in Leeds by April 2016.   
 
This screening document will be provided to Executive Board in November 2014 as 
an appendix to a report on the ‘External Provision of Home Care Services’.   
 
 

Appendix 3 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  X 

Page 109



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
1. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

Yes  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

Yes  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

Yes  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 NO 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
Yes 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The central importance of equality is clearly recognised within the project. The 
importance of ensuring that care is being provided in a holistic manner, at a time and by 
individuals that operate in a way that maximises the achievement of the individual’s 
desired outcome. Such a holistic approach ensures that consideration is given to cultural 
ethnic and other equality related outcomes. The impact of these factors cannot and is not 
being under estimated in this piece of work.  
 
This impact screening covers the initial investigations and information gathering stage 
which have identified what information and evidence is already available and expanded 
on this using information from a variety of sources including appropriate and 
proportionate consultation and involvement, with both users and potential user of home 
care and their carers.  The information identified so far comes from a range of sources:  
 

 a service user reference group has been formed consisting of service users,  
 a home care strategic commissioning group was established which includes cross 

party representation, service providers, service users, trade union, NHS  etc.  
 RAP information that has been submitted to central government. This information 

will provide initial information on numbers and trends over time across a number of 
equality strands  

 Service user satisfaction surveys to identify potential issues cross referenced 
against disability groups etc. 

 Complaints to identify any trends. 
 Looking at any research both National and Local  
 Previous equality screenings  

 
As issues and potentials barriers are identified these will be investigated and where 
possible suggestions for potential mitigating actions developed to put forward to decision 
makers. 
 
Conversely where beneficial outcomes are uncovered then all efforts will be made to 
identify ways of enhancing those beneficial outcomes. 
 
This screening is in addition to the equality considerations that ASC carry out as standard 
during assessment of service users and when procuring services.  All of the service 
users using services that are within the scope of this project will have been assessed 
prior to commencement of provision of the service. 
 

Page 111



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

The project is undertaking a fact finding process regarding the context of home care in 
Leeds to ensure that as many barriers to service are identified and mitigated against as 
possible.  The proposals being made by the project have been informed by: 
 

 data gathered from ASC on the existing provision and demand for and usage of 
contracted home care services in Leeds; 

 information on other local authorities approaches to commissioning of home care 
services and associated service delivery models; 

 consultation with service users and carers, providers (contracted and non-
contracted), stakeholders within ASC, trade unions and elected members. 

 
The equality impact was considered at an options appraisal workshop held in April 2014 
which a range of stakeholders including service users and providers attended.  To 
support this market analysis was undertaken which looked at the current service user 
profile and potential demand for services based on demographic information for the city. 
 
Letters were sent to all service users currently in receipt of services provided under the 
Community Home Care Support Framework Agreement advising them a review of the 
home care service and the way it is procured was going to be undertaken and giving 
them the option of participating in various ways, e.g. written survey, focus groups, one to 
one discussion.  This was to ensure that the people involved in consultation were 
representative of the people in receipt of the services which were the subject of the 
consultation.  Access, language and other needs were taken into account and action 
taken to overcome any associated barriers, e.g. through use of accessible venues, 
providing sufficient notice of sessions so appropriate support could be arranged.  
Representation was also sought through Leeds Involving People from people not in 
receipt of these contracted services.  People who participated in the consultation were 
asked if they would provide information for equality monitoring purposes.  During the 
consultation process, some participants gave their views on services to diverse 
communities.  Focus groups took place with people who represented the equality 
characteristics described in Leeds City Council’s ‘Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment Guidance’. 
 
All contracted providers were written to asking them if they would like to be involved in 
the consultation.  In addition, non-contracted providers were also given the opportunity to 
participate.  Early and continued involvement of providers during the options appraisal 
and development phases are critical to ensuring that the proposals have the potential to 
impact positively on people with diverse needs and minimise any adverse impacts. 
 
Recommendations were made to ASC’s Directorate Leadership Team in August 2014.  
These identified risks, benefits, additional implications and elements requiring further 
exploration including equality impact.  
 

1. Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
At the early stages of the project many of the issues being investigated were based on 

Page 112



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

hearsay and a range of hypothesis based on research. This stage of the work is about 
evidencing the actual issues that exist here in Leeds. 
 
Issues identified so far (and evidenced by the most recent census figures) are that 
though the increase in the overall population in Leeds has slowed the increase in the 
BME population according to the last census is increasing especially within the younger 
age groups. Hence there will be an increasing demand for BME targeted and BME 
sensitive services in the coming years. 
 
Another issue that has been identified through a service user satisfaction survey which 
impacts upon the quality of some provider services is the issue of inconsistent staffing, 
the quality of the interaction between staff and service users and the accuracy of time 
slots. 
 
The project’s proposals which were refined through the options appraisal process and in 
consultation with the ASC DLT are intended to make improvements to the way that 
service users’ needs are met by contracted home care providers and to the terms and 
conditions of employment of care staff within contracted home care providers.  As a 
result, it is envisaged that the proposed changes will have positive impacts on different 
equality characteristics. Examples are given below. 
 
Promotion of positive impacts 
 

1. Increased choice and control and access to services for service users. 
2. Improved terms and conditions for home care staff. 
3. Improved well-being of service users. 

 
Reduction of potential negative impacts: 
 

1. Fewer providers available to meet the diverse needs of people needing support 
from home care providers. 

 
2. Service users are unable to take up the offer of a self-managed personal budget 

or individual service fund as they require support to understand and manage 
these.  

 
 Actions 

(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Below are some examples of how the project is seeking to promote positive impact and 
reduce/remove negative impact. 
  
Promotion of positive impacts 
 

1. Increased choice and control and access to services for service users: 
 

 The project is proposing that all service users of the contracts which are due to be 
replaced by the new home care contract will be given by letter the option of having 
a face-to-face discussion about the changes and their options. In cases where 
service users have informed ASC of their specific communication needs, these will 

Page 113



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6

be taken into account when communicating with them.   
 It is being proposed that service users will be given the option of taking up a self-

managed personal budget (also known as ‘direct payment’) or individual service 
fund which would enable them to have care provided by a provider of their choice 
and have greater control over the support provided.  This will help to ensure that 
any service user who receives a service from a provider that is unsuccessful in the 
tendering process for the new contract could continue to have a service from the 
existing provider. 
 

2. Improved terms and conditions for home care staff: 
 

 Throughout the consultation there was support from all stakeholder groups to try 
and move to implementation of Unisons Ethical Care Charter, however much of 
this relates to staff terms and conditions of provider organisations.  Naturally, to 
incentivise organisations to comply with all the expectations of the Charter due 
regard would need to be given to the assessment of the costs in the establishment 
of the pricing model described previously. 

 
3. Improved well-being of service users: 

 
 The project is recommending that the contract stipulates that providers have a 

locality focus to their service delivery teams and develop relationships with other 
agencies operating within that locality, e.g. neighbourhood networks, integrated 
teams, reablement services, intermediate care teams. It is envisaged that 
improved locality working and relationships with other providers will increase the 
ability of providers and other agencies to better meet the needs of specific 
communities. 
  

 The project is recommending that changes are made which will give providers 
greater flexibility to meet service users changing needs. 

 
Reduction of potential negative impacts: 
 

1. Fewer providers available to meet the diverse needs of people needing support 
from home care providers:  
 

 There are over 100 home care providers in Leeds.  Approximately a quarter of 
these have contracts with ASC.  Service users with a self-managed personal 
budget or individual service fund can have their care provided by any of these 
providers, regardless of whether or not they have a contract with ASC.  
  

 ASC funds Care and Repair to provide the Leeds Directory which provides 
information on, and checking and vetting of, home care providers.  This helps a 
diverse range of providers to market their business and people needing support to 
find out about them easily and have some reassurance that the providers have 
met relevant standards.  Leeds Directory therefore, is one way of protecting 
vulnerable people.  When people are informed of the changes to the services 
provided, they will be given information about Leeds Directory.   
 

 It is proposed 2 contracts will be put out to tender - one block contract which would 

Page 114



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

7

give up to 12 providers a guaranteed number of hours to deliver over the lifetime 
of the contract, and a Framework Agreement which would ensure that other 
providers had been quality assured and approved by ASC.  People with eligible 
needs could make use of any of these contracted services as well as any other 
provider of their choosing.   
 

 Block providers would be given responsibility for ensuring that the home care 
services required to meet service users’ needs are delivered to appropriate 
standards.  To do this they may need to work in partnership with the Framework 
Agreement providers or other providers.   

 
2. Service users are unable to take up the offer of a self-managed personal budget 

or individual service fund as they are unable to understand and/or manage these:  
 

 Ways will be identified to enable service users and / or their carers to make an 
informed decision about how their care can be provided and they can fully 
understand the benefits/implications of a self-managed personal budget or 
individual service fund.  It is proposed that staff within ASC will be trained to 
explain these options to service users and that each service user that the changes 
impact on will be given the option of having a face-to-face discussion with one of 
these workers. 
 

 In the case of individual service funds ASC would work with providers to put these 
in place where required thus giving the service user greater choice and control 
over who provides their care without the responsibility for managing the budget.   

 
Implementation of the proposals (particularly those that relate to improving the terms of 
conditions of care staff) will have significant financial implications for the local authority.  
Given the current financial pressures the local authority has, there may be some public 
concern regarding proceeding with implementation of the proposals.  If the proposals are 
not implemented the positive impacts are likely to be reduced.  As a result, an initial 
report is being submitted to Executive Board in November 2014 to raise awareness of the 
issues which the project is aiming to address and the potential implications of these with 
the recommendation that further work is undertaken to more fully determine the financial 
implications, including equality impacts of proceeding with implementation of the 
proposals.   
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

February 2015 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

March 2015 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Michelle Atkinson 
Commissioning Manager Older 
People’s Services 

 
 

Page 115



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

8

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Michelle Atkinson 
 

Commissioning Manager 
Older People’s Services  

22.10.2014 

Date screening completed 20/10/14 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 116



 

 

 

 

 

Report of the Interim Director of Adult Social Services 

Report to:  Executive Board 

Date:   19 November 2014 

Subject:  Leeds City Council Social Care and Health Capital Fund 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

In September 2014 Executive Board agreed to create a specific Capital fund of £25 Million 
to support the City's ambitious plans to be the Best City in the country for Health and 
Wellbeing. The Capital fund was established to deliver efficiencies in the system and 
represents a part of the Council’s contribution to support the release of revenue funding 
from the Better Care Fund (BCF). The Council has an ambitious integration programme 
across health and care and the national BCF is being used locally to support that. This 
proposal to commit capital investment was, so far as we are aware, unique nationally and 
represents a truly innovative means of ensuring no opportunity is missed to maximize the 
value of the Leeds £.  
 
Officers from Adult Social Care and Children's services have been working with colleagues 
in the Clinical Commissioning Groups and the Leeds Teaching Hospital within the City, to 
formulate firm plans for how the fund in Leeds will be used to make health and social care 
feel more joined up by people who need such care and their carers.  
 

 

Report authors:   Dennis Holmes 
Dylan Roberts 

Tel:     247 7649  

Page 117

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Highlighted in this report is the first two proposals to draw from the Capital Fund 
 

Recommendations 

 

This report recommends that Members: 

Approve the first drawdown of £1.35m from the Health and Social Care Capital Fund to 
progress work on the first two information and technology schemes, which are: 
 
Approval to spend £1.3m on the Tracking Outcomes for Children and Young People 
scheme. 
 
Approval to spend £50k on the Health and Social Care Network Interconnection (N3 to 
YHPSN) subject to satisfactory conclusion of discussions with the Department of Health. 

 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report advises members of the intention to commit the Health and Social Care 
capital funding to two information and technology led schemes to support the City’s 
ambitious plans to be the Best City in the country for Health and Wellbeing. 

1.2 The report follows the decision of the Executive Board to create a specific Capital 
fund of £25 Million to support the City's ambitious plans to be the Best City for 
Health and Wellbeing. The Capital Fund is also intended to ensure that such plans 
are achieved on a sustainable basis, through the reduction of future revenue costs 
across the health and care system.  

2 Background information 

2.1 The schemes in this report have been selected for their “invest to save” potential 
and with continued leadership and commitment of partners, have the potential to 
help achieve Leeds’ ambition of a high quality and sustainable health and social 
care system over the next five years.   

3 Main issues 

3.1 Since the previous report, work has concentrated on developing technology 
initiatives identified across the city, the first of which are summarised below. 

3.2 Children’s Services – Tracking Outcomes for Children and Young People 

3.2.1 Leeds has an ambition to be a Child Friendly City. The council and its partners on 
the Children’s Trust Board have made a commitment to a single Children and 
Young People’s Plan made up of three obsessions: 
 

Page 118



 

 

• Safely and appropriately, reduce the number of Children Looked After 

• Improve schools attendance 

• Reduce the number of Young People who are Not in Education, Employment or 
Training (NEET) 

3.2.2 The medium-term revenue budget strategy in Children’s Services reflects a vision 
to safely reduce the need for children and young people to be in the care of the 
Authority.  Aligned to this vision are revenue savings amounting to £5m by March 
2017 which will be delivered through integrated and effective prevention and 
intervention based around a new social contract and restorative practice. The 
vision is to develop and implement effective multi-agency teams working within 
school clusters and with schools, will very much depend on the availability of 
child-centred data at a locality level. 

3.2.3 In order to fully understand the impact that our strategies are having there is a 
need to understand the progress of C&YP in the city. The challenge is to be able 
to easily link key pieces of information together across systems to give a more 
holistic picture of the journey of the child. At the heart of this, the use of the NHS 
number as a unique identifier is extremely important. At present the production 
and analysis of data across the city and within individual clusters is extremely 
resource intensive requiring the manual collation of data from a number of 
separate information systems.  

 
3.2.4 The development and implementation of a tracking system will enable this data to 

be produced more efficiently and effectively leading to further revenue budget 
savings across a number of support functions. Building the capability to track and 
monitor the impact of interventions on outcomes for C&YP will enable more 
effective partner wide responses based on intelligence about what works. This 
capability will be built in phases to support initiatives such as Families First, 
priorities in the Medium Term financial strategy and integrated working with 
Health. 
 

3.2.5 By linking key information together more easily we would be able to: 

• more easily identify children and families who meet the criteria for the Families 
First programme; 

• identify at the Social Care ‘front door’ whether a child/ young person was already 
known to a service; 

• monitor the impact of interventions and programmes on outcomes; 

• monitor the outcomes for cohorts of children such Looked After Children (CLA); 
BME; Children with a Disability etc; 

• understand the range of interventions and support around a young person;  

• understand the impact of intervention strategies on improving outcomes; 

• understand the savings in the whole system that can be attributed to adapting 
intervention strategies; 

• direct effective commissioning based on evidence of what works; and 

• address duplication across the ‘system’ where multiple practitioners may be 
involved with one child or family trying to address the same issue.  
 

3.2.6 Essentially there are two outlets for this capability. 

Page 119



 

 

• Practitioner level – practitioners being able to appropriately access key pieces of 
information, such as which other practitioners were involved with a child or 
young person. This is closely linked to the development of the Leeds Care 
Record; and 

• Analytics – this capability will provide the opportunity for a range of analysis into 
impact and effectiveness of strategies to be explored and used to influence 
commissioning decisions and identify duplication in the system. 

 
3.2.7 Leeds is a national leader on the Troubled Families programme which Government 

has recently announced will be extended through to 2020 with Leeds potentially 
receiving up to £13.5m over the life of the programme to work with an additional 
7,000 families across the city.  The ability to track Children and Young People 
across the ‘system’ would significantly improve our ability to identify these 7,000 
families and lever-in the £13.5m of funding. 

3.2.8 The unquantified future financial and social value of being able to identify and 
appropriately intervene in a restorative way with Children and Young People and 
Families is significant.  Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) cost modelling attributes savings which may be realised due to early 
intervention as follows: 
 

• A child no longer being NEET - £4,263 p.a. 

• Reduction in ASB incidents - £500 per incident 

• Reduction in Domestic Violence - £2,470 per incident 
 
3.2.9 Discussions about the need for this sort of capability i.e. provide a ‘single view’ of 

a child or person is not new. However, given the extreme financial challenges, 
increasing demand and complexity of situations and cases it is now even more 
important that we understand: what resources we are deploying across the whole 
‘system’, where the duplication is, what impact are our interventions having on 
children and young people’s outcomes and what progress our most vulnerable 
Children and Young People are making. 
 

3.2.10  Capital investment needed for this project is estimated as follows; 

• Initial scoping and business analysis including definition of project phases - 
£50k  

• As this project involves pulling together information held on many diverse 
systems in the council, it requires the use of external specialist resource, and 
will utilise Microsoft Business Intelligence and Master Data Management 
technologies. The estimate of this technology investment, development and 
deployment, together with business change and project management, to ensure 
planned outcomes outlined in the initial scoping are achieved in line with 
timelines and stakeholder expectations is £1.25m.  

• Total investment - £1.3m 
 

3.2.11 If this is approved the initial scoping work is planned to be undertaken by the end of 
January 2015. This will identify the phases of development, and clarify the return on 
investment that could be realised at each phase. It will help to inform whether a 
procurement is required and by which route to bring in the necessary technical 

Page 120



 

 

resources to carry out the work. At this point estimated timescales for the 
development and delivery of the project will be clearer. 

 
  
3.3 Health and Social Care Aggregated Secure Network Interconnection (N3 to 

YHPSN) 

3.3.1 To enable health and social care joint working the use of the NHS number on all 
health and social care records and correspondence is a fundamental requirement. 
Leeds has already captured the NHS number on social care records but needs to 
move the current method to a more robust strategic approach using the Patient 
Demographic Service which is located in the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre. This is currently only accessible via the NHS network. 

3.3.2 The current National NHS N3 network contract ends March 2015. This network 
allows access for NHS organisations to national NHS Spine systems such as the 
Patient Demographic Service (for NHS numbers) and the Summary Care Record. 

3.3.3 The Public Services Network (PSN) is the government’s approach to connect 
public services by unifying network infrastructure across the UK public sector, 
creating a ‘network or networks’ allowing increased efficiency and reduce public 
expenditure. It is described as the secure Internet for Government and comes with 
it all the necessary standards and controls to protect information that goes across 
it. The approach to PSN has created a competitive market place of providers, 
similar to internet service providers, which compete to provide this utility service at 
the best cost. 

3.3.4 The N3 and PSN networks are separate and are based on different security 
standards and codes of connection. This means that health and social care 
cannot talk to each other electronically at the basic level. It also means that 
professionals across health and social care cannot work effectively together as 
they cannot connect across networks and therefore this does not support joint 
working. It doesn’t allow for the ability to walk into any building and securely 
connect to each other and allow for basic technology and communications that 
would transform the daily lives of professionals and improve care and support for 
patients and citizens. 

3.3.5 An interconnect between the PSN and N3, is proposed, that would allow Leeds 
health and social care organisations to use PSN networks which will mean the 
removal of the current N3 networks and associated costs across the city. Work is 
required to sort the relevant connection, information and security compliance. This 
will allow Leeds health and social care access to national NHS systems and will 
support and enable the required flexible working across the system.  

3.3.6 The cost of this proposal is £50k for technical services and project management 
and £30k over three years for the aggregated connection. 

3.3.7 The savings of removal of N3 connections is not realised locally as this is funded 
by the Department of Health, and is estimated as £180,000 over three years. If 
this approach were to be applied regionally, should partners invest and commit, 
these could be in excess of £10 million. At present there is no agreement to the 

Page 121



 

 

release of savings by the Department of Health if Leeds or the Yorkshire and 
Humber region made this investment and delivered the project. However, the 
Department of Health will consider this business case and model described here 
as a means of moving forward from N3 contract and may fund this.   

3.3.8 Representations have been made to the Minister for Care, on behalf of the Health 
and Care Integration Pioneers, in this respect and a decision is expected from the 
Department of Health in December. 

3.3.9  The proposal to go ahead with this project is based on the Department of Health 
releasing savings to pay for any investment made locally or investment is made 
by them to deliver the solution. Therefore, approval is sought to utilise the Health 
and Social Care Capital if the Department of Health provide a return on the 
investment. If not then there will be no return on the investment for what is a 
necessary requirement to integrate with Health and the Council, as with all others, 
may be required to pay for an N3 connection. 

Page 122



 

 

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 These proposals have been developed through consultation and engagement with 
the Leeds Informatics Board (LIB) representatives which include Adult Social Care 
and Children’s Services, Clinical Commissioning Groups, Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals Trust, Leeds Community Health Trust, Leeds and York Partnership 
Foundation Trust and Leeds University, who selected them following a review of 
19 proposals. All LIB members consulted with stakeholders in their organisations 
and reviewed the proposals as a group.  

4.1.2 The transformation programme across health and social care which has oversight 
of each initiative is engaged with representative groups associated with its 
particular workstream.   

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Activity related to the transformation of health and social care services in the City 
is designed to address health and social inequalities and to provide better access 
to and experience of health and care services. 

4.2.2 As these and subsequent schemes are developed an equality impact analysis 
screening tool will be used to determine whether there is a need for a fuller impact 
assessment to be undertaken in relation to that scheme.  

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The proposals set out in this report are aligned to the ambition for the City to be 
Best City for Health and Wellbeing. They will deliver efficiencies in their own right 
and provide the foundation for integrating health and care across Leeds. This 
directly supports the Best Council Plan 2013-17 ‘Better Lives objective’. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The establishment of a significant and specific Capital Fund by the Council on 
behalf of health and social care requires the formulation of business cases that 
are able to demonstrate cashable revenue savings for the whole system.  The two 
proposals in this report represent schemes that will help reduce cost and provide 
an anticipated revenue stream back to the authority whilst achieving the broader 
outcomes across Health, Adults and Children’s Services. Senior Responsible 
Officers will be appointed who will be accountable for realising the benefits 
identified.  

4.4.2 Following a review of the phasing of current schemes in the Council’s capital 
programme, and in view of the continued availability of historically low interest 
rates, the Council can accommodate these proposals within available funding. 
However, more significantly, the Council faces very significant financial challenges 
in social care costs over the next few years, in particular as a result of an ageing 
population; the release of recurring revenue funding from the Better Care Fund 

Page 123



 

 

(BCF) is an essential part of the future financial sustainability of the Council. The 
BCF and this associated Capital Fund will not, alone, address the fundamental 
financial challenges faced by the health and social care community in the City, 
however the formulation of a programme of activity designed to address 
longstanding structural deficits across the whole system supported by a targeted 
investment programme presents a significant opportunity. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report nor the proposal contained 
in it. The Capital Investment Fund has been established for the purpose of 
supporting initiatives which will be of benefit to the Council and its NHS partners 
and not for the purpose of seeking to undertake the duties associated with 
another statutory body. 

4.5 Risk Management 

4.5.1 There are inherent risks involved in managing a significant transformational 
programme of activity such as this. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 This report seeks the approval of Members to commence the first two schemes 
developed thus far against the Health and Social Care Capital fund that will 
deliver efficiencies in themselves and support integration across the health and 
care system in Leeds.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 This report recommends that Members: 

6.1.1 Approve the first drawdown of £1.35m from the Health and Social Care Capital 
Fund to progress work on the first two information and technology schemes, 
which are: 

6.1.1.1 Approval to spend £1.3m on the Tracking Outcomes for Children and Young 
People scheme. 

6.1.1.2 Approval to spend £50k on the Health and Social Care Network Interconnection 
(N3 to YHPSN) subject to satisfactory conclusion of discussions with the 
Department of Health. 

7 Background documents 1 

7.1 There are no background documents. 

 

1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works. 

 

Page 124



 

 1

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board    

Date: 19th November 2014 

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2014/15 – Half Year 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and integration?   Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform members of the financial health of the authority at the 
half year stage of the financial year in respect of the revenue budget and the Housing 
Revenue Account.   

 

2. Members will recall that the 2014/15 general fund revenue budget, as approved by Council 
provides for a variety of actions to reduce spending by in excess of £47m. It is clear that 
action is taking place across all areas of the Council and it is clear that significant savings are 
being delivered in line with the budget.  

 

3. At this stage of the financial year however an overall overspend of £8.6m is projected, an 
increase of £2.3m from the figure reported at month 5 which mainly reflects continued 
pressures in Adults and Children’s Social Care and income from the New Homes Bonus 
Scheme. There is some risk of further increases during the year in the Care services 
although the overall position will continue to be managed with a view to reducing the 
projected overspend.  

 

4. In view of the deteriorating position a suite of measures are being implemented across the 
Council to bring spending plans back into line with the agreed budgets.       

 

5.  After six months of the year the HRA is projecting a surplus of £1.1m.  

Recommendations 

6. Members of the Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the 
authority after six months of 2014/15 and the measures being put in place as detailed in 
paragraph 3.3.4

Report author: Alan Gay/Doug Meeson  

Tel: 74250 

Page 125

Agenda Item 12



 

 2

1. Purpose of this report     
 
1.1 This report sets out for the Board the Council’s projected financial health position 

for 2014/15 at the half year stage of the financial year.  
 
1.2 Budget Monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report 

reviews the position of the budget after six months and comments on the key 
issues impacting on the overall achievement of the budget for the current year. 

 
2. Background information 
 
2.1 Members will recall that the net budget for the general fund was set at £565.8m, 

supported by the use of £3.5m of general fund reserves.   
 
2.2 Following finalisation of the accounts, General Fund Reserves at 31st March 

2014 amount to £26.1m.  
 

3. Main Issues  
 
3.1 After six months of the financial year an overspend of £8.6m is projected, as 

shown in the table below.   
 

 
 

3.2 This represents an increase of £2.3m from the position reported at the end of 
month 5 which reflects continuing pressures within Adult and Children’s Social 
Care and a reduction in the income from the New Homes Bonus based on the 
net additions to the housing stock between October 2013 and October 2014 – 
see paragraph 3.3.3 below.  

 
  The month on month increase reflects a further increase in the demand led 

community care packages both within home care and the learning disability 
pooled budget within Adult Social Care and further slippage on achieving 
budgeted savings within Looked After Children placements which were aimed at 
safely reducing placement numbers and changing the mix of placement 
provision. Whilst the position will continue to be closely monitored and managed 
with a view to reducing the projected overspend, there is a risk that the projected 
overspends in these areas could increase further during the year.   

Previous 

Month

Directorate Director Staffing

Other 

spend

Total 

Expenditure Income

 Total Under 

/Overspend Month 5

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adult Social Care Sandie Keene 1,289 4,079 5,368 (2,743) 2,625 2,119

Children's Services Nigel Richardson (142) 6,504 6,362 (1,018) 5,344 4,583

City Development Martin Farrington 226 1,314 1,540 (1,234) 306 336

Environment & Housing Neil Evans (291) 418 127 (227) (100) 0

Strategy & Resources Alan Gay (111) 97 (14) 16 2 (63)

Citizens & Communities James Rogers (198) 129 (69) 66 (3) (3)

Public Health Dr Ian Cameron (798) 648 (150) (109) (259) (35)

Civic Enterprise Leeds Julie Meakin (414) (2,935) (3,349) 3,749 400 400

Total (439) 10,254 9,815 (1,500) 8,315 7,337

Corporate issues

Debt Savings (1,100) (1,100)

Transfer to Public Health Earmarked Reserve 0 35

New Homes Bonus 1,335

Total 8,550 6,272

(Under) / Over Spend for the current period

Page 126



 

 3

3.3 The major variations are outlined below and further details can be found in the 
financial dashboards attached to this report.  

 

3.3.1 Staffing  
 

 The major staffing variation is in Adult Social Care, mainly reflecting the cost of 
additional staff working on capital or income earning projects and the costs 
associated with the Supreme Court legal judgement as to the assessment of 
deprivation of liberty. These are more than offset by savings within other 
directorates.  

 
3.3.2 Other Spend 
 

As referred to above, the main pressures relate to demand led community care 
budgets within Adult Social Care and Looked After Children placements. Home 
Care packages remain over budget with a weekly increase of around 63 hours 
whilst the budget assumed there would be no increase. There has also been a 
£0.7m increase in the forecast for externally provided residential and fostering 
placements for children and young people. Placement numbers are currently 
above plan and whilst the significant budget action plan savings are largely 
expected to be achieved, further slippage is anticipated.     

 

3.3.3 New Homes Bonus  

The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is a grant paid by central government to local 
councils for increasing the number of homes and their use.  

The New Homes Bonus is paid each year for 6 years. It is based on the amount 
of extra Council Tax revenue raised for new-build homes, conversions and long-
term empty homes brought back into use. There is also an extra payment for 
providing affordable homes.  

Since the inception of the scheme in 2011 to the end of 2013/14 Leeds has 
earned over £27m in new homes bonus bringing nearly 7,200 net properties back 
in use and providing 1,800 affordable homes. 

The 2014/15 budget assumed grant based on a net additional 2,800 properties in 
line with the core strategy. The payment is calculated on performance from 
October to September and for 2014/15 the figure is a net increase of 1,722 
producing a shortfall against the budget of £1.3m.  Depending upon the national 
position, it is possible that any underspends on the New Homes Bonus nationally 
may be returned to local government, as has happened in previous years, but 
this will not be known until nearer the year end. 

Members are asked to note that there are differences in the calculation of 
housing growth numbers for New Homes Bonus and the Core Strategy. The 
main differences relate to: the counting of Council Tax Band D equivalent homes, 
different monitoring periods and the lag between the construction of homes, their 
completion (counted by the Core Strategy) and their occupancy (counted by the 
NHB).  This means that Core Strategy completions and forecasts will always tend 
to be higher than NHB figures. The level of completions for Core Strategy 
purposes between the 1st October 2013 and 30th September 2014 is 2,626. 

 

Page 127



 

 4

3.3.4  In view of the deteriorating position the following measures have been put in place 
initially for the next three months: 
 

• An embargo on all external recruitment to General Fund Services, An 
embargo on all overtime; 

• No new appointments of agency staff; 

• A general embargo on all non-essential non staffing spend, but with 
particular reference to: 
o Expenditure on external training, seminars, professional updates 
o Building maintenance expenditure with the exception of essential health 

and safety work 
 

It is recognised that there may be a need for some exceptions to these general 
rules, but every attempt will be made to minimise them, with all exceptions being 
subject to the agreement of the Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
All services have also been requested to maximise the number of staff who can 
leave the organisation under the present ELI scheme by 31st December 2014.  
 
In addition, directorates have been requested to consider options for increases in 
fees and charges which could be implemented from January 2015 where 
appropriate. 
  
It is clearly crucial that the financial position in the current year is brought back in 
line with the approved budgets.  Failure to do so will result in the call upon 
reserves being greater than budgeted for, with a resultant impact upon the 
financial strategy for 2015/16 and 2016/17 as reported to last month’s Executive 
Board. The overall position will continue to be closely monitored and should the 
combination of these measures deliver sufficient savings these measures could 
be relaxed in the event that the financial outlook for the year improves 
sufficiently. 

 
3.4 Other Financial Performance 
 
3.4.1   Council Tax and NNDR 

 
The Council Tax target for the in-year collection for 2014/15 is unchanged from 
the previous years at 95.7%. The position at the end of September was 54.84% 
compared to 54.90% at the same point in 2013/14 and there are currently no 
concerns as to collection levels. 
 

• Overall collection rate for those affected by Council Tax Support scheme  -
38.5% ( 39.3% at this stage last year) 

• Collection rate for those previously getting 100% Council Tax benefit – 
35.6% (35.7% at this stage last year) 

 

The collection rate for Business Rates at the end of September was 56.83% 
compared to 58.7% at the same time in 2013/14, a reduction of 1.87%. This is a 
significant improvement on the position at the end of August and the difference is 
primarily due to the move from 10 to 12 monthly instalments, the impact of which 
will increase each month until the end of February. 
 

Page 128



 

 5

There continues to be no significant change in the level of accounts in arrears 
(£5.84m at end of September 2013 compared to £5.9m in 2014) which would 
seem to confirm the reduction in the comparative collection rate is largely a 
matter of timing rather than an increase in non-payment. 

 
4.0    Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  
 
4.1 At the end of Period 6 the HRA is projecting a surplus of £1.1m.  
 
 Key variances  
 
4.2 Additional income of £1.0m primarily due to increased dwelling rents as a result 

of voids (0.7%) being less than budgeted levels of 1.25%.  
 
4.3 In addition savings are projected in relation to Council Tax on empty properties 

£0.3m, void repairs £0.3m, the budgeted contribution to the Bad Debt Provision 
£0.5m and capital charges due to low interest rates £0.4m.  

 
4.4 Additional savings of £0.9m over the £1m assumed in the budget are projected in 

relation to employees and transport. This is due to vacancies being held whilst 
revised structures are agreed and implemented as a result of the housing 
management function coming back in house. 

 
4.5 These variances contribute towards offsetting the additional £1.1 m of costs in 

relation to Disrepair claims against the council. Additional resources have been 
provided to address this issue. Two additional surveyors and two legal officers 
have been engaged and processes put in place to manage the service to 
improve efficiency and create clearer accountabilities and responsibilities within 
the teams. The Disrepair service is being proactively managed with regular 
meetings with internal and external teams including surveyors, legal, asbestos 
and contractors responsible for completing the works monitoring progress, 
identifying blockages in the system and amending processes. In addition to this 
the team is engaging with both the Repairs Teams and Housing Management to 
introduce measures to stem the growth in caseload.  

4.6 In addition, a revenue contribution to capital of £1.2m has been identified to fund 
a vehicle replacement programme for Construction Services  

 
4.7 Excluding technical arrears, arrears for current tenants are £5.1m compared to 

£4.6m at the end of 2013/14, an increase of £0.5m. Arrears in connection with 
under-occupancy are £0.7m. This has not changed since the end of 2013/14. 

 
 Collection rates to the end of August were 97.48% for dwelling rents, compared 

to 97.85% at the end of 2013/14. 
 
5.0 Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

Page 129



 

 6

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2014/15 was subject to Equality Impact 
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council 
on 26th February 2014. 

5.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

5.3.1 The 2014/15 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and 
priorities. This report comments on the financial performance against this budget.   

5.4 Resources and Value for Money  

5.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are detailed 
in the main body of the report. 

 

5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. In accordance with part 4 
(f) of the Council’s Constitution (Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules) 
Executive Board shall be entitled to vire across budget headings subject to value 
limits set out in the Financial Procedure Rules. There are no requests this month.  

 

5.6 Risk Management 

5.6.1 The Council’s financial risk register details the risk and consequences, existing 
controls to mitigate against the risk, the value in monetary terms, review dates and 
progress towards managing the risk. The register is prepared before the start of 
each financial year and is monitored on a regular basis. The scoring matrix is: 

 

 
5.6.2 The register at month 5 showed there was 1 very high risk and 3 high risks:   

Score Score

1 1 Insignificant £0-£499k

2 2 Minor £500-£999k

3 3 Moderate £1000-£1499k

4 4 Major £1500-£1999k

5 5 Highly Significant Over £2m

Corporate Rating

P I Total Score

1 1 1

1 2 2

2 1 2

3 1 3

2 2 4

4 1 4

5 1 5

1 3 3

2 3 6

3 2 6

4 2 8

5 2 10

2 4 8

1 4 4

1 5 5

2 5 10

3 3 9

3 4 12

4 3 12

5 3 15

3 5 15

4 4 16

4 5 20

5 4 20

5 5 25

Description

Rare

Description

Probability Impact

Unlikely

Possible

Probable

Almost Certain

Corporate Rating

Low

Low

Low

Medium

Low

High

Low

High

Medium

Medium

Low

Low

High

Medium

High

High

Medium

High

High

Very High

Very High

High

Very High

Very High

Very High

Page 130



 

 7

 
 
5.6.3 It is clear from the current projections that all of these risks have now happened 

and as such have been incorporated into the overall projection. There are no new 
risks identified at month 6. 

 
6. Recommendations 
 

6.1 Members of the Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position 
of the authority after six months of 2014/15 and the measures being put in place 
as detailed in paragraph 3.3.4 above.  

 
7. Background documents1  

 

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not 
include published works. 

Risk Key Budget Impacted P I Corporate 

Rating

Service area

Deprivation of Liberty: Number of Best 

Interest Assessments expected to increase 

significantly 

Access and Care 4 5 Very high Adult Social Care

Community Care packages may exceed the 

budgeted numbers and/or cost

Access and Care 3 4 High Adult Social Care

Learning Disablity Pooled Budget care 

packages

Access and Care 4 3 High Adult Social Care

Externally Provided Residential & Fostering 

Placements exceed the budgeted numbers

Safeguarding, Targeted  

and Specialist

3 4 High Children's Services 

Page 131



 

 8
     

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6  - (September 2014)

Overall narrative
The directorate is currently projecting an overspend of £1.6m relating to its general activities, with a further £1.0m arising from the Supreme Court legal 
judgement in March 2014 that clarified the meaning of ‘deprivation of liberty’ in the context of the Mental Capacity Act.  The Supreme Court legal 
judgement means that the number of people lacking mental capacity who require a Best Interest Assessment will increase significantly and this is already 
evident in activity levels.  In addition to staffing costs, other costs relate to Court of Protection Orders and independent mental health advocacy. The 
projection for period 6 shows an increase of £0.6m from period 5. This has been caused by increases on demand-led community care packages, 
particularly for clients with a learning disability, partly offset by residential rehabilitation and Neighbourhood Network costs now funded from Public 
Health. There are some risks associated with this projection, the main ones being that the level of activity within the home care budget increases during 
the year and the savings to be delivered in the remainder of the year included within the current projection are not achieved.  Significant contingency 
actions have been identified, including utilising the earmarked reserve for service transformation in full, which restricts the capacity for future 
transformation.  Senior managers are continuing to make every effort to contain overall expenditure within the budget and are working on further actions 
that can be taken to reduce the potential overspend further.
The main variations at Period 6 across the key expenditure types are as follows:

Staffing (+1.3m – 1.8%)
Staffing funded by capital or additional income accounts for £0.65m of this variation and the costs associated with the Supreme Court legal judgement 
are £0.2m.  The remainder mainly reflects staffing savings being released in homes for older people more slowly than budgeted for those homes not 
closing immediately and additional costs in the South Leeds Intermediate Care Centre.

Transport (+£0.8m – 18.0%)
Expenditure on transport is generally reducing year on year, but the budgeted level of savings are not yet being delivered. Plans are in place to achieve 
these savings and although delivery is currently slower than expected work continues to identify how spend can be brought back into line with the budget 
by the year end.

Community care packages (+£4.3m – 2.9%)
The main pressure continues to affect the home care budget.  The budget assumed that there would be no net weekly increase in the hours of care 
provided, but currently the weekly increase is around 63 hours.  There are also some significant pressures on the learning disability pooled budget, with 
the number and average cost of monthly care plan approvals this financial year being higher than last year.  There is also some pressure on residential 
and nursing care placements, mainly those for people with mental health needs.  These are partly offset by savings on direct payments as fewer people 
than budgeted for are currently choosing to receive a cash payment to arrange their own care package.

Other expenditure (+£0.4m – 0.9%)
This includes legal and advocacy costs associated with the Supreme Court judgement, partly offset by savings on other budget heads.

Income (-£2.7m – 3.9%)
This mainly relates to additional health funding for intermediate care beds and for information and knowledge management initiatives ongoing from 
2013/14 and £0.45m Public Health funding for Neighbourhood Networks and residential rehabilitation.

Use of Earmarked Reserve (-£1.4m)
This is being utilised to support joint working with health partners, including addressing demand led pressures on the community care packages budget.

Appendix 1 

P
age 132



 

 9

 

P
age 133



 

 10 
 

CHILDREN'S SERVICES 

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 6 (APRIL TO SEPTEMBER)

Overall
The month 6 forecast variation for the Children’s Services Directorate is an overspend of £5.3m or 4.1% against the net managed budget 

of £128m.  This forecast represents an increase of £0.7m from the month 5 position which is mainly around slippage on the budget action 
plans around children in care and externally provided residential and fostering placements.  

Looked After Children 
The 2014/15 budget strategy recognised the strategic obsession around reducing the need for children to be in care with budget action 

plans totally some £5.8m around safely reducing placement numbers and changing the mix of placement provision.  At this stage in the 
financial year, the forecast is that  there will be some potential slippageagainst this plan.  In terms of placement numbers, at the end of 
September, there were 50 children & young people in externally provided residential placements [+12 compared to the financial model] 
and  241 children & young people in placements with Independent Fostering Agencies [+39 compared with the financial model].  Overall, 
these placement numbers translate into a potential pressure of £3.2m, although work is continuing around permanency and transitional 

planning. The month 6 projections also recognise some demand pressures around unaccompanied asylum seeking children (£0.2m), 
special guardianship orders [£0.1m], assisted adoptions [£0.3m], in-house fostering (£0.6m), Leaving Care Services (£0.2m) and 
children's homes (£0.25m).  

Staffing

Overall, at month 6 the staffing budgets are forecast to underspend by £0.1m across the general fund, grant/income funded and central 
schools budget functions.  These projections recognise the continuing number of vacant posts across the Directorate, the impact of the 
predominantly internal recruitment market and the links to grant funding and income budgets.  The  year-end forecast spend on overtime 
is £1m and £4.2m on agency staffing. 

Transport
The 2014/15 budget strategy included £4.6m of anticipated savings around policy and provision changes in repsect of home to 
school/college transport.  At month 6, the projection is for slippage of around £2.5m, primarily around discretionary post 16 SEN 
transport. 

Income

The forecast £1m variation across the income budgets recognises the utilisation of the additional capital receipts to fund the schools 
capital spend and also forecast slippage  on the creation of early education/childcare places across the children's centres and private, 
voluntary and independent sector providers which are funded via the dedicated schools grant.  The projection also takes into account the 
additional transitional implementation grant funding for the implementation of the Children and Families Act in respect of children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (£0.5m).

P
age 134



 

 11 

 

P
age 135



 

 12 

 

City Development 

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

Overall Narrative 
The projected outturn position at Period 6 is an overspend of £306k a reduction of £30k from the position reported at Period 5. There has been relatively little 
change during the month in overall service projections. The main change is that there has been an improvement in the position for Asset Management as a 
result of increased income projections for the year, largely offsetting this has been a downward revision in income from Kirkgate Market as a result of an 
increase in the number of vacant stalls. The Period 6 position assumes that the Directorate achieves further savings or additional income of just under £600k. 
This is currently shown against Resources and Strategy but as in previous years is likely to be achieved across the Directorate.

Planning and Sustainable Development 
Is forecast to have an overspend of £118k. Staffing is forecast to be £86k over budget as the budgeted vacancy factor is unlikely now to be fully met although 
the service is progressing some ELI business cases. Supplies and services expenditure is forecast to be £36k overspent as a result of anticipated additional 
spend on the Core Strategy including legal costs.  Income from planning and building fees for Period 6 is slightly ahead of the phased budget with actual 
income of £2,346k against the phased budget of £2,315k. There is a risk that income does not achieve the budget during the year however the projection 
assumes that external income will be on budget for the year. 

Economic Development 
Is forecast to be £94k overspent mainly due to a reduction in the projected surplus for Kirkgate Market, one off income of £275k received by Highways and 
Transportation has been used to offset most of the Markets income shortfall this financial year. The main budget risk for the Service is that income from 
Kirkgate Market continues to decline. 

Asset Management and Regeneration Services
Is forecast to spend below budget as  a result of additional rental income and other one off income received during the year.

Employment and Skills and Highways and Transportation 
Are projected to be within budget, this assumes that the efficiency targets are met. The Service is also projected to have additional expenditure on supplies 
and services which will be offset by additional income. This is as a result of more work being awarded externally than was originally budgeted for. Sport and 
Active Recreation is also forecast to be within budget. The main risk is that income levels fall short of the budget although the budget was reduced in 2014/15 
reflecting the trends in 2012/13 and 2013/14. At Period 6 cumulative income to date is £290k less than the phased budget but this shortfall is expected to be 
covered in savings elswehere.   

Libraries, Arts and Heritage 
Is forecast to be £59k above budget. This is mainly because there will be a delay in achieving staff savings in Libraries as the review of opening hours will take 
longer to implement than was originally envisaged. Proposals are to be submitted to the October Executive Board. A new structure is also due to be 
implemented in Heritage Services. These pressures have been mostly offset by an additional £350k in one off income received by Highways and 
transportation that has been allocated to Libraries. 

Resources and Strategy 

Is forecast to have a small overspend of £126k although this includes  Directorate savings target of £600k on staffing and other savings with options to achieve 
this to be discussed and agreed with the other services. There is also a target saving of approximately £100k from the Business Management review and it is 

assumed that this target will be achieved during the year as this work stream progresses. As in previous years the Directorate will continue to closely manage 
staffing levels, vacancies, overtime and agency spend to ensure that these savings can be realised. 

P
age 136



 

 13  

Projected Variations
Latest 

Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 

Services Transport

Internal 

Charges

External 

Providers

Transfer 

Payments Income

Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Quarter 1 60,162 384 307 334 (5) (52) 20 4 (561) 431

Month 4 60,191 536 317 949 31 8 20 (40) (1,636) 185

Month 5 60,079 124 354 799 36 39 20 0 (1,001) 371

Month 6 60,079 226 272 975 37 110 20 (100) (1,234) 306

Latest 

Estimate Quarter 1 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Month 12 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

3,871 20 96 114 118

1,329 1 0 104 94

Asset Management and 

Regeneration
3,260 0 0 15 (44)

Highways and Transportation 20,594 (1) 0 0 0

Resources and Strategy 1,870 50 43 92 126

Employment and Skills 2,879 3 (8) (39) (43)

19,547 350 44 43 59

6,730 8 10 7 (4)

Total 60,080 431 185 336 306 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,372

1,540

Sport and Active Recreation

Libraries, Arts and Heritage

Economic Development

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

Planning and Sustainable Development

City Development 

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

Total Expenditure

£'000

992

1,821

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

4,000,000

4,500,000

5,000,000

Months

Planning and Building Fees 2013/14 and 2014/15 Cumulative 

2013/14 Budget 2013/14 Actual 2014/15 Budget 2014/15 Actual 2014/15 Trendline 

Budget 13/14 1,135 2,161 2,932 4,139 5,422 6,270 7,132 8,176 9,299 10,248 11,423 13,049

Actual 13/14 1,111 2,115 2,870 4,052 5,307 6,137 6,981 8,003 9,103 10,031 11,182 12,774

Budget 14/15 1,307 2,547 3,503 4,852 6,218 6,992 7,949 9,216 10,486 11,367 12,690 13,982

Actual 14/15 1,309 2,181 2,931 4,671 5,694 6,702

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

£
00

0
's

Sport Income 2013-14 and 2014-15 Cumulative

Budget 13/14

Actual 13/14

Budget 14/15

Actual 14/15

P
age 137



 

 14  

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING DIRECTORATE SUMMARY

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Period 6 (September 2014)
Overall Position 
The Directorate is currently projecting an underspend of £100k at period 6.  

Community Safety (£165k underspend)
Staffing is expected to be £203k under budget.  This is primarily due to a projected staffing underspend on CCTV/Security (£202k) due to pre-restructure vacancies and Signpost 
(£102k) and Safeguarding (£38k) offset by a projected £59k pressure against the staffing efficiency target for ASBU and an £80k pressure for partnership/pay award pending. The 
additional income targets for the service that were built into the 14/15 budget are projected to be achieved, however a £56k pressure has been assumed on other CCTV work 
contracts.  Other net savings total £18k.  

Strategic Housing and General Fund Support (£135k underspend)
An underspend is anticipated on Supporting People contracts (£154k) after achieving efficiencies of £1,254 between 13/14 and 14/15. The underspend is primarily due to additional
Police and Crime Commissioner funding  that can be applied to alcohol related contracts.  The amounts borrowed from the reserves in 11/12 is now deemed to have been repaid.  
Strategic Housing staffing is projected to be £99k under budget over the year.  This is primarily due to underpsends on Housing Options, Leeds Neighbourhoods Approach and Area 
Renewal.  The restructure of the Sustainable Energy and Climate Change team is projected to give a one-off staffing pressure of £12k in 14/15 due to staff in Managing Workforce 
Change.   A £11k overspend on the performance team has been projected.
Other pressures total £118k and are primarily due to a £37k pressure from the Cross Green facelift scheme and £54k pressure on income from funded schemes.  

Parks & Countryside (£0k balanced)
Parks & Countryside is expected to come in on budget although a number of significant pressures have arisen.  The recent judicial review ruling on allotments is expected to create a 
pressure of £104k (£50k reduced income and £54k of legal costs) which can be partially offset by other horticultural service savings of £27k.  Income from golf and sports pitches is 
expected to be £164k below the budgeted level and a pressure of £326k is expected for Bereavement Services after utilising some one off savings.  Staffing savings of £87k are 
projected, primarily due to savings within the Forestry service.  Grounds Maintenance costs are expected to be £82k under budget, workshop spares and sales are projected to be 
under budget by £157k and Insurance and NNDR savings of £246k are expected.  Other net savings total £22k.

Car Parking (£512k underspend)
Savings from vacant posts that are in the process of being recruited to will save £77k. However, this is offset by expenditure increases of £111k associated with additional charges for 
Cash collection and credit card /bank charges. 
Parking income is projected to be £546k higher than the budget. 
On Street income is projected to generate additional income £434k. After 6 months all sites appear to show good levels of income.
Off street parking up £180k offset by reductions in PCN offences £377k, though BLE income projected to be up by £78k.  (Phase 1 down £327k) 
Woodhouse Lane - continues to be busy during week days,  projected increase of +£133k (incl Sept price increase to £5.50). 
Currently managing the former Quarry Hill site for a monthly fee. Projection assumes 6 months (£47k). Other income +£68k

Waste Management (£780k over)
The budget assumes the delivery of £2.5m of savings, predominately in waste disposal resulting from the full year effects of last years roll out of Alternate Week Collection (AWC) and 
the roll out of the service to a further 106,000 households during 14-15.
Refuse Collection is forecast  to be £194k overspent. The pay budget remains a challenging area with a projected overspend of £196k arising from the use of back up and additional 
cost of sickness. There is a strong focus in the service with regard to tackling attendance issues to improve on the 13/14 position. The delay to AWC will impact on route changes 
which will cost circa £148k in year. Other transport costs, mainly fuel, are projected to save £60k and additional income of £90k is forecast.
The waste disposal budget is £18m, of which kerbside black bin waste accounts for £14.6m. A pressure of around £400k is currently estimated based on the slippage of AWC3 into 2 
separate phases and overall waste volumes City wide being higher than budgeted. Additional costs of disposing of recycled waste is expected to cost around £158k.
Delayed closure of Kirkstall Road waste site is projected to cost £53k. Savings of £14k in the remaining waste site budgets help reduce the overall pressure to £39k.

Environmental Action (£65k underspend)
Within Environmental Health savings from vacant posts are £178k, however additional staffing spend on front line cleansing and enfrocement staffing is projected at £134k.
Other variations amount to a further £21k saving.

P
age 138



 

 15

 

  

Projected Variations

Latest Estimate Staffing Premises Supplies & 

Services

Transport Internal 

Charges

External 

Providers

Transfer 

Payments

Appropriation Total 

Expenditure

Income Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Quarter 1 73,272 75 137 (58) (6) 37 (20) 0 0 165 (165) 0

Month 4 73,272 102 (154) 596 (145) 71 (140) 0 0 330 (330) 0

Month 5 72,272 (89) (174) 691 (124) 155 (150) 0 0 309 (309) 0

Month 6 72,272 (291) 12 607 (154) 143 (150) 0 (40) 127 (227) (100)

Month 12

Outturn

Latest Estimate

Quarter 1 Period 4 Period 5 Period 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Month 12 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

3,187 0 0 (100) (165)

Strategic Housing & GFSS 12,177 0 (118) (105) (135)

Parks & Countryside 9,124 0 0 0 0

20,402 0 357 462 547

Waste Operations 2,595 0 53 72 39

Refuse Collection 17,761 0 114 145 194

Environmental Action 13,676 56 14 (5) (68)

(6,650) (56) (420) (469) (512)

Total 72,272 0 0 0 (100) 0

Summary By Service

Waste Strategy and Disposal

Car Parking

Community Safety

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

Summary By Expenditure Type

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING DIRECTORATE SUMMARY

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Period 6 (September 2014)

P
age 139



 

 16
 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

Overall Position
The projected outturn for Strategy and Resources as at month 6 is a largely balanced position compared to the budget available. 
All the professional support services are projected to be on target, although a challenge still exists to achieve some of savings targets built into budgets. 

Strategy and Improvement 
An overspend of £97k is projected and the reason is the difficulty in meeting the Directorate's savings target for Better Business Management, which is 100% reflected in the S&I budget. 
Staffing is currently £269k over budget  although 4 staff have recently left under ELI generating some savings.  Training  expenditure has also been reduced by £17k due to a re-examination 
of requirements and an extra effort to close the pay overspend.  Another member of staff has been seconded, which means that income is now being received for their time, giving £33k 
extra in internal income.  Other income is £12k higher as the Regional Economic Intelligence Team have identified further work they can charge for.

Finance
The main challenge for this service is to meet the current shortfall based on staff in post to date and known recruitment and leavers through to year end.  The service is pro-actively pursuing 
further options to achieve savings of approx. £83k so that a balanced position is achieved by year end.  In addition, a virement is in progress to input a budget of £551k to reflect the transfer 
of former ALMO staff into Finance and the staff working on capital will be charged to the capital programme.

Human Resources
HR are expecting to meet the £236k pay savings incorporated into the budget, through freezing recruitment and the use of the Early Leavers Initiative.  The projection assumes that further 
savings will be made and that a balanced position will be achieved by year end.  Costs associated with Manager Challenge are expected to be offset by additional income.  In addition, a 
virement is in progress to input a budget of £478k to reflect the transfer of former ALMO staff into Human Resources.

Technology
ICT are forecasting to underspend by £37k at period 6 due to a reduction in overtime required.. ICT are currently operating with a high number of vacancies which they are struggling to 
recruit to and are relying on external contractors in the short term.  Additional spending is being incurred on external contractors, though these are being funded by charges to the capital 
programme.  Additional charges will be incurred from PPPU for a Project Manager to lead on the Managed Print Project - which will be funded from the saving generated from the new 
printing contract.  This investment will bring long term savings to the council in the region of £200k.  Additionally, a one-off capital receipt of £150k will be received from the sale of the 
existing printer estate to the new supplier (Cannon).  One off savings on support and maintenance contracts (McAfee Security and SCC Hardware Support)and these savings are being 
used to fund one off pressures and initiatives within ICT.

PPPU and Procurement
Certain risks exist around the income assumptions and projections for the year, partly as a result of recently merging in project teams from other sections. In addition, as in 2013/14, it is 
likely that some work will not be chargeable or charged at reduced rates, thus causing a pressure on income. A review of income is currently in progress and at this stage in the year a 
balanced position is forecast.

Regional Policy
The expansion of the Leeds City Region role and its associated increase in grant funding has allowed the group to recruit, so that the additional workload can be covered. This has led to the 
staffing budget being increased to cover these costs.

Legal Services
Staffing costs are projected to be underspent by approx. £130k against the LE budget (£330k under the OE) and this reflects vacant posts, both on the professional side and also office 
support. The reduced expenditure will largely be offset by a reduction in income, with the incidence of the 'real' saving being in the legal budgets in other directorates. 

Democratic Services
The budget for 2014/15 included additional income of £75k in relation to charges for school appeals.  Latest information on this is that actual income is expected to be about £23k less.  
Fortunately, this is offset by savings on staffing as a member of staff has left under the Early Leavers Initiative.  Additional savings are arising through changes in conditions for elected 
members who are no longer allowed to join the LGPS.

P
age 140



 

 17

 

 

  

 

 

Latest Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 

Services Transport

Internal 

Charges

External 

Providers

Transfer 

Payments Income

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Quarter 1 40,561 (346) 1 (2) (3) 76 0 0 276 0

Month 4 40,561 224 2 (205) 5 52 0 0 (116) (38)

Month 5 40,561 72 3 (36) 18 111 0 0 (231) (63)

Month 6 (111) 4 (70) 11 152 0 0 16 2

Latest Estimate

Quarter 1 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Month 12 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategy and Improvement 4,896 0 0 0 97

Finance 9,935 0 0 0 1

Human Resources 6,493 0 0 1 1

Technology 14,991 0 0 0 (36)

271 0 0 (1) 0

Regional Policy 116 0 0 0 0

Legal Services (1,428) 0 0 0 0

5,287 0 (38) (63) (61)

Total 40,561 0 (38) (63) 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total (under) / 

overspend

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

Democratic Services

BUDGET MANAGEMENT - NET VARIATIONS AGAINST THE APPROVED BUDGET

Public Private Partnership Unit & Procurement

Projected Variations

Total Expenditure

£'000

(276)

78

168

(14)

P
age 141



 

 18
 

Latest Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 

Services Transport

Internal 

Charges

External 

Providers

Transfer 

Payments Income

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Quarter 1 19,235 (98) 0 255 25 0 0 0 (183) (1)

Month 4 19,432 (125) 2 34 30 (14) 0 0 68 (5)

Month 5 19,432 (253) 3 107 30 (14) 0 2 122 (3)

Month 6 19,432 (198) 3 108 30 (14) 0 2 66 (3)

Latest Estimate

Quarter 1 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Month 12 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 5,876 (1) (4) (2) (2)

Customer Access 11,326 0 (2) (2) (2)

Licensing & Registration 630 0 1 1 1

1,600 0 0 0 0

Total 19,432 (1) (5) (3) (3) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Benefits, Welfare and Poverty

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

BUDGET MANAGEMENT - NET VARIATIONS AGAINST THE APPROVED BUDGET:

Total Expenditure

£'000

182

(73)

(125)

(69)

Total (under) / 

overspend

Projected Variations

Overall 
The directorate is projected to achieve a largely balanced budget by the end of the year, though within this, there are a number of variations. 

Communities
The Community Centres budgets have a savings target of £-110k.  Currently it is expected that they will achieve £-30k of this through savings on Facilities Management 
charges (£-10k) and income (£-20k).  This leaves a shortfall of £80k which will need to be achieved by a combination of rationalisation of existing centres and further 
efficiencies in Facilities Management charges.  Proposals around this are being developed for presentation to Executive Board in November.

Customer Access
There is a one off investment required as part of the Community Hub developments.  £100k was set aside from savings delivered in the 2013/14 budget and these will be 
used to fund the additional spend in 2014/15. At the stage, it is expected that the budget will come in on-line.

Licensing and Registration 
The entertainment licensing income budget was increased in 2013/14 in expectation of legislative changes that have still not materialised. As a result of this there is a risk of 
shortfall in income of potentially £100k which should be offset by £80k savings in staffing cost and £20k savings in running costs. There is also an expected shortfall in 
income for the Registrars Service (£56k) and this is expected to be met through savings on staffing and running costs.

Benefits, Welfare and Poverty 
Benefits, Welfare and Poverty is reporting a balanced position at period 6. Vacancies on the section as a result of turnover have created a staffing saving of £-68k. This 
underspend has reduced since last month as some appointments have started earlier than anticipated.  There has been an increase in overtime due to work on data 
matching, though this has been offset by additional DWP grant.  In addition, the service is expecting the Investigations Unit to transfer to the DWP from January 2015 saving 
£-119k. Supplies and Services budgets are expected to overspend by £132k as work has been outsourced to Liberata and Capita and new technology is being investigated 
for E claims, though this is mostly funded by staff savings.  Grant income budgets are £-57k better than anticipated due to extra funding being received from DWP for the 
data matching exercise.  Other income is £-22k better than expected due to income received from MacMillan for work undertaken by the Welfare Rights Service.
In respect of Discretionary Housing Payments and Local Welfare Support, trends of spend to date indicate that budget provision, including the amounts carried forward from 
2013/14, will be sufficient to meet demand. 

P
age 142



 

 19
 

PUBLIC HEALTH

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

Overall
2014/15 is the second year of the Public Health function being carried out by Leeds City Council. The first year allocation of government funding was £36.9m and at the end of 2013/14 
there was an overall in year underspend of 947k of the ring fenced grant.  This amount has been carried forward to 2014/15 in accordance with the grant conditions.  Of this amount, 
£655k is being used to fund expenditure which was committed in 2013/14, but did not take place by the end of the year.  Added to the 2014/15 allocation of £40.5m, the total amount 
available for the ring fenced Public Health function in 2014/15 is £41.49m.  As with last year, funding is ring-fenced to Public Health activities and any underspend would be carried 
forward into the next year.
For 2014/15 the Supporting People Service, Staff and Drugs Commissioning budgets have transferred to the Public Health directorate.

Staffing
The projected staffing underspend has increased to £-798k as a result of further posts becoming vacant and a review of the posts now needed to ensure the council can fulfil its Public 
Health responsibilities.  This process has been delayed and has resulted in delays in projected recruitment and so the underspend has increased.  This underspend is likely to increase 
further as the recruitment process is followed.  Discussions are being held with finance colleagues  in the context of the Council's overall financial position.

Commissioned and Programmed Services
This is the main area of spend with a budget of £35.9m. Public Health commissions and funds services directly and with other parts of the authority.   Almost all the contracts are fixed 
price with payments made on a monthly or quarterly basis so there is minimal risk of over (or under) spend.  However there are some contracts which are based on payment by activity.  
There are risks of under or over trading on these contracts and these are being monitored closely to minimise any impact on the budget.  This includes: 

* Sexual Health treatment and testing by Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust and out of area testing for Leeds patients
* Pharmacy supervised consumption (methadone), nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) and enhanced sexual health services
* GP NHS Health check, smoking cessation and sexual health services
* Drug misuse prescribing, dispensing and diagnostic tests 

The Public Health ring-fenced grant for 2014/15 is funding other council Public Health activity.  In total, over £2m additional funding has been allocated across a range of Public Health 
services:- Care and Repair (£194k), Luncheon Clubs (£185k), Active Lifestyles services (£369k), Family Outreach workers/Children's centres (£777k), Leeds Directory (£132k), Leeds 
Irish Health and Homes (£33k), Black Health Agency Sexual Health skyline project (£289k), Neighbourhood Networks (£300k) and residential rehab (£150k).

In addition to the increase in grant allocation, there is £947k unused grant from 2013/14 brought forward for use in 2014/15. The majority of this has already been committed to specific 
projects where the tendering process has already taken place. A further £153k will be used to fund 2013/14 Sexual Health treatment and testing activity due to Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals Trust reporting incorrect data at year end (2013/14).

£141k has been projected as an over spend on Public Health running costs, which is in the main the Public Health contribution towards the corporate and democratic costs incurred by 
the Council.  This has been partly offset by additional secondment income and a refund from St Martin's.  At present, LCC is in discussion with the Department of Health regarding 
inherited balanced from the PCT which could result in a new unfunded burden.  In order to ensure the Public Health ring-fenced grant can fund this new unfunded burden (should it be 
required) this budget at present has been reflected as committed.

Supporting People
The Supporting People service commissions services to support people in need.  An agreed plan is in place to meet the required staffing efficiencies, though due to increased staff 
turnover, this efficiency has been exceeded and an underspend of £-20k is now projected on pay costs.  Within this underspend, following a re-grading process, there are increased 
staffing costs of £8k, which is funded by income.

Drugs Commissioning
The Police Crime Commissioner has  now confirmed funding for the final 6 months of 2014/15.  In order to respond to this, a number of contracts have been issued for 6 months.  Should 
funding be received for the remaining half of the year, these contracts will be extended.  These contracts are paid monthly or quarterly and are substantiated by provider returns.  At this 
stage, no variance is projected against this budget.

Contribution to the cost of the 'Corporate and Democratic Core'
A charge of £120k is now reflected in Public Health and this is a contribution to the corporate and democratic costs incurred by the Council, for example member and committee 
services.

P
age 143



 

 20

 

Projected Variations

Latest Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 

Services Transport

Internal 

Charges

External 

Providers

Transfer 

Payments

Total 

Expenditure Income Appropriation Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Quarter 1 490 (400) 0 0 0 0 230 0 (170) 0 170 0

Month 4 490 (462) 0 72 0 171 117 0 (102) (68) 170 0

Month 5 490 (534) 0 76 0 172 318 0 32 (67) 35 0

Month 6 490 (798) 2 28 (2) 132 488 0 (150) (109) 0 (259)

Latest Estimate
Quarter 1 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Month 12 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(41,487) 0 0 0 0

5,622 (400) (330) (395) (728)

  General Public Health 509 200 0 0 (14)

1,813 0 0 0 0

16,214 30 30 30 146

2,350 0 0 200 251

5,635 0 2 2 2

9,344 0 128 128 108

Transfer to reserves 0 170 170 35 235

Supporting People 558 0 1 0 (25)

(68) 0 0 0 1

  Health Protection & Population Healthcare

BUDGET MANAGEMENT - NET VARIATIONS AGAINST THE APPROVED BUDGET

Public Health grant

PH staffing and general running costs

Commissioned and Programmed Services:

PUBLIC HEALTH

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

  Healthy Living and PH Intelligence

  Older People and Long Term Conditions

  Child and Maternal Health

  Mental Wellbeing

Drugs Commissioning

P
age 144



 

 21  

Projected Variations

Latest Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 

Services Transport

Internal 

Charges

External 

Providers

Transfer 

Payments Appropriation

Total 

Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Quarter 1 12,834 (185) 35 (30) 0 5 0 0 0 (175) 625 450

Month 4 12,834 (370) 8 (2,895) 9 1 0 0 0 (3,247) 3,649 402

Month 5 12,834 (451) 11 (2,886) 10 2 0 0 (9) (3,323) 3,723 400

Month 6 12,834 (414) (17) (2,913) 2 2 0 0 (9) (3,349) 3,749 400

Latest Estimate

Quarter 1 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Month 12 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

3,847 0 0 (3) (49)

(4,760) 450 401 402 449

7,462 0 1 1 0

6,285 0 0 0 0

Total 12,834 450 402 400 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Business Support Centre

Facilities Management

Corporate Property Management

Commercial Services

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6

Overall position
The CEL budget includes savings and efficiencies amounting to £1.4m. Given the early stage in the financial year, it is assumed that all areas are on track apart from 
two specific pressures within Commercial Trading which amount to £400k. 

Business Support Centre 
£50k underspend on pay is now expected mainly as a result of several early leavers within the service.. 

Facilities Management
No significant risk areas identified to date and the projection assumes that any pressures will be managed throughout the year. 

Commercial Services
There are 2 budget pressures to report; firstly the decision to decrease the price of a paid primary school meal from the budget assumption of £2.50 per KS2 meal to 
£2.30 on commercial grounds, results in a financial pressure for Catering of £250k. 
Secondly, for Property Maintenance a budget assumption was that the service would deliver £2m turnover, generating £200k profit. It is now very unlikely that the 
necessary turnover will be achieved. An additional £100k pressure for Lift installation schemes. Service will no longer deliver this type of work due to the majority 
being sub-contracted. Reflects lost profit.
To counter the above, whilst it is still relatively early in the year, demand for work in other areas in Property Maintenance is strong, so an estimate of additional 
surplus of £100k has been reflected in the year end projection.

Corporate Property Management
On target

P
age 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board 

Date:  19th November 2014 

Subject: Capital Programme Quarter 2 Update 2014-2017 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. This report sets out the latest capital programme position for both the General Fund 
and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).   

2. The Council continues to seek to deliver a large and ambitious capital programme 
across the city which will provide improved facilities and infrastructure and which 
supports the Leeds economy, whilst ensuring the impact on debt costs within the 
revenue budget is managed.   

3. Whilst the capital programme remains affordable in 2014/15, an ongoing  review will 
consider the continued affordability of debt costs in future years in the context of: 
planned expenditure and the best council plan priorities; projections on interest 
rates; and the continued strength of the Council’s balance sheet to fund capital 
spend. Scheme phasing will continue to be monitored to ensure that it is accurate 
and realistic.  

4. The HRA programme remains affordable over the next 3 years. 
5. Major schemes continue to progress, albeit with lower than expected spend, with no 

significant concerns to report at this stage.  
 

Recommendations 
 
Executive Board is requested to : 
 
1. Note the latest position at period 6 on the General Fund and HRA capital 

programmes; 
 

 Report author:  Bhupinder Chana 

Tel:  0113 3951332 

Page 147

Agenda Item 13



 

 

2. Note the net increase in the General Fund and HRA Capital Programme 2014-
 2018 of £156.2m since Quarter 1 largely due to additional funding allocations such 
as 2 years of estimated Basic Need grant £38m, LCC funded Annual Programmes 
up to 2017/18 of £38.4m supported by £2.6m adaptations grant, Council Housing 
Investment Programme £28m; Social Care and Health Fund £25m; Highways 
schemes £9m, Green Deal Community fund £5m; Customer access phase 2 £5m; 
Other various schemes £5m including the capital receipts incentive scheme £375.1k 
and the Airborough One Stop Centre relocation £175k. 

 
3. Note that the borrowing required to fund the Capital Programme in 2014/15 has 

 reduced by a further £15.5m since the Quarter 1 update, therefore the Capital 
Programme remains affordable within the approved debt budget for 2014/15, and 
that further work is underway through the quarterly reviews to ensure that future 
debt costs are maintained within the overall Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 
4. Note the funding package for the South Bank Connectivity proposals at para 3.2.5 

which also appear in a separate report to this board; 
 
5. Approve the injection into the capital programme of the following: 
 

• £38,400.0k funded LCC annual programmes up to 2017/18 supported by 
£2,570.0k CLG grant for adaptations as detailed at appendix B;  

• £37,800.0k funded by estimated Basic Need grant to contribute to the delivery 
of additional school places across the city, as detailed in paragraph – see 
3.2.3; 

• £8,612.0k funded by Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) to deliver a 
programme of newbuild and acquisitions to our Council Housing Growth 
Programme, as detailed in paragraph – see 3.2.1; 

• £375.1k in relation to Capital Receipts to be utilised by Ward Councillors  
 under the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) as detailed at appendix 
 C; 

• £175.0k ringfenced receipt for Aireborough One Stop Centre relocation to 
 Yeadon Library. 

6. The above decision to inject funding will be implemented by, Chief Officer (Financial 
Services).   

1.  Purpose of this report 

1.1. The purpose of the report is to provide Members with an update on the capital 
programme position as at period 6, the end of September 2014.  The report 
includes an analysis of major changes and progress on schemes within the capital 
programme since the Quarter 1 update, an analysis of the impact any changes in 
capital resources may have on the cost of borrowing within the revenue budget as 
the key control of capital investment. The report also provides a brief update of 
progress on major schemes within the programmes objectives and seeks some 
specific approvals in relation to funding injections for specific schemes.  

Page 148



 

 

2. Background information 

2.1. The Capital Programme approved by Council in February 2014 projected 
expenditure of £895.2m from 2014/15 to 2017/18.  This included borrowing of 
£349.1m over the period, including £119.2m in 2014/15.  The cost of financing this 
borrowing was included in the debt budget also approved in February. 

2.2. In July 2014 the Quarter 1 capital programme update  was presented to Executive 
Board. This highlighted that the forecast expenditure for 2014/15 had increased 
from £342.3m as reported in February, to £370.0m in July 2014. The 2014-18 
Capital Programme increased from £895.2m in February to £935.9m in July 2014 
taking account of the outturn position and injections to the programme within that 
period. 

 

3. Capital Programme 

3.1. Capital Programme Latest Position 

3.1.1. A review of the capital programme took place after Quarter 1 specifically looking at 
the schemes funded from LCC resources, reviewing the capacity to deliver the 
current programme and  reprioritising existing resources ensuring the programme 
contributes to the delivery of the Best Council Plan.   

3.1.2. Whilst the quarter one review found that there was limited savings within the 
programme it does provide us with the confidence that the work carried out in 
previous years shows we have a more realistic priority based programme. The 
injections into the programme in the main continue to be fully funded (either by 
external resources or departmental prudential borrowing), and meet with our 
aspiration not to increase the level of debt. The quarter one review together with the 
3 months to September has now slipped £22.2m of Corporate borrowing out of the 
three year programme into 2017/18. With the spend to period 6 still being low  there 
is further scope for slippage within 2014/15 which will be drawn out within the next 
review in the coming months.      

3.1.3. The General Fund capital programme currently stands at £813.3m for the period 
2014/15 up to 2017/18.  It provides for investment in improved facilities and 
infrastructure and also has an impact on the Leeds economy through supporting 
jobs and income and business generated throughout the city.  The HRA capital 
programme currently provides for capital investment of £278.8m for the 4 years 
2014/15 through to 2017/18.   

3.1.4. The current overall forecast postion is set out in appendix A. This shows an 
increase in the level of borrowing required to fund the capital programme of £70.6m 
from £352.6m to £423.2m since quarter one. This is mainly due to the injection of 
the annual programmes (full annual programmes shown at appendix B) up to 
2017/18 of £40.2m funded corporately and the injection of £30.4m departmental 
borrowing including the £25m for the Social Care and Health Fund.  

 
 

Page 149



 

 

 

3.1.5. The latest capital programme resources position for General Fund and HRA in 
2014/15 is shown in Table 1 below. 

Table 1 - Capital Resources Position

Qtr 1  Report Latest Var

£m £m £m

Forecast Expenditure 370.0 333.7 (36.3)

Funded By;

Government Grants 136.3 135.2 (1.1)

Other Grants & Contributions 22.1 22.2 0.1

Borrowing - Corporate 108.9 92.5 (16.4)

Borrowing - Departmental 16.6 17.5 0.9

Revenue / Reserves 17.1 8.2 (8.9)

HRA Self Financing 69.0 58.1 (10.9)

Total Forecast Resources 370.0 333.7 (36.3)

2014/15

 

3.1.6. Table 1 details current projected resources in 2014/15 of £333.7m a reduction of 
£36.3m on the previous quarter 1 projected spend. Graph 1 shows that the rate of 
actual spend as a percentage of total in year spend in Quarter 2 is on a par with 
2013/14 but lower than in previous years.  Whilst the quarter one review made in 
roads to reducing the forecast expenditure in 2014/15 the programme spend to date 
is still at a level that would point to the current projection being unlikely to be 
achieved in 2014/15.  

Graph 1: Percentage spend rates per quarter 

 

 

Page 150



 

 

3.1.7. The cost of funding the capital programme remains affordable and within the agreed 
2014/15 debt budget.  However, based upon current levels and phasing of the 
capital programme debt costs are projected to increase by £2m in 15/16 and a 
further £4.9m in 16/17.  In the current year we are projecting savings of £1.1m at 
period 6. These projections will continue to be adjusted for changes in the level of 
borrowing required to fund the capital programme, interest rates and the continued 
strength of the Councils balance sheet.  The affordability of debt will continue to be 
monitored and assessed in the context of the medium term financial plan.  

3.2. Progress on Major Schemes and Scheme Specific Approvals 

This section provides an update of progress on major schemes within both the 
General Fund and the HRA and provides details on any specific scheme approvals 
that are required.  Whilst spend on these schemes remains low, they continue to 
progress with no major concerns to report at this stage.  Scheme updates are 
grouped under objective headings. 

 

3.2.1. Improving our Assets 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  
 
Council Housing Growth Programme With the confirmation of a further £8.6m 
from the HCA in July 2014 which will be injected within this report the programme 
has now increased to £81.4m and has a number of strands within it: new build 
properties; purchase of new properties from developers and the acquisition and 
refurbishment of long term empty properties to bring them back into use as council 
housing.  The empty homes programme has commenced with 11 long term empty 
properties purchased from the initial programme of 20 with a larger programme of 
100 acquisitions commencing in the new year. Newbuild delivery has commenced - 
the first new build site at East End Park is now under construction and will deliver 
32 properties; whilst the development of an Extra Care housing scheme in Yeadon 
is to be submitted for a Reserved Matters planning application in November. The 
next tranche of new build sites at The Garnets in Beeston; Broadlees in Bramley 
and the Squinting Cat Swarcliffe are being designed. A further 4 sites are at design 
feasibility stage and there are additional sites that will be developed via the 
Brownfield Land programme. The acquisition of the first new properties “off plan” 
from a developer has been agreed and these 23 new properties at Thorn Walk 
Gipton are under construction and will be ready for handover in December.  New 
development will reflect the Leeds Standard in delivering high quality new homes. 
 
Council Housing Refurbishment Programme – For 2014/15 Housing Leeds are 
now delivering a revised programme of works estimated at £66.1m with planned 
works estimated at £51.2m and responsive works estimated at £14.9m. BITMO are 
delivering their refurbishment programme of £2.9m. 
 
General Fund 
 
Changing the Workplace –  Significant work has progressed to take staff through 
new ways of working and move them out of merrion house to interim 
accommodation as part of phase 1. A plan has been agreed with directorates and 

Page 151



 

 

the intention is for merrion to be vacated by spring 2015. The business case review 
is currently being worked through and will be reported to a future Executive Board. 
 

3.2.2. Investing in Major Infrastructure 

Flood Alleviation – Progress continues in line with programme, with early flood 
defence work at Woodlesford completed in July ’14 and the main works contract for 
£22.8m awarded in September ’14. An Enhancement Development Plan has been 
implemented to identify a mechanism for maximising the available funding for the 
project, whilst seeking additional funding contributions, to provide a fully holistic 
scheme which enhances the City’s waterfront as well as improving flood defences. 
 
A58 Leeds Inner Ring Road – The £25m Leeds Inner Ring Road Essential 
Maintenance Scheme is progressing and work has settled into a consistent pattern. 
The majority of the risk items have happened or been worked out with other 
expected risks moved off the critical path. Work is expected to be complete late 
autumn 2015. 
 
East Leeds Orbital Road – The Strategic Business Case for East Leeds Orbital 
Road is progressing. Submission of this comprehensive justification exercise is 
programmed for January 2015. The Combined Authority will then undertake a 
formal review to determine if further resources from the West Yorkshire Transport 
Fund will be made available to progress the scheme further. 
 

 Kirkstall Forge Rail Growth – The main contract for the required Highway works 
 for this scheme was awarded at £5.8m on 26th September 2014, and the contractor 
 is due to start onsite on 27th October 2014, for a duration of approx 12 months. 

 
Cycle City Ambition – Design work continues to ensure that the project can be 
delivered within budget £21.2m. There is some concern with the capacity of 
contractors to be able to complete works by December 2015 and the effect this will 
have on maximising current funding streams. Tenders for 5 out of 7 areas of the 
route are currently being evaluated. 

Home Energy & Green Deal ECO schemes– The Leeds City Region Green Deal 
and ECO Scheme is currently in the final stage of procurement, although the project 
has been delayed due to changes in the funding regime for energy efficiency 
projects, this project has come in on budget and within the revised timetable.   

 
 The Green Deal Communities Fund attracted  £2.53 million of DECC funding to 
 Leeds, which will be added to with £1.03 million of ECO funding (from energy 
 companies) to deliver area based solid wall insulation to 406 households in Leeds.  
 This project is now delivering schemes in 6 areas of Leeds, parts of Hyde Park, The 
 Drive and surrounding estate in Kippax, parts of Cookridge and Adel and 
 Wharfedale, the Nowells Neighbourhood Challenge area and the in phase 2 of the 
 Cross Green regeneration area.  Approximately £101K of the fuel poverty fund has 
 currently been allocated which has resulted in energy efficiency improvements to 
 135 properties for vulnerable residents.   
 

Page 152



 

 

3.2.3. Supporting Service Provision 

 Basic Need – In September 2014, the Executive Board approved a report 
 submitted by  the Deputy Chief Executive, the Director of Children’s Services and 
 the Director of City Development which sought approval to the proposed 
 delegations necessary to adopt a programme approach to the delivery of school 
 places under the basic need programme. This proposal was designed to assist the 
 efficient delivery of the Basic need programme to enable the Council to react 
 promptly to changes in the local school population.  Basic Need plans have been 
 articulated for future years and as such, estimated grant allocations for 2017/18 and 
 2018/19 of £37.8m will be injected into the capital programme by EB within this 
 report.  

 
Social Care and Health Fund – At September 2014 Executve Board a specific 
fund to support Health and Social Care initiatives was set up with an injection of 
£25m into the capital programme. This followed a report considered by members 
earlier this year which highlighted the governments intention to create a Better Care 
Fund (BCF) which was set at £3.8 billion nationally. The aim of the BCF is to ensure 
that Health and Social Care becomes more integrated so that people have a more 
seamless experience of these types of care when they need it. Significant work has 
already been undertaken alongside colleagues from the 3 Clinical Commissioning 
Groups in the city to bring forward schemes designed to fulfil requirements set down 
in relation to the BCF.    

3.2.4. Investing in New Technology  

 Customer Access Phase 2 –  In September the Executive Board approved the 
 injection of £4.9M of prudential borrowing into the programme for a second phase 
 of the Transactional Web Services Project. Phase 1 is due to be completed 
 during this financial year.  The programme forms part of the wider business 
 improvement agenda and is delivering a portfolio of projects and work streams 
 which will transform the way the council delivers services and interfaces with 
 citizens to ensure that customers receive excellent services which are efficient and 
 effective and meet their needs. This will result in major improvements in the way 
 services are delivered to customers and provide significant efficiency savings for 
 the council.  Phase 2 will focus on high volume / high impact services. 

3.2.5. Supporting the Leeds Economy 

Sovereign Street – is moving forward in phases. The first phase, the 65,000 sq ft 
office development is being delivered, which is due to be completed by the end of 
October. This will enable phase II to go on site which is the Council led green space 
scheme. The Council's green space scheme will see the creation of over 0.6 
hectares of new high quality green space created in the city centre. Works are 
programmed to commence on the 24th November, however if the works to the 
building are not completed quickly there could be a delay until January. The 
intention is for the fit out to take place during the first half of 2015 so that both the 
green space and the office are finally completed at the same time.  

Victoria Gate Development –  The acquisition of a number of properties under the 
Eastgate and Harewood CPO ringfenced land arrangements to deliver the Victoria 

Page 153



 

 

Gate development have taken place. The major scheme is on site and acquisitions 
to date are £8.7m from the £9.6m approved scheme.  

Kirgate Market - A preffered contractor has been appointed to undertake the 
proposed improvement and refurbishment works at Kirkgate Market under a two 
stage develop and construct approach on the £13.1m scheme.  

South Bank Connectivity – The revitalisation of the Leeds Dock (formerly 
Clarence Dock), is a key component of the regeneration of the South Bank and the 
continued growth of the city centre to help achieve the city’s vision to be the Best 
City. Proposals are set out in a report included on this boards agenda. A funding 
package will be put together to deliver the public realm works which includes an 
existing £50k from the Economic Development programme together with private 
sector contributions of £94k. A contribution of £25k from our Local Transport plan 
allocation will be put towards the cycling and bus stop provision to complement the 
£150k City Connect scheme. Funding will also be allocated from the S106 Public 
Transport contributions to support public transport provision from the railway station 
to Leeds Dock.  

3.2.6. Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme 

The establishment of a Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) was approved by 
Executive Board in October 2011.  The key feature of the scheme is that 20% of 
each receipt generated will be retained locally for re-investment, subject to a 
maximum per receipt of £100k, with 15% retained by the respective Ward and 5% 
pooled across the Council and distributed to Wards on the basis of need.   

Some receipts are excluded from the scheme and these are largely receipts that are 
already assumed to fund the Council’s budget or are earmarked in some other way 
to previous or future spend. 

To date £990k of injections for capital receipts available under CRIS have been 
approved up to September 2013. The Quarter 1 update in July 2013 approved the 
principle that the 5% allocation pooled across all wards be allocated to the Area 
Committees based on the existing Area Wellbeing needs based formula. Up to 
September 2014 a further £375.1k of capital receipts has become available under 
CRIS. Appendix C details the additional allocations to wards and area committees 
up to the end of September 2014, and identifies the total resources available. 
Executive Board is requested to approve the injection of £375.1k into the Capital 
Programme.  

4. Economic Impact of the Capital Programme  

4.1. Members will recall that the February 2014 Capital Programme update included 
details of the Economic Impact Assessment of the Council’s capital programme 
investment on the Leeds economy. The current update at Quarter 2 states that in 
total, Leeds City Councils capital programme will support approximately 2000 jobs 
in 2014/15 and generate £123m Gross value added (GVA) for the city’s economy 
0.7% of the entire GVA of Leeds. Beyond Leeds our spending will support an 
additional 264 jobs and £11.8m GVA in the wider Leeds City Region.  

 

Page 154



 

 

5 Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

Consultation on the Council’s budget proposals, including the capital programme, 
took place prior to the finalisation and approval of the budget in February 2014.  
This report gives an update on progress within the approved capital programme.  
This report also seeks to inject funding for specific proposals for which the 
necessary consultations will take place when the individual schemes are 
implemented by services. 
 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration  

The capital programme sets out a plan of capital expenditure over future years and 
further spending decisions are taken in accordance with capital approval processes, 
as projects are developed.  This is when more detailed information will be available 
as to where in the city capital spending will be incurred and the impact on services, 
buildings and people. Service Directorates will include equality considerations as 
part of the rationale in determining specific projects from capital budgets. 

5.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

Capital objectives were set out as part of the February 2014 budget process and the 
capital programme approved in February 2014 is structured to show schemes under 
these objectives. 

5.4 Resources and value for money 

5.4.1 The resource implications of this report are detailed in section 3.1 above.  For the 
capital programme to be sustainable, the Deputy Chief Executive must be satisfied 
that the cost of borrowing currently included in the capital programme can be 
contained within the approved revenue debt budget.  The updated capital resources 
position statement set out in Appendix A shows that the cost of borrowing for 
2014/15 can currently be contained within the agreed 2014/15 debt budget.  

5.4.2 For HRA, the position confirmed in section 3 shows that expenditure can be 
managed within resources available.    

5.4.3 In order to ensure that schemes meet Council priorities and are value for money, 
the Deputy Chief Executive has put processes in place to ensure: 

• the introduction of new schemes into the capital programme will only take 
place after completion and approval of a full business case and identification 
of the required resources;   

• promotion of best practice in capital planning and estimating to ensure that 
scheme estimates and programmes are realistic; 

• the use of departmental unsupported borrowing for spend to save schemes 
is based on individual business cases and in the context of identifying the 
revenue resources to meet the borrowing costs. 

5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

Page 155



 

 

The recommendations in this report are available for call in and there are no other 
legal implications arising from this report. 

5.6 Risk Management 

5.6.1 One of the main risks in managing the capital programme is that insufficient 
resources are available to fund the programme.  As the capital programme is now 
fully funded this risk lays within the treasury management of the debt budget.  
Monthly monitoring procedures are in place for expenditure, resources and capital 
receipts and debt monitoring to ensure that this risk can be managed effectively. 

5.6.2 In addition, the following measures are in place: 

• ensuring written confirmation of external funding is received prior to 
contractual commitments being entered into 

• provision of a contingency within the capital programme to deal with 
unforeseen circumstances 

• compliance with both financial regulations and contract procedure rules to 
ensure the Council’s position is protected. 

5.6.3 Given the aspiration not to increase the level of debt, only new schemes that are 
fully funded (either by external resources or departmental prudential borrowing), or 
are essential (under health and safety grounds or in order to ensure Council assets 
are maintained for continued service provision) should be injected in the 
programme.   

6 Conclusions 

6.1 The Council continues to seek to deliver a substantial capital programme across the 
city which will deliver improved facilities and infrastructure and also support the 
Leeds economy. 

6.2 The report concludes that the capital resources position statement shows an 
increase in the level of borrowing required to fund the 2014-18 capital programme of 
£70.6m since quarter 1. This is mainly due to the injection of the annual 
programmes up to 2017/18 £40.2m funded corporately and the injection of £30.4m 
departmental borrowing including the £25m for the Social Care and Health Fund. 
The cost of borrowing for 2014/15 can currently be contained within the agreed debt 
budget. 

6.3 Spend on schemes is lower than anticipated at period 6.  A further review of current 
scheme profiles and capacity to deliver the capital programme will be undertaken in 
the next two months and will be reported back to Members in the 2015/16 capital 
programme update in February 2015. 

6.4 For HRA, forecast expenditure can be contained within available resources in 
2014/15. 

 

 

Page 156



 

 

7 Recommendations  

Executive Board is requested to: 

7.1 Note the latest position at period 6 on the General Fund and HRA Capital 
programmes;  

7.2  Note the net increase in the General Fund and HRA Capital Programme 2014-
 2018 of £156.2m since Quarter 1 largely due to additional funding allocations such 
 as 2 years of estimated Basic Need grant £38m, LCC funded Annual Programmes 
 £38.4m up to 2017/18 supported by £2.6m adaptations grant, Council Housing 
 Investment Programme £28m; Social Care and Health Fund £25m; Highways 
 schemes £9m, Green Deal Community fund £5m; Customer access phase 2 £5m; 
 Other various schemes £5m including the capital receipts incentive scheme 
 £375.1k and the Airborough One Stop Centre relocation £175k; 

7.3 Note that the Corporate borrowing required to fund the Capital Programme in 
2014/15 has reduced by a further £15.5m from Q1 to Q2, therefore the Capital 
Programme is affordable within the approved debt budget for 2014/15, and that 
further work is underway through the quarterly reviews to ensure that future debt 
costs are maintained within the overall Medium Term Financial Plan; 

7.4 Note the funding package for the South Bank Connectivity proposals at para 3.2.5 
which also appear in a separate report to this board;  

7.5 Approve the injection into the capital programme of the following: 

• £38,400.0k funded LCC annual programmes up to 2017/18 supported by 
£2,570.0k CLG grant for adaptations as detailed at appendix B;  

• £37,800.0k funded by estimated Basic Need grant to contribute to the delivery 
of additional school places across the city, as detailed in paragraph 3.2.3; 

• £8,612.0k funded by Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) to deliver a 
programme of newbuild and acquisitions to our Council Housing Growth 
Programme, as detailed in paragraph 3.2.1; 

• £375.1k in relation to Capital Receipts to be utilised by Ward Councillors  
 under the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) as detailed in paragraph 
 3.2.6 appendix C; 

• £175.0k ringfenced receipt for Aireborough One Stop Centre relocation to 
 Yeadon Library. 

7.6 The above decision to inject funding will be implemented by, Chief Officer (Financial 
Services).   

 

 

 

Page 157



 

 

Appendices 

A – Capital Programme Funding Statement 

B – Annual Programmes Funding Statement 

C – Capital Receipts Incentive  Scheme (CRIS) Funding Statement 

 

Background documents1  

None 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 

unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 158



 

 

APPENDIX  A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME RESOURCE STATEMENT 2014/15 TO 2017/on 30/09/2014

Actual 

Spend to 

period 6 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/On Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EXPENDITURE

GENERAL FUND (GF)

IMPROVING OUR ASSETS 16,527.2 68,645.6 70,892.8 51,686.7 52,852.6 244,077.7

INVESTING IN MAJOR INFRASTRUCTURE 9,709.0 41,949.1 59,511.5 22,298.4 7,392.2 131,151.2

SUPPORTING SERVICE PROVISION 19,714.0 73,287.0 63,814.7 62,889.4 58,401.4 258,392.5

INVESTING IN NEW TECHNOLOGY 3,217.8 18,331.7 9,347.8 4,600.0 5,671.8 37,951.3

SUPPORTING THE LEEDS ECONOMY 7,926.8 36,221.1 22,446.8 19,900.9 5,646.3 84,215.1

CENTRAL & OPERATIONAL EXPENDITURE 3,785.6 18,294.7 12,156.2 11,751.4 15,314.6 57,516.9

60,880.4 256,729.2 238,169.8 173,126.8 145,278.9 813,304.7

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

IMPROVING OUR ASSETS 21,851.3 77,001.3 94,704.4 96,629.8 10,446.1 278,781.6

21,851.3 77,001.3 94,704.4 96,629.8 10,446.1 278,781.6

82,731.7 333,730.5 332,874.2 269,756.6 155,725.0 1,092,086.3

RESOURCES

GENERAL FUND (GF)

Specific Resources

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 133,729.6 119,611.3 64,859.7 49,781.9 367,982.5

CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER GRANTS 12,777.9 4,571.2 1,383.2 3,160.8 21,893.1

Corporate Resources

BORROWING 110,017.8 113,978.7 106,883.9 92,336.2 423,216.6

RCCO / RESERVES 203.9 8.6 0.0 0.0 212.5

256,729.2 238,169.8 173,126.8 145,278.9 813,304.7

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

Specific Resources

HRA SELF FINANCING 58,135.7 77,849.8 64,024.3 0.0 200,009.8

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 1,440.0 3,121.0 6,066.0 0.0 10,627.0

CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER GRANTS 9,440.7 5,804.2 0.0 0.0 15,244.9

RCCO / RESERVES 7,984.9 7,929.4 6,985.6 0.0 22,899.9

UNSUPPORTED BORROWING 0.0 0.0 19,553.9 10,446.1 30,000.0

77,001.3 94,704.4 96,629.8 10,446.1 278,781.6

333,730.5 332,874.2 269,756.6 155,725.0 1,092,086.3TOTAL CAPITAL RESOURCES REQUIRED (GF & HRA)

TOTAL GF

TOTAL HRA

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND (GF & HRA)

RESOURCES REQUIRED FOR GF

RESOURCES REQUIRED FOR HRA

 

 

Page 159



 

 

Appendix B
LCC FUNDED ANNUAL PROGRAMMES

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Total

Type of 

Borrowing Scheme Name £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

LCC Highways Maintenance -10,000 -10,000 -10,000 -10,000 -40,000

LCC General Capitalisation -4,400 -4,400 -4,400 -4,400 -17,600

LCC Adaptations - Disabled Facilities Grants -3,930 -3,930 -3,930 -3,930 -15,720

LCC Vehicle Programme -5,000 -5,710 -6,042 -3,000 -19,752

LCC Essential Services Programme ( USB ) -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -2,700 -11,700

LCC Highways maintenance capitalisations -1,500 -1,500 -1,500 -1,500 -6,000

LCC Corporate  Property Maintenance -1,500 -1,500 -1,500 -1,500 -6,000

LCC Essential Services Programme Staffing -1,200 -1,200 -1,200 -1,200 -4,800

LCC General Refurbishment Schools -1,200 -1,200 -1,000 -1,000 -4,400

LCC Demolition -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -4,000

LCC Heritage Assets -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -2,000 -5,000

USB Library Books -700 -700 -700 -700 -2,800

LCC Capital Programme Management -600 -600 -600 -600 -2,400

LCC Sports Maintenance -500 -500 -500 -500 -2,000

LCC Adaptation to Private Homes -400 -400 -400 -400 -1,600

LCC Capitalisation Interest -300 -300 -300 -300 -1,200

LCC Civic Hall Backlog Maintenance -250 -250 -250 -250 -1,000

LCC Traffic Management Programme -200 -200 -200 -200 -800

LCC Project Support Fund - Groundwork -70 -70 -70 -70 -280

Annual Programmes LCC funding only -36,750 -37,460 -37,592 -35,250 -147,052

GRANT Adaptations - Disabled Facilities Grants -2,570 -2,570

Annual Programmes LCC with Grant -36,750 -37,460 -37,592 -37,820 -149,622

Total Annual Programme Injections at quarter 2 -4,400 -36,570 -40,970  

 

Page 160



 

 

 Additional CRIS Injections to WBI & Area Committees and Total Balance Available Appendix C

WBI Allocations (to Ward)
Wards Initial WBI 

Allocation 

from 2008

CRIS Injection 

To Nov 2013     

15% WBI

CRIS Injection 

Sept 2014     

15% WBI

Total CRIS 

Injection

Total WBI 

Allocation

Spent to date 

(as at 

21/10/2014)

Total Balance 

Available 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

ADEL AND WHARFEDALE 40,000 32,748 0 32,748 72,748 40,000 32,748

ALWOODLEY 40,000 0 75,000 75,000 115,000 33,991 81,009

ARDSLEY AND ROBIN HOOD 40,000 6,268 13,236 19,505 59,505 25,141 34,363

ARMLEY 40,000 12,035 0 12,035 52,035 14,166 37,869

BEESTON AND HOLBECK 40,000 16,597 3,228 19,825 59,825 30,000 29,825

BRAMLEY AND STANNINGLEY 40,000 26,578 1,933 28,511 68,511 40,697 27,814

BURMANTOFTS AND RICHMOND HILL 40,000 5,471 5,597 11,068 51,068 45,471 5,597

CALVERLEY AND FARSLEY 40,000 31,811 0 31,811 71,811 62,906 8,905

CHAPEL ALLERTON 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0

CITY AND HUNSLET 40,000 3,750 2,956 6,705 46,705 3,000 43,705

CROSSGATES AND WHINMOOR 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 28,390 11,610

FARNLEY AND WORTLEY 40,000 30,697 0 30,697 70,697 38,707 31,990

GARFORTH AND SWILLINGTON 40,000 9,355 3,206 12,561 52,561 49,355 3,206

GIPTON AND HAREHILLS 40,000 42,547 44,167 86,714 126,714 43,683 83,031

GUISELEY AND RAWDON 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0

HAREWOOD 40,000 0 51,623 51,623 91,623 40,000 51,623

HEADINGLEY 40,000 176,588 0 176,588 216,588 94,194 122,394

HORSFORTH 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0

HYDE PARK AND WOODHOUSE 40,000 118,374 42,940 161,314 201,314 15,484 185,830

KILLINGBECK AND SEACROFT 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0

KIPPAX AND METHLEY 40,000 6,917 3,889 10,805 50,805 38,740 12,065

KIRKSTALL 40,000 34,775 7,595 42,370 82,370 33,483 48,887

MIDDLETON PARK 40,000 25,445 0 25,445 65,445 44,170 21,275

MOORTOWN 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 39,174 826

MORLEY NORTH 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 32,467 7,533

MORLEY SOUTH 40,000 0 5,062 5,062 45,062 39,215 5,848

OTLEY AND YEADON 40,000 3,611 0 3,611 43,611 43,605 6

PUDSEY 40,000 84,847 0 84,847 124,847 30,614 94,233

ROTHWELL 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0

ROUNDHAY 40,000 0 18,010 18,010 58,010 37,693 20,317

TEMPLE NEWSAM 40,000 0 2,931 2,931 42,931 20,790 22,141

WEETWOOD 40,000 74,132 0 74,132 114,132 40,000 74,132

WETHERBY 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 39,995 5

1,320,000 742,545 281,373 1,023,917 2,343,917 1,245,130 1,098,788

Area Committee Wellbeing (ACW) Allocations (to Area)
Area Percentage CRIS Injection 

To Nov 2013

CRIS Injection 

Sept 2014
Total CRIS 

Injection

Spent to date Balance on 

ACW CRIS

5% AWB 5% AWB 5% AWB

£ £ £ £ £

Inner South 0 30,932 11,721 42,653 0 42,653

Outer South 0 25,321 9,595 34,916 0 34,916

Outer East 0 25,518 9,670 35,187 0 35,187

Inner West 0 18,835 7,137 25,972 0 25,972

Inner North West 0 29,701 11,254 40,955 10,000 30,955

Outer West 0 21,250 8,052 29,302 1,957 27,345

Outer North West 0 22,173 8,402 30,575 0 30,575

Inner North East 0 22,293 8,447 30,740 0 30,740

Inner East 0 36,063 13,665 49,728 1,800 47,928

Outer North East 0 15,430 5,847 21,277 2,000 19,277

Totals = 1 247,515 93,791 341,306 15,757 325,549

Total Injection required up to September 2014 £375,100  

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th November 2014 

Subject: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY UPDATE 2014/15 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?  Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. This report provides a review and update of the treasury management strategy for 
2014/15.   

 
2. The Council’s level of external debt as at 31st March 2015 is anticipated to be £1,443m, 

£102m lower than approved in February 2014. This lower forecast borrowing 
requirement is as a result of a review of the capital programme and higher revenue 
balances than anticipated which have been used in lieu of external borrowing.  The level 
of debt is expected to remain within the Authorised Limit for external debt as agreed by 
Council on 14th February 2014. 

 
3. Monitoring of money and financial markets has resulted in forecast revenue savings of 

£1.1m.  This saving is largely due to continuing to fund the borrowing requirement from 
short term loans at historic low rates and internal cash balances.    

 
4. The investment of surplus monies will continue to have due regard for security of capital 

in accordance with the Council’s approved investment strategy. 
 

Recommendations 

5. That the Executive Board note the update on the Treasury Management borrowing and 
investment strategy for 2014/15.  

 

 

 

 

 Report author:  B Chana 

Tel:  51332 

Page 163

Agenda Item 14



1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The 2014/15 treasury management strategy was approved by Executive Board on 14th 
February 2014.  This report provides a review and update of the strategy for 2014/15. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The operation of the Treasury Management function is governed by provisions set out 
under part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 whereby the Council is required to have 
regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (amended 2009 and 2011) in 
particular: 

• The Prudential Code requires that full Council set certain limits on the 
level and type of borrowing before the start of the financial year together 
with a number of prudential indicators.   

• Any in year revision of these limits must be set by Council. 
• Policy statements are prepared for approval by the Council at least three 

times a year.  
 
3 Main issues 

3.1 Review of Strategy 2014/15 

3.1.1 The current borrowing forecasts are shown in Table 1 

Table 1  

 

 

2014/15 

Feb 14

2014/15

This

Report Report

£m £m

1,490 1,393

131 110

0 0

(48) (47)

(28) (13)

1,545 1,443

Capital Financing Requirement 1,838

Long term borrowing Fixed 1,404 1,297

Variable (less than 1 Year) 110 50
New Borrowing 55 50

0 63

1,569 1,460

24 17

1,545 1,443

11% 11%

Note: The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is the maximum level of debt (i.e.

borrowing PFI and finance leasing) that the Council can hold for its current year capital purposes. The

Council is also allowed to borrow in advance for up to two future years capital programmes. The

above reflects only the borrowing element of the CFR 

ANALYSIS OF BORROWING 2013/2014

Net Borrowing at 1 April
New Borrowing for the Capital Programme – Non HRA 

New Borrowing for the Capital Programme – HRA

% borrowing funded by short term and variable rate loans

Short term Borrowing

Total External Borrowing

Less Investments

Net External Borrowing

Debt redemption costs charged to Revenue (Incl HRA)

Reduced/(Increased) level of Revenue Balances

Net Borrowing at 31 March*

* Comprised as follows

Page 164



3.1.2 Table 1 above shows that 2013/14 net external borrowing is now forecast at £1,443m, 
£102m lower than in the report to Executive Board on 14th February 2014.  This lower 
forecast borrowing requirement is as a result of a review of the capital programme 
and higher revenue balances than anticipated which have been used in lieu of 
external borrowing.  The review of and update of the capital programme is considered 
in the half year update on the capital programme elsewhere on the agenda. 

3.1.3 The recovery which began to gather pace in 2013/14 has probably peaked in 2014/15 
and is likely to marginally slacken in 2015/16. Currently GDP growth is running at 
3.2% annualised following several successive quarters of good growth however 
headwinds are now beginning to be felt. Un-employment continues to fall and is now 
below 2 million yet labour productivity remains subdued and is still around 2008 
levels. This points to slack remaining in the economy and it remains a key indicator in 
the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) view on the timing and 
magnitude of future rate rises. A key concern for the UK economy is to rebalance the 
economy away from the consumer and towards exports as the growth in household 
income as measured by wage inflation is and remains stubbornly below inflation rates.    

3.1.4 Strong growth has had an impact on government debt forecasts reducing these by 
£73bn as announced in the 2013 Autumn statement and a further £24bn in March 
2014 budget however monthly public sector deficit figures have so far disappointed in 
2014/15 . The UK Bank Rate remained at 0.5% and quantitative easing also stayed at 
£375bn.  In October, the MPC forward guidance has changed emphasis and is not 
geared solely towards unemployment but to a broad basket of 18 indicators all aimed 
at determining how much slack remains in the economy. 

3.1.5 In the US the Federal Reserve asset purchases continue to be reduced on a monthly 
basis and the former $85bn of monthly purchases is likely to cease entirely in October 
2014. Japan’s economy remains weak with both consumer expenditure and growth 
now at (minus) -7.1% annualised.  China’s economy continues to grow at close to the 
target of 7.5% annualised although concerns continue to linger around the 
creditworthiness of bank lending to corporates and local government in the period 
post 2008. 

3.1.6 The Eurozone continues to edge towards a deflationary spiral with average inflation 
for the region approaching 0% and individual economies actually having negative 
inflation rates. The European Central Bank has responded by cutting the benchmark 
rate to 0.05% and the deposit rate to (minus) -0.2% as well as instigating a program of 
corporate debt purchases, full QE may be imminent although the German position on 
this is unclear. The ghost of sovereign debt issues remains particularly for southern 
EU nations and this therefore remains a concern. 

3.1.7 Overall risks to economic recovery in the UK is weighted to the downside as 
headwinds both domestic and internationally remain. Ukraine, Middle East tensions 
are of concern as is the prospect of weaker growth in UK, US and China all remain 
drivers of safe haven flows. The lack of action on addressing Eurozone Sovereign 
debt issues, and the unpopularity of austerity programmes in parts of Europe notable 
in Italy remain big unanswered question marks. The recapitalisation of European 
banks continues and soon to be announced stress tests will be instructive as to how 
this process is progressing. The forecast for the first rise in interest rates continues to 
be HY1 2015 however this is subject to increasing uncertainty as headwinds continue 
to strengthen. Many of these headwinds will also affect the forecast for gilts and 
therefore PWLB rates and recent news has had the effect of driving down Gilt yields 
to 18 month lows. 

Page 165



3.1.8 Chart 1 shows how the cost of longer term borrowing from the Government through 
PWLB loans has performed since the start of the financial year.  The 5 year to 5½ 
Year PWLB has moved upwards from 2.99% at the start of the year to a high of 
3.17% in July before falling back to the current low of 2.62%.  Similarly, the 49½-50 
year PWLB has moved from a high of 4.46% to 3.91% now.  The Council is entitled to 
a reduction of 20bp on all PWLB rates reflecting eligibility for PWLB certainty rates.  

 Chart 1

  

  

3.1.9 Given the weaker outlook for economic growth, the prospects for any interest rate 
changes before early 2015 are limited.  There is potential for the start of Bank Rate 
increases to be even further delayed if growth disappoints.  The latest forecast of 
rates is shown in the following table.  

Table 2 

 

 

3.1.10 Expectations for the first change in Bank Rate in the UK are now dependent on an 
interpretation of how much excess capacity the MPC determines is in the economy 
based on a range of indicators and this now forms the basis of forward guidance from 
the MPC.  

3.1.11 The current borrowing strategy continues to fund the borrowing requirement of the 
capital programme from short dated loans and internal cash balances.  There will 
come a point when rates begin to rise and more expensive longer dated funding will 

Page 166



be required, even though this continues to be pushed further back as the economic 
outlook weakens.  No new long term loans have been acquired.  The Deputy Chief 
Executive will continue to monitor market dynamics with a view to securing longer 
term debt at the appropriate time.  

3.1.12 The strategy of defraying long term borrowing will increase the amount of debt that 
the Council is funding from short term loans and its balance sheet to a forecast 
£505m.  This exposure is considered manageable given historical capital programme 
slippage, the continued strength of the Council’s balance sheet and the market for 
supplying short term funds remaining strong.  These factors will continue to be 
monitored and should be considered in the context of the stability of the current debt 
maturity profile.  
 

3.1.13 The Council’s current long term debt of £1.347bn has an average maturity of nearly 
39 years if all its debt runs to maturity.  Approximately 33% of the Councils debt has 
options for repayment, in the unlikely event that all these options were exercised at 
the next option date then the average maturity of long term debt would be lowered to 
nearly 22 years.  This compares favourably with the average maturity of the UK’s 
government debt portfolio of just less than 15 years.  The existing profile of the 
Council’s debt provides considerable certainty of funding costs.  Prudential indicator 
16 in Appendix A shows the maturity profile of the Council’s long term fixed debt and 
highlights that 55% or £687m matures in periods greater than 10 years. 

 
3.1.14 Short term debt at low rates of interest and existing revenue balances continue to be 

used to fund the borrowing requirement which has resulted in forecast savings of 
£1.1m.   

3.2 Borrowing Limits for 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17 

3.2.1 The Council is required to set various limits for 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17 in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, having regard for CIPFA’s 
prudential code (as amended 2009 and 2011). These limits including prudential 
indicators are detailed in Appendix A.  

3.2.2 Borrowing limits for 2014/15 were approved by Council on 15th February 2014 and 
remain unchanged. It is anticipated that the authority will continue to remain within the 
Authorised Limits for 2014/15.  Both the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary 
are made up of a limit for borrowing and one for other long term liabilities and the 
Deputy Chief Executive has authority, under the Prudential Code,  to vary these two 
elements within the overall limits.  Current performance against borrowing limits is 
shown in Appendix B.  

3.3 Investment Strategy & Limits  

3.3.1 The Council’s external debt is reduced by the availability of revenue balances.  The 
Treasury policy also allows for the external investment of these balances at 
advantageous rates but with due regard for security of capital invested.  At present 
the Council’s surplus monies continue to be held in short periods until required.  As 
market sentiment to counter-party risk improves, together with enhanced returns 
surplus monies will be invested in accordance with the approved lending list.  This 
lending list is based upon the assessment of the financial standing of counterparties 
as determined by international credit rating agencies and further refined and updated 
by the Council’s advisors on a continual basis.  The lending list is often further 
restricted based upon the Council’s own view of the credit worthiness of counter-
parties. 

Page 167



3.3.2 The investment strategy, as re-affirmed by Executive Board and full Council in 
February, allows for the Council to invest in only the most highly rated financial 
institutions around the world.  The Council will only lend up to a maximum of £15m to 
financial institutions that are rated as excellent.  There is also a limit of £5m for 
financial institutions that are rated as very good.   

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 This report is an update on strategy as presented to Executive Board in February 
2014, as such no consultation has taken place.  However, consultation with the 
Council’s treasury advisors takes place regularly throughout the year.  

4.1.2 The borrowing requirement is an outcome of the capital programme.  Consultation is 
undertaken by individual services in relation to capital investment schemes.  A capital 
programme update report is included elsewhere on this agenda. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration requirements are addressed as part of 
individual capital scheme and programme approvals.  The borrowing to deliver these 
capital schemes is executed through treasury strategy and as such there are no 
further equality diversity cohesion and integration issues.   

4.3 Council Policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 Treasury Management strategy secures funding to support the Council’s Policies and 
City Priorities as set out in the Council capital programme and is consistent with the 
Council’s business plan. 

4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 This update on the treasury strategy recognises the borrowing necessary to fund the 
capital programme requirements of both General Fund and HRA.  Where borrowing is 
supported the revenue costs are met by the Government, whilst for unsupported 
borrowing revenue costs are met either by the General Fund or HRA.   

4.4.2 The updated strategy 2014/15 is forecast to deliver savings of £1.1m against the 
budgeted position. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no legal, or access to information issues arising from this report.  The report 
is subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 This report sets out the framework for the treasury strategy for the year ahead.  The 
execution of strategy and associated risks are kept under regular review through: 

• Monthly reports to the Finance Performance Group 

• Quarterly strategy meeting with the Deputy Chief Executive and the 
Council’s treasury advisors 

Page 168



• Regular market, economic and financial instrument updates and access to 
real time market information 

• Treasury management meetings with the Core Cities and West Yorkshire 
Districts. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 The Council’s level of external debt at 31st March 2015 is anticipated to be £1,443m, 
£102m lower than expectations in February 2014.   

5.2 Treasury Management activity has enabled revenue savings of £1.1m.  This is largely 
due to funding the Council’s borrowing requirement from short-term loans at historic 
low rates and internal cash balances, in lieu of more expensive longer term funding at 
much higher rates.  

5.3 It is anticipated that the authority will remain within the approved limits for 2014/15 as 
outlined in Table 4 and paragraph 3.2.2.   

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board are asked to note the update on Treasury Management borrowing 
and investment strategy for 2014/15. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless 
they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published 
works. Page 169



Appendix A

Leeds City Council - Prudential Indicators 2014/15 - 2016/17

No. PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

(1).  EXTRACT FROM BUDGET AND RENT SETTING REPORTS

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

1     General Fund - Excluding DSG (Note1) 13.16% 13.69% 14.67%

2       HRA 12.61% 11.76% 11.22%

Impact of Unsupported Borrowing on Council Tax & Housing Rents £ . P £ . P £ . P 

3      increase in council tax B7(band D, per annum) (Note 2) 15.35 60.31 102.47

4      increase in housing rent per week 0.00 0.00 10.27

5 Net Borrowing and the capital financing requirement (Note 3) OK OK OK

Estimate of total capital expenditure

6     Non HRA  256,954 238,295 173,127

7     HRA           75,854 94,704 96,630

    TOTAL     332,808 332,999 269,757

Capital Financing Requirement (as at 31 March) £'000 £'000 £'000

8     Non HRA 1,601,341 1,795,458 1,839,419

9     HRA 786,702 820,260 838,526

    TOTAL 2,388,043 2,615,718 2,677,945

9a Limit of HRA Indebtedness as implemented under self financing 721,327 721,327 721,327

No. PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

(2).  TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS £'000 £'000 £'000

10 Authorised limit for external debt - (Note 5)

    borrowing 1,900,000 1,900,000 1,900,000

    other long term liabilities 700,000 700,000 700,000

    TOTAL 2,600,000 2,600,000 2,600,000

11 Operational boundary - (Note 5)

     borrowing 1,760,000 1,760,000 1,760,000

     other long term liabilities 665,000 665,000 665,000

     TOTAL 2,425,000 2,425,000 2,425,000

14 Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure

     expressed as either:-

     Net principal re fixed rate borrowing / investments OR:- 115% 115% 115%

     Net interest re fixed rate borrowing / investments

15 Upper limit for variable rate exposure

     expressed as either:-

     Net principal re variable rate borrowing / investments OR:- 40% 40% 40%

     Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments

17 Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days (Note 5) 150,000 150,000 150,000

     (per maturity date)

18 Net Debt as a percentage of Gross debt 99% 100% 100%

16 Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing  as at 31/03/2015 Lower Limit Cumulative Projected

Upper Limit 31/03/2015

        under 12 months 0% 15% 0.71%

       12 months and within 24 months 0% 20% 8.39%

        24 months and within 5 years 0% 35% 24.48%

        5 years and within 10 years 0% 40% 10.86%

        10 years and within 20 years 3.54%

        20 years and within 30 years 0.00%

       30 years and within 40 years 24.19%

       40 years and within 50 years 27.82%

        50 years and above 0.00%

100%

Notes.

1 The indicator for the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for General Fund is now

calculated based on the Net Revenue Charge less the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The

Government changed the funding of education to DSG from 2006/07.

2 The code requires that the Council identifies the capital financing costs arising from unsupported

borrowing expressed as the amount per band D property.  

3 In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the

Council should ensure that net external borrowing does not exceed the total capital financing

requirement in the preceding year plus estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for

the current and next two financial years. This is a key indicator of prudence.

4 Prudential indicator 12 relates to actual external debt at 31st March, which will be reported in the

Treasury Management Annual Report.

5 Prudential indicator 13 relates to the adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury

Management. The Council formally adopted this Code of Practice in March 2003, and the revised code in

Frebruary 2010 and 2012

25% 90%

Page 170



 

 

Appendix B 

P
age 171



 

 

 

Page 172



 

Report of Directors of Public Health  & Adult Social Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th November 2014 

Subject: The Health and Social Care Financial Challenge in Leeds 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The health and social care system in Leeds is facing unprecedented financial 
challenges. These challenges are reflected across health and social care systems 
across the country as a result of the ongoing austerity measures, together with 
significant increases in demand for services, brought about by both an ageing 
population and the increased longevity of people living with one or more long term 
condition. These challenges were clearly set out from a national perspective in the 
NHS Five Year Forward View published by the Chief Executive of the NHS, Simon 
Stevens on 23rd October 2014.  In Leeds, we are facing these challenges whilst also 
trying to balance this with the ambitions to improve outcomes and quality and make 
Leeds the best city for Health and Wellbeing. 

2. To provide a context within which to address the above challenges the health and 
social care system in Leeds has developed the concept of the ‘Leeds £’. This 
represents a significant change in mind set, which moves away from individual health 
and social care organisations focussing on the most effective way to spend their own 
individual budgets, towards a focus on how these budgets can be best utilised 
collectively across the whole city to best meet the needs of the people of Leeds.  

3. As a result of work commissioned earlier this year, the financial challenge facing the 
Leeds £ was initially assessed as being in excess of £600m over the next 5 years. This 
work, undertaken by the NHS Commissioning Support Unit in conjunction with Ernst & 
Young, also estimated that the challenge in 2015/16 amounted to £64.1m. 

 Report author: Steve Hume 

Tel: 0113 24 78708 

Page 173

Agenda Item 15



 

4. The ambitious plans to develop and deliver a high quality and sustainable health and 
social care economy in Leeds, together with the development of a joint infrastructure of 
robust working arrangements and governance, were one of a number of reasons why 
Leeds were awarded ‘Pioneer’ status for Integrated Health and Social Care by the 
Department of Health. All health and social care Partners across Leeds have 
developed a joint vision and strategy through the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board.  
This agreed vision and strategy, together with the development of the necessary 
infrastructure to support its’ delivery, has led to better coordination of decision making, 
focussed on the delivery of the vision,  where partners are able to ensure that a holistic 
system wide approach to the impact of those decisions can be taken.  

5. This report provides further details of the key pieces of work currently being undertaken 
to both improve patient/service user pathways and to attempt to address the financial 
challenge.   

Recommendations 

6. Executive Board are asked to note the contents of this report and in particular: 

6.1. The scale of the financial challenge facing the Leeds’ health and social care 
economy; 

6.2. The approach taken by partners across the health and social care system to 
address this financial challenge; 

6.3. That a whole systems approach is being taken recognising that no one partner can 
either address the challenge or be left to face their challenge alone; 

6.4. That further measures (still to be determined and currently being discussed by 
partners) will need to be taken to fully address the financial challenge over the next 
5 years. 

6.5. That the Chief Officer Resources and Strategy for Adult Social Care is the 
Council’s responsible officer to implement the recommendation at 6.4 in 
collaboration with the Directors of Finance of all Health Partner Organisations 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report has been written to provide the Executive Board with an overview of 
the current state of the Leeds health and social care £, the financial challenge 
facing the Leeds health and social care economy and the measures that are 
currently being put in place to transform the system for the benefit of citizens in a 
way that is financially sustainable.   

 

2 Background information 

2.1 Leeds has an ambition to be internationally renowned for its excellent health and 
social care economy and a vision to be the best city in the UK for health and 

Page 174



 

wellbeing. The city faces many significant health and social care challenges 
commensurate with its size, diversity, urban density and history.  As a community 
we have set three key challenges in terms of sustainability, to: 

• Design services in line with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy to meet 
the needs of people, not organisations; 

• Bring the overall cost of health and social care in Leeds within affordability 
limits - transformation is required to reduce current costs; 

• Change the shape of health provision so that care is provided in the most 
appropriate setting. 

2.2 For the past two years, the health and social care community in Leeds has been 
working collectively towards creating an integrated system of care that seeks to 
wrap care and support around the needs of the individual, their family and carers 
and helps to deliver on our wider vision.   

2.3 To facilitate work to address these challenges we have developed the concept of 
the ‘Leeds Pound (£)’. This describes how to make the best use of collective 
resources across the health and social care system, taking shared responsibility 
for the financial challenge and to create a sustainable high quality health and 
social care system fit for both the current and the next generation. This will be 
achieved by having a clear vision for how the health and social care system needs 
to operate and how it will be experienced by patients in the future. It will be 
underpinned by a comprehensive and integrated five year commissioning and 
services plan. 

2.4 Leeds has a unique collection of assets which it can draw upon to face the 
challenges and achieve its ambition. These include three Universities, the largest 
teaching hospital in Europe, a thriving and engaged voluntary, community and 
independent sector, the geographical colocation of national bodies such as NHS 
England, The Health and Social Care Information Centre, The NHS Leadership 
Academy and excellent system leadership across health and social care. 

2.5 As a Pioneer, Leeds strives to be the Best City for Health and Wellbeing in the 
UK. Our vision is that Leeds will be a healthy and caring city for all ages, where 
people who are the poorest, improve their health the fastest.  As part of becoming 
the Best City, commissioners and providers have a shared ambition to create a 
sustainable, high quality health and social care system as reflected in the 
following joint statement. 

Page 175



 

 
 

Agreement for a high-quality health and social care system 
 

2.6 Partners across Leeds have developed a joint vision and strategy through the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Board.  This agreed vision and strategy, together with 
the development of the necessary infrastructure to support its’ delivery, has led to 
better coordination of decision making, focussed on the delivery of the vision,  
where partners are able to ensure that a holistic system wide approach to the 
impact of those decisions can be taken. The health and social care system is 

Page 176



 

incredibly complex system with many interdependencies. The arrangements put in 
place attempt to reduce the risk of the inevitable unintended consequences of 
decisions made by, and changes to, one part of the system upon other related 
parts of the system, that may be the responsibility of different organisations. 

2.7 The arrangements in place are shown in the following diagram which shows the 
different city-wide groups that make up the Transformation structure in Leeds, 
together with a brief description of the priority work streams designed to transform 
the way that health and care are delivered in Leeds.  

 

Elective Care - Programme focusing on transforming elective care across health 
and social care. Transformation will be across all elective care specialties, but 
immediate focus would be on areas of high spend (absolute and compared with 
other economies) and on pathways where there are presently poor or unproven 
clinical outcomes.  Transformation of elective care may focus on; joint decision 
making with patients, provision of services in a community setting and reducing 
dependence on hospital outpatients.  

Adult Integrated Care and Prevention - Prevention and optimisation of 
management of patients with long term conditions, frail elderly, end-of-life, dementia 
and multiple comorbidities. Includes optimisation of identification and application of 
evidence based frameworks for management of conditions.  

Urgent Care - Programme focusing on urgent care arrangements. Links with 
optimising of LTC programme, but also targets urgent care for those not in those 

Page 177



 

groups. Will include use of Accident and Emergency, ambulances and Out Of Hours 
provision of primary care.  

Effective Admission and Discharge - Integrated management of patients to 
reduce dependence on secondary care beds. Programme will focus on; preventing 
admission from A&E, early supported discharge, appropriate discharge and 
prevention of re-admissions.  

Growing up in Leeds (Children’s) – This programme is being developed from the 
on-going children’s programme of work. We have identified specific groups of 
children and young people where we will focus our commissioning efforts to 
improve outcomes over the next few years. These are children in the Care system 
and Care Leavers, children with complex need and disability (including SEN needs) 
and children and young people with emotional and mental health needs.  

Non Clinical Support Systems i.e. Good and Support Services, Informatics, 
Workforce etc - Programme considering the provision of services not directly 
related to care, plus non-pay spend that supports care. The focus will be on 
generating savings from estates, and from procurement of goods and services 
across the economy. It would also focus on provision of support services such as 
finance, IT including better use of NHS numbers, and quality including safeguarding 
and workforce issues including satisfaction, qualification and training (with NHS 
England and the Leeds Education Trust Board (LETB) and vocational training within 
provider settings) across the economy. 

 

  

Page 178



 

3 Main issues 

The challenge 

3.1 It is estimated that all health and social care provider organisations in Leeds 
spend around £2.5bn a year on services.  The NHS and LCC have funding 
challenges ahead with projected demand outstripping income and funding.  
Through an economic modelling approach, supported by EY and the 
Commissioning Support Unit (CSU), a refined calculation of the whole health 
system financial challenge has been made.  This calculation, undertaken in June 
of this year, showed the estimated shortfall in the system as approximately £64.1 
million in 15/16, expected to rise to £633 million over 5 years. These projections 
were based upon demands continuing at current trajectories and before any 
actions are taken to mitigate this position through productivity gains or 
reconfiguration of existing services. 

3.2 The following table shows where it is estimated the main financial pressures were 
being faced across the health and social care economy:  

Organisation 5 year forecasted 
shortfall  

(£’m) 

LTHT (277.3) 

LYPFT (36.4) 

LCH (31.6) 

YAS (6.1) 

Leeds North CCG (24.4) 

Leeds South and East CCG (36.9) 

Leeds West CCG (30.6) 

Leeds City Council (114.9) 

NHS England (74.7) 

Total challenge (633.0) 

3.3 The NHS Five Year Forward View published on 23rd October 2014, is estimating a 
£30bn gross funding pressure for the NHS by 2020/21. Based upon a local 
extrapolation of this figure for Leeds and adding in the Council’s funding position, 
the figures quoted above for Leeds are remarkably similar to this national position. 

Approach taken to calculate the challenge 

3.4 The refined understanding is as a result of increasingly comprehensive modelling 
including both LCC and specialised commissioning latest figures.  

3.5 This position was derived through the engagement of an external economic 
modeller who engaged individually with each organisation. The external support 
also referenced national trends and assumptions to our local financial 
assessments to ensure consistency with the rest of the NHS and social care. 

Page 179



 

Whilst the referencing of trends from a national perspective for Social Care 
provides a degree of consistency, it does not entirely reflect the local position in its 
make up, and in particular the local democratic discretion in how funding is 
allocated within the Council, much of which is yet to be decided over the 5 year 
time horizon. Nevertheless, the indicative position is in line with the working 
projections for social care services within the Council. 

3.6 The final position has been sense checked by the Leeds health and social care 
Transformation Directors of Finance group (DoFs) sub-group. Cross referencing 
of assumptions between organisations with adjustments to the model were made 
accordingly to reduce duplications and address any obvious gaps between 
organisations. 

Measures being put in place to address the challenge 

3.7 The system recognises that we cannot afford to keep doing what we are doing, in 
the way that we are doing it. By bringing together the transformational 
programmes we can deliver a model of care that is able meet our vision and 
improve quality for patients in terms of experience and clinical outcomes.  There is 
a focus on delivering through quality improvement, reducing variation and 
innovation as we know this will deliver better value for money.  

3.8 Each organisation's suite of cost reduction plans will inevitably include elements 
that may potentially impact adversely on other parts of the Leeds health and 
social care economy.  Mitigation of any negative impact is being managed through 
the various cross-partner forums that have been established. 

3.9 The extent to which these impacts can be quantified will be dependent on the 
nature of those schemes and they will need to be added to the outcomes of the 
system redesign economic modelling work being overseen by the Transformation 
Programme Management Office (PMO) and the DoFs forum. 

3.10 Leeds health and social care organisations submitted their 5 joint year plan earlier 
this year. The plan outlines a number of areas as follows: 

• The meeting of £380 million of this challenge is attributed to internal 
efficiencies to be achieved by provider organisations in the City, as part of 
their Cost Improvement Programmes (CIP’s). Schemes to the value of 
£127million have been identified to date; 

• Transformation work streams are expected to deliver further saving in the 
region of £31 million towards the gap;  

• Schemes associated with recurrent investment in the Better Care Fund are 
expected to contribute around £11million savings towards closing the gap; 

• Within the provider services assumptions above it is anticipated that the 
Council, through Children’s Services, Adult’s Services and Public Health will 
also significantly contribute to the reduction of the overall gap in response to 
the ongoing reductions in central government funding. The exact amount of 

Page 180



 

this contribution is yet to be agreed by Members of Executive Board as part of 
the Council’s annual budget setting process. 

• In addition, the Council has established a £25m Capital Reserve for Health & 
Social Care Invest to Save schemes, which it is anticipated will support 
reductions in system running costs within this 5 year period, particularly as a 
result of investment in technology. 

• The total declared financial gap for the city includes an assumption that NHS 
England will have a gap of over £74 million in relation to the activity it 
commissions with Leeds Teaching Hospitals on behalf of all patients in 
England and Wales and not just for Leeds residents. 

• Excluding NHSE's gap, taking account of the savings assumed through 
Transformation and BCF and also assuming that Provider efficiencies are 
fully achieved without impact on the rest of the system, the gap would be 
reduced to £101 million. 

Other measures being taken 

3.11 All Finance Directors are in the process of nominating and including senior 
finance resource in each of the key pathway redesign forums reporting to the 
Transformation Board. The city wide initiatives will all therefore include resources 
to help quantify their impact. Consideration is being given to how this model can 
be extended to cover BCF and Primary Care Integration schemes. This also 
needs to cover individual provider cost-efficiency programmes for completeness. 

3.12 Some of the work programmed over the next two years will deliver improvements 
to the system that are transactional and will create an infrastructure to make 
future changes, reduce duplication in back-office systems and processes, 
minimise cost, improve patient/service user pathways and ensure we have a 
future proofed Leeds health and social care workforce.  In turn these will help to 
minimise the financial impact on frontline services.  

3.13 These include:  

• Using technology enablers to improve patient care and efficiency;  

• Driving efficiencies in health and social care estates utilisation and in non-pay 
costs;  

• Maximising our workforce including redeployment of the workforce to best 
meet the needs of patients; 

• Using open book accounting; 

• Exploring contractual mechanisms and pay systems, aligning incentives and 
considering how money can follow risk. 

3.14 Without these first steps, Leeds will not be able to prepare the system, and the 
users of the system, for the transformational changes that are needed.  The most 

Page 181



 

significant transformational impact will be seen from year three onwards as a 
result of the pathway redesign from the Transformation Programme. 

3.15 Two significant changes expected within the next two years are related, and 
concern the expanded commissioning role for CCGs in primary care and 
specialist services. Discussions have commenced with NHS England and we are 
working closely with our partners across West Yorkshire and with other major 
cities to influence these developments as far as possible.  There is an opportunity 
to have a greater role in the development of primary care, because of the role 
primary care – as a strong provider – has to play in supporting more patients to 
live independently at home for longer. We also welcome the opportunity to 
commission appropriate specialist services in order to explore the clinical and 
productivity benefits associated with greater oversight at a local level.  Without 
this work, aspirations for reducing unnecessary admissions and shortening length 
of stay allowing a reduction in the bed base in Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust 
(LTHT) will not be possible.  

3.16 We need to work in a way that ensures that the financial, legal and contractual 
frameworks are designed and implemented to commission integrated care. 
Additionally, providers will be incentivised to collaborate to design and deliver the 
holistic care models. This will include a commitment to the sustainability of the 
provider organisations who engage in developing integrated models of care where 
shifts of activity could have a destabilising effect. 

3.17 Other key areas for development and improvement are mental health – working 
both with Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (LYPFT) for adult 
mental health and Leeds Community Health Trust (LCHT) for Child & Adolescent 
Mental Health Service (CAMHS) to ensure that we improve pathways and support 
prevention and recovery and also working with LTHT to improve maternity 
services. 

3.18 Although we aim to improve the health of the whole population there are key 
population that will be the focus for work over the coming months and years. 
These are: 

• Those with long term conditions – including those with dementia 

• Those who use A&E for urgent and non-urgent care support 

• Older people – particularly those who are frail 

• Carers 

• People with mental health issues 

• Children 

• Vulnerable groups – including process of work to target the most 
vulnerable and those who do not access services readily. This includes 
those who are living in the most deprived wars of the City. 

Page 182



 

3.19 The impact of specialised commissioning changes will need management to 
ensure that we work with NHS England to improve services. CCG colleagues are 
working alongside NHS England to ensure that commissioning decisions support 
patient care, particularly for areas of specialist commissioning and primary care. 

3.20 To improve the primary care structure the development of general practice 
services is needed. They will require investment and innovation to improve access 
and quality of care for patients particularly as we move more services from a 
hospital setting to community environments. 

3.21 Thus we need to align incentives to allow this change. The work in Year of Care is 
examining how this can happen within the contracting framework. Work to 
address how we can support those who have mental health issues and learning 
disability will also require support from primary care. 

3.22 Leeds West CCG is embarking on a number of 18 month pilots in Primary Care to 
test models for improving access to GP services and reducing unnecessary 
emergency activity in Secondary Care. These pilots will be evaluated at regular 
intervals during and at the end of the pilot period to assess the potential impact on 
the overall Leeds gap. 

3.23 NHS Leeds South and East faces a challenging time delivering improved patient 
outcomes, focusing on reducing health inequalities within our Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  The CCG is developing a local approach to delivering this 
whilst equally playing an integral part in the city wide Transformation Programme 
and Leeds Institute for Quality.  

3.24 NHS Leeds North CCG is working closely with member GP practices to deliver 
key areas of their primary care framework. Practices are working together in 
localities to improve access, quality, efficiency and effectiveness of services for 
their local population. To complement this, the CCG is strengthening links with 
voluntary and community sector organisations to help deliver locally tailored 
services to match the needs of each locality. 

3.25 In response to the significant reduction in resources available to the Council from 
Government funding as part of the Government’s austerity programme, the 
Council has developed a Civic Enterprise approach where in the future the 
Council will be smaller in size, but bigger in influence. The Council’s approach to 
managing funding reductions has been successful to date to the extent that 
challenging savings and reductions have been delivered whilst continuing to 
prioritise care for vulnerable adults and children. The proportion of the Council’s 
spend on Children’s Services and Adult Social Care has increased from 48.5% in 
2010/11 to 57.1% in 2014/15. 

3.26 In terms of social care this has been reflected in the ongoing reduction in the 
direct provision of services, a focus on working in partnership with Health 
partners, a focus on ensuring and assuring quality through improved 
commissioning arrangements and the use of restorative practice to help people as 
far as possible to help themselves.  

Page 183



 

3.27 The ongoing severity of the funding reductions, a further £46m reduction in 
Government Grant in 2015/16 and a further £23m reduction expected in 2016/17, 
will require a continuation of the current approach, together with the development 
of other potentially more difficult savings options. Whilst the implementation of the 
Better Care Fund and the associated identification of the £25m Capital Fund by 
the Council will contribute to the solution, they by no means represent a solution 
on their own. 

3.28 The much vaunted Care Act and Children’s and Families Act will also place 
additional duties and pressures upon social care. Although many of the proposals 
contained within them are to be welcomed the additional costs associated with 
their introduction remain uncertain, and particularly in future years whether the 
funding 'identified' will be sufficient to meet these additional costs. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 Strategic planning across all organisations entails a significant amount of 
consultation and engagement, much of it statutory.  

4.1.2 Each of the programmes of work which are addressing the challenges we face will 
ensure that they undertake appropriate consultation and engagement as part of 
their work in accordance to their own organisational obligations.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Each of the programmes of work which are addressing the challenges we face will 
ensure that they appropriately consider the equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration factors of their work. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 As referenced earlier in the report, significant progress has been made to bring 
partners together and under the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the City, 
to ensure that all partner plans are linked and coordinated to the cities priorities. 

4.3.2 The Council has representation on all of the main decision making bodies such as 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board and Transformation boards and groups.  
This ensures that the Council’s policies and priorities are represented in all 
partnership working. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 Clearly as this report articulates, the health and social care economy in Leeds is 
facing a significant financial challenge.  Whilst demand pressures facing the NHS 
in Leeds, particularly in the acute sector, are at an all-time high, funding for the 
NHS has been and continues to be protected in real terms from the Government’s 
austerity programme.  The publication of the NHS Five Year Forward View, by 
Simon Stevens, sets out the challenge nationally and clearly states the need for a 
funding settlement significantly in excess of inflation over the life of the next 
parliament, whilst also assuming significant further efficiencies. 

Page 184



 

4.4.2 The Council’s position, particularly in relation to Social Care, whilst reflecting the 
ongoing and unprecedented demand pressures, is somewhat different in relation 
to funding levels.  The Comprehensive Spending Review 2010 set out the 
Government’s plans to eliminate the structural deficit by the end of the current 
parliament. This presented a significant financial challenge to the Council which 
was without precedent in recent times. In this period to the end of 2014/15 funding 
from Central Government for core services has reduced by £129m. With the 
further funding reductions expected over the next 2 years of around £70m, this 
represents a critical risk to both the Council and the health and social care system 
in the city. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 This report is for information only. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 Two key overarching risks present themselves, given the scale and proximity of 
the challenge and the size and complexity of Leeds: 

• Potential unintended – and negative – consequences of any proposals as a 
result of the complex nature of the health and social care system and its 
interdependencies.  Each of the partners have their own internal pressures 
and governance processes they need to follow. 

• Ability to release expenditure from existing commitments without de-
stabilising the system in the short term within the limited pump priming 
resource will be extremely challenging as well as the risk that the proposals 
do not deliver the savings required over the longer-term. 

4.6.2 The effective management of these process risks can only be achieved through 
the full commitment of all system leaders within the city to focus their full energies 
on the delivery of the programmes plans and to work together to identify what 
further measures can be taken to support the agreed future vision. The 
governance arrangements in place will also help to reduce the likelihood of any 
risk developing into an issue. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Leeds is facing unprecedented challenges.  Previously it would not have been in a 
good position to deal with them but over the last two years in particular, a number 
of governance and cross partnership forums have been established and refined.  
Partners are now having more frequent and more open dialogue and working 
together to make decisions in a collective and holistic way.  In terms of the 
financial challenge that the health and social care economy faces, specific 
measures are being put in place which will go some way to address the challenge.  
However, calculations indicate that these measures are not enough and that as a 
system we need to go further and faster and make very difficult decisions. 

6 Recommendations 

Page 185



 

Executive Board are asked to note the contents of this report and in particular: 

6.1 The scale of the financial challenge facing the Leeds’ health and social care 
economy; 

6.2 The approach taken by partners across the health and social care system to 
address this financial challenge; 

6.3 That a whole systems approach is being taken recognising that no one partner 
can either address the challenge or be left to face their challenge alone; 

6.4 That further measures (still to be determined and currently being discussed by 
partners) will need to be taken to fully address the financial challenge over the 
next 5 years. 

6.5 That the Chief Officer Resources and Strategy for Adult Social Care is the 
Council’s responsible officer to implement the recommendation at 6.4 in 
collaboration with the Directors of Finance of all Health Partner Organisations 

 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 186



 

 

Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th November 2014 

Subject: Temple Mill  

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The regeneration of the South Bank will deliver one of Europe’s largest regeneration 
projects and the proposed High Speed Rail 2 project. This provides major opportunities 
to achieve Best Council plan objectives of promoting sustainable and inclusive 
economic growth with particular opportunities to boost the local economy and maximise 
the impact of our cultural infrastructure.  

2. The historic character of parts of the South Bank is both a strong reference to the city’s 
industrial past and an opportunity around which future regeneration and quality 
development can be promoted. Successful examples of regeneration of this kind that 
has taken place includes at Marshall Mill and the Round Foundry Media Centre.  

3. However, the city faces one of the most substantial and significant heritage challenges 
in the country: securing the viable and sustainable future of the at-risk Temple Mill (also 
referred to as Temple Works). Temple Mill is a third party owned Grade I listed building 
located at the heart of the Holbeck Urban Village district of the South Bank. With an 
Egyptian style frontage modelled on the Temple of Horus at Edfu, it is a building of 
national and international importance and heritage value. 

4. Parts of the building have been used for a diverse range of cultural activity in recent 
years. The building has not been fully used for some time and the condition of the main 
structure has gradually deteriorated. In 2008, there was a major structural failure at the 
building resulting in the collapse of part of the frontage and roof. It is estimated that an 

 Report author:  Lee Arnell 

Tel:  75408 

Page 187

Agenda Item 16



 

 

eight figure financial sum is required to secure the future of the building and fit it out for 
end use. The building is currently on the English Heritage ‘at risk register’.  

5. Following engagement with the Council and English Heritage, the current owners 
implemented a substantial temporary solution to prevent further collapses at the 
building at the time of the original failure of the structure.  Notwithstanding the 
temporary works that have been implemented, it remains the case that the city is at a 
risk of losing a significant part of its heritage and, unless the city  accepts that  risk, a 
‘do nothing’ option is not tenable. 

6. Accordingly, whilst the Council does not have an aspiration to own and develop the 
building itself, in view of its leading role in the city, it is important that it facilitates a 
timely delivery of proposals that can leverage significant investment into the building in 
a way that secures its heritage for many years to come and supports the regeneration 
aspirations for the city. 

7. The Council has now been approached by a developer, Citu, which has a proposal for 
a comprehensive repair and refurbishment of Temple Mill. This would require the 
Council to consider the inclusion of its own adjoining assets at Bath Road and Leodis 
Court in a combined development approach. 

8. Citu has completed a conditional agreement to acquire Temple Mill from its existing 
owners within the next 12 months and is seeking, through the establishment of a 
Charitable Incorporated Organisation, to progress a major Heritage Lottery Fund grant 
bid by November 30th of this year to support the reuse of Temple Mill as a major arts 
and cultural venue, together with proposals to acquire and undertake developments of 
the Council’s neighbouring land.  

9. The Council assets could act as enabling development for a development at Temple 
Mill.  It is unlikely that a HLF submission would succeed without Council support. The 
Council has a strong track record in facilitating the renewal of heritage buildings in the 
city, as seen by the Leeds Townscape Heritage Initiatives, First White Cloth Hall, 
Leeds City Museum, Grand Theatre and City Varieties. Executive Board also recently 
agreed for officers to develop proposals for the changes to Leeds Town Hall, including 
proposals to apply for HLF funding – but that this would be from a different HLF 
scheme and would not compete with Temple Mill.  

10. This paper seeks Executive Board approval to the principles of how the Council can 
work with Citu to help facilitate regeneration in this location, looking in particular at its 
support for a Citu HLF bid, providing support in developing a business model for a 
proposed end use and the best use of Council owned assets.  

11. At this stage, the Council recognises that there is a need to develop more detail on this 
proposed use to ensure that it meets the objectives of all the contributing parties to the 
proposal and is financially sustainable over the long term, and that further work is 
required on how the Council’s assets can be best used. Notwithstanding this, it is 
considered that in principle support be provided to Citu’s proposals on the basis that 
these matters and others are explored and worked up in greater detail and a further 
report is provided for Executive Board at a future date.                                                      
 

Page 188



 

 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is requested to: 

i) Agree that a redevelopment of Temple Mill is a city priority for securing 
Heritage Lottery Fund grant support given its Grade I listed status and at risk 
condition. 

ii) In addition, on the basis of the above recommendation and that the Council 
secures further clarity to its satisfaction about the proposals for the building’s 
future use:  

a. Agree in principle to work with Citu to facilitate the restoration of Temple 
Mill. This will include agreeing proposals for the use of the enabling value 
of Council assets at Bath Road, Leodis Court and Sweet Street as a 
contribution to the restoration of Temple Mill. 

b. Provide in principle support to Citu’s Stage One Heritage Lottery Fund 
Major Grant funding bid, to be made by a trust established by Citu, for 
their proposals for Temple Mill as set out in this report. 

c. Instruct officers to undertake more detailed diligence and joint working 
with Citu on the matters highlighted in paragraph 3.12 and in accordance 
with the principles set out in this report.  

d. Instruct officers to report back to Executive Board with further 
recommendations regarding the proposals to bring about the restoration 
of Temple Mill. 

iii) Note that the Chief Officer Culture & Sport will be responsible for the 
implementation of actions ii) b and ii) c and Head of Regeneration will be 
responsible for the implementation of actions ii) a and ii) d. 

 

Page 189



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report sets out the current status of the Grade 1 listed and at risk Temple Mill 
and proposals of a private sector led development proposition. In doing so, it 
seeks Executive Board approval to the principles of how the Council can help 
facilitate the redevelopment of the building, and support ongoing regeneration 
efforts in the area. 

2 Background information 

2.2 The South Bank of the city centre is, at 136 ha, one of Europe’s largest 
regeneration projects. This will create a new business and residential district of 
city region and national significance and support the growth of a diverse range of 
sectors to boost sustainable and inclusive economic growth.  

2.3 There is a rich architectural heritage within the South Bank. The Holbeck Urban 
Village district of the South Bank is home to over 30 listed buildings located in a 
dedicated conservation area. Redevelopment of the listed buildings has produced 
exemplary and distinctive place-making and has been a major contributor to 
economic growth. The historic character of the area is both a strong reference to 
the city’s industrial past and an opportunity around which future regeneration and 
quality development can be promoted.  

2.4 Prominent examples of the way in which the historic environment has acted as a 
catalyst for investment and place-making include the redevelopments of the 
Round Foundry, Marshall Mill and Phase 1A of Tower Works as a nationally 
recognised hub for the creative and digital sectors.   

2.5 In February 2014, Executive Board agreed to collaborative work with the Homes 
and Communities Agency to dispose of assets at the historic Tower Works site to 
kick-start further regeneration in Holbeck Urban Village. The competitions for 
developer partners involve strong interest, and are due to conclude by the end of 
the year.  

2.6 Notwithstanding this, the South Bank area, and the city as a whole, faces one of 
the most substantial and significant heritage challenges in the country: securing 
the viable and sustainable future of Temple Mill (also referred to as Temple 
Works).  

2.7 Temple Mill is a third party owned Grade I located at the heart of the Holbeck 
Urban Village. It is a building of national and international importance. With an 
Egyptian style frontage modelled on the Temple of Horus at Edfu, it is home to 
what was once proclaimed to be world’s largest room at circa 2 acres, one of the 
world’s first hydraulic lifts and innovative engineering techniques in its 
construction. It is a building famed for the sheep that grazed on the building’s roof 
to retain humidity in the flax mill to prevent the lined thread from becoming dried 
out.  

2.8 In use as a flax mill in the 19th Century, the building was used in the latter parts of 
the 20th Century as a factory and warehouse for Kays Catalogue until Kays 

Page 190



 

 

closed in 2004. Parts of the building that are safe to use have been used, via a 
licence agreement, for a diverse range of cultural and arts activities since 2009 
which range from the Leeds Model Railway club to music and visual arts events, 
filmmaking and other activities. This has helped maintain a presence for Temple 
Mill within the city. 

2.9 However, the condition of the building has deteriorated. In 2008, there was a 
structural failure at the building. This resulted in the collapse of part of the 
frontage and roof. With scaffolding providing support, the building is, and remains, 
at severe risk: it is estimated that a substantial eight figure financial investment is 
required to permanently stabilise the building and secure a long term sustainable 
future for it. The building is on English Heritage’s ‘buildings at risk’ register. 
Following engagement with the Council and English Heritage, the current owners 
implemented a substantial temporary solution to prevent further collapses at the 
building at the time of the original failure of the structure.   

2.10 Notwithstanding the temporary works that have been implemented, it remains the 
case that the city is at a risk of losing a significant part of its heritage and, unless 
the city  accepts that risk, a ‘do nothing’ option is not tenable. The unique cultural 
heritage of the building, the need for a specialist and costly structural solution to 
remedy its condition and the difficulty in establishing a viable refurbishment 
project with a sustainable end-use all mean that there has been very limited 
market interest in making the necessary investment to secure the future of the 
building. There is therefore a major challenge for the city in securing the future of 
a major heritage landmark, in a way that can further catalyse and support the 
regeneration of the Holbeck Urban Village area. 

2.11 It is understood that the current owners do not propose to bring forward an 
investment and development proposal at this location and has been seeking bids 
to dispose of the asset in recent times.  

2.12 Accordingly, whilst the Council does not have an aspiration to own and develop 
the building itself, in view of its leading role in the city, it is important that it 
facilitates a timely delivery of proposals that can leverage significant investment 
into the building in a way that secures the building’s heritage for many years to 
come and supports the regeneration aspirations for the city. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Citu’s Proposals 

3.2 Following the Council’s acquisition of Leodis Court, the Council has been 
approached by a developer, Citu, which has proposals for a comprehensive repair 
and refurbishment of Temple Mill. Citu is seeking the Council’s support to a HLF 
grant bid and also seeks to include the Council’s assets at Bath Road and Leodis 
Court to support the restoration (up to 7 acres of landholding). Citu has completed 
a conditional agreement to acquire Temple Mill from its existing owners within the 
next 12 months as basis for bringing this proposition forward.  

 

Page 191



 

 

3.3 Citu’s proposal can be broken down into four main areas: 

• Governance and redevelopment of the building – Citu’s intention would be 
to establish a Trust, as a Charitable Incorporated Organisation, to own and be 
responsible for the operation of the redeveloped Temple Mill. There would be 
an agreement with the Trust for Citu to re-develop and secure the future of 
the building to an agreed specification. Ownership of Temple Mill would 
transfer to the Trust upon the completion of the works.  Members of the Trust/ 
Board would have expertise in the development and operation of such 
buildings and could include Council representatives.  

• Cultural and Heritage Venue – Citu’s initial vision is for the development of a 
mixed use, cultural and learning venue within Temple Mill. The Council 
recognises that there is a need to develop more detail on this proposed use to 
ensure that it meets the objectives of all the contributing parties to the 
proposal and is financially sustainable over the long term. 
 
Citu’s initial proposals are that this proposed end use would seek to diversify 
and add to the current cultural offer in the city and attract international touring 
modern art exhibitions and events – and attract events that current facilities 
do not attract. A major part of the proposal is to showcase and promote the 
heritage of the building and be a major learning centre for heritage. The vision 
also includes proposals for a public artwork commissioned from an artist of 
global standing. 

• Masterplan – Citu proposes to acquire the Council’s neighbouring assets at 
Bath Road and Leodis Court and to bring forward development proposals at 
these sites in parallel to works being undertaken at Temple Mill. Development 
would be mixed use, comprising residential, complementary leisure 
development and the provision of new public open space. The initial proposal 
is that the value of the sites received from the Council would contribute to the 
capital costs of re-developing Temple Mill. 

• Heritage Lottery Fund submission. Citu, via the Trust, proposes to 
progress a bid to the the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) for a major grant for 
schemes requiring support of over £5m. Citu propose that the values from the 
Council’s sale of its assets would contribute to the match funding required for 
the HLF bid. Bids of this scale are only accepted by HLF on an annual basis 
with a November 30th deadline. 

3.4 Subject to securing HLF support and agreement in principle on acquiring the 
Council’s assets, Citu propose to complete a transaction to acquire Temple Mill, 
and then to progress the major repairs and refurbishment of the building and 
development of the neighbouring assets. Citu has approached the Council to 
identify whether the Council supports its proposals, and whether the Council 
supports Citu progressing a major HLF bid this year. 

3.5 Principles of Council Support 

3.6 Securing the sustainable future of Temple Mill is critical to delivering the vision for 
Holbeck Urban Village and wider South Bank. It is considered that regenerating 

Page 192



 

 

the building and surrounding sites would represent a step-change in unlocking the 
economic and housing growth of this part of the city and in advance of further 
major regeneration as the HS2 proposals for the city are finalised.  

3.7 There is a major opportunity to raise the profile of the city through a sympathetic 
and ambitious redevelopment of Temple Mill. As well as physical regeneration 
benefits, there is a major opportunity to promote and celebrate the heritage of the 
building and wider Holbeck area, and create a heritage learning space and venue 
of national importance.  

3.8 Given the Council’s surrounding asset ownerships and role in facilitating 
regeneration activities in the area, the major challenge of Temple Mill cannot be 
overcome (or the potential realised) without clear leadership from the Council, or 
without agreement to the principles of how it could work with Citu to facilitate the 
anticipated regeneration outcomes and benefits.  

3.9 Executive Board is therefore asked to agree that the Council supports the 
proposal to secure Temple Mills’ future, the strategic use of its assets and the 
support to be offered to Citu / the Trust in them making a major HLF bid.  

3.10 As highlighted above, a ‘do nothing’ option is not considered tenable due to the 
extent of the repairs and the risk that the building could face further collapse. This 
in turn presents a risk of losing a significant part of the city’s heritage.  

3.11 The conservation and viability challenges presented by Temple Mill are unique. 
Citu has presented initial proposals and it is considered that this is a basis for 
further dialogue and progression of a scheme at Temple Mill.  

3.12 Notwithstanding this, before final Council support can be provided in full, matters 
that will require further investigation, diligence and refinement to satisfy the 
Council that the proposal can be supported over the coming months will include, 
amongst other matters: 

§ The sustainability of the business plan for the future operation of the 
building. 

§ The viability of development proposals at Leodis Court and Bath Road 
and terms by which a disposal may take place. 

§ The use of, and level of, value from Council owned assets at Leodis 
Court and Bath Road in any proposals.  

§ The deliverability of the technical proposals to safeguard the structure of 
Temple Mill. 

§ Integrating proposals into the wider regeneration strategy in this location. 

§ Progression of a major HLF grant bid. 

§ Ensuring suitable and robust governance arrangements.  

Page 193



 

 

§ Clarity and further development on the proposed end use which will need 
to be complementary to the Council’s wider aspirations. How the 
proposals can best complement existing facilities in the city, and how it 
could add to the city’s cultural offer. This will include clarity on the 
potential role of the existing organisations who have a licence to operate 
the building. 

3.13 However, Executive Board in principle support to Citu progressing a HLF bid is 
important at this moment in time, in order for Citu to progress its HLF bid with 
confidence that there is in-principle Council support for its initial proposals.  

3.14 In this context, it is recommended that Executive Board agree at this early stage 
to the principles of how the Council would work with Citu to help facilitate 
regeneration of Temple Mill and its support for Citu’s HLF submission. This is on 
the basis that the matters in 3.12 are explored in further detail before the HLF 
determine the Stage One application and satisfactorily resolved. Proposed 
principles of the Council helping to facilitate regeneration in this location are set 
out below. 

HLF Submission Support 

3.15 The HLF will seek assurances from the Council on its support for Citu’s emerging 
bid for grant support. It is very unlikely that a HLF bid of this scale would succeed 
without the support of the Council. 

3.16 It is considered that Temple Mill is a major priority for the city in terms of securing 
major HLF grant support, due to the major significance of the building, the viability 
challenges, the need to help conserve a major heritage asset, the opportunities 
for learning that may arise from it and the potential for the re-development to act 
as a stimulus for major regeneration.  

3.17 As such, it is recommended to Executive Board that the Council provides in 
principle support to Citu’s HLF bid at this stage, in order for Citu to further 
progress its submission and develop its scheme.  

3.18 The decision on the Stage One bid will be determined in April 2015, and as such 
this provides time for the Council to further work with Citu on the matters 
highlighted in paragraph 3.12. There has been positive dialogue with the HLF on 
this approach and the HLF has indicated that there is an opportunity to further 
develop a Stage One bid after its submission and before its Stage One bid is 
determined.  

3.19 Any bid for a national HLF grant is likely to be competing against major schemes 
from across the Country – success rates are as low as 1 in 4. The Council has a 
strong track record of securing HLF grants and delivering schemes – examples 
include the Leeds the Townscape Heritage Initiatives, Leeds City Museum and 
the City Varieties.  It has, however, been some time since the City brought 
forward a major HLF scheme that received major grant support for a development 
scheme of this scale.  

Page 194



 

 

3.20 It is considered that the Council can provide ‘in-kind’ expertise and advice to Citu 
and the Trust they from as they develop their proposals for a HLF bid, including 
the sharing of lessons learned and work with Citu to develop a compelling and 
sustainable HLF submission to help maximise the chance of a successful bid.  

End Use and Operation 

3.21 The Council recognises that there is a need to develop more detail on this 
proposed use to ensure that it meets the objectives of all the contributing parties 
to the proposal and is financially sustainable over the long term without further 
public subsidy for revenue costs.   

3.22 Although there will always be an element of risk and assumptions made in 
bringing an iconic cultural venue to fruition, the Council will need confidence that 
the long term business case and vision is robust in order to justify the  value from 
any Council assets contributing to the capital costs of restoring Temple Mill.  

3.23 On the basis of Citu’s initial vision of a mixed use, cultural and learning venue, it is 
proposed that the Council offers support in helping Citu and their partners in 
developing in greater detail a robust business model and vision for the proposed 
uses at Temple Mill. This could include using any revenue that flows from 
commercial uses on the Council’s land to cross subsidise core activities of the 
Mill.  

3.24 Such support from the Council will also explore in greater detail how a venue at 
Temple Mill might best fit into the city’s long term vision for cultural and learning 
facilities, and how it achieves broader strategic outcomes and objectives for the 
city. As the venue is located in the South Bank, it will be in close proximity to the 
Leeds City College and College of Building campuses. How the proposed learning 
elements of the proposed operation at Temple Mill interacts with other learning 
initiatives and operations in the area and city will also be explored.  

3.25 A key component of this will be dialogue with existing cultural organisations and 
partners from across the city to ensure that views of a broad range of 
stakeholders are considered as proposals venue in this location evolve in greater 
detail.  Furthermore dialogue would be required to better understand the views of 
existing organisations and communities who operate cultural activities from the 
building at present and how they could be involved in the proposals and maintain 
a presence in the city.  It is proposed that the Council can help facilitate this 
dialogue with Citu and the established Trust. 

3.26 There will be further dialogue with Citu on the proposed governance and 
operation of Temple Mill to identify the role of the Council and it is proposed to 
seek to minimise the Council’s risks in the development of Temple Mill. 

Council Assets 

3.27 The Council’s adjoining land and assets present an opportunity to help support 
viability, facilitate regeneration and sympathetic place-making associated with a 
re-development of Temple Mill.  

Page 195



 

 

3.28 In principle, it is considered the Council’s assets could act as an enabling 
development for Temple Mill and could be a potentially beneficial way to secure 
regeneration in this location. There are a number of options that could be explored 
for the assets, and the use of the value arising from them, to support the aims of 
unlocking the potential from a development at Temple Mill. 

3.29 Appendix 1 highlights some of the Council’s ownerships surrounding Temple Mill. 
In principle, the assets could be used to support regeneration as follows:  

•    Sites 1 and 2 – site 1 is Leodis Court and site 2 comprises of three plots on 
Bath Road. In principle these sites could be brought forward for 
development by Citu through a one to one disposal at market value, with 
the receipts of the disposal transferred to the Trust to contribute to the 
capital costs of restoring Temple Mill. 

•    Site 3 is a longer term development proposition that may be best brought 
forward for development alongside adjacent landownerships, but value 
arising from a disposal or development at this site could potentially be 
hypothesised and contribute to the costs to restore or operate Temple Mill.  

3.30 As such, on the basis that Executive Board is comfortable with this principle, it is 
recommended that officers undertake further diligence on the proposals for the 
Council’s assets as set out above. This diligence will explore how the Council’s 
assets can be best utilised to help secure Temple Mill’s future and offer best value 
for the city. This will include due consideration to supporting a one to one disposal 
to Citu without competition. Given the extent of the landownerships it is 
considered important to establish confidence that any development proposals are 
deliverable and an agreement for disposal would likely be conditional on certain 
milestones being achieved.  

3.31 Alongside this, it is proposed that an updated Planning Statement is produced for 
sites 1 and 2 and Temple Mill as shown in appendix 1 to provide further clarity 
and guidance on the form and uses that may be permissible as part of a 
comprehensive redevelopment in this location. This would build upon the 
principles set out within Holbeck Urban Village revised planning framework, but to 
take into account updated policy considerations such the Core Strategy, the 
Leeds Design Standard and the emerging vision and master-plan for the South 
Bank associated with HS2 regeneration.  

3.32 Further, it is proposed that further discussions commence with the Leeds City 
Region Enterprise Partnership on the feasibility of securing Local Growth Funding 
(LGF) to help de-risk the Council’s assets as development propositions to help 
accelerate the delivery of development of these sites. There are proactive 
discussions taking place on support for Bath Road, and a project to remediate the 
sites is included as a ‘pipeline’ project for future LGF support. The Council’s 
assets are known to have some barriers that may affect the potential development 
of these sites, such as contamination, and external support to accelerate the 
development would be beneficial to address market failures.   

 

Page 196



 

 

3.33 Next Steps 

3.34 Should Executive Board support the proposals in this report, officers will progress 
more detailed work with Citu and report back with more specific recommendations 
to Executive Board by April 2015.  

3.35 If the scheme does not secure HLF support or detailed investigation demonstrates 
that the current proposals unsustainable, the Council will need to consider how it 
can help to facilitate the regeneration at this location, and resolve this 
longstanding challenge for the city.  The work highlighted in this report is an 
opportunity to establish a robust evidence base and detailed intelligence that will 
put it in a good position to explore further opportunities. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The proposals have been subject to consultation with the Executive Member for 
Transport & the Economy and the Executive Member for Creative & Digital 
Technologies, Culture and Skills. Executive Members are supportive of the 
principles set out in this report. Proposals set out in this paper have been shared 
with Ward Members for City and Hunslet. 

4.1.2 There has been an initial discussion with the HLF on the Council’s proposed 
approach and there has been proactive dialogue between the HLF and Citu as 
Citu develop a HLF grant bid.  

4.1.3 There has been an initial discussion on the recommendations set out in this report 
with a representative from Cornerstone Strategies, the organisation who has a 
licence agreement to operate the cultural programme Temple.Works.Leeds at the 
building presently. Cornerstone has articulated to the Council that they are keen 
that existing users and communities who have had an involvement in the existing 
cultural operation are involved in the business planning during the transitional 
period before a restoration project commences, and also to ensure that the 
existing knowledge and expertise of the current users can play a role in the longer 
term vision for the building. In particular, Cornerstone is keen that there is 
engagement and involvement of existing users as further work develops on Citu’s 
proposal. As highlighted above, there will be further dialogue and engagement on 
these matters but will be predominately led by Citu and the established Trust, who 
will bring forward a business plan and operational proposals for the building.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 An Equality and Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has taken place 
and is attached as an appendix. This has demonstrated that there would be no 
negative equality and diversity impacts arising from approving the 
recommendations set out in this report, and an Equaity, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration assessment is not required. As further work takes place with Citu on 
the more specific proposals there will be further exploration on the equality and 
diversity impacts. 

Page 197



 

 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 Achieving a re-development at Temple Mill and securing regeneration at 
surrounding sites will support the objective of promoting sustainable and inclusive 
economic growth with particular opportunities to achieve ambitions to boost the 
local economy and maximise the impact of our cultural infrastructure.  

4.3.2 By helping facilitate private sector led regeneration at this location, the Council 
would achieve principles set out in the Civic Enterprise proposition and help 
achieve Best Council objectives of ‘becoming a more efficient and enterprising 
council’ by making the best use of our assets and becoming more enterprising in 
its activities.  

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 Agreeing to the recommendations in this paper will not see the Council incur 
expenditure. At this stage, the focus is about agreeing the principles of how the 
Council can help facilitate the regeneration of and around Temple Mill. The next 
few months work with Citu will include more detailed work on the financial 
implications of the proposals for the Council’s assets. Officers from Asset 
Management and Regeneration will oversee, working in close partnership across 
Council services, the work with Citu. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no legal implications at this stage to Executive Board agreeing to the 
recommendations. Providing in principle support does not commit the Council to 
any course of action. As with equality and financial matters, the legal implications 
of the Council’s involvement or disposal of assets will be considered in greater 
detail over the coming months. 

4.5.2 Under the City Council’s Constitution, a decision may be declared as being 
exempt from Call In if it is considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the 
Council’s or the public interest. This report is exempt from call in as any delay in 
the Council agreeing the recommendations would prejudice Citu’s ability to submit 
a HLF bid by the 30th November.  

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 In agreeing to the recommendations, Executive Board is advised of the following 
risks. 

• Building at Risk – Temple Mill is classified as a building ‘at-risk’ and has 
been since 2008. Should there not be a scheme progressing here, the 
building is likely to remain at risk for the foreseeable future. This will continue 
to have an adverse effect on regeneration efforts in the area. 

• HLF Support – Having the support of the HLF is a key component of Citu’s 
proposal. Should the stage one bid for Temple Mill be unsuccessful, it is 
unlikely that Citu’s scheme could progress unless other major funding 
opportunities became available.  

Page 198



 

 

• End Use – There are risks that proposals for the use of Temple Mill as a 
cultural venue may not be viable or sustainable. 

• Viability – There is a risk that proposals may not be financially viable; both 
for the redevelopment and operation of the building.  

• Building condition –while the building is currently stable, a structural 
solution is required to enable the building to be re-used.  The condition of 
Temple Mill is such that it may not be possible to design a solution, or the 
solution is such that it would preclude re-use and adaptation.     

4.6.2 Executive Board agreeing to the recommendations set out in this report can help 
to mitigate these risks and the further dialogue with Citu over the coming months 
will consider specific risks, and their mitigation, in greater detail. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Temple Mill presents one of the biggest heritage challenges in the city. Following 
the structural failure in 2008, there has yet to be a viable and sustainable 
proposition to ensure the long-term future of the building owing to the unique 
challenges it faces. This has stymied regeneration efforts of surrounding sites and 
left a heritage icon at risk of collapse.  

5.2 There is now the potential of a new owner progressing a major development 
scheme at this location, and with this comes an opportunity to help overcome 
these challenges and unlock the major potential and benefits that a re-developed 
Temple Mill would bring.  

5.3 By agreeing to the principles and actions proposed in this paper, the Council has 
an opportunity to help facilitate the delivery of regeneration benefits in this location 
to achieve major benefits for the city. At this stage the Council can provide 
effective support by providing in principle support to a major HLF grant bid from 
Citu, whilst working closely with Citu to advice and offer expertise on the HLF 
submission.  

5.4 As the HLF submission progresses to determination in April 2015, there is an 
opportunity to further develop the details underpinning Citu’s proposals. As such, 
there is further work that will be progressed and refined before final Council 
support can be provided to the propositions – in particular on the sustainability 
and viability of the proposed use, and the proposals for use of Council assets. 
Once this work is concluded, a further report will be prepared for Executive Board 
with specific recommendations on how the Council will facilitate regeneration at 
this location.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is requested to: 

i) Agree that a redevelopment of Temple Mill is a city priority for securing 
Heritage Lottery Fund grant support given its Grade I listed status and at risk 
condition. 

Page 199



 

 

ii) In addition, on the basis of the above recommendation and that the Council 
secures further clarity to its satisfaction about the proposals for the building’s 
future use:  

a. Agree in principle to work with Citu to facilitate the restoration of Temple 
Mill. This will include agreeing the proposals for the use of the enabling 
value of Council assets at Bath Road, Leodis Court and Sweet Street as 
a contribution to the restoration of Temple Mill. 

b. Provide in principle support to Citu’s Stage One Heritage Lottery Fund 
Major Grant funding bid, to be made by a trust established by Citu, for 
their proposals for Temple Mill as set out in this report. 

c. Instruct officers to undertake more detailed diligence and joint working 
with Citu on the matters highlighted in paragraph 3.12 and in accordance 
with the principles set out in this report.  

d. Instruct officers to report back to Executive Board with further 
recommendations regarding the proposals to bring about the restoration 
of Temple Mill. 

iii) Note that the Chief Officer Culture & Sport will be responsible for the 
implementation of actions ii) b and ii) c and Head of Regeneration will be 
responsible for the implementation of actions ii) a and ii) d. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 200



Subw
ay

Sub

1

B
R

A
ITH

W
A

ITE
 STR

EE
T

Oak House

Emmanuel

Ward Bdy

Timber

Warehouse

L Col

HOLB ECK  LA NE

BRIDGE

Spri ngwe ll

L Col

Warehouse

BM
29.90m

29.6m

FB

1

27.7m

El Sub Sta

Unio n Place

Warehouse

1 to  6

C
ourt

27.7m

29.0m

8

PO

Manor C ourt

LEODIS COURT

16 18

House

FRON T R OW

El Sub Sta Hol Beck

28.3m

28.3m

30.2m

48

GLOBE ROA D

Leeds and

Canal

BM 31

29.0m

S Gantry

BM 29.45m

15
g

17

15a

Lock

Crane

2

Works

Tk

D
O

M
ES

TIC
 STR

E
E

T

77

12

24

HOLBECK LANE

25

Warehouse

Warehouse

LM W
ALK

4

SL

MP .75

Trading Estate

6

Nelso n

Whitehall Junction

SPRINGWELL R OAD

27

Works

FOUR TH COU RT

48 to 52

Tan k

W
ard B

dy

L Col

SL

Subway

28.7m

131

27.4m

Works

Works

FBs

Marshall M ills

Temple Works

M
arshall C

ourt

10

Marshall M ills

SA
W

 M
ILL

 S
TR

E
ET

29.3m

BM 29.57m

Tower Works

10

BM 28.68m

El Sub Sta

Works

Sta

INGRAM  R OW

4

VI
C

TO
R

IA
 R

O
A

D

Works

BM 30.22m

Path

BM

Towing Path

Chy

29.0m

MPs

20

Car Park

The Arches

Crane

Posts

Car Park

NE
VI

LL
E 

ST
R

EE
T

LB

1

Works STREET

14

16

30.8m

18

2

7

43

SPRINGWELL R OAD

Trading

Subway

Sloping W
all

Dismantled Railway
Tk

Chimney

Tanks

Works

LOW  H ALL PL

5

SP
R

IN
G

W
E

LL
 V

IE
W

1

COURT

Wareho use

Posts

Tank

El Sub Sta

29.6m

29.0m

BM 29.22m

159.5

Hol B
ec

k

Posts

Mills

G
an

tr
y

BM 28.60m

DERW EN T PLACE

Sta

23

FB

Foundry

125

20

Chy

W
ar

eh
ou

se

UNION PLACE

Conveyor

Car Park

107

TCB

2

TCB

Warehouse

99

28.0m

House

LB

CAMP FIELD

Sub

29.0m

El

APEX VIEW

Tan k

Monk Bridge Forge

BM 29.87m

29.77m

32.3m

Aire

Sluice

Leeds City
 Junctio

n

22

Works

Mile Post

Mooring Posts

12

Leeds and Liverpool Canal

D
ock

Hilton Hotel

The Emban

SOVEREIGN

2

31.7m

58

17

Warehouse

WHITEH ALL ROAD

Works

2

9

5

8

45

30

WB

WEST END PL

Bridge

11

Emmanuel

Sub  Sta

31a

S Gantry

15

Low Hall Mills

TR
IU

M
P

H
 C

LO
SE

W
arehouse

28.3m

30.2m

B
R

ID
G

E
 R

O
A

D

B
R

ID
G

E
 R

O
A

D

Garage

Hol B
eck

28.7m

Posts

28.3m

FB

GLOBE ROA D
28.3m

Wareho use

8

25

SWEET STREET W EST

29.0m

M
A

R
S

H
A

LL S
TR

EE
T

9

14

7

36

54

28.7m

5

ST FRANC IS PLA CE

MANOR ROAD

9

27.1m

El Sub Sta

G
ro

ve Inn

El

32.0m

30.8m

WHITEHALL ROAD

31.1m

29.0m

29.0m

15f

Tower Works

22

G
raving D

ock

New Centaur House

BM 30.49m

state

RIC
KARD STREET

Gas Govern or

Bank

SP
RIN

G
W

ELL
 S

TR
EET

3

4

1
20

41

S Gantry

39

SL

Forge

Warehouse

House

CZAR STR EET

Studios

Travelling  Crane

6

SL

MP 19
5.5

28.3m

W
ATE

R L
ANE

SL

Vi
ad

uc
t

28.3m

FB

22

Chy

Hol Beck

GLOBE ROA D

(PH)

1

BM 29.78m

Commercial

28.3m

6

29.0m

28.0m

38

8

Warehouse

48

1

WATER LANE

FB

Wellington

ST
 B

A
R

N
A

B
A

S
 R

O
A

D

CANAL W
HA

RF

VlCTORlA PLAC E

2

Sub  Sta

CITY WALK

WILSON STREET

MEADOW ROAD

Monk Bridge

Monk Bridge Forge

29.0m

S Gantry

24

16

MPs

BM 31.48m

6

CANAL WHA RF
G

raving

MP

FB

1

Depot

LORD
 STREET

62
TCB

Sta

Works

30.5m

45a

29.9m

W
orks

Viadu ct

Timber Yard

Sloping W
all

Monk

El

(PH)

B

29.9m

4

Freight Depot

L Col

SL

Aquatite House

MP

L Col

SL

SL

Works

Warehouse

M
arshall

Tk

28.0m

30

El
 S

ub
 S

ta

WALTON STR EET

Hotel

27.4m

12

101

Warehouse

Warehouse

8

Matthew Murray

43

52 2
3

40

Car  Park

50

20 to 22

28.3m

El

SWEET STREET

2

27.1m

3

Victoria Bridge

SWEET STREET

GREAT

1

NEW  LANE

River Air

Cen

30.5m

River

Riverside West

L Col

Car Park

L Col

16 Quayside House

29.3m

on House

El Sub Sta

SUTTO
N

Ramp

LAURA STREET

LB

BM
 32.03m

SP
RIN

G
W

ELL
 C

OUR
T

30.5m

Timber Yard

Estate

30.2m

Depot

SL

SL

S Gantry

Tanks

Works

21

1

MP 0.25

1O

Depot

29.9m

Monk Bridge Forge

L Col

SL

Yard

El Sub Sta

Depot

WB

SWEET STREET W EST

L Col

29.0m

El

El Sub Sta

29.3m

Warehouse

Warehouse

EE
T

105

FO
U

N
D

R
Y

 S
TR

E
ET

103

1

Warehouse

38

27.7m

4
SI

D
D

A
LL

 S
TR

E
ET

St D avid 's Court

1 
to

 5

28.3m

Depot

Warehouse

(PH
)

BM 32.43m

Liverpool

BM 30.15m

BM 29.50m
29.3m

28.7m

Mooring Posts

S Gantry

MP

LI
TT

L
E 

N
EV

IL
LE

 S
TR

E
ET

27.4m

Victoria Bridge

64

PO

32.3m

12

CRO
YDO

N STREET

El

MP 42

30.5m

SL

Dragon Court

21
6

Ward Bdy

Tan ks

1

W
areho

use

S Gantry

1

Depot

Yard

19

Lord

L Col

Holbeck

House

LB

L Col

SL

L Col

Builder 's

159

El Sub Sta

S Gantry

Midland

SI
LV

ER
 S

TR
E

ET
30

B
A

TH
 R

O
A

D

27.7m

31

Sub

Warehouse

FB

Warehouse

27.4m

B
U

TC
H

E
R

 STR
EE

T

Temple Works

Warehouse

27.7m

36

TCP

10

El Sub Sta

Warehouse

6

5

Warehouse

B
M

 28.03m

D
A

VI
D

 S
TR

E
ET

Car  Park

93

27.4m

W
ar

eh
ou

se

7 
to

 9

FR
O

N
T S

TR
E

ET

IN
G

R
A

M
 S

TR
E

E
T

BACK ROW

1

29.0m

1

Sub  Sta

29.0m

El Sub Sta

18

Warehouse

20

Towing Path

L Col

MP

Car Park

18

C
anal B

asin

CANAL WHARF

Lock

River Aire

1
2

3

H O L B E C K  U R B A N  V I L L A G E
© Crown Copyright and database right 2013 Ordnance Survey LA100019567 

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M CORDINGLEY

SE2932NW

16814/M
SCALE 1:3,000

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\16800 - 16899\16814 Holbeck Ownership\16814M Holbeck Ownership.mxd

DATE SAVED:     30/10/2014

Legend

Temple Works (3rd Party Ownership)

1 - Leodis Court
2 - Bath Road
3 - Sweet Street

Numbers

Holbeck Urban Village

LCC Assets

P
age 201



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Asset Management and 

Regeneration 
 

Lead person:  Lee Arnell Contact number: 24 75408 
 
1. Title: Temple Mill 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
This screening exercise sets out to ensure that due considerations are given to 
Equality, Diversity, Integration & Cohesion in arriving at the following 
recommendations being made to Executive Board on November 19th  regarding 
Temple Mill. The recommendations being: 

i) Agree that a redevelopment of Temple Mill is a city priority for securing 
Heritage Lottery Fund grant support given its Grade I listed status and 
at risk condition. 

ii) Agree in principle to work with Citu to facilitate the restoration of 
Temple Mill and the regeneration of Bath Road and Leodis Court.  

iii) Provide in principle support to Citu’s Stage One Heritage Lottery Fund 
Major Grant funding bid, to be made by a trust established by Citu, for 
their proposals for Temple Mill as set out in this report. 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 203



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

iv) Instruct officers to undertake more detailed diligence and joint working 
with Citu on the matters highlighted in paragraph 3.09 and in 
accordance with the principles set out in this report.  

v) Instruct officers to report back to Executive Board with further 
recommendations regarding the proposals to bring about the 
restoration of Temple Mill. 

 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 √ 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 √ 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 √ 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 √ 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity = Yes 
 Fostering good relations 

√  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 

Page 204



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
In drawing up recommendations, consideration was given to whether these initial actions 
could have impacts for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration. At this stage, there 
has been initial consultation with Elected Members. It is proposed for there to be more 
specific consultation as further details are developed for proposals.  
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
At this stage, the Executive Board report considers the principles by which the Council 
can support the third party led restoration of Temple Mill and does not provide specific 
commitments from the Council, with further detail to be worked through with Citu and on 
specific details on how the Council can support the restoration of building. As further 
detail is investigated and developed following Executive Board, there will be further 
opportunities to consider equality impacts of the specific proposals. At this early stage, 
the following findings have been identified: 
 
 A redevelopment at Temple Mill, and also at adjoining assets, could have a 

positive impact on the local economy by creating new jobs and homes and 
boosting of the city’s profile. A comprehensive development of the sites can also 
improve the quality of place in this location and environment.  

 A cultural/ learning space at the Temple Mill can support equality of opportunity 
and provide access to a major heritage space that many communities may not be 
able to access.  

 Existing users of parts of the building that are safe to use may be impacted by 
Citu’s proposals, depending on what role they may have in the proposals.  

 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
As further diligence takes place on Citu’s proposal and further recommendations are 
made on specific commitments the Council could make to support a restoration of 
Temple Works, there will be ongoing and regular considerations of equality and diversity 
impacts. 
 

Page 205



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

Work with Citu and their charitable trust to better understand how existing users may be 
involved in their proposals for the building.  
 
To ensure that planned consultation and engagement on proposals takes into 
consideration equality and diversity considerations.  
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. N/A 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval  
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Christine Addison Chief Asset Management 

and Regeneration Officer 
17th October 2014 

Date screening completed  
16th October 2014 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 7th November 2014 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent:  
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 206



 

  

Report author: Ben Middleton 

Tel: 2477817 

 

Report of : Director of City Development 

Report to: Executive Board 

Date: : 19 November 2014 

Subject:: Design & Cost Report for Playing Pitches and Land at Woodhall Lane, 
Pudsey, LS28 

Capital Scheme Number:  32218 

 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Calverley & Farsley 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion 
and integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 10.4(3) 

Appendix number: 1 

 

 

Summary of main issues  
 
1. There is a shortage of playing pitches in west Leeds available to clubs and the 

community and it is proposed that the Council acquires the playing pitches and land 
from Bradford University identified on the attached plan and within this report on the 
terms identified in the confidential appendix.  This land occupies a strategic gap 
between Leeds and Bradford and this acquisition will enable the Council to greater 
control the land in the area going forward. 

  
2. It is also proposed that the Council simultaneously sell the long leasehold interest of 

the freehold element outlined in black on the attached plan to Albion Sports Juniors 
Football Club, on the terms detailed in the confidential appendix, who will covenant 
with the Council to share the use of these pitches with other clubs and schools in the 
area. 

  
3. It is proposed that the Council will retain the University’s long leasehold interest pitches 

for use by the community and this acquisition will be funded by S106 monies, in order 
to protect and preserve the principle use of that land as playing fields. 
 

  

Page 207

Agenda Item 17



Recommendations 
  
4. Members of Executive Board are requested to approve: 
  
 i. The acquisition of the three parcels of land primarily laid out as playing pitches 

and grazing land from Bradford University and Bradford City Council as 
identified on the attached plan and on the heads of terms detailed within the 
confidential appendix; 

  
 ii. To approve the sale of the long leasehold interest of the area outlined in black to 

Albion Sports Juniors Football Association, on the terms identified in the 
confidential appendix, subject to Albion Sports covenanting to share the use of 
the pitches with other clubs and schools in the area; 

  
 iii. To delegate authority to the Director of City Development to negotiate the 

detailed heads of terms for the acquisition of the Woodhall sites and also to 
negotiate the detailed heads of terms for the disposal of the pitches outlined in 
black on the attached plan to Albion Sports Junior Football Association; and 

  
  

iv. To approve the injection into the 2014/15 capital programme and authority to 
spend of the sums outlined in the confidential appendix of the report which are  
funded by a capital receipt following the onward sale of the long leasehold 
interest.  
 

v. To note that the Head of Asset Management will be responsible for   
          implementation with transactions to complete within six months. 
 

  

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Executive Board approval to the 
recommendations which will allow: 

a) The acquisition of the three parcels of land primarily laid out as playing 
pitches and grazing land from Bradford University and Bradford City Council 
as identified on the attached plan and on the heads of terms detailed within 
the confidential appendix. 

b) To approve the sale of the long leasehold interest of the area outlined in 
black to Albion Sports Juniors Football Association, on the terms identified in 
the confidential appendix, subject to Albion Sports covenanting to share the 
use of the pitches with other clubs and schools in the area. 

2 Background information 

2.1 Bradford University owns the freehold interest of the pitches outlined in black and 
the long leasehold interest of the land and pitches hatched at Woodhall Lane, as 
identified on the attached plan no.3.  The playing pitches at this site are currently 
used by the University on Wednesday afternoons only, during term time.  Any 
acquisition by the Council is on the basis that terms will be agreed for the university 
to carry on using the pitches during term time on a Wednesday afternoon.  It is 
understood that the University does not run any ‘Sports’ courses and that the 
pitches are used only by students sports clubs and societies.  In addition, two 
pitches are currently used by external football clubs under licence.  

Page 208



2.2 The land marked E extends to approximately 8.5 Ha (21 acres) and comprises 4 
football pitches, 2 rugby pitches, car parking and changing rooms. Part of this area 
is overgrown and comprises a nature area around the adjoining Woodhall Lake, 
where the Council acquired the long leasehold interest from Bradford City Council.  
Bradford University own the freehold interest in this site. 

2.3 The land marked F extends to approximately 3.25 Ha (8 acres) and comprises 2 
football pitches and a range of buildings currently used for ground maintenance. 
The freehold of this land is owned by Bradford City Council and leased to Bradford 
University for a term with 68 years unexpired without review at a peppercorn rental.   

2.4 The land marked G extends to approximately 13.35 Ha (33 acres) and comprises 
grassland which is currently let for the grazing of livestock at £800 per annum.  This 
land is owned by Bradford City Council and leased to Bradford University for a term 
with 68 years unexpired without review at a peppercorn rental. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 There is a shortage of playing fields in the west Leeds area.  In order to protect the 
status of the playing fields and associated land owned by Bradford University and 
Bradford Council at Woodhall Lane and to allow them to be made available for more 
public use it is proposed that all of the land is acquired by the Council.   
 

3.2 This land occupies a strategic gap between Leeds and Bradford and this acquisition 
will enable the Council to shape the area going forward, following the Council’s 
acquisition some years ago of the long leasehold interest in Woodhall Lake. 
 

3.3 The purchase of site E will be funded by the simultaneous sale of the long 
leasehold interest to Albion Sports Junior Football Association on the terms detailed 
in the confidential appendix.  The proposed lease with Albion Sports will contain 
covenants that the pitches are made available for use by other clubs and schools in 
the area.  It is further proposed that the playing pitches will be leased back to 
Bradford University for their use on Wednesday afternoons. 

3.4 It is proposed that sites F and G are funded by the use of s106 monies and that 
these pitches will be retained by the Council for community use.  The grazing land 
will remain leased out for grazing purposes. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The Executive Member for Transport and the Economy and the Ward members 
have been briefed and support the proposal. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 This report does not highlight any issues regarding equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The acquisition of the playing pitches at Woodhall Lane will protect their future use 
and supports the Best Council Plan objective of promoting health by more people 
becoming active. 

Page 209



4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1  The land acquired and leased to Albion Sports will be maintained by the club and 
the council will have no maintenance liability for those pitches.  The long leasehold 
land retained by the Council for the community use will be maintained by the 
Council.   

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 Under Part 3 Section 3E Paragraph 2(a) of the Council’s Constitution (Officer 
Delegation Scheme (Executive Functions)) the Director of City Development has 
authority to discharge any function of Executive Board in relation to the 
management of land (including valuation, acquisition, appropriation, disposal and 
any other dealings with land or any interest in land) and Asset Management. 

4.5.2 The matters detailed within this report are subject to call in. 

4.5.3 The information contained in the Appendix to this report relates to the financial or 
business affairs of a particular person, and of the Council.  This information is not 
publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept in relation to 
certain companies and charities.  It is considered that since this information was 
obtained through one to one negotiations for the purchase of the land/property 
referred to then it is not in the public interest to disclose this information at this point 
in time.  Also the release of such information would or would be likely to prejudice 
the Council’s commercial interests in relation to and undermine its attempts to 
acquire by agreement similar properties in the locality in that owners of other similar 
properties would be aware about the nature and level of consideration which may 
prove acceptable to the Council.  It is considered that whilst there may be a public 
interest in disclosure, much of this information will be available from the Land 
Registry following completion of the purchase and consequently the public interest 
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this 
information at this point in time.  It is therefore considered that this element of the 
report should be treated as exempt under rule 10.4(3) of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 Risks associated with the proposal to acquire and dispose of the land and property 
are considered below: 

• The proposed acquisition of the freehold element of the site is predicated on 
a sale of the long leasehold interest to Albion Sports Junior Football 
Association and therefore the funding risk to the Council is minimal. 

• The acquisition of the two long leasehold interests are being funded from the 
S106 monies in the area. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Purchasing the land at Woodhall Lane will allow the Council to protect the future 
use of this land as playing pitches, enable Bradford University to continue to use the 
pitches and allow wider community use of these facilities.  The disposal of an 
element of these pitches to Albion Sports subject to the covenants outlined above 
will minimise the council’s maintenance liabilities.   
 
 
 

Page 210



6 Recommendations 

6.1 Members of Executive Board are recommended to approve: 

i. The acquisition of the three parcels of land primarily laid out as playing pitches 
and grazing land from Bradford University and Bradford City Council as 
identified on the attached plan and on the heads of terms detailed within the 
confidential appendix; 

 
ii. To approve the sale of the long leasehold interest of the area outlined in black 

to Albion Sports Juniors Football Association, on the terms identified in the 
confidential appendix, subject to Albion Sports covenanting to share the use 
of the pitches with other clubs and schools in the area; 

 
iii. To delegate authority to the Director of City Development to negotiate the 

detailed heads of terms for the acquisition of the Woodhall sites and also to 
negotiate the detailed heads of terms for the disposal of the pitches outlined in 
black on the attached plan to Albion Sports Junior Football Association; and 

 
iv. To approve the injection into the 2014/15 capital programme and authority to 

spend of the sums outlined in the confidential appendix of the report which are 
funded by a capital receipt following the onward sale of the long leasehold 
interest. 

 
   vi     To note that the Head of Asset Management will be responsible for   
           implementation with transactions to complete within six months. 
 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 There are no background documents relating to this report. 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 

unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank



House

35

Sun ny Bank

179.2m

Path (um)

Pat
h (

um
)

Lake

FS

56

LB

Thorn bury B arracks

5

165.5m

WOODHALL C
ROFT 8

Issues

PCP

20

WOODHALL PARK GROVE

185.9m

Path
 (um)

Playin g Field

Te nnis Courts

FB

65

6

2

7

24

8a

2

22

30a

5

415

Clinic

WOODHALL

9

3

17

11a

Pa th (um)

Playin g Field

Path (um)

66

FS

44

42

Pavilion

4

32

12

1

Sinks

15

Ronan Croft

1

CRESCENT

25

13

Playin g Field

Path (um)

178.3m

Issues

Overflow

168.2m

Woodhall

2

El S ub

2

36

3

30

23

419

10a

16

10

165.5m

15

WESTMEAD

Sunnybank  Lane

181.2m

Playin g Field

FS

54

7

26

28

Subway
W

OODHALL LANE

166.1m

W
OODHALL CLOSE

1

1

12

2
11

4

15

El  Sub Sta
22

1

8

12

Su
nn

yb
an

k 
La

ne

FB

Playin g Field

171.9m

167.3m

34

1

163.7m

8

RO
CK

W
OO

D 
H I

LL
 C

OU
RT

ROCKWOOD ROAD

19

7

PARK

WEST

24

182.0m

180.1m

SUNNYBANK LANE

Pa vilion

74

61

Sports Ground

64

THE GLADE

Sta

Greys tones

1

4

30

6

11

8

2a

2

17

400

19a

19

Issues

15

Sports Ground

45

Tr
ac

k

Playin g Field

Trees

W
OODHALL LANE

1

3
THE KNOLL

167.0m

1

Firlands

15

2

Pa vilion

11

11

17

20

6

16

163.4m

BRADFORD ROAD

1:4,000Scale

®

LAND OFF
WOODHALL LANE

PUDSEY
LEEDS LS28

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M. CHRISTIAN

SE2034NW

16506/E

SUBJECT SITE´

LAND SOLD BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

LAND OWNED BY
APPLICANT

LAND OWNED BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

(c) Crown Copyright and database right [2014]
Ordnance Survey LA100019567

0 30 60 90 12015
Metres

Calverley & Farsley
Ward

´
WARD BOUNDARY

Date: 28/10/2014

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\16500 - 16599\16506E Woodhall Lane PANEL.mxd

F

´

´

LAND LEASED IN BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

G

E

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 215

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th November 2014 

Subject: Leeds City Centre Business Improvement District  

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 
 
Summary of main issues 
 
1. A Business Improvement District (BID) would achieve a step change in the 

ability of Leeds to improve and promote its city centre as a leading European 
business location, a top UK retail destination, and a source of new jobs and 
economic growth. The private sector, supported by the Council, has formed 
the BID4Leeds company to develop proposals for a BID for Leeds City Centre. 
This would generate around £2million investment annually from business.  
 

2. A BID is where businesses vote to levy additional business rates on occupiers 
to create funds earmarked for improvements to an area. The BID4Leeds 
proposals are for this levy to be at 1.25% of rateable value. Occupiers of 
premises with a rateable value of below £60,000 would be excluded from 
paying the levy, ensuring most small firms would not incur additional costs.  
 

3. A ballot is required to introduce a BID. A majority of the potential levy payers 
need to vote in favour (over 50% of those voting by absolute number, and 
50% of the total rateable value). The Ballot for a Leeds City Centre BID is 
planned for February 2015, with a view to the BID starting in April 2015. 
 

4. The aim is for a BID that is ambitious and wide-ranging in its aims. It will be 
about more than just promoting Leeds as a shopping destination; it will 
improve and promote Leeds City Centre as a major source of jobs and 
economic growth. It will encompass retail, offices, leisure / tourism and 
universities and colleges.  

 Report author:  Tom Bridges 

Tel:  43735 

Page 217

Agenda Item 18



 

 

 
5. A business plan has been produced specifying projects to:  

 

• improve the welcome and brand of Leeds City Centre to attract visitors; 

• enhance the quality of the experience of people visiting and working in Leeds 
City Centre, including making the city centre street environment more 
attractive and supporting a high quality events programme; and 

• strengthen Leeds as a business location, improving business intelligence, 
volunteering and skills projects.  
 

6. The investment of the BID would be in addition to Leeds City Council services 
in the area, which must be specified in a legally binding baseline agreement.  

 
7. Leeds City Centre is an economic powerhouse. It is the location for over 

115,000 jobs and the largest concentration of financial and professional 
services jobs in the UK outside London. It is home to two of the city’s 
universities and its main teaching hospital. It is the key retail, leisure, cultural 
and visitor destination in Leeds City Region. 
 

8. Significant progress has been made in the past few years in improving and 
developing Leeds City Centre and in supporting the creation of new jobs in 
major business sectors. Progress has included developments such as Trinity 
Leeds and the First Direct Arena which completed in 2013; further retail 
development at Victoria Gate and the office developments at Sovereign 
Square and Wellington Place are currently on site.  
 

9. However, we must not be complacent. The competition is not standing still. 
The internet, out-of-town shopping centres and supermarkets all pose threats. 
Leeds competes with other UK and European cities in attracting visitors, 
shoppers, talented workers and business investment. Successful city centres 
will be those that provide quality retail, leisure and visitor and cultural 
attractions, public realm and office locations. Businesses and people have 
increasingly high expectations of the places they operate, work and visit. 
Trinity Leeds and the First Direct Arena have raised the bar, other projects are 
following suit. The rest of the city centre, including its shopping streets, office 
quarters, public spaces and gateways need to be of the same quality. A BID 
can also help develop a more child friendly, and age friendly city centre. 
 

10. Executive Board in September 2013 approved recommendations encouraging 
the private sector to come forward with proposals for BIDs. Following a 
feasibility study, in April 2014 Executive Board approved recommendations to 
support the principle of a city centre BID. A consultation was undertaken by 
BID4Leeds in summer 2014 and a Business Plan has been produced. 
 

11. This report seeks approval from Executive Board for: the BID4Leeds Business 
Plan, including the proposed geographical boundary; the intention to go to a 
BID Ballot in February 2015 and the details for holding the ballot; the Baseline 
Service Agreement setting out the services the Council is committed to 
providing in the BID area; and the arrangements for collecting the BID levy 
and provision to the BID Proposer of rating list data relevant to the BID area.  

Page 218



 

 

 
Recommendations 

 
12. Executive Board is recommended to: 

 
(a) Support the BID4Leeds proposals to achieve a step change in the ability of 

Leeds to improve and promote its city centre as successful business 
location, as a place to study, a source of jobs growth, and as a leading 
retail, leisure, cultural, and visitor destination; 
 

(b) To confirm the Council’s position that, as a potential levy payer in respect 
to properties it occupies within the BID area, it will vote in favour of the BID, 
and will delegate the vote to the Director of City Development; 
 

(c) Confirm that the Council is satisfied that the BID4Leeds proposals do not 
conflict with any existing Council Policy and the proposed BID boundary 
has not been manipulated inappropriately;  
 

(d) Confirm that the Council is satisfied that the submission of the draft BID 
proposal (set out mainly in the BID4Leeds Business Plan) includes: the 
proposed aims and projects; details of the consultation undertaken; a 
notice in writing confirming intention to go to ballot;  demonstrates finances 
available to cover the cost of the ballot in the event that it fails or fails to 
reach 20% turnout; and delegates approval of the final business  plan and 
boundary to the Director of City Development in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Transport and the Economy; 
 

(e) Confirm that the Council is satisfied that the final proposals include all of 
the details stated within Schedule 1 of the BID Regulations; 
 

(f) Provide a commitment to maintain provision of quality services in the BID 
area, and to approve the Baseline Services Agreement setting out the 
services that the Council is legally bound to continue to fund or provide for 
the duration of the BID;  
 

(g) Approve the arrangements set out in the Operating Agreement for the 
Council to manage the collection and enforcement of BID levy charges and 
to charge a reasonable fee for this service;  
 

(h) Approve the arrangements for the Council to operate the ballot;  
 

(i) Provide the relevant rating list data pursuant with the boundary proposed 
from the BID Proposer at the outset of the process, and in due course an 
updated version for the purposes of the electoral register; and 
 

(j) Note the stages and timescales required to implement the decision as 
outlined in these recommendations; and that the Chief Economic 
Development Officer will be responsible for its implementation. 

 

Page 219



 

 

1. Purpose of this report  
 

1.1 This report seeks to update Executive Board on the progress made in the 
development of the Leeds City Centre BID proposals since the last report to 
Executive Board in April this year.   

 
1.2 Following the decision and Executive Board in April 2014 to support the 

principle of a Leeds city centre BID, this report seeks Executive Board’s 
support for the detailed proposals that have been developed by BID4Leeds, 
the body promoting the BID. Specifically, this report recommends approval 
from Executive Board of the BID4Leeds Business Plan; the Baseline Services 
Agreement specifying Council services; the arrangements for the Ballot; and 
the arrangements for collection of the levy. 

 
2. Background information 

 
2.1.1 Context 
 
2.1.1 A BID is a business-led partnership that enables coordinated investment in the 

management and marketing of a commercial area and is a defined 
geographical area. Governed by legislation to ensure fairness and 
transparency, a BID is created for a five year period following a successful 
ballot. During the term of the BID all businesses defined within this Business 
Plan will be required to pay the mandatory levy irrespective of whether they 
cast a vote in the ballot. 

 

2.1.2 For a BID to be approved the vote needs to deliver a majority in favour both in 
terms of the number of businesses and the rateable value of the business 
premises. Over 175 BID successful proposals have been developed in towns 
and cities throughout the UK. Of the BID Ballots held in the UK, 85% have so 
far voted in favour of a BID. Each BID proposal is different depending on local 
needs and priorities, but usually undertakes a range of activities to enhance 
the role of their area as a business location, and a retail and visitor 
destination. 
  

2.1.3 For a BID to be successful it must be driven by businesses and other 
occupiers (such as universities, hospitals, cultural organisations) in partnership 
with the public sector. The BID is steered by a private sector board. Typically, 
a BID company is formed by the private sector, working in partnership and 
sharing resources with the Local Authority. 

 
2.1.4 A clear geographical boundary is identified and each rateable unit within the 

area assessed for a levy, typically 1% to 2% of the rateable value to be paid 
into a fund for projects to be determined by the private sector BID board. 
There is scope to introduce a minimum rateable value below which businesses 
do not pay the levy, ensuring additional costs are not imposed on small 
businesses. A BID can include all businesses in an area, or it can be focused 
on particular sectors (e.g. retail). 
 

Page 220



 

 

2.1.5 Sustainable and inclusive economic growth and civic entrepreneurship are 
priorities of the Best Council Plan, and the report of the Commission for the 
Future of Local Government. A successful Leeds City Centre Business 
Improvement District (BID) could generate direct investment for the city centre 
up to £2m annually, and lever in much more. It will strengthen the city’s ability 
to compete internationally and within the UK for jobs, investment and growth. 
It will be based on a strong partnership between the private and public 
sectors, mobilising those with the powers, resources, skills, and commercial 
interests to really make a difference. 

 
2.2 The Case for a Leeds City Centre Business Improvement District 

 
2.2.1 There is now considerable momentum and support for the development of a 

BID in Leeds City Centre. 
 
2.2.2 There is a growing sense of confidence and ambition in Leeds City Centre 

following the opening of major projects such as Trinity Leeds, Leeds First 
Direct Arena in 2013 and the success of the Grand Depart, putting Leeds on 
the global stage. This momentum and increased profile will continue with the 
Victoria Gate project, the Leeds Kirkgate Market redevelopment, and major 
office schemes. Leeds City Centre is the most important location in Leeds City 
Region for firms in the financial and professional services, digital sectors and 
for headquarters functions. It is the location of two universities, a major 
teaching hospital, and leisure and cultural attractions. Over 115,000 people 
are employed in Leeds City Centre and it is home to over 25% of the city’s 
private sector jobs. It is an economic powerhouse that has the potential to 
drive future economic growth and job creation. Now is the time to build on this 
momentum and for the private sector to take the lead, with the support of the 
Council, in securing the long-term future success of Leeds City Centre.  

 
2.2.3 The competition is not standing still. The internet, out-of-town shopping 

centres and supermarkets all pose threats. Leeds competes with other UK and 
European cities in attracting visitors, shoppers, talented workers, and 
investment. Successful city centres will be those that provide an integrated 
quality offer encompassing retail, leisure, visitor and cultural attractions and 
office locations. Businesses and people have increasingly high expectations of 
cleanliness, safety and the quality of activities in the places they work in, live 
in and visit. Trinity Leeds and the First Direct Arena have raised the bar and 
other projects such as Victoria Gate, Sovereign Square and Wellington Place 
are following suit. The rest of the city centre, including its shopping streets, 
office quarters, public spaces and gateways need to be of the same quality.  
 

2.2.4 Leeds is the largest city not to have a BID in the UK. Heart of Manchester has 
a £5m BID commencing on 1st April 2013, Birmingham currently has 10 BIDs 
and London has 25. Liverpool, Nottingham, Newcastle, Reading and Bristol 
have functioning BIDs and Sheffield is a year into the planning for a BID 
proposal. Central London has highly successful BIDs, including the New West 
End Company covering Oxford Street and Regent Street and the Heart of 
London BID covering the West End leisure area.  

   

Page 221



 

 

2.3 Progress since April 2014 
 
2.3.1 Executive Board has considered reports on the Leeds City Centre BID on two 

previous occasions, first in September 2013 and later in April 2014. 
 
2.3.2 Executive Board of September 2013 considered a report on BIDs and 

approved recommendations to encourage the private sector to bring forward 
BID proposals in line with the Council’s strategic objectives.  

 
2.3.3 Executive Board in September 2013 resolved: 

 
(a) That it agreed to being open to the private sector bringing forward 

proposals for BIDs that are in line with the Council’s strategic policy 
objectives, namely to improve and promote the city centres and town and 
district centre as successful retail and leisure and tourism destinations. 

 
(b) That approval was given to adopt the position of in principle support for 

BIDs, subject to a full BID proposal coming forward from a proposer which 
should be aligned to the Council’s objectives, and there being clear 
evidence of an effective partnership and approach to delivery. 

 
(c) That support was given to initial BID inception work in the early stages by 

using the City Council’s expertise to offer high level advice on BID 
development as necessary. 

 
(d) That it supported the need to undertake further work to examine the case 

for a Tourism BID (TBID), as well as other potential mechanisms for 
securing private sector funding for work to improve and promote Leeds as 
a destination for  visitors, and host city for major events 

 
(e) The private sector BID steering group under the lead of the Leeds 

Chamber of Commerce and with the involvement and minority financial 
support from the Council commissioned a feasibility study in February 
2014. The study concluded that there is a real and urgent appetite for a 
Leeds City Centre BID amongst businesses and key City Centre 
stakeholders. It affirmed the view that the creation of a Leeds City Centre 
BID will be a catalyst for economic stimulus to growth and jobs.   

 
2.3.5 In April 2014 Executive Board resolved to:  
 

(a) Support the principle of a Leeds City Centre BID, with the aim of improving 
and promoting Leeds City Centre as a leading European business location; 
 

(b) Agree to consider the council’s support for the final bid boundary following the 
next phase of consultation; 
 

(c) Support the principle of occupiers of small business units (below a certain 
rateable value to be determined) exempted from paying additional rates; 
 

Page 222



 

 

(d) Support in principle for the Council to be a levy payer, subject to it being 
satisfied with the proposed BID boundary, business plan and levy rate;  
 

(e) Agree to continued partnership with the private sector in the development of a 
Leeds City Centre BID by approving joint funding of the next phase of work to 
consult further, develop a proposed BID business plan, run a campaign to 
encourage occupiers to vote for a BID, and hold a bid ballot in November 
2014;  
 

(f) Agree to provide up to £150,000 of funding, recoverable from the BID in the 
event there is a Yes vote, to the Chamber of Commerce for the next phase of 
work up to the BID ballot, on the understanding that there will also be 
significant private sector contribution (if a BID is established, this funding will 
be repaid to the Council by the BID in its first year); and 
 

(g) Instruct the Chief Economic Development Officer to bring a report to a future 
meeting of Executive Board (likely to be September 2014) to seek approval on 
the proposed BID business plan, and to progress to a BID ballot. 
 

(h) and to note: 
i) the stages required to implement the decision as outlined in section 4 of 

this report 
ii) proposed timescales for implementation as outlined in section 4 of this 

report 
iii) that the Chief Economic Development Officer will be responsible for its 

implementation 
 
2.4 The BID Proposals  
 
2.4.1 BID4Leeds is the group promoting a BID for Leeds City Centre. It is private 

sector led (with the Chamber as a main promoter) and public sector backed 
(LCC are members).  The Chair of BID4Leeds is John Bywater, ex Managing 
Director of Hammerson. Gerald Jennings, of Land Securities, has been a 
driving force behind the work to promote a BID.  The BID campaign is being 
funded by Leeds City Council (who is providing the majority of the funding) 
and private sector firms (Land Securities, Hammerson, TCS, KPMG, DLA 
Piper, Bond Dickinson, Shulmans, Squire Patton Boggs). 

 
2.4.2 A consultation was undertaken in summer 2014. Following this changes were 

made to the proposed boundary, to include Quarry Hill, but exclude parts of 
the Waterfront. There was strong support for a BID that is ambitious and wide-
ranging in its aims, it needs to be about more than just managing and 
promoting Leeds as a shopping destination; it should promote the role of 
Leeds City Centre as a major source of jobs and economic growth.  

 
2.4.3 The BID4Leeds Draft Business Plan 2015-2020 sets out the background to 

the Leeds City Centre BID.  It defines the boundary, identifies the 3 key 
business priorities, addresses issues of governance, finance, including levy 
rate rules and voting.  It is attached at Appendix 1. The main priorities are 
aiming for high standards (recognising the competition is not standing still), 

Page 223



 

 

raising the profile; and adding value (to what is in place currently). Potential 
projects are outlined:  

 

• The Leeds Welcome (the physical welcome to Leeds, and the Leeds 
brand);  

• The Leeds Experience (events, street animation, safety and cleansing, 
wifi); 

• The Leeds Business Voice (promoting Leeds as a business location, 
improving business intelligence, volunteering and skills projects).  

 
2.4.4 The proposed levy is 1.25% of rateable value. Small businesses (under 

£60,000 rateable value) would be exempt from paying the levy.   
 
2.4.5 The BID would not seek to duplicate roles and activities that are already 

undertaken by others. For example, in relation to the visitor economy it would 
build on and work within the framework already established under the Visit 
Leeds brand.  

 
2.4.6 The BID4Leeds Business Plan sets out an approach to the BID that is 

inclusive and based on partnership. The approach is for the BID to be private 
sector led, and public sector backed. It is proposed that the Council would 
have a seat on the BID Board. The BID will cover a wide range of sectors. It 
will represent the views of all businesses, including independents and small 
businesses that will not be liable for the levy. The BID will help develop a more 
child friendly and age friendly city centre. It will also benefit residents of the 
city centre and beyond in making the Leeds City Centre more attractive place 
and also by supporting job creation.    

 
2.5 The Baseline Services Agreement 
 
2.5.1 The legal process for establishing a BID under the Local Authority Act 2003 

requires the Council to provide information on the services that it provides 
within a defined geographical boundary. The relevant Council services in 
relation to the proposed Leeds city centre BID have been identified in the 
baseline summary provided at Appendix 2 in this report. The Council will be 
required to adhere to the baseline as a minimum level of service that it will 
provide in the BID area when the BID comes into operation. The BID will then 
seek to add value by investing in top up activity over and above the Council’s 
established baseline.     

 

2.5.2 BIDs are a proven mechanism for supporting investment in the trading 
environment through additional funding of city centre maintenance type 
projects, promotion and marketing, led by the private sector and supported by 
local authorities. The success of the Leeds city centre BID is dependent on its 
ability to prove additionality and added value to what the local authority is 
already delivering. The establishment of an agreed baseline is therefore 
critical to the process. 

 
2.5.3 The establishment of a Leeds city centre BID, subject to a successful ballot 

represents a unique opportunity for significant investment in the city centre. 

Page 224



 

 

With a BID the Council would commit to an operating agreement to provide 
baseline services, to which the BID will add value. It is the remit of the BID to 
determine which services it wishes to augment, if any.  It is therefore important 
that the Council continues to maintain the baseline level of service in the 
proposed BID area after the BID is established. The baseline legal agreement 
to be signed before the BID ballot ensures that the Council does not withdraw 
its basic services following the successful establishment of a BID. The 
baseline agreement therefore represents a summary of what the Council 
delivers currently within its budget. The risk to services being terminated or 
reduced needs to be made clear to the BID before inception as the 
commitment to the baseline in a BID area is legally binding. 

 
2.6 The BID Ballot 
 
2.6.1 A postal ballot of all business ratepayers in the BID area will take place from 

29th January 2015 to 26th February 2015.  The result will be announced on 27th 
February 2015.  The BID will proceed if two tests are met: first a simple 
majority of those voting in the ballot must vote in favour; second those voting 
in favour must represent a majority of rateable value of the hereditaments 
(rateable properties). 

 

2.6.2 In order to achieve this timescale, the notice of ballot will be posted by 15th 
January 2015 and ballot papers issued from 29th January. 

 
2.6.2 If a successful vote is achieved the BID will begin operating in April 2015. 
 
2.7 The Operating Agreement  
 
2.7.1 The Operating Agreement is a legal agreement between BID4Leeds and 

Leeds City Council.  The draft is attached at Appendix 3.  The purpose of the 
agreement is to: 

 

• establish the procedure for setting the BID Levy;  

• confirm the basis upon which the Council will be responsible for 
collecting the BID Levy; 

• set out the enforcement mechanisms available for collection of the BID 
Levy; 

• set out the procedures for accounting and transference of the BID Levy; 

• provide for the monitoring and review of the collection of the BID Levy; 
and 

• confirm the manner in which the Council's expenses incurred in 
collecting the BID Levy shall be paid. 

 
2.7.2 Once the city council has notified the BID of the date that collections begin 

(this must be within 14 days of the vote), it becomes responsible for collecting 
the BID levy. This includes serving the Demand Notices on each BID Levy 
payer and thereafter shall continue to calculate the BID Levy and serve the 
Demand Notices throughout the BID Term.  The Demand notices shall be a 
separate bill and shall not be combined with the Business Rate bill. 
 

Page 225



 

 

2.7.3 The Council would maintain a list which identifies payment and/or non-
payment of the BID Levy and shall make this available to the BID Company 
upon its reasonable request. The Council would liaise with the BID Company 
in carrying out monthly reviews of each Hereditament within the BID Area. In 
the event of any change in the occupier of each Hereditament or the merger or 
division of a Hereditament (or provision of an additional Hereditament) shall: 
serve an updated list of BID Levy payers upon the BID Company; and serve a 
Demand Notice (or alter any existing Demand Notice if appropriate) on the 
relevant BID Levy Payer. The Council will use all reasonable endeavours to 
collect the BID Levy on the date specified and thereafter on a monthly basis.  

 
3 Main Issues 
 
3.1 Principle and aims of a City Centre BID 
 
3.1.1 Executive Board in April 2013 approved recommendations supporting the 

principle of a city centre BID. Leeds City Centre has made positive progress 
in recent years, but needs to continue to improve in the face of increasing 
competition from other cities. The private sector, reflecting the demands of 
their customers and staff, have increasingly high expectations in terms of 
quality of public realm, gateways, cleansing and safety, animation and 
marketing and promotion of Leeds City Centre.  

 
3.1.2 Whilst Leeds City Council will commit to maintain standards of service in the 

city centre, in the context of continuing public sector funding cuts, it will not 
be possible for the Council alone to deliver the enhancements required.  A 
BID would enable the private sector to play a clearer role in leading and 
funding work to improve and promote the city centre as a retail and visitor 
destination and business location.  

 
3.1.3 The BID4Leeds proposals are for a BID that is about much more than retail. 

It will be focused on positioning Leeds City Centre more clearly as a major 
driver of jobs and growth to benefit all of Leeds and Leeds City Region. It will 
cover all business sectors, including retail, leisure, cultural institutions, 
tourism, office, universities and colleges, and public sector.   

 
3.2   The BID Boundary 

  
3.2.1 The proposed BID boundary is set out at Figure 1 below. The boundary 

encompasses the main city centre retail, office and leisure quarters.  
 

3.2.1 Following the consultation on the BID proposals, the boundary was extended 
to encompass parts of the Quarry Hill area, and Leeds Minster and its 
environs. This was in response to views of consultees, including the Council 
and Leeds Civic Trust, that it is important to improve links between the city 
centre and the main cultural institutions and facilities at Quarry Hill (for 
example, West Yorkshire Playhouse, Northern Ballet Theatre, BBC). 

 
3.2.3 The proposed BID boundary extends south of the railway station to 

encompass the Granary Wharf and Sovereign Square areas. However it 

Page 226



 

 

does not extend to most of the Waterfront area or south of the River Aire. 
This is because the Waterfront faces different issues to the rest of the city 
centre, and also because there are aspirations for a separate Waterfront BID 
in the future.  

 
3.2.4 The University of Leeds estate is adjacent to, but not within the proposed 

BID boundary. This is to avoid the boundary becoming too large, and the 
activities and the resources of the BID being spread too thinly. However it is 
recognised that the University of Leeds is a highly significant organisation to 
the economy of Leeds City Centre. Therefore it is proposed to invite the 
University of Leeds to make voluntary contribution to enable it to participate 
in the BID. The Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust have indicated that they 
would be mindful to support the BID boundary to include the Leeds General 
Infirmary, subject to their contribution being capped at an appropriate rate.  

 
 
Figure 1. Proposed Boundary of City Centre BID  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 227



 

 

3.3 Exemption of Small Businesses 
 
3.3.1   It is proposed that occupiers of property within the BID boundary with a  

rateable value below £60,000 will not have to pay the BID levy. This ensures  
that most small businesses will be exempt from BID costs but will enjoy the  
benefits of being located in the BID boundary. This position supports the  
Council’s desire to continue to enable positive help to small and   
independent businesses in the city centre. 
 

3.3.2   There is the recognition however that the exemption based on rateable value  
could mean that a very small number of national multiples occupying smaller  
rateable value premises could also be exempt. However most city centre 
branches of national retail multiples, coffee shops, bars and other food and 
drink operators have a rateable value of over £60,000 and will be liable for the 
levy. Where large multiples have units that fall below a rateable value of 
£60,000 the BID legislation does not allow for a levy to be charged. These 
businesses may however provide voluntary contributions. 
 

3.4  Baseline Services Agreement 
 
3.4.1 The purpose of the BID in Leeds City centre is to add value to existing 

services in the areas of interest to the BID. BID4Leeds has developed a draft 
business plan with a focus on 3 themes. The Leeds Welcome; The Leeds 
Experience and Business Voice. It is therefore important that Council delivered 
services in these areas are continued to be maintained to a good standard in 
order to ensure that the BID’s investment in the city centre delivers genuine 
added value, over and above an agreed baseline of public services. The BID 
will need to clearly demonstrate to its levy payers that it is adding to, and not 
substituting for, existing services. The increased investment in the city centre 
will mean that the Council will need to be flexible to do things differently in 
response to the BID, in order to maximise the cumulative impact of good 
standard of Council services augmented by BID investment, to deliver positive 
outcomes. 
 

4. Corporate Considerations 
  
4.1 Consultation and Engagement 
 
4.1.1 The BID4Leeds steering group have initiated consultation with nearly 200 

stakeholders, through 30 meetings, five presentations and three consultation 
workshops. There is strong support for the BID for Leeds to progress to a 
ballot in February 2015. The Leeds City Centre Partnership Board has been 
consulted on the BID and is supportive. The Council has also been consulted 
including, the Leader of the Council, the Executive Member for Transport and 
the Economy, the Deputy Executive Member for Transport and Economy (and 
Chair of the City Centre Partnership Board), the Directors of Environment and 
Housing and City Development and senior Council officers in appropriate 
related services in Cleansing, community safety, Highways, Culture and Sport 
and Economic Development. Members of City and Hunslet ward have also 
been informed of the BID proposal. 

Page 228



 

 

 
4.1.2 The BID4Leeds have consulted businesses in developing the BID4Leeds draft 

business plan that forms the basis for the BID’s operating plan. All businesses 
likely to be subject to the levy, and therefore have a vote, were contacted 
during June 2014 to August 2014. A variety of means were utilised including 
email, telephone, face to face and meeting presentations. The survey was 
available online and by hard copy and was distributed to 100% of businesses. 
Direct contact was made with named individuals for a total of 709 out of the 
probable 1,097 voters (65%) during this phase.  
 

4.1.3 Following consultation undertaken in summer 2014 changes were made to the 
proposed boundary, to include Quarry Hill, but exclude parts of the Waterfront. 
There emerged strong support for a BID that is ambitious and wide-ranging in 
its aims, needing to be about more than just managing and promoting Leeds 
as a shopping destination; it concluded that the role of Leeds City Centre as a 
major source of jobs and economic growth should form an important vision for 
the BID. The Council advised BID4Leeds of the need to have Council 
representation on the BID board. BID4Leeds agreed to include the Council on 
the BID board and to reflect this in the BID business plan.  

 
4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 
 
4.2.1 An equality and diversity screening has been completed and attached. It  
           indicates that there are no specific implications for equality and diversity as a  
           result of the development of a Leeds city centre BID. If successful at ballot,  
           the Leeds City Centre BID, by exempting small business from paying a BID  
           levy provides small and independent establishments with the opportunity to  
           grow their business, support jobs growth and enable a diverse and vibrant  
           Leeds city centre economy. 
 
4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 
 
4.3.1 The proposals for a City Centre BID are in line with the main themes from the 

report of the Commisison for the Future of Local Government on Civic 
Entrepreneurship, and Good Economic Growth. The Leeds city centre BID will 
support to the delivery of the best Council Plan 2013-17 objective of 
“Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth” and the city Priority 
Plan objective, “Best city for business” by raising the profile of Leeds nationally 
and supporting the sustainable growth of the Leeds economy. Specifically, it 
will support the delivery of the following City Priority Plan priorities and Core 
Strategy Objectives: 

 

• Support the sustainable growth of the Leeds’ economy; 

• Raise the profile of Leeds nationally; 

• Support the continued vitality, economic development and distinctiveness 
of the City Centre as the regional centre; and  

• Promote the role of town and local centres as the heart of the community 
which provide a focus for shopping, leisure, economic development and 
community facilities and spaces. 

  

Page 229



 

 

 Proposals for BIDs are aligned with our planning framework for managing 
towns and districts and the city centre. 

 
4.3.2 The proposed outcomes of the Leeds Business Improvement District under 

the themes of “Leeds Welcome” and “Leeds Experience” support the Council’s 
aspiration to be a child friendly city. Proposed projects will enable the city 
centre to be much more welcoming to children, families and adults that may 
need additional support, such as people with dementia. 

 
4.4 Resources and value for money 
 
4.4.1 The Council will have a responsibility as an occupier of premises within the 

BID boundary. The Council’s total levy liability in properties which it occupies 
has been estimated at £93k a year. There will be a need to meet this liability 
within the Council’s planned budget. It is important to note that the Leeds city 
centre BID will secure £10m direct additional investment in the city centre over 
a 5 year period. This level of investment could not otherwise be raised by the 
Council and represents a significant spend in the economic development of 
the city centre. It demonstrates the unique and valuable opportunity that a 
Leeds city centre BID represents.   
 

4.4.2 Executive board in April 2014 approved the allocation of £150k funding to 
support the development of a BID for Leeds city centre, with the agreement 
that this funding will be fully recoverable from the BID on the attainment of a 
YES ballot. This can be recovered in year 1 of the BID’s operation. 
 

4.4.3 The responsibility and cost for holding the BID ballot is the statutory 
responsibility of the Council as set out in the BID regulations of the Local 
Authority Act 2003. The (one-off) cost of the ballot is estimated at £7,850 and 
is non-recoverable. It will need to be met by the Local Authority host service 
for the BID in Economic Development. 

 
4.4.4 The cost for Levy collection is £24k a year and will be met by the BID on an 

annual basis. 
 
4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

 
4.5.1 In considering the BID4Leeds Business plan the Council will be making sure 

that it is satisfied with the due process followed in developing the business 
plan and that the proposals do not conflict with the council’s plans and 
priorities. The Council has the right of veto under the BID regulations if it it is of 
the view that a proposed BID conflicts with its policies. No Council in the UK 
has to date used its power of veto. BIDs are regulated by the statutory 
instrument number 2443 of The Business Improvement Districts (England) 
Regulations 2004. The Local Authority role is guided by the local Government 
Act 2003 Chapter 26. 

 
4.5.2 An operating agreement between Leeds BID Limited and Leeds City Council,  
           which defines the contractual arrangements for the collection and  
           enforcement of the BID levy is in place and is set out in the draft business  

Page 230



 

 

           plan.  
 
4.6 Risk Management 

 
4.6.1 The BID4Leeds draft business plan has been developed in consultation with 

businesses to ensure it meets their needs and therefore more likely to be 
successfully voted for. In the event of a “yes” vote, all funding provided by the 
Council towards the development of the BID will be recovered from the BID 
levy. It is possible however for the BID ballot to fail to meet the positive 
thresholds on majority by number and rateable value required. In the case of a 
NO vote, the funding provided by the Council and the proposers of the BID to 
cover the development process will not be recoverable. 

 
5 Conclusion 
 
5.1 A Business Improvement District would secure significant private sector 

investment in activity to improve and promote Leeds City Centre as a business 
and investment location, a retail and visitor destination, and a driver of jobs 
and economic growth.  

 
5.2  The BID4Leeds proposals are in line with the Council’s priorities. The 

proposed levy of 1.25% on rateable value is reasonable, and the proposed 
threshold of £60,000 rateable value below which no levy will be payable will 
ensure most small businesses do not incur additional costs. The proposed 
boundary of the BID, and the plans to include the retail, leisure, office, culture, 
tourism, education and public sectors reflect accurately the economic role and 
functional area of Leeds City Centre. 

 
5.3 The Baseline Services Agreement proposed by the Council, will ensure the 

BID delivers genuine additionality to public services. The Operating 
Agreement sets out how the Council will support the BID by collecting the levy, 
and managing the ballot. 
 

5.4 Leeds City Centre has made huge progress in recent years, and a new wave 
of major development projects are on site currently creating thousands of jobs. 
However there is the potential for Leeds City Centre to contribute much more 
to the city’s and city region’s economic growth. The BID will provide a step-
change in private sector, and will mobilise business, working with the Council 
to enhance the city centre’s gateways, public realm, management, animation, 
and image and profile. It will enable the opportunity to raise our game in 
delivering significant events that promote Leeds as a city and a powerhouse in 
the North of England. Now is the time to grasp the opportunity to continue the 
development of Leeds City Centre as a leading visitor destination and 
business location.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



 

 

6 Recommendations 
 

Executive Board is recommended to: 
 
(a) Support the BID4Leeds proposals to achieve a step change in the ability of 

Leeds to improve and promote its city centre as successful business 
location, as a place to study, a source of jobs growth, and as a leading 
retail, leisure, cultural, and visitor destination; 

 
(b) To confirm the Council’s position that, as a potential levy payer in respect 

to properties it occupies within the BID area, it will vote in favour of the BID, 
and will delegate the vote to the Director of City Development; 
 

(c) Confirm that the Council is satisfied that the BID4Leeds proposals do not 
conflict with any existing Council Policy and the proposed BID boundary 
has not been manipulated inappropriately;  
 

(d) Confirm that the Council is satisfied that the submission of the draft BID 
proposal (set out mainly in the BID4Leeds Business Plan) includes: the 
proposed aims and projects; details of the consultation undertaken; a 
notice in writing confirming intention to go to ballot;  demonstrates finances 
available to cover the cost of the ballot in the event that it fails or fails to 
reach 20% turnout; and delegates approval of the final business  plan and 
boundary to the Director of City Development in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Transport and the Economy; 
 

(e) Confirm that the Council is satisfied that the final proposals include all of 
the details stated within Schedule 1 of the BID Regulations; 
 

(f) Provide a commitment to maintain provision of quality services in the BID 
area, and to approve the Baseline Services Agreement setting out the 
services that the Council is legally bound to continue to fund or provide for 
the duration of the BID;  
 

(g) Approve the arrangements set out in the Operating Agreement for the 
Council to manage the collection and enforcement of BID levy charges and 
to charge a reasonable fee for this service;  
 

(h) Approve the arrangements for the Council to operate the ballot;  
 

(i) Provide the relevant rating list data pursuant with the boundary proposed 
from the BID Proposer at the outset of the process, and in due course an 
updated version for the purposes of the electoral register; and 
 

(j) Note the stages and timescales required to implement the decision as 
outlined in these recommendations; and that the Chief Economic 
Development Officer will be responsible for its implementation. 
 

 

Page 232



 

 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

8 Appendices 

8.1 BID4Leeds Business Plan 

8.2 LCC Baseline Services Agreement 

8.3. LCC Operating Agreement 

 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s 
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents 
does not include published works. 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

1 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

SECURING FIVE YEARS OF INVESTMENT 
2015 to 2020 
 
Draft Business Plan 
(subject to final design sign-off) 
  

Page 235



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

2 
 

WHAT IS BID4LEEDS? 
BID4Leeds is the name given to the partnership run by Leeds BID Limited, which has 
been established as a not for profit company to act as the BID Proposer to create a 
Business Improvement District (BID) for investing in the City Centre of Leeds. 
 

WHAT IS A BID? 
A BID is a business-led partnership that enables coordinated investment in the 
management and marketing of a commercial area. Governed by legislation to ensure 
fairness and transparency, a BID is created for a five year period following a 
successful ballot. During the term of the BID all businesses defined within this 
Business Plan will be required to pay the mandatory levy irrespective of whether 
they cast a vote in the ballot. 

  
WHY DOES LEEDS NEED A BID? 
Leeds is an economic powerhouse. 
 
One of the fastest growing cities in the UK, Leeds has the second largest 
employment total outside London and over 750,000 population. 
 
As the UK’s largest financial and business services centre outside London, this sector 
employs over 124,000 people in the City. Leeds is also recognised as the UK’s most 
important legal centre outside London, with over 180 law firms. Together with over 
200 accountancy firms including the majority of the 20 largest UK practices. The 
Bank of England also has a major presence in the City through its cash centre, which 
is responsible for bulk note handling for the North of England alongside over 30 
national and international banks located in the centre. Further investment and 
development activity is continuing through the Sovereign Square scheme and West 
End schemes although there remains still little speculative office provision. 
 
Leeds has consistently been ranked as one of the UK’s top five retail destinations 
with over 1,000 shops and a wide variety of offerings although position dropped in 
recent years.  Kirkgate Market, part of which is a Grade I listed building dating back 
from 1875 was where Marks & Spencer originates - Michael Marks opened his penny 
bazaar there back in 1884 and still operates as the largest covered market in Europe. 
Many independent retailers can be found around the city amongst the various 
streets and within the listed Corn Exchange.  Significant recent retail investment has 
come to the city in the form of Trinity Leeds, which opened in 2013 joining Harvey 
Nichols and the many other high street and high-end names in and around Briggate 
and Victoria Quarter. The next major wave of development is already underway 
through Victoria Gate with a major scheme comprising John Lewis, specialist retail 
linking through to Victoria Quarter and further city centre car parking. 
 
Leeds is the only English city outside London with its own repertory theatre, opera 
house and ballet companies. The Cultural Quarter is situated in the east of the city 
centre with landmarks including the BBC building and the West Yorkshire Playhouse. 
Just to the south of city centre also lies the Royal Armouries Museum, which is a 

Page 236



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

3 
 

major tourist destination for the city.  The most recent visitor destination is the new 
Leeds Arena, which opened in 2013 and has 12,500 seating capacity.  The many 
attractions and retail and leisure offerings are well supported by a wide variety of 
hotels across the city centre ranging through budget, business and luxury. Much of 
this activity is not well joined-up at present to maximise the opportunities and 
therefore the BID will provide the mechanism to ensure coordinated activity. 
 
In terms of education, there are almost 75,000 students at Leeds’ two internationally 
acclaimed universities and 10% of all UK graduates were educated in Leeds.  
Alongside this, there are many other highly regarded educational institutions within 
the city including Leeds City College and the Leeds College of Music. 
 
Leeds City Station is the busiest station in the north of England with over 900 trains 
and 100,000 passengers per day.   
 
But we must not be complacent. The competition is not standing still. 
Increasingly there is a need to collaboratively invest in our town and city centres to 
safeguard their future. With greater competition to the traditional high street 
model; heightened customer and client expectations; and increasing pressures on 
public sector resources, a BID provides a compelling and accountable approach to 
ensure continued investment and coordinated place management.  

 
  

Page 237



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

4 
 

The Consultation 
It is critical that we have understood the priorities of you, your staff and your 
customers when building the BID Business Plan for the next five years. We therefore 
created a variety of opportunities to engage with you and to ensure your views were 
heard during the Consultation. 
 

1. Feasibility: 
A comprehensive feasibility phase was undertaken, which ran from 
September 2013 to February 2014. Members of the Feasibility Study team 
undertook a consultation process which involved nearly 200 key stakeholders 
through over 30 meetings, five presentations and three workshops. Support 
for a BID for Leeds city centre was overwhelming and the feedback has 
informed this next stage of consultation and development. 

2. Consultation: 
A thorough consultation of all those likely to be subject to the levy, and 
therefore have a vote, were contacted during June 2014 to August 2014. A 
variety of means were utilised including email, telephone, face to face and 
meeting presentations. The survey was available online and by hard copy and 
was distributed to 100% of businesses. Direct contact was made with named 
individuals for a total of 709 out of the probable 1,097 voters (65%) during 
this phase.  

3. Business Plan Projects Testing: 
Draft Business Plan Projects was drawn up through the BID4Leeds Steering 
Group and this was tested through a variety of routes using email and hard 
copy version for the month of October 2014. This was sent to all known 
voters via email and distributed by hard copy through a variety of groups and 
initiatives. 

  

Page 238



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

5 
 

THE BID4LEEDS VISION 
 
Many great partnerships, projects and initiatives exist across the city centre of Leeds.  
 
The BID’s vision is one of ambition. 
To drive Leeds city centre forward to compete on a global scale and to act as a 
pivotal coordinating voice uniting people’s efforts to maximise the benefit to the city 
for all business sectors. 
 
The BID’s approach will encompass leadership of new ideas and standards together 
with supporting and enhancing existing initiatives and will seek to add value by 
building on existing work streams and deliverables rather than duplicating them. 

 
THE BUSINESS PRIORITIES 
 
Following the intensive consultation, a set of clear business priorities have been 
identified for the first five years of the BID. 
 
The priorities are: 
 

1. AIMING FOR HIGH STANDARDS 
 
In the competitive landscape that we are faced with, it is critical that the 
BID ensures that the city is ambitious and aims higher in terms of place 
shaping standards to maintain and enhance the quality of provision and 
service across the city. 
 

2. RAISING THE PROFILE 
 
Leeds has a great deal to offer, and much more investment still to come. 
We must raise the profile of the city from both a consumer and corporate 
perspective.  
 

3. ADDING VALUE 
 
The BID has the ability through coordination of effort and investment to 
increase performance and achieve cost efficiencies whilst ensuring it 
doesn’t just duplicate or replace existing provision. 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
  

Page 239



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

6 
 

THE BUSINESS PLAN PROJECTS  
 

THEME ONE: THE LEEDS WELCOME 
 
Leeds has the potential to be a great city with already high-quality provision and 
services but more needs to be done to ensure this is maintained and enhanced over 
the coming years. 
 
The public sector providers including Leeds City Council and the West Yorkshire 
Police deliver a robust and thorough cleansing, street management and policing 
service that ensures a clean, safe and welcoming environment to workers, shoppers, 
residents and visitors alike.  But the requirements of a high-class city often go 
beyond the statutory obligations. 
 
BID4Leeds will focus on projects and initiatives that raise the game for both the 
physical and digital welcome to the city. 
 
The proposed projects that the BID could deliver include: 
 

1. PHYSICAL WELCOME 
Improving the access points to the City Centre to ensure a better ‘physical’ 
welcome at all entry points, especially the train station, and to ensure ease of 
navigation around the city utilising new contemporary, consistent and visible 
way finding signage. 
 

2. DISTINCTIVE WELCOME 
Developing and delivering a robust marketing and communication strategy 
showcasing and focusing on Leeds’ cultural, retail, leisure and commercial 
assets. Start the welcome for the consumer right from the online perception 
in the form of a strong consumer and corporate brand and website for the 
city and continue this through the full suite of digital and physical media 
propositions to ensure prospective visitors and users have all the information 
available to them.  Targeted campaigns to celebrate Leeds’s distinctiveness 
would include a focus on independent retailers, markets, the cultural offer to 
name just a few. 
 

3. BRANDED WELCOME 
Creating a uniformed team of BID Ambassadors to provide a meet and greet 
service, which could include static and mobile information points as the need 
arises. These Ambassadors could act as the eyes and ears for the city both 
reporting on standards of cleansing and enforcement whilst also acting as an 
information conduit to individual businesses as required. 
 
 

 
  

Page 240



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

7 
 

THEME TWO: THE LEEDS EXPERIENCE 
 
Over the years, Leeds city centre has lacked a sustained series of city events and 
activities of a national scale, but more recently has been boosted by the opening of 
the Arena together with hosting Le Grand Depart of the Tour de France and this 
must be built upon. With heightened competition there is a need to ensure a well-
rounded schedule of activities suiting all users of the city, to maximise investment 
and footfall. 
 
Leeds City Council, Leeds & Partners and Leeds Hotels and Venues Association 
currently deliver some of these elements and inevitably many of the major initiatives 
and indeed statutory services are funded and delivered by the City Council. However 
the BID provides the opportunity to put a sharper focus on coordinated efforts, 
management arrangements and an all-round programme of events and activity for 
the benefit of the city centre together with adding value and supporting the delivery 
of existing aspirations across the city. 
 
The proposed projects that the BID could deliver include: 
 

1. COORDINATED EVENTS PROGRAMME 
Creating a year-round programme of activities, from large signature events 
through to small-scale sector-focused promotions, to build on the existing 
well-established events and to identify gaps and opportunities for further 
provision to enhance the business performance of the city. Build on the ‘Tour 
de France’ effect that the city was so proud to achieve. Activities could 
include consumer-facing initiatives to increase footfall such as coordinated 
retail opening hours during Christmas trading or promotion-led activity to 
increase overnight stays across the city.  Particular emphasis would be placed 
on driving footfall and spend at times of the day and week when Leeds 
currently underperforms. 
 

2. ANIMATING THE STREETS 
Generating a series of propositions to animate the streets including items 
such as streetscape improvements, green audits and initiatives, planting 
schemes, street furniture and banners.  
  

3. PROVIDING A ONE STOP SHOP  
Acting as a one stop shop for businesses to ensure a clean and safe city 
centre. Working with the various existing initiatives such as Radio Link, Pub 
Watch, Taxi Marshalls and Street Angels that are run through partners 
including Leeds City Council, the Police and BACIL (Business Against Crime in 
Leeds) to ensure a well-managed city both day and night. 
 

4. BUSINESS TOURISM PROPOSITIONS 
To support the creation of a city wide project team to generate and fund a 
business tourism strategy around the ‘Leeds - The Conferencing City’ 
Proposition. 

Page 241



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

8 
 

5. STIMULATING A MODERN CITY 
Identify opportunities to maximise the experience for all users of the city 
utilising modern technologies such as supporting the provision of free wifi 
throughout the city. 
 
 

Page 242



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

9 
 

THEME THREE: THE LEEDS BUSINESS VOICE 
 
Cities operate more efficiently and profitably if businesses and public authorities are 
working effectively together. A strong, representative and effective business voice is 
therefore a critical component of successful place management. 
 
The BID provides the opportunity to sharpen the focus of the business voice for the 
direct benefit of the city centre and in particular sectors where varying needs and 
aspirations exist. 
 
The proposed projects that the BID could deliver include: 
 

1. ONE VOICE FOR BUSINESS 
Creating a conduit for all sectors across the city to ensure their voice is heard 
at a strategic level whilst also on a practical level to report on operational 
concerns such as parking, traffic and planning matters. The BID would also 
provide regular business communications and briefings as well as hosting 
forums and networking activities. 
 

2. INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITIES 
Creating a focus on investment needs in the City Centre and identify new 
funding opportunities to benefit individual businesses and sectors as well as 
the city as a whole to ensure Leeds can compete in the global marketplace. 
This is also representing business to ensure the city achieves a fair deal from 
the public sector and other funding sources. 
 

3. PROMOTING EXCELLENCE 
Delivering activities such as a Business Festival and a Business Awards 
initiative to promote excellence across the city and showcase best practice 
for the benefit of others. 
 

4. ACHIEVING ECONOMIES OF SCALE 
Driving down occupancy costs for businesses including investigation into a 
possible business recycling service and other collective buying opportunities 
to ensure the BID levy operates as an investment as opposed to a cost on 
business. 
 

5. A HUB FOR DATA, INTELLIGENCE AND INNOVATION 
Creating the BID as a hub for the collection and collation of data and 
intelligence of the city including footfall analysis, business surveys and 
customer surveys whilst providing a platform for innovation across the city. 
 

6. RETAINING TALENT AND SKILLS  
Promoting Leeds city centre as an economic driver of Leeds and Leeds City 
Region and promoting the city as a great place to work particularly for 
graduates. There are opportunities for the BID to add value in attracting and 
retaining talent by helping in creating a city centre environment for people to 

Page 243



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

10 
 

want to work in. The BID will also take action to stimulate business interest 
and leadership with regard to work experience placements, apprenticeships 
and volunteering to improve employment opportunities and skills. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 244



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

11 
 

THE BID AREA 
 
The proposed BID area is shown. 
Please visit www.bid4leeds.com for a full list of streets within the BID area.  
 

 
 

 
  

Page 245

http://www.bid4leeds.com/


Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

12 
 

FINANCES 
Total Budget of c. £10 million over 5 years  
 

      % 

Income  1 2 3 4 5  

Levy @ 1.25% 2,000,000 2,040,000 2,080,800 2,122,416 2,164,864  

Other Income (estimated) 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000  

Total Income 2,100,000 2,140,000 2,180,800 2,222,416 2,264,864  

       

Expenditure       

The Leeds Welcome 620,000 632,400 645,048 657,949 671,108 30 

The Leeds Experience 630,000 642,600 655,452 668,561 681,932 30 

The Leeds Business Voice 310,000 316,200 322,524 328,974 335,554 15 

Management & Overheads 360,000 367,200 374,544 382,035 389,676 17 

Contingency & Loan Repayment 180,000 181,600 183,232 184,897 186,595 9 

Total Expenditure 1,920,000 1,958,400 1,997,568 2,037,519 2,078,270 100 
 

      
 
       

 Based on Industry Criteria, an assumed collection rate of 96% has been 
adopted  

 A contingency on expenditure of 9% has been applied to allow for repayment 
on the set-up loan of £150,000 across years 1 and 2 and to enable flexibility 
to the plan in the later years of the BID.  

 All new allocation of funds from the contingency budget and/or variations of 
allocation from the theme budgets will need to be reviewed and decided 
through the BID Board. 

 The annual inflation rate on levy income has been assumed at 2% 

 The percentage of estimated additional income, derived in particular from 
voluntary contributions, amounts to 5% over the term of the BID although 
this should prove to be a cautious estimate 

 Management and overhead costs of the BID include all staffing, office 
accommodation, levy collection charges, legal and accountancy costs 
associated with running the BID, and are budgeted to remain below 20% of 
the total annual expenditure in line with Industry Criteria 

 The levy collection charge is £24,000, which amounts to 1.2% of the levy and 
£22/unit  
 

  

Page 246



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

13 
 

 

SECTOR BREAKDOWN OF THE BID AREA 
 

 
 

 
 

  

31

19

41

9

Sector Split by Hereditament %

Retail

Leisure

Office

Public

35

13

38

14

Sector Split by Rateable Value %

Retail

Leisure

Office

Public

Page 247



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

14 
 

BID LEVY RULES 
 

1. From April 2015, the levy rate to be paid by each hereditament is to be 
calculated as 1.25% of its rateable value as at the selected ‘chargeable day’ (1st 
April annually). 

2. All new hereditaments entering the Rating List after 1st April 2015 will be levied 
at 1.25% of the prevailing list. 

3.    A threshold of £60,000 Rateable Value will be applied, thereby exempting any 
businesses within the BID area falling below £60,000 Rateable Value. 

4. The number of eligible hereditaments is estimated at 1,090. 
5. The BID levy may increase by an inflationary factor of up to 2% in successive 

years (i.e. up from 1.25% to 1.27% in year 2). The board will assess if any 
increase is appropriate each year, giving careful consideration to the economic 
environment.  

6. The levy will be charged annually in advance for each chargeable period from 
April to March each year, starting in 2015. No refunds will be made.  

7. Any adjustments to the rateable values will only be adjusted at the fixed date 
of the subsequent chargeable year. 

8. The term of the BID will be five years from 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2020. 
9. In the case of an empty or untenanted premises, the property owner will be 

liable for the BID levy with no void period, and will be entitled to vote.  
 
Consideration has been given to the British BIDs Industry Criteria and Guidance Notes 
2014 when formulating the BID Levy Rules. 

 
ONE LEVY FOR LEEDS 
Leeds City Council has committed not to pursue other levy options in favour of 
supporting the principle of just one levy through the BID model. Both a Late Night 
Levy (a levy on late night leisure venues) and a Tourism BID levy (akin to a bed tax) 
had been investigated prior to developing a BID but reassurances have been given 
that neither will proceed in the event that the BID is established. 
 

 
 
  

Page 248



Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

15 
 

LEGAL AGREEMENTS 
 
A baseline agreement is in place, which sets out the agreed levels of service provided 
by Leeds City Council.  
 
An operating agreement between Leeds BID Limited and Leeds City Council, which 
defines the contractual arrangements for the collection and enforcement of the BID 
levy is in place. (Awaiting final version) 
 
Copies of these agreements can be viewed at www.bid4leeds.com   
 
 

MANAGEMENT & GOVERNANCE 
 
BID Management 
The management team for the BID will be a combination of directly employed, 
seconded and outsourced staff to ensure the full extent of skills and expertise are 
achieved. The team will need strategic leadership along with place management and 
place marketing expertise.  
 
BID Governance 
Leeds BID Limited has been established as a not for profit company to act as the BID 
Proposer to create a Business Improvement District (BID) for investing in the city 
centre of Leeds.  
 
During the BID development, a Management Board has overseen the legal and 
technical elements of the process. Alongside this, a Steering Group of willing 
volunteers from all sectors of the city have contributed their time and knowledge to 
the consultation and creation of the Business Plan. 
 
Once the BID is established, there will be a Management Board representing all 
sectors. The Board will be responsible for the strategic and financial management of 
the BID and will meet on a quarterly basis as a minimum. 
 
The split of representation on the Management Board will be per sector based on 
their relative value across the BID area to ensure all interests are suitably 
represented and the City Council will have formal representation as the provider of 
statutory services across the city. 
 
Alongside the Management Board, will be short-life and/or ongoing working groups 
focused on specific issues/projects as the need arises. These groups will always have 
at least one Director from the Management Board in their membership and the 
appropriate budget will be agreed at Management Board level. 
 
 
  

Page 249

http://www.bid4leeds.com/


Draft Business Plan v5 071114 

16 
 

 
 
 
(back page sign-off) 
 

VOTE 

TO SECURE FIVE YEARS OF INVESTMENT  
IN LEEDS CITY CENTRE 
 
 
 
 
A postal ballot of all business ratepayers in the BID area will take place from  
29th January 2015 to 26th February 2015 
 
The result will be announced on 27th February 2015 
 
The BID will proceed if two tests are met –  
 

1) A simple majority of those voting in the ballot must vote in favour 
2) Those voting in favour must represent a majority of rateable value of the 

hereditaments (rateable properties) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 250



 
 

 
Appendix 2  
 
Baseline Services Agreement 
 
Schedule 1 - The Standard Services provided by Leeds City Council 
 
1.0      HIGHWAYS  MANAGEMENT 
 
           PART 1  - Statutory Services. The activities below allow the Council to meet its statutory obligations on  
              standards of Highway management in the BID area. Any proposed changes to the methods by which  
              those standards are met will be undertaken in consultation with the business community. 

    

 
1.1 Service Standards: to provide an inspection and repair regime in accordance     

      with the current Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan available at  
      http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/HIAMP Section 4 from 2013-03-04.pdf 
 

1.2 Winter Service; to provide a winter service regime in accordance with the  

           current Winter Service Plan available at   
            http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Winter%20Service%20Plan%202013-14.pdf 
 
1.3 Street Lighting; where street lighting is provided the council has a statutory 

duty of care to maintain it. This duty of care does not imply any duty on the 
Highway Authority to keep the public lighting lit. However, an authority 
responsible for the maintenance of public lighting should be able to 
demonstrate that they have systems in place to maintain the public lighting 
equipment in a safe condition. The council will arrange for inspections of the 
lighting equipment on a regular basis and will respond to reports of potentially 
hazardous defects within one hour and routine defects that are within the 
control of street lighting within 4 days. Faults with power supplies will be 
reported to and repaired by the electricity supplying authority who must work 
to the national ‘Guaranteed Standards of Performance’ (GSOP’s). 

 
1.4      Network Management – The Traffic Management Act 2004 places a duty on  
           local traffic authorities to manage the road network to secure the expeditious  
           movement of traffic. The New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 places a  
           duty on local highway authorities to co-ordinate all works and events on the  
           highway network. The Highways Act 1980 places a duty on local highway  
           authorities to protect the public’s rights for the use and enjoyment of  
           highways. To ensure these duties are carried out the Network Management  
           section employs a number of tools to help manage the different works and  
           events in the city centre. These include: 
 

• A permit scheme for utility and local authority road works 
Inspections of 10% of utility works to ensure they are undertaken safely, 
with minimum disruption and reinstated correctly 

• Monitoring of utility work durations and issue of overstay charges where 
appropriate 
The issue of fixed penalty notices to utility companies where works are not 
correctly notified 

Page 251



 
 

• The issuing of licences for builders skips, scaffolding, hoarding and cranes 
and associated inspection, monitoring and enforcement 

• Co-ordination of works programmes and events to ensure the most efficient 
allocation of road space•  

 
          PART 2 – STANDARD BUT NON-STATUTORY SERVICES 
           The activities are currently provided by the Council as standard services, but are non-statutory services.  
           These activities will be subject to the outcomes of the comprehensive spending review and ongoing  
           budgeting review and setting process of Leeds City Council.  Any proposed changes to these standard  
           services will be undertaken in consultation with the business community. 

 
1.5  Roads and footways maintenance; The council has a statutory duty to maintain  
       roads and footways however within certain areas of the district we may decide to  
       use enhanced or more aesthetic materials to do so over and above the minimum  
       requirement to merely maintain.  
 
1.6  Street Lighting;  There is no requirement on local authorities in the UK to provide  
       public lighting, The Highways Act 1980 empowers a Highway Authority to  
       provide lighting for any highway or proposed highway for which they are, or will  
       be, the Highway Authority. The council does not have a statutory duty to provide  
       street lighting but it will do so where a need is established.  
 
2.0  CLEANSING SERVICE 
 
       PART 1 - Statutory Services. The activities below allow the Council to meet its statutory obligations on  
         standards of Highway management in the BID area.Any proposed changes to the methods by which  

         those standards are met wil be undertaken in consultation with the business community. 

 
      Leeds City Council provides a street cleansing service with regard to its statutory  
      duty under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. In this, the Authority has a  
      general duty to keep land and roads clear of litter and refuse. This is not  
      prescriptive legislation however and it includes permissive powers for which the  
      Authority has some discretion. As an example, there is no specific statutory  
      requirement to provide litter bins, but in not doing so, the statutory duty of  
      keeping land free of litter etc would be that much more difficult. The following  
      shows the approach of the Authority to general compliance, which will be  
      modified according to emerging issues and changing need. 
 
2.1 Litter bin emptying. 
      This work is carried out seven days a week, with a start time intended to clear  
      bins before the arrival of the main pedestrian commuter traffic. This continues  
      throughout the day as required so that no bin is too full as to be unable to be  
      used. A variety of litter bins types are provided with the majority accommodating  
      the deposit of both litter and cigarette ends.  
 
2.2  Removal of street litter. 
       Litter picking commences early in the day at a time intended to clear litter   
       deposited over-night. This is a seven day a week activity with staff deployed on  
       set routes designed according to littering patterns (days of the week and time of  
       day). The work is undertaken by individuals using street carts with basic cleaning  
       equipment and is supplemented by a walk-behind mechanical sweeper. This  
       approach to litter picking ends after the main daytime pedestrian traffic has left  

Page 252



 
 

       the city centre. Overnight, litter removal is continued, but via drive-on pavement  
       sweepers and road sweepers. The removal of litter is therefore continual 24hrs a  
       day by a variety of means. 
 
2.3 Cleansing of the broader streetscape. 
      Stickers, posters and other items deposited on street furniture etc are removed  
      during the daytime by the staff in and amongst their litter picking duties. Items  
      presenting possible biological hazards such as body fluids, faeces and needles  
      etc are given high priority for removal. 
 
2.4  Street washing & graffiti removal. 
       This work is undertaken seven days in every fortnight, which  includes  weekend   
       working. Basic street washing and graffiti removal is supplemented by  
       responding to spillages and staining reported or observed by staff.  In certain  
       high priority areas of the city centre, this work will extend to the removal of  
       chewing gum and traffic residues, but this is not undertaken routinely across the  
       city centre and is very limited in coverage.  
 
2.5  Drainage / Street gullies.  
       The road gullies and road surface drainage systems are serviced and cleaned  
       to ensure the free drainage of rain water off pavements and roads. This activity  
       is undertaken largely during the night and does include a responsive service to  
       deal with flooded areas following heavy rain. 
 
2.6  Enforcement. 
       Enforcement officers work mainly during Mon- Fri, with reduced cover over the  
       weekends. Enforcement work is carried out both formally & informally and  
       involves both individual visitors to the city and city centre businesses. The issues  
       controlled through this regulatory service include handing out of fliers, littering,  
       waste storage, fouling, graffiti, domestic and commercial waste issues,and other  
       health ( property drainage etc ) and certain other highways issues.  
 
       PART 2 – STANDARD BUT NON-STATUTORY SERVICES 
        The activities are currently provided by the Council as standard services, but are non-statutory services.  
        These activities will be subject to the outcomes of the comprehensive spending review and ongoing  
        budgeting review and setting process of Leeds City Council.  Any proposed changes to these standard  
        services will be undertaken in consultation with the business community. 

     
        The Authority undertakes a range of services which are not statutorily required,  
        but which further the aim of a clean streetscape in Leeds city centre. These  
        include patrolling the city centre to identify environmental contraventions such  
        as illegal placement of banners, washing of litter bins and street furniture and  
        responding to reports of problems with pests and vermin. 
 
3.0   CITY CENTRE MANAGEMENT 
 
         PART 1  - Statutory Services. The activities below allow the Council to meet its statutory obligations on  
           standards of Highway management in the BID area.Any proposed changes to the methods by which  
           those standards are met wil be undertaken in consultation with the business community . 

 
          NONE. 
 
          PART 2 – STANDARD BUT NON-STATUTORY SERVICES 

Page 253



 
 

           The activities are currently provided by the Council as standard services, but are non-statutory services.  
           These activities will be subject to the outcomes of the comprehensive spending review and ongoing  
           budgeting review and setting process of Leeds City Council.  Any proposed changes to these standard  
           services will be undertaken in consultation with the business community. 

 
         City centre management performs a critical function that supports the  
         economic development of the city centre. The diverse role incorporates a dual  
         function of an operational role as well as strategic direction for the development  
         of the city centre to support creation of jobs, growth of the city centre economy  
         and provide support to sectors and stakeholders.  
 
3.1   City centre liaison team. 
        The city centre liaison officer team consists of 2 liaison officers and 1 senior  
        liaison officer, operating 7 days a week on a rota basis. They provide a high  
        profile uniformed presence in the city centre delivering a variety of services.  
        Their roles and responsibilities include:        
             

• A friendly face, welcoming new visitors to the city centre; 
• Providing directions, advice and assistance and general guidance; 
• Improving the public’s perceptions of Leeds and of the City Council. 
• Business-Friendly - Responding to a wide range of issues that businesses 

have to do with all aspects of managing the city centre; 
• Welcoming new businesses to the city; 
• Providing information to businesses via letters/newsletters and delivery of 

key business information and communication to various city centre 
stakeholders. 

• Assist and oversee promotional activity in the promotional spaces by 
supporting set up and disbanding of promotions; 

• Monitor the city centre’s 80 street cafes which are licensed to trade on the 
public highway. 

• Monitoring and reporting of environmental issues in the city centre to 
appropriate services for resolution; 

• City centre patrol within a unitary boundary definition of the city centre; 
• Reassurance and confidence on perception of safety as a uniformed 

service; 
• Work in collaboration with West Yorkshire Police, BACIL, BIG ISSUE; 

Tourist Attraction locations; British Waterways; Paramedics; a wide range of 
Council services relating to management of the city centre environment; 

• Enforcement of Fixed Penalty Notices for littering specifically; 
• Monitoring of begging, homelessness, Anti-Social Behaviour, Busking – 

‘keeping the small issues small’ 
 
3.2      It is a reasonable approach for the liaison officer service to be joined up with  
           any proposed ambassadorial/uniformed service by the BID in order to avoid  
           duplication. The liaison officers could therefore work within a proposed BID. 
 
3.3      Public realm strategy, maintenance and refurbishment - devise the  
           appropriate strategy for development of capital schemes for the city centre’s  
           public realm and subject to funding, implement such strategies; maintain  
           existing public realm in the city centre and liaise with city council colleagues  
           and partners to ensure the city centre schemes are kept to a high standard,  

Page 254



 
 

           subject to funding; work in collaboration with partners in the private sector to  
           raise funding for appropriate schemes. 
 
3.4      Street Café licensing - appraise, administer and recommend the issuance of  
           Street café licenses to businesses to enable addition of street cafés to the  
           public highway and monitor and regulate the operation of street cafe licenses; 
 
3.5     Promotional space management - Administer, manage and control city centre  
          promotional spaces with the objective of animating the city centre by providing  
          a high quality city centre experience. 
 
3.6 City centre economy. - Work in partnership with sectors and key stakeholders  

     who contribute to the economic development of the city centre to enable  
     economic growth and job creation. 

  
3.7     Key Performance Indicators - monitor the performance of the city centre  

     working with colleagues and the Association of Town and City Centre  
     Management. (ATCM) 

 
3.8 Legible Leeds – Walk It Programme.Deliver the ongoing programme to install  

     city centre pedestrian signage. 
 
4.0.    Events & Promotions 
 
4.1     Events Team – manage an events team to deliver key events in the city  
          resulting in effective communication, planning, implementation and  
          co-ordination of major events in the city. 
 
4.2    Events Programme - Organise and work with various partners and key  
         stakeholders to deliver a dynamic and varied programme of events in the city.      
         The objective is the promotion, marketing, and communication of the city’s  
         strengths and offer to encourage visits and animate the city. This is  
         accomplished by working collaboratively with partners. Subject to funding,  
         run sector based events to bring increased footfall and economic spend to the  
         city centre.  
 
5.0     COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 
          PART 1 - Statutory Services. The activities below allow the Council to meet its statutory obligations on  
             standards of Highway management in the BID area.Any proposed changes to the methods by which  

             those standards are met will be undertaken in consultation with the business community.. 

 
5.1   Our statutory approach - Leeds City Council funds a City Centre Community  
        Safety Co-ordinator (3 days a week).This roles covers coordinating; supporting   
        and driving partnerships and relationships that work to address community  
        safety  and crime and disorder issues in Leeds city centre, both on a strategic  
        level and through partnership working on the ground, so that the city centre is a  
        welcoming and safe environment for all residents; workers and visitors. The role  
        leads or plays an essential contribution to the following: 
 
5.1    City Centre Community Safety Partnership (strategic): organise; co-ordinate  

Page 255



 
 

         and drive progress on community safety issues;  brief Chairs; manage  
         partnerships; deliver actions. 
 
5.2    6 Weekly Tasking (operational) :Enables efficient partnership tasking relating to  
         city centre current and emerging issues, plus improved networking and  
         exchange of information. 
 

Page 256



 
 

Appendix 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OPERATING AGREEMENT 

 

Dated   

Name of Council 

Leeds City Council 

Name of BID 

BID4Leeds 

 

 

 

Page 257



 
 

  

Contents 

1 Definitions 3 

2 Statutory Authorities 7 

3 Commencement 7 

4 Setting the BID Levy 7 

5 The BID Revenue Account 7 

6 Debits from the BID Revenue Account 8 

7 Collecting the BID Levy Error! Bookmark not defined. 

8 Procedures available to the Council for enforcing payment of the BID Levy 

  10 

9 Enforcement Mechanisms for non-collection of the BID Levy by the 

Council 11 

10 Accounting Procedures and Monitoring 11 

11 Termination 12 

12 Confidentiality 15 

13 Notices 15 

14 Miscellaneous 16 

15 Exercise of the Council’s powers 16 

16 Contracts (Rights Of Third Parties) 16 

17 [Arbitration] 16 

 

Schedule 1 – The BID Levy Rules 18 

Schedule 2 - Breakdown of Council's annual BID levy collection and 

administration charge 20 

Page 258



 

 

Operating Agreement 

Dated  

Between 

(1) Leeds City Council (the Council) of Civic Hall, Leeds LS2 8JR ; and 

(2) BID4LEEDS (the BID Company) [registered as a company limited by guarantee in 

England with number **                 whose registered office is at **                ] 

Recitals 

A The Council is the billing authority for the purposes of the Local Government Act 2003 

and is responsible for collecting the BID Levy and administering the BID Revenue 

Account which shall be used towards the operation of the BID within the area of the 

Council and the funding of the BID Arrangements 

B The BID Company is responsible for the operation of the BID and for using the BID Levy 

for the purposes of achieving the objectives and aspirations set out in the BID 

Arrangements 

C Both parties wish to confirm the arrangements by which the BID Levy shall be collected 

together with general arrangements as to the relationship to be established between 

the Council and the BID Company for the duration of the BID 

D The purpose of this Agreement is to: 

• establish the procedure for setting the BID Levy  

• confirm the basis upon which the Council will be responsible for collecting the 

BID Levy 

• set out the enforcement mechanisms available for collection of the BID Levy 

• set out the procedures for accounting and transference of the BID Levy 

• provide for the monitoring and review of the collection of the BID Levy 

• confirm the manner in which the Council's expenses incurred in collecting the 

BID Levy shall be paid 

 

Page 259



 

 

It is agreed: 

Definitions 

the Annual Report means a report to be prepared by the Council which details the 

following:- 

the total amount of BID Levy collected during the relevant Financial 

Year; 

[the total amount of interest earned on any part of the BID Levy whilst 

held in the BID Revenue Account1]; 

details of the success rate for the collection of the BID Levy;  

the Council's proposals (if any) to help improve its efficiency in the 

collection and enforcement of the BID Levy; and 

details of those BID Levy Payers who have paid the BID Levy and those 

who have not paid the BID Levy. 

the Council's proposals for bad or doubtful debts 

the Appeal Notice means a notice to be served by the BID Company in accordance 

with clause 9.2 

Bad or Doubtful Debts2  shall have the same meaning as further described in Part 2 

of Schedule 3 of the Regulations 

the Ballot Result Date means the date upon which a successful ballot result has been 

declared in favour of putting in place the BID Arrangements 

the BID means the Business Improvement District which operates within **                     

(annex a plan illustrating the extent of BID area at Schedule 4) and which is managed 

and operated by the BID Company 

the BID Arrangements means those arrangements to be put in place pursuant to the 

Regulations for the operation of the BID 

                                            
1 It will be necessary for the Council to confirm whether interest will be 

accrued.  Furthermore, discussions will need to take place as to which party is 

entitled to the interest accrued 

 
 

Page 260



 

 

the BID Company's Report means a report for each Financial Year to be prepared by 

the BID Company which details the following:- 

(a) the total income and expenditure of the BID Levy;  

(b) other income and expenditure of the BID Company not being the BID Levy; 

(c) a statement of actual and pending deficits; and 

(c) the various initiatives and schemes upon which the BID Levy has been expended 

by the BID Company 

the BID Levy means the charge to be levied and collected within the BID area 

pursuant to the Regulations 

the BID Company's  Termination Notice means a notice to be served by the BID 

Company on the Council pursuant to clause 11.8 

BID Levy Payer(s) means the non-domestic rate payers responsible for paying the 

BID Levy 

the BID Levy Rules means the rules set out in the Schedule which sets out how the 

BID Levy will be calculated, details of Exempt or Discounted Properties and other 

requirements related to the BID Levy (as may be amended by a successful alteration 

ballot) 

the BID Revenue Account means the [interest] bearing account to be set up in 

accordance with Regulation 14 and operated in accordance with Schedule 3 of the 

Regulations 

the BID Term means the period of [5] years from 1ST April 2014 to 31st March 2020 

the Council's Termination Notice means the notice to be served by the Council on 

the BID Company pursuant to Clause 11.1 

the Contributors means the BID Levy Payers or other Contributors making voluntary 

contributions to the BID company. 

Demand Notice shall have the same meaning ascribed to it as further set out in 

paragraphs 3 of Schedule 4 of the Regulations 

Hereditament shall have the same meaning as defined in the Regulations 

Page 261



 

 

Electronic Communication means a communication transmitted (whether from one 

person to another, from one device to another or from a person to a device or vice 

versa): 

(a) by means of a telecommunication system (within the meaning of the 

Telecommunications Act 1984);or 

(b) by other means but while in electronic form 

the Enforcement Expenses3 means the costs which are incurred by the Council in 

issuing a Reminder Notice, obtaining Liability Orders and associated administrative 

expenses which may be incurred in recovering unpaid BID Levy  

the Enforcement Notice4 means a notice to be served on the Council as specified in 

Clause 9 

the Exceptions 5 means the circumstances in which the Council shall not be required to 

seek to enforce payment of the BID Levy where a BID Levy payer has failed to make 

payment pursuant to a Demand Notice.  The exceptions are as further set out in 

Schedule **                     

the Exempt or Discounted Properties means those class or classes of properties as 

identified in the BID Levy Rules which shall be exempt either from any requirement to 

pay the BID Levy or are permitted a discount on the BID Levy 

the Financial Year means the financial year for the BID Company which runs from 

April to March 

Liability Order means an order obtained from the Magistrates Court 

                                            
3 Note that the level of expenses will primarily depend on what is agreed with the Council.  

There are a variety of ways for dealing with collection and enforcement costs, some suggest 

fixed rates, other an annual rate for the year.  There will probably therefore be deviation from 

this definition depending on which is agreed between the parties. 
4 It is probably unnecessary to attach this to the Operating Agreement.  The additional services 

may be provided by third parties in which case this definition can be omitted. 
5 It might be that in some circumstances it simply will not make financial sense to incur costs 

seeking to enforce payment of the BID Levy where the costs are likely to exceed or be similar 

to the sum outstanding.  It would be preferable if the parameters for these exceptions are 

annexed to the Agreement rather than agreed on an ad hoc basis 

Page 262



 

 

the Monitoring Group6 means the group to be set up to monitor the collection and 

enforcement of the BID Levy (as referred to in Clause 10) such group to consist of **                     

Council officers and **                     representatives from the BID Company [and **                     

Contributors] 

the Operational Date7 means the date upon which the BID Arrangements come into 

force 

the Public Meeting means the meeting to be held of all BID Levy Payers pursuant to 

the Public Meeting Notice 

the Public Meeting Notice means a notice to be served pursuant to Clause 11.1 or 

11.8 by either the Council or the BID Company which provides the following:- 

(a) confirmation that either party is considering terminating the BID; 

(b) details of the venue where the public meeting will be held; 

(c) confirmation that all BID Levy Payers who attend will be permitted to 

make representations 

the Regulations means the Business Improvement Districts (England) Regulations 

[2004] and such amendments made by the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 48 of 

the Local Government Act 2003 (from time to time) 

the Reminder Notice means the notice to be served pursuant to Clause 8.1 

                                            
6 Consider the formation of this group i.e. 1 finance officer, 1 planning officer, other 

Contributors, etc.  Further discussion will be required between the Council and BID in terms of 

discussing what the role of the Monitoring Group shall be.  It is generally envisaged that its 

scope will be restricted solely to issues relating to the collection and enforcement of the BID 

Levy. 
7 It will be necessary for the BID Proposal to specify when the BID shall formally come into 

force  

Page 263



 

 

 

Statutory Authorities 

This Agreement is made pursuant to Part IV of the Local Government Act 2003 and Section 

111 of the Local Government Act 1972 and all other enabling powers 

Commencement 

This Agreement is conditional upon and shall not take effect until the Ballot Result Date. 

In the event that the BID Arrangements are not voted in by the BID Levy Payers on the Ballot 

Result Date then this Agreement shall determine and cease to be of any further effect between 

the parties 

If, at the end of the BID Term  a renewal ballot is held and is successful then the terms of this 

Agreement shall continue to be of effect and the BID Term shall thereafter be construed as the 

new term 

Setting the BID Levy 

Immediately upon the Ballot Result Date the Council shall:- 

calculate the BID Levy due from each BID Levy Payer in accordance with the BID 

Levy Rules; and 

confirm in writing to the BID Company the BID Levy payable annually by each BID 

Levy Payer  

The BID Revenue Account 

Within 20 days from the Ballot Result Date the Council shall set up the BID Revenue Account 

and provide written confirmation to the BID Company once this has been carried out together 

with details of the account number sort code and any other details which the BID Company 

may specify 

Within 20 days from the Ballot Result Date the BID Company shall provide the Council with 

details of its own bank account into which the BID Levy shall be transferred electronically from 

the BID Revenue Account on production of an invoice by the BID Company in accordance with 

clause 7.8. 

5.3   Interest earned on money in the BID Revenue Account shall form part of the BID Levy 

and be payable to the BID Company 

Page 264



 

 

Debits from the BID Revenue Account 

The Council shall not debit directly from the BID Revenue Account:- 

the collection charges 

the Enforcement Expenses; or 

any deductions which in the Council's opinion are Bad or Doubtful Debts 

6.2  The Council’s charge for the provision of the Services will be £24,000 annual 

set fee (excluding VAT) representing its reasonable administrative costs in 

providing Services increased by the relevant RPI yearly and having effect on 

the [date] of each year for which a BID is in place. Following receipt by the 

BID Company of a valid VAT invoice, the first payment will be due together 

with VAT thereon on the [date], or later by agreement.  

6.3 [A breakdown of the Council’s Annual charge as outlined in Clause 6.2 is 

annexed at Schedule 4.] 

6.4 The Council shall recover the Enforcement Expenses from the liable BID levy payer, 

in accordance with Clause 8. 

6.5 The Council shall not be entitled to recover Enforcement Expenses from the BID 

Company.  

Page 265



 

 

Collecting the BID Levy 

Within 14 (fourteen) days of the Ballot Result Date the Council shall confirm in writing to the 

BID Company the date when the BID Levy shall first be collected (such date to be at least 14 

days in advance of the Operational Date8)  

The Demand notices shall be a separate bill and shall not be combined with the Business Rate 

bill. 

Pursuant to clause 7.1 the Council shall serve the Demand Notices on each BID Levy payer and 

thereafter shall continue to calculate the BID Levy and serve the Demand Notices throughout 

the BID Term 

The Council shall maintain a list which identifies payment and/or non-payment of the BID Levy 

and shall make this available to the BID Company upon its reasonable request. 

The Council shall liaise with the BID Company in carrying out monthly reviews of each 

Hereditament within the BID Area and in the event of any change in the occupier of each 

Hereditament or the merger or division of a Hereditament (or provision of an additional 

Hereditament) shall: 

serve an updated list of BID Levy payers upon the BID Company; 

serve a Demand Notice (or alter any existing Demand Notice if appropriate) on the 

relevant BID Levy Payer 

The Council shall use all reasonable endeavours to collect the BID Levy on the date specified 

(pursuant to clause 7.1(ii) above) and thereafter on an monthly basis and in accordance with 

the procedure set out in Schedule 4 of the Regulations 

 

 

 

                                            
8 The BID levy should be collected as soon as possible after the Ballot result date, allowing for 

the 28 day period in which a ballot can be declared void (BID Regulations, Clause 9),  to 

ensure the BID has income to commence its service on or as soon after the Operational date 

as possible. 

Page 266



 

 

The Council shall use all reasonable endeavours to take all reasonable steps for collecting the 

BID Levy which are consistent with its usual procedures for the collection of non-domestic 

rates 

Every 28 days thereafter the Council shall inform the BID company of  the amount of BID levy 

monies collected  

The BID Company shall raise an invoice, including VAT to the Council every month or less 

frequently should the BID Company so decide9.  This invoice to be based on the information 

outlined in clause 7.8, for the total amount of BID levy monies collected, minus the total of 

BID levy monies previously invoiced for in the relevant financial year. 

   

Procedures available to the Council for enforcing payment of the BID Levy  

In the event that the BID Levy is not paid within 28 (twenty eight) day]from the date that it 

becomes payable then (subject to the Exceptions or as may otherwise be agreed between the 

parties) the Council shall serve a Reminder Notice on such relevant BID Levy Payer which 

shall:- 

identify the sum payable; 

provide a further 14 (fourteen) days for payment to be made; 

confirm that the Council will make an application to the Magistrates Court for a 

Liability Order to recover the unpaid sum (together with costs. 

If after a further 14 (fourteen) days from the payment date stated in the Reminder Notice the 

outstanding sum of the BID Levy has not been paid the Council shall make an application to 

the Magistrates Court for a Liability Order to recover the outstanding sum of the BID Levy as is 

permitted by the Regulations and the Non Domestic Rating (Collection & Enforcement) (Local 

Lists) Regulations 1989 (as amended)10 

 

 

 

                                            
9 The Company may feel that the amount of BID levy collected each month late in the financial 

year does not merit a monthly invoice as the amount collected is likely to be relatively small 

with the bulk of levy being collected early in the financial year.  
10 Note that under the NNDR enforcement mechanisms it goes further than Liability Orders; 

this can include distress.  Consider if practically this is an option to be pursued.  If not consider 

including it as an "Exception". 

Page 267



 

 

Enforcement Mechanisms for non-collection of the BID Levy by the Council 

In the event that the Council is not enforcing payment of the BID Levy pursuant to Clause 8 

above the BID Company shall serve the Enforcement Notice on the Council requesting that:- 

it serve a Reminder Notice; or 

it obtains a Liability Order pursuant to Clause 8.2 above 

within 14 (fourteen) days of receipt of such Enforcement Notice and the Council shall 

thereafter provide written confirmation of the action taken to the recover the unpaid 

BID Levy 

If after being served an Enforcement Notice the Council fails to take the requested action 

within the specified time frame then the BID Company shall serve an Appeal Notice to the 

Chief Executive of the Council.  Such notice shall:- 

detail the sum which remains unpaid; 

confirm that the Council has failed to use the enforcement mechanisms available to it 

under this Agreement to recover the sum; and 

request a meeting take place between the Chief Executive, relevant officers of the 

Council and BID Company to achieve a solution and/or agree a strategy to recover 

the outstanding sum such meeting to take place in any event no later than 28 

(twenty eight) days from service of the Appeal Notice 

In the event that the Council fails to take any of the steps requested by the BID Company 

pursuant to clauses 9.1 and 9.2 (above) the Council shall (within 28 days of receipt of written 

notice from the BID Company which specifies the amount of BID Levy outstanding) pay the 

specified sum into the BID Revenue Account and provide written confirmation to the BID 

Company that this has been done. 

Accounting Procedures and Monitoring 

Within 1 (one) month from the Operational Date the Council and BID Company shall form the 

Monitoring Group 

Every 1 (one) month (for the duration of BID Term) the Council shall provide the BID Company 

with a breakdown of:- 

the amount of BID Levy for each individual BID Levy Payer;  

the BID Levy collected in relation to each BID Levy Payer; 

Page 268



 

 

details (together with the outstanding unpaid sum) of those BID Levy Payers who 

have not paid the BID Levy during that  month; 

details of the Reminder Notices issued throughout that period; and 

details of any Liability Orders obtained or applied for by the Council;  

Every six months (for the BID Term) the BID Company shall provide the Council with the 

following details: 

the total amount of income received from the Contributors (excluding the BID Levy) 

the total expenditure during that 6 month period. 

The Monitoring Group shall meet no less than twice in any one Financial Year and on all other 

occasions further meetings of the Monitoring Group shall be arranged by the service of written 

notice by either party on the other, such notice to be provided no less than 28 (twenty eight) 

days prior to the date of the proposed meeting (or lesser if otherwise agreed or in cases of 

emergency) and provided further that such meetings can be dispensed with altogether upon 

the written agreement of both the Council and the BID Company 

At each meeting the Monitoring Group shall 

review the effectiveness of the collection and enforcement of the BID Levy; and 

if required, review and assess the information provided by the Council and the BID 

Company pursuant to Clauses 10.2 and 10.3 above and make any recommendations 

for implementation as may be agreed (and which are permitted by the Regulations 

and the terms of this Agreement)  

Within 1 (one) month after the date of the end of the Financial Year the Council shall provide 

the Annual Report to the BID Company  

Within 1 (one) month from the date of receipt of the Annual Report the BID Company shall 

provide the BID Company Report to the Council 

Termination 

The Council shall not be permitted to terminate the BID Arrangements because: 

(i)  in its opinion there are insufficient finances available to the BID Company to 

meet its liabilities for the chargeable period for the purposes of the BID 

Arrangements; or 

Page 269



 

 

(ii) the Council is unable, due to any cause beyond its control to provide the works 

or services which are secured as part of the BID Arrangements 

unless and until it first serves the Public Meeting Notice on the BID Levy Payers and the 

Council's Termination Notice on the BID Company and within 14 (fourteen) days from 

the date of service of such notice both parties shall arrange to meet where the purpose 

of such meeting shall be to discuss and/or agree all or any of the following set out in 

Clause 11.2 or 11.3 (whichever is applicable) 

Where the BID Termination Notice relates to Clause 11.1(i) both parties shall agree and/or 

discuss or review the following: 

(a) the Council is concerned that the BID Company has insufficient finances to meet 

its liabilities for that period and details of such concerns should be made 

available to the BID Company; 

(b) insufficient funds; 

(c) alternative means by which the insufficiency of the funds can be remedied; and 

(d) an appropriate time frame to resolve this issue;  

Where the BID Termination Notice relates to clause 11.1(ii) both parties shall agree and/or 

discuss or review the following: 

the services or works which it is no longer able to provide together with confirmation 

and details as to why such works or services cannot be provided; 

a review by both parties as to whether such works or services are of material 

importance to the BID so that termination of the BID Arrangements is the only 

option; 

alternative means of procuring the said services or works by third parties or 

increased financial funding from the BID Company; 

alternative replacement services or works which will be acceptable to the BID 

Company ; 

an appropriate time frame to resolve this issue 

Notwithstanding clauses 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3 above, the Council shall cause a Public Meeting to 

be held  prior to the termination of the BID arrangements 

Page 270



 

 

In the event that the parties cannot reach agreement in relation to the above and subject to 

consideration of representations made by any BID Levy Payer at the Public Meeting the Council 

shall be permitted to terminate the BID Arrangements provided that notice by the Council to 

terminate the BID shall be provided to the BID Company no less than 28 days prior to 

termination taking place 

Upon termination of the BID Arrangements the Council shall review whether there is a credit in 

the BID Revenue Account and in the event that there are sufficient funds in the BID Revenue 

Account amounting to a refund of at least £5 for each BID Levy Payer (having already 

deducted a reasonable sum for the administration of such refund) to: 

calculate the amount to be refunded to each BID Levy payer; 

ensure that the amount to be refunded is calculated by reference to the amount 

payable by each BID Levy Payer for the last chargeable period; and 

make arrangements for the amount calculated to be credited against any outstanding 

liabilities of each BID Levy Payer or, where there are no such liabilities refunded to 

the BID Levy Payer. 

Upon termination of the BID the Council shall notify the BID Levy Payers of such termination in 

accordance with regulation 18(6) of the Regulations together with confirmation as to whether 

any part of the BID Levy is to be repaid to BID Levy payers in accordance with clause 11.6 

The BID Company shall not be permitted to terminate the BID Arrangements where: 

the works or services under the BID Arrangements are no longer required; or 

the BID Company is unable, due to any cause beyond its control to provide works 

and services which are necessary for the BID to continue 

unless and until it has served the BID Company's Termination Notice on the Council 

and thereafter carried out a proper consultation with all relevant representatives of 

the BID Area as considered appropriate by the Council.  

Upon termination of the BID Arrangements the BID Company shall notify the Council of such 

termination in accordance with Regulation 18(5) and the Council shall notify the BID Levy 

payers pursuant to Regulation 18(6) together with confirmation as to whether any part of the 

BID Levy is to be repaid to BID Levy payers in accordance with clause 11.6 

 

Page 271



 

 

Confidentiality 

Both the Council and the BID Company agree to keep confidential and not to divulge to any 

person without the prior written consent of the other party all information (written or oral) 

concerning the business affairs of the other nor any information which has been exchanged 

about the BID Levy Payers or Contributors or about other third parties which it shall have 

obtained or received as a result of operating the BID.  This obligation shall survive the 

termination or lapse of the BID Arrangements 

 

Notices 

Any notice or other written communication to be served or given to or upon any party to this 

Agreement to the other shall be in writing and shall be sent to the address provided for above 

or such substitute address in England as may from time to time have been notified by that 

party 

A Notice may be served by 

delivery to the Deputy Chief Executive at the Council's address specified above; or 

delivery to the Company Secretary at the BID Company's address specified above  

registered or recorded delivery post 

14.2.4 Electronic Communication (provided that it is in legible form and is capable of being 

used for subsequent reference) 

Any notice served shall be deemed to have been validly served or given at the time when in 

the ordinary course of business it would have been received. 

 

Page 272



 

 

Miscellaneous 

For the avoidance of doubt where any part of this Agreement is incompatible with the 

Regulations or any other regulations which the Secretary of State may issue pursuant to Part 

IV of the Local Government Act 2003 then such part shall be struck out and the balance of this 

Agreement shall remain 

The headings appearing in this Agreement are for ease of reference only and shall not affect 

the construction of this Agreement 

For the avoidance of doubt the provisions of this Agreement (other than those contained in this 

Clause) shall not have any effect until this document has been dated 

Where reference is made to a Clause, Part, or Recital such reference (unless the context 

requires otherwise) is a reference to a clause, part, plan, or recital attached to this Agreement 

References to the Council include any successors to its functions as local authority  

References to statutes, bye laws, regulations, orders, delegated legislation shall include any 

such instrument re-enacting or made pursuant to the same power 

Exercise of the Council’s powers  

Nothing contained in this Agreement or implied in it shall prejudice or affect the rights 

discretions powers duties and obligations of the County Council and Council under all statutes 

bye-laws statutory instruments orders and regulations in the exercise of its functions as a local 

authority  

Contracts (Rights Of Third Parties) 

The provisions of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 shall not apply to this 

Agreement 

Arbitration 

The following provisions shall apply in the event of a dispute: 

Any dispute or difference of any kind whatsoever arising between the parties hereto out of or 

in connection with this Deed shall be referred to arbitration before a single arbitrator 

The parties shall jointly appoint the arbitrator not later than 28 (twenty eight) days after 

service of a request in writing by either party to do so and each party shall bear its own costs 

Page 273



 

 

If the parties are unable to agree within 28 (twenty eight) days as to the appointment of such 

arbitrator then such arbitrator (hereinafter referred to as “the Tribunal”) shall be appointed on 

the application of either party to the President for the time being of the Law Society 

In the event of a reference to arbitration the parties agree to: 

• prosecute any such reference expeditiously and 

• do all things or take all steps reasonably necessary in order to enable 

the Tribunal to deliver any award (interim, final or otherwise) as soon 

as reasonably practicable 

The award shall be in writing signed by the Tribunal and shall be finalised within 21 (twenty 

one) days from the date of such award 

The award shall be final and binding both on the parties and on any persons claiming through 

or under them] 

 

Signed by 

duly authorised for and 

on behalf of 

NAME OF COUNCIL 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

Signed by 

duly authorised for and 

on behalf of 

NAME OF BID COMPANY 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

Page 274



 

 

Schedule 1 – The BID Levy Rules 

This will set out the manner in which the BID Levy will be calculated – i.e. what 

was approved as the BID Arrangements 

 

Part 1 – The BID Levy Rules 

 

Part 4 of the Local Government Act 2003 and the Regulations state that the payment of the BID 

Levy is mandatory by all BID Levy Payers in accordance with these BID Levy Rules once the BID 

proposal put forward by BID4Leeds Ltd was accepted by a ballot of those BID Levy Payers. 

 

Leeds City Council is the billing authority under the legislation, and is the body with the power to 

impose, administer, collect, enforce and recover the BID Levy. The BID Levy collected is the 

property of the Council. 

 

The BID Levy 

 

The BID Levy will be applied to all relevant non-domestic ratepayers whose property has a 

rateable value of over £60,000 and which falls within the BID Area. The billing period will run from 

1st April each year to 31st March of the following year and will run for five billing periods from 1st 

April 2015. The BID Levy for each billing period must be paid in a single instalment shown on the 

front of the BID Levy Notice. 

 

BID Levy Calculation 

 

The BID Levy for each BID Levy Payer is calculated by multiplying the BID Rateable Value of each 

relevant hereditament by the BID Levy Rate of 1.25% (0.0125). 

 

The BID Rateable Value 

 

For the purposes of calculating the BID Levy the BID Rateable Value will be the rateable value 

shown in the 2010 rating list as at 1st April 2015. All new hereditaments entering the Rating List after 1
st

 

April 2015 will be levied at 1.25% of the prevailing list. 

 

The BID Levy Rate 

 

The BID Levy Rate is set at 1.25% of the BID Rateable Value from 1st April 2015. The BID levy may 

increase by an inflationary factor of up to 2% in successive years (i.e. up from 1.25% to 1.27% in year 2). 

The board will assess if any increase is appropriate each year, giving careful consideration to the economic 

environment. 

 

Changes to Rateable Value 

 

Adjustments will be made to the BID Levy during the current billing period for changes in rateable 

value. Rateable value changes will only be effective for the purposes of the BID Rateable Value 

Page 275



 

 

from the date of alteration of the 2010 rating list unless the change in rateable Value affects more 

than one billing period when the BID Rateable Value shall change from the 1st April preceding the 

date of alteration of the 2010 rating list. Changes to the BID Rateable Value will only affect the BID 

Levy Calculation of the current billing period. 

 

Properties removed from the 2010 rating list will be subject to the BID Levy up to the date of its 

removal from the 2010 rating list and calculated on a daily basis. 

 

New properties will similarly be liable from the date of entry onto the 2010 rating list and be 

calculated on a daily basis. 

 

Where an existing property is split or merged the BID Levy Calculation will be made on the revised 

entry or entries shown in the 2010 rating list and calculated on a daily basis. 

 

BID Levy Exemptions 

 

The BID Rateable Value below which an hereditament is exempt from the BID Levy is £60,000. 

 

NO classes of hereditament with a rateable value of over £60,000 are exempt from payment of the 

BID Levy:- 

 

BID Levy Relief 

All BID Levy Payers are subject to the full BID Levy Calculation and are liable for the full BID Levy 

payable on each hereditament other than those exempt. 

BID Levy Payers in receipt of mandatory and/or discretionary relief from their Non-Domestic Rating 

liability are not to receive any relief from their BID Levy liability. 

Liability for the BID Levy 

Liability for the BID Levy will fall upon the Non-Domestic Ratepayer for the property. If the property 

is empty liability for the BID Levy will fall upon the person or organisation entitled to possession in 

accordance with Non-Domestic Rating regulations There shall be no exemption period from the 

BID Levy for an empty hereditament. 

Change of Non-Domestic Ratepayer 

Adjustments to the BID Levy will be made where there is a change of Non-Domestic Ratepayer. 

The new BID Levy Payer will have their liability for the BID Levy calculated on a daily basis in the 

first applicable billing period and a new Demand Notice will be issued to the new BID Levy Payer. 

Value Added Tax (VAT) 

There will be no VAT charged to the BID Levy Payer and the cost of collection and enforcement of 

the BID Levy is outside the scope of the VAT. 

Page 276



 

 

 

Schedule 2 – Breakdown of Council’s Annual BID Levy 

collection and administration charge 

 

Share of Software costs (per annum)     £6,000 

Administration (including set up costs, printing, 

postage, exchequer and accountancy )    £18,000 

 

Total Charge per annum      £24,000 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   

   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate: City Development Service area: Economic Development 
 

Lead person: John Ebo 
 

Contact number: 247 4714 

 

1. Title: Business Improvement District 
 

Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
Proposal to support the private sector in developing a Business Improvement District 
(BID project for Leeds city centre. It plans to raise funds over 5 years that the BID, 
under the BID Regulations 2003, can invest in the city centre in support of business 
growth, jobs and a diverse economy. 

 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

 
A proposal to support the private sector in developing Business Improvement 
Districts in Leeds city centre. 
 
A Business Improvement District (BID) is a defined geographical area where   
partners work together to create and promote a better place as a business  
location.  
BIDs can only be set up by a ballot of business in the relevant geographical area.    
BID to be approved the vote needs to deliver a majority in favour both in terms of the  
number of businesses and the rateable value of the business premises. Over 200  
BID proposals have been developed in towns and cities throughout the UK. 178  
(85%) have so far voted in favour of a BID.  Each BID proposal is different  

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  X 

Page 279



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   

   

2

depending on the needs and priorities that businesses who pay the BID have 
determined for the chosen location. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

• Advancing equality of opportunity 

• Fostering good relations 

 
 
 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 

Page 280



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   

   

3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 
A Business Improvement District (BID) involves a ballot/vote of businesses in a specific 
area to raise funds to support projects of their own choosing. Under the regulations the 
Local Authority is not the proposer of a BID. Businesses themselves get together to 
propose a business case for a BID and then put the proposal to a vote as a democratic 
process for all businesses in the BID area over £60,000 rateable value. 
 
The Council’s role is to hold the ballot and collect BID levy based on business rates and 
hand the funds to the BID company to spend, according to its BID business case.. 
 
 

• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
There are no equality based impact on individuals as the proposal goes to a direct 
ballot/vote by those businesses in the defined BID area. 
 
 

• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

BID proposals ensure that the private sector works closely and collectively in 
partnership with the City Council in the development of a BID, but ultimately the 
decision to hold a BID ballot is that of the private sector. 
 

Page 281



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   

   

4

 
 
 
 
 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Tom Bridges 
 

Chief Officer Economic 
Development 

20 October 2014 

 
 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 

Date screening completed  
20 October 2014 

If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

21st October 2014 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

N/A 

 

Page 282



 

 

Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board  

Date: 19 November 2014 

Subject: Next Steps in the Brownfield Land Programme 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 

City & Hunslet, Killingbeck & Seacroft, Gipton & Harehills, 
Middleton Park, Temple Newsam 
 

  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The delivery of high quality new housing of all tenures and in the right locations is 
critical to realising the Vision for Leeds and delivering the Best Council Plan.  It plays 
a key role in meeting the needs of current and future residents of Leeds; enabling 
families and children to be healthy and to succeed; meeting older people’s needs 
and preference to live independently at home; and in helping communities realise 
ambitions for the regeneration of their neighbourhoods.  The development of Council 
owned brownfield land will support this and can directly help in the Council’s Best 
Council Plan objective of Promoting Sustainable and Inclusive Economic Growth, 
whilst also contributing to the objectives of Ensuring High Quality Public Services, 
Creating a Child Friendly City and becoming an Efficient and Enterprising Council. 

 

 

2. The Council’s Brownfield Land Programme was established in January 2013 with 
the aim of bringing brownfield sites owned by the Council forward for development of 

 Report author:  Mark Mills 

Tel:  0113 24 76241 

Page 283

Agenda Item 19



 

 

new homes in a co-ordinated and phased way and at pace, in ways that would 
mitigate risk and increase viability.  The programme includes 29 sites totalling 45ha 
of land, capable of delivering c.1200 new homes, predominantly in the Halton Moor, 
Middleton and Seacroft areas of the city 

3. To date six sites included within the programme have been marketed in two 
separate sales packages, with further small packages of land soon to be advertised. 
This phased approach to marketing and disposal is starting to show results through 
interest shown from developers that are relatively new to the city and which are 
experienced in working both in regeneration areas and on sites with technical 
development challenges.  Firm offers for development sites in Seacroft and 
Middleton have been received and are now being progressed. 

4. At its meeting in February 2014, Executive Board supported the intention to explore 
the potential of forming a partnership with one or more developers through which 
sites can be developed with more certainty and at greater pace, without the need for 
ongoing individual disposal exercises.  This could also provide the Council with 
another route through which the delivery of wider housing growth objectives could be 
achieved such as specialist older people’s accommodation or higher proportions of 
affordable housing.   

5. Drawing on the Council’s experience of joint venture arrangements relating to land 
and property and the results of recent market research, this report sets out a 
proposal to use the Homes and Communities Agency’s Development Partner Panel 
to select a developer or developers to work with the Council in in this way to deliver 
homes on a package of available sites. 

6. The programme includes the Council-owned sites which are currently part of the 
EASEL project.  The Council has continued to work with Bellway to secure the 
development of sites included within the EASEL Strategic Development Agreement 
Bellway is currently developing new homes in Gipton and preparing plans for a 
further site there. Discussions are ongoing about the future of the two remaining 
sites in the agreement but there is potential that these will become available for 
consideration through the proposed routes available within this wider programme.   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 284



 

 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is asked to note the content of this report and: 

i) Agree to use the Homes and Communities Agency’s Development Partner 
Panel to select a development partner or partners to deliver new homes on 
sites included within the Council’s Brownfield Land Programme as set out in 
paragraph 3.22; 

ii) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to determine how the 
sites outlined in paragraph 3.22, in addition to any additional sites made 
available through the potential termination of the EASEL Strategic 
Development Agreement (paragraph 3.23), are to be included within each 
development package; 

iii) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development, in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Economy & Transport, to enter into a 
development agreement with a preferred developer or developers selected 
through the procurement exercise as set out in recommendation i), with the 
final terms of any such agreement to be reported back to Executive Board.   

iv) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to incorporate other 
cleared development sites into the procured partnership as may be 
appropriate, as a means of increasing the capacity and pace of housing 
delivery in the city. 

v) Note that the Head of Regeneration will be responsible for implementation 
as outlined in the report. 

 

 

Page 285



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report provides an update on progress made to deliver new housing on 
brownfield sites through the Council’s Brownfield Land Programme and seeks 
approval for an approach to secure further sustained development over the 
next 5 years. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The Local Development Framework Core Strategy targets the delivery of 
70,000 new homes through to 2028.  The Core Strategy plans for the longer 
term regeneration and growth of the District over a 16 year period, as part of an 
overall and integrated framework. Central to this approach is the need to give 
priority to sustainable development in planning for economic prosperity, 
seeking to remove social inequality, securing opportunities for regeneration, 
and planning for infrastructure, whilst maintaining and protecting and enhancing 
environmental quality for the people of Leeds.  

2.2 Underpinning these broad objectives and supported by the Core Strategy 
evidence base, is need to develop new housing within the inner urban area,  
with a minimum of 60% of new homes to be built on previously developed 
brownfield land over the plan period.   

2.3 In January 2013, Executive Board agreed to establish a Brownfield Land 
Programme through which Council owned brownfield sites predominantly 
located in Halton Moor, Middleton and Seacroft will be brought forward for 
development in a coordinated and programmed way.  Executive Board also 
agreed the principle of using receipts achieved through the sale of sites to 
support disposal and development of other sites in the programme. 

2.4 A further report was presented to Executive Board in February 2014 which 
provided a comprehensive update on the variety of approaches to securing 
new housing on Council owned brownfield land, including progress made 
through the brownfield land programme.   

2.5 In July 2013, Executive Board agreed the Housing Investment Land Strategy 
(HILS) which continues to be monitored and updated and seeks to bring 
together a comprehensive list of Council owned sites which are suitable for 
residential development and a co-ordinated approach to delivering the most 
appropriate form of housing for each site taking into consideration the Vision for 
Leeds, Best Council Objectives and  local need i.e. market, affordable, self-
build/custom build or specialist older people’s housing.  All of the Brownfield 
Land Programme sites are included within the HILS. 

2.6 This approach to housing growth, to meet a range of needs using the Council’s 
land will be central to the work of the new dedicated Housing Growth Team, 

Page 286



 

 

and there will be a strong relationship between this and delivery arrangements 
through the Brownfield Land Programme.   

2.7 The Brownfield Land Programme itself includes 33 Council-owned sites with an 
indicative capacity of over 1200 homes based on an average development 
density of 30 units to the hectare.  Most of the sites are located in East and 
North East Leeds (20 sites) with eight sites in South Leeds and a further four 
sites in West Leeds.  Three of the sites included within the programme form 
part of the EASEL development agreement which was entered into with 
Bellway in 2008 but are yet to be developed. 

2.8 The sites are mainly found in parts of the city where there has been limited 
successful market housing delivery in recent years and in areas which could 
benefit from an integrated approach to neighbourhood improvement, 
development and investment.  To achieve this, Neighbourhood Frameworks 
have been adopted for Belle Isle and Middleton and for the Beckhills.  Work is 
currently underway on a similar document for the Seacroft area which is 
expected to be completed by the end of the year.  These documents are the 
result of substantial Ward Member input and community engagement and set a 
clear view of local regeneration and housing growth potential. 

2.9 As detailed in the Supply of Specialist Housing for Older People paper 
elsewhere on the agenda, there is a need to develop a range of homes for 
older people across Leeds to meet the increasing demands of this 
demographic in the coming years. There is an opportunity to look at delivery of 
some older peoples housing via the brownfield programme. As set out below 
this option has previously been considered for the Brooklands Avenue site in 
Seacroft, where potential still remains, but could be explored further for other 
sites in the programme.  

2.10 The Council has been successful in gaining a funding allocation through the 
Local Growth Fund (LGF) to undertake remediation and preparatory works 
within the Brownfield Land Programme, given the low value of these sites. 

2.11 This (LGF) allocation has been obtained as part of the Leeds City Region Local 
Enterprise Partnership’s (LEP) submission to government for the City Growth 
Deal.  The Council included a proposal in the Strategic Economic Plan for 
financial support to ‘de-risk’ brownfield sites in East Leeds, which will help to 
deliver housing growth on sites in the Seacroft and Halton Moor areas.  The 
government has approved the plan with the inclusion of £610,000 of funding for 
use in the 2015/16 financial year and a further £500,000 in 2016/17. 

2.12 Further discussions are ongoing with the LEP to understand the terms on which 
this funding will be made available, to ensure it can be used to support the 
viability of the sites – whether the funds are to be offered as a loan or a grant 
will be critical to this.   A detailed business case is now being worked up in 

Page 287



 

 

parallel to these discussions in anticipation of the funding terms being 
appropriate.    

2.13 To date six sites in the programme have been marketed.  Two sites comprising 
3.4ha of land on Asket Drive, Seacroft were marketed with the benefit of outline 
planning permission in November 2013.  Strata Homes – a regional scale 
house builder - has been selected as the preferred developer and through 
discussions with Ward Members it is now finalising a planning application for 
the site for around 140 new homes.   

2.14 In July 2014, four sites in Middleton (Thorpe Road East, Thorpe Square, 
Throstle Terrace and Towcester Avenue) were marketed with a closing date for 
offers of 26th September.  These have a combined development capacity of 
around 96 homes and 2 offers have been received.  These are currently being 
assessed, though early indications are that development is viable and it is 
anticipated that a preferred developer can be selected by the end of the year.   

2.15 In June 2013, a 4.9ha site at Brooklands Avenue, Seacroft was marketed for 
development to accommodate people over the age of 55.  Whilst offers were 
received they did not entirely meet the requirements of the brief and it was 
decided in consultation with Executive and Ward members not to progress with 
the disposal until a Neighbourhood Framework for Seacroft has been 
completed.   

2.16 A further five sites (Hedley Chase, New Wortley; Westerton Walk, Tingley; 
Cartmell Drive, Halton Moor; Rathmell Road, Halton Moor; and Beckhill Grove, 
Meanwood) are expected to be marketed by the end of the 2014/15 financial 
year with a total capacity of c.160 units.   

2.17 Work is also ongoing with Bellway Homes as part of the EASEL development 
agreement. Bellway is currently on site at Thorn Walk, Gipton delivering 51 new 
homes, 28 of which are for open market sale with the remaining 23 being 
acquired as ‘pre-sales’ by the Council as part of the Council Housing Growth 
Programme.  Additionally, outline proposals have been made for the 
redevelopment of land at Oak Tree Mount in Gipton for around 100 new 
homes.   

2.18 Bellway acquired and started development of a site on South Parkway in 
Seacroft through the EASEL development agreement in 2008.  However, due 
to the recession, a very slow pace of sales resulted in the developer closing the 
site in 2012, with 83 of 201 dwellings still to be built.  To support the re-start 
and completion of this development, the Council has been working with Bellway 
to establish a binding link between this site and the proposed development of a 
Protected Area of Search (PAS) site at Spofforth Hill, Wetherby.  This would be 
in keeping with the Council’s interim planning policy related to PAS sites, 
whereby development of the green field site would  cross subsidise the delivery 
of a brownfield site, in this case at Seacroft.  If approved through the planning 

Page 288



 

 

process, this will allow the Seacroft development to be completed over the next 
three to five years. 

2.19 Discussions are proceeding with Bellway about the status of the remaining two 
sites included within the Development Agreement (Seacroft depot on South 
Parkway, Seacroft and Amberton Terrace, Gipton).  If Bellway is not able to 
make viable proposals for these sites, they will be removed from the 
development agreement with mutual consent and become available for 
development via the Brownfield Land Programme. This will end the contractual 
relationship with Bellway for the delivery of EASEL.   

2.20 As part of the EASEL programme a Joint Venture Company was established 
between the Council and Bellway Homes.  Through the Homes and 
Communities Agency’s (HCA) Affordable Homes Programme, the Council has 
directly secured grant funding to support the delivery of 135 affordable homes 
across the Acre Mount and Middleton Park Avenue sites in Middleton, and 
Mistress Lane site at Armley.  In the case of the Middleton sites, this will only 
take a small amount of the available development land, leaving the remainder 
available for other residential development opportunities.  Additional affordable 
housing is expected to be developed by a Housing Association using HCA 
funding on land at Holdforth Place, New Wortley. 

2.21 Given the importance of ensuring that momentum in brownfield housing 
delivery is capitalised on and sustained, alternative disposal, partnership and 
development approaches have been explored and are set out in the main part 
of the report.   

3 Main issues 

3.1 Although a start has been made to addressing the challenges in developing 
housing on the Council’s brownfield land, there is now a need to increase the 
rate at which the Council is able to secure the delivery of new homes in the 
city’s regeneration areas. 

3.2 At its meeting in February 2014 Executive Board supported the intention to 
explore the potential of forming a partnership with one or more developers to 
achieve these aims.  Market research has since been undertaken to explore 
how this could be achieved, which has given rise to several options for 
Executive Board to consider in how this may be taken forward. 

Market Research 

3.3 A structured market research exercise was conducted during the summer of 
2014 to establish whether there is an appetite within the development industry 
to enter into any form of partnership with the Council to build new homes on its 
brownfield sites.  A number of other Local Authorities have established 
development partnership arrangements or development companies and the 
research sought views from developers about these arrangements, their 

Page 289



 

 

benefits and drawbacks and the potential for this approach to develop the sites 
available in Leeds.   

3.4 The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) has an established framework 
arrangement known as the Development Partner Panel (DPP), which is 
available for use by public sector bodies which includes a range of nationally 
recognised house builders.  The opportunity for developers to be included on 
the DPP was promoted by the HCA in 2012 and was advertised through the 
Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU).  The selection of developers for 
inclusion within the panel was robust and 24 developers were appointed to the 
panel by the HCA for the Northern Lot (which covers Leeds).    

3.5 Developers included within the Homes and Communities Agencies 
Development Partner Panel (DPP) as well as affordable housing providers and 
other developer contacts known to the Council were invited to respond to the 
market research exercise through completing a short questionnaire. Six 
detailed responses were received (five of which were from developers on the 
DPP), covering national volume house builders, regeneration specialists and 
regional house building interests.  

3.6 The key messages from the market research are as follows: 

(a) Multi-site development opportunities are attractive as there are 
opportunities for economies of scale;   

(b) There is no appetite for very complex procurement models as this 
increases developer costs at risk, which, given low values, would make 
the potential brownfield land packages unattractive;  

(c) A majority of developers would be interested in the brownfield 
programme, and would be likely to bring sites forward for mixed tenure;  

(d) All developers believed that they could begin developing new homes 
within 2 years of the procurement process commencing, although ground 
conditions and viability may be limiting factors;  

(e) All developers are committed to the use of local labour and apprentices. 

(f) There is some interest in exploring the potential for custom build or extra 
care housing if the Council is minded to pursue these;  

3.7 These messages are supported by the key lessons learnt by the Council from 
experience with EASEL, which include: 

(g) Long and complicated marketing or procurement processes cannot easily 
adapt to changing market conditions/ objectives and are time consuming 
and costly to negotiate;  

Page 290



 

 

(h) For the Council to effectively manage the delivery of new housing on a 
package of sites, legal and commercial arrangements need to be 
sufficiently flexible and adaptable to changing external conditions;  

(i) There are limitations and risks of committing significant assets to a 
single-partner delivery arrangement, where the pace of delivery may be 
too strongly influenced by their commercial appetite.  

Options 

3.8 Drawing on the market research and lessons learnt, there are a number of 
options that are open to the Council in considering an appropriate form of 
delivery partnership to meet its brownfield housing aims, summarised below: 

1. Progress the sale of individual sites using a conventional open market 
disposal process. 

2. Progress the sale of packages of sites using a conventional open market 
disposal process; 

3. Establish a Joint Venture Company between the Council and a single 
private sector partner; 

4. Develop a bespoke procurement approach to select a development partner 
or development partners; 

5. Use of the HCA’s DPP as a means of procuring a development partner or 
development partners; 

3.9 In assessing these options and the most effective way forward for the Council, 
consideration must be given to a number of critical factors in realising ambitions 
for the programme.  These are: 

• Speed and timeliness of delivery 
• Certainty 
• The ability to generate and sustain market interest 
• Flexibility for the Council and partner(s) 
• Appropriate management of costs and risks 

Options 1 & 2: Continued Open Market Disposals 

3.10 Market research and valuation advice sought at the time the Brownfield Land 
Programme was being established found that it was necessary to appropriately 
package sites to improve sales prospects and ensure development 
opportunities are viable and of a scale to make a positive impact on the local 
area. As such, the disposal of individual sites has been minimised and would 
not realise benefits.     

Page 291



 

 

3.11 Six sites have already been marketed, in two packages.  Whilst offers have 
been received in both cases, the market research indicates that reliance on 
such an approach would not maximise the development potential of the 
programme and that delivery could be achieved at greater pace if development 
partnerships could be formed.  Whilst the use of options one and two cannot be 
ruled out in the future, they are not the preferred principle delivery route. 

Option 3: Joint Venture Company 

3.12 The Council has direct experience of such arrangements with the EASEL 
JVCo.  It was an accepted view at the time of procurement that housing-led 
market delivery could deliver significant complimentary investment to support 
the regeneration of areas based on high and increasing property values.  
Although the concept of housing driving regeneration remains a valid one, it is 
important that the Council is realistic about the extent and pace at which this 
can be achieved in the current economic climate using planning contributions 
and the emerging Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) regime.   

3.13 In other examples where Councils and developers have JVCo arrangements, 
such as Sheffield Housing Company (Sheffield City Council and Keepmoat), 
delivery is focused on housing and a mix of tenures and types to meet local 
demand. The multi-site delivery approach provides the company with 
economies of scale and greater potential to reinvest receipts into related 
regeneration investment.  However, there are no upfront promises of major 
capital investment in areas, assets, or neighbourhood planning as was the case 
with EASEL.   

3.14 The Brownfield Land Programme is in the region of 1200 new homes, which is 
considered to be too small for an effective and cost-efficient joint venture 
arrangement.  A JVCo would come with operational costs and other resource 
implications to procure, establish and manage, with the additional potential for 
protracted procurement and legal negotiations. 

Options 4 & 5: A Flexible Development Partnership 

3.15 These options would result in a similar form of delivery vehicle, the 
establishment of one or more development partnerships through a single 
procurement exercise to deliver new housing on a package of sites in a 
phased/programmed way.  

3.16 There are a number of benefits of utilising a procurement approach compared 
to a conventional disposal process, specifically the ability of the Council to be 
more prescriptive about the range of housing that could be delivered i.e. 
specific requirements for older people’s accommodation or affordable housing 
provision; delivery timescales; and quality or design standards for new housing.   

 

Page 292



 

 

3.17 The primary difference in the two options is the pace through which the 
partnership can be formed with the HCA’s DPP process reducing the 
procurement timescale by at least 4 months.  Although the use of the DPP will 
exclude some potential development partners, those that are on the panel have 
been through rigorous checks and tests to ensure that they are suitable 
partners for local authorities in the delivery of new homes.  This reduces risks 
to the Council and all of the nationally recognised house builders and a number 
of regeneration specialists are included.   

3.18 The marketing of six sites so far has provided opportunities for all developers to 
work in Leeds.  The use of the DPP and appointment of development partners 
would not preclude the continued open market disposal of other sites in the 
HILS where this may be appropriate. 

3.19 There was limited support for the Council exploring the creation of its own 
Developer Panel/ Framework, it would take time to scope out, establish and 
procure and could involve extensive legal negotiations to agree an appropriate 
form of contract with a developer.  The HCA has indicated that a number of 
Councils have gone down this route, but have ultimately selected partners that 
are on the DPP.  Additionally, the market research indicates that the use of the 
DPP, with the standardised documentation and development agreement, will 
produce the quickest results and provide a structured partnership arrangement 
with the selected developer.  

Proposed Approach 

3.20 It is proposed to use the HCA’s DPP as a means of procuring and contracting a 
development partner or partners to progress the delivery of new housing on the 
Council’s brownfield land through large packages or ‘lots’ of sites to ensure 
economies of scale and critical mass.   

3.21 This is on the basis that: 

i) the DPP is readily available for use by a range of public sector 
organisations with an agreed form of contract; 

ii) each panel member has already been rigorously assessed by the HCA;  

iii) the major house builders are included on the panel;  

iv) the procurement timescale to select developers is streamlined as the 
OJEU process has been undertaken by the HCA (saving at least 4 
months);  

v) the use of the DPP will save both the Council and developers cost and 
resources by avoiding the need to undertake a full OJEU procurement 
process; and 

Page 293



 

 

vi) the use of a procurement exercise to select development partners will 
allow the Council to be more prescriptive about the type of housing to be 
delivered, development timescales and the quality of construction. 

3.22 Fourteen sites (see Appendix 1) are to be considered for inclusion initially as 
part of a procurement exercise as set out below and will be subject to further 
consideration and discussion with developers.   

• Barncroft Close, Seacroft 

• Kentmere Approach, Seacroft 

• Former Asket Hill Primary School, Seacroft 

• Brooklands Drive, Seacroft 

• Brooklands View, Seacroft 

• Seacroft Crescent North, Seacroft 

• Seacroft Crescent South, Seacroft 

• South Parkway, Seacroft 

• Kendal Drive, Halton Moor 

• Wykebeck Mount, Osmondthorpe 

• Acre Mount, Middleton 

• Middleton Park Avenue, Middleton 

• Meynell Approach, Holbeck 

• Lovell Park Road, Little London 

3.23 Should the EASEL development agreement be terminated, the remaining 
undeveloped sites will also be considered for inclusion:  

• Old York Road Depot, Seacroft  

• Amberton Terrace, Gipton 

3.24 Some of the sites may lend themselves in-part or wholly to the delivery of older 
people’s accommodation or for custom build housing.  The use of a 
procurement approach provides the Council with the opportunity to include the 
delivery of such accommodation and make land available for custom build, with 
other requirements potentially being for the delivery of a greater proportion of 
affordable housing than would usually be required through the planning 
process. 

3.25 This will be explored further through the procurement process and through joint 
working with the Housing Growth Team and Adult Social Care as appropriate.   

Proposed Procurement Programme 

3.26 Subject to Executive Board approval, a procurement process using the DPP 
can commence in the New Year.  Initially developers included on the DPP will 
have 4 weeks to express an interest in the opportunity following which a short 
listing exercise will take place to identify up to 5 developers who will be given 
10 weeks to work up detailed proposals and submit a tender.  Tenders will be 

Page 294



 

 

assessed against a predetermined assessment criteria and it is anticipated that 
development partners will be selected by late summer 2015 following which 
they will begin the process of securing planning permission on a phased basis 
with work anticipated to commence on site in 2016.  

3.27 It is likely that the delivery of new homes supported through the HCA Affordable 
Homes Programme will commence in advance of development brought forward 
through the proposed partnership(s).  In addition, it is anticipated that 
development will be underway by late 2015 on the 5 sites which are to be 
marketed separately through a conventional disposal process, ensuring 
continued delivery through the programme during the procurement exercise. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 Detailed discussions have taken place with ward members in Chapel Allerton, 
Gipton, Seacroft and Middleton about the sites within their wards. 

4.1.2 In Middleton, ward members were all involved in the preparation of the Belle 
Isle and Middleton Neighbourhood Framework and there was significant 
community engagement as part of the process, prior to the document being 
agreed by Executive Board in September 2013.  The same approach was 
taken in the Chapel Allerton ward where the Beckhill Neighbourhood 
Framework has been prepared. 

4.1.3 Work is ongoing with the Killingbeck and Seacroft ward members to scope out 
the development and investment opportunities within the ward as part of the 
emerging Neighbourhood Framework.  This will be the subject of public 
consultation once a draft of the document has been completed and discussions 
will continue with an emerging Neighbourhood Forum with a view to identifying 
whether this work could eventually inform a formal Neighbourhood Plan for the 
area. 

4.1.4 The Executive Member for Transport and Economy and Executive Member for 
Neighbourhoods Planning and Personnel have been briefed on a number of 
occasions about specific disposal activity and the overall programme approach.  

4.1.5 The Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Board has received a series of reports 
and updates on the progress of planning for and delivering housing on the 
Council’s brownfield land.  

4.1.6 Specific development proposals will be the subject of statutory consultation 
once planning applications have been submitted.   

 

 

Page 295



 

 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 An Equality Impact Screening was undertaken at the inception of the 
Brownfield Land Programme and has been reviewed and updated in 
September 2014. This has indicated that there would be no specific 
implications for equality groups – the programme would be addressing land 
predominately in deprived areas and its outcomes would potentially result in an 
improvement in the external perception of these, greater access to and choice 
of housing and opportunities for local people in training and employment. 

4.2.2 Individual site proposals will come forward through the planning process and 
applications will be subject to statutory requirements in respect of site design 
and accessibility of housing developed. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The Brownfield Land Programme and more generally the development of new 
housing on previously developed land relates strongly to the Best City agenda, 
in particular Best City to Live and Best City to do Businesses.  Securing 
development on previously developed land ensures growth of the city in a 
sustainable way, minimising the need to develop on greenfield sites.  In 
addition the proposed approach gives the potential to secure investment in new 
homes and attract investment from both the private and public sectors. 

4.3.2 This programme also supports the Best Council plan objectives to promote 
Sustainable and Inclusive Economic Growth; Build a Child Friendly City; 
support the delivery of The Better Lives Programme, Delivering High Quality 
Public Services and Creating An Efficient and Enterprising Council. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The Council’s brownfield sites are actual or potential liabilities in terms of 
management and maintenance costs.  They detract significantly from the 
neighbourhoods in which they are located and have a negative impact on the 
delivery of council and other public services (through health and safety issues 
and anti-social behaviour). 

4.4.2  The majority of the sites in the programme are not likely to have significant 
positive land values, or may indeed not be viable as standalone sites. 
However a multi-site delivery approach will support viable development, 
generate New Homes Bonus and maximise the capital receipts from these 
sites.   

4.4.3  The proposed approach using the HCA’s DPP is free of charge, with 
established processes and draft legal documents. This will save the Council 
considerable time and resources compared to establishing another 
procurement route for a multi-site approach.  

Page 296



 

 

4.4.4 Executive Board has previously approved the principle that receipts achieved 
through the sale of sites should be used to support disposal and development 
of other sites within the programme.  This will initial fund a variety of legal and 
technical due diligence checks, the preparation of planning and design 
guidance, and in the future could include remediation and infrastructure work 
reduce development risk for the site.  In addition, as outlined in the report the 
Council has been successful in securing an allocation of funding through the 
Local Growth Fund to undertake works to de-risk sites prior to marketing.  A 
business case is being prepared which will detail the nature of this work with 
expenditure required in the 2015/16 and 2016/17 financial years. 

4.4.5 Future activity on the brownfield land programme will be accommodated from 
existing resources within the Asset Management and Regeneration Service, 
working in a coordinated way with the emerging Housing Growth Team to 
ensure that custom build, affordable housing and older people’s housing 
options are appropriately integrated within the wider procurement approach. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 Progressing delivery of the Brownfield Land Programme will require ongoing 
legal advice around contractual matters.  Given the opportunity for the Council 
to progress works which improve the attractiveness of sites to the development 
industry, state aid implications will need to be explored. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.2 Delivery via the DPP is a tried and tested delivery model by Local Authorities 
and the HCA across the country. It provides flexibility in approach, scope and 
vision, while establishing a clear structure for delivery and documentation.  

4.6.3 The risk of delay in delivery via the DPP will be mitigated by limiting the 
packaging of sites and keeping some sites where suitable for single site 
disposal. There will also be claw back clauses within the documentation to 
ensure delivery to a specified programme.  

4.6.4 The responses received through the market research exercise indicate that the 
use of the DPP mitigates procurement risk on the part of developers.  This may 
result in greater interest being received.  It will be necessary to have a clear 
scope and vision for the project at the outset which will help to mitigate the risk 
of future delays.  In Middleton a Neighbourhood Framework was approved in 
2013, while work is ongoing with ward members to prepare a similar document 
in Seacroft which will be complete early in 2015.     

4.6.5 A high level risk register has been developed and will be monitored and 
managed through established project management arrangements.   

 

Page 297



 

 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 The Brownfield Land Programme has made good progress and offers have 
been received on 6 sites which will deliver c.240 new homes.   

5.2 To ensure the delivery of housing on land included within the programme is 
achieved at pace, further exploration has taken place to determine alternative 
ways of engaging with developers beside conventional land disposals. 

5.3 Following market research undertaken in the summer of 2014 it is proposed to 
utilise the Homes and Communities Agencies Development Partner Panel to 
procure at least one development partner to progress housing delivery on land 
included within the Brownfield Land Programme. 

5.4 It is anticipated that procurement will commence in early 2015 with preferred 
developers selected by the end of the summer, following which time 
development partners will secure planning consent with a view to commencing 
on site in 2016.   

6 Recommendations 

6.1. Executive Board is asked to note the content of this report and; 

i) Agree to use the Homes and Communities Agency’s Development Partner 
Panel to select a development partner or partners to deliver new homes on 
sites included within the Council’s Brownfield Land Programme as set out in 
paragraph 3.22; 

ii) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to determine how the 
sites outlined in paragraph 3.22, in addition to any additional sites made 
available through the potential termination of the EASEL Strategic 
Development Agreement (paragraph 3.23), are to be included within each 
development package; 

iii) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development, in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Economy & Transport, to enter into a 
development agreement with a preferred developer or developers selected 
through the procurement exercise as set out in recommendation i), with the 
final terms of any such agreement to be reported back to Executive Board.   

iv) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to incorporate other 
cleared development sites into the procured partnership as may be 
appropriate, as a means of increasing the capacity and pace of housing 
delivery in the city. 

v) Note that the Head of Regeneration will be responsible for implementation 
as outlined in the report. 

Page 298



 

 

 

7 Background documents1  

7.1   None. 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not 
include published works. 

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix  1 – Brownfield Land Programme – Sites proposed for inclusion in procurement package 

 

Site Name Site Size (Ha) Comments 

Barncroft Close, Seacroft 
 

0.66 This site has been cleared for 

approximately 20 years. It is unallocated 

in the UDP, but has been identified for 

housing through discussion with ward 

members.    

 

 

Kentmere Approach, 
Seacroft 

4.35 This site was included in the JVCo 

agreement with Bellway Homes which 

has now ceased. The cleared housing site 

adjoins open space and part of the site is 

N1 greenspace, with the remainder 

unallocated in the UDP.  

 

The site has been identified for housing 

through discussion with ward members 

with a green corridor connecting the site 

to The Rein and Wyke Beck Valley.  

 

 

Former Asket Hill Primary 
School, Seacroft 
 

5.28 The former school site includes N6 

playing pitches. The site has been 

identified as being suitable for housing 

through discussions with ward members. 

 

 

Brooklands Drive, Seacroft 
 

1.58 This site was included in the JVCo 

agreement with Bellway Homes which 

has now ceased. The site is suitable for 

residential development.  There is one 

dwelling in private ownership which must 

be reacquired although house is not 

occupied. 

 

 

Brooklands View, Seacroft 
 

3.16 This site was included in the JVCo 

agreement with Bellway Homes which 

has now ceased. The site is suitable for 

residential development and part is part 

occupied by RISE construction training 

centre 

 

On 6 June 2013 AMB agreed to the site 

being taken for school provision so long 

as the land take is minimised. 

 

Page 301



Utility plans and extended informal 

planning guidance are available for the 

site.  

 

Seacroft Crescent North, 
Seacroft 
 

0.56 This site was included in the JVCo 

agreement with Bellway Homes which 

has now ceased. This site is adjacent to 

the former Fairview residential care 

home.  The site is suitable for residential 

development. 

 

 

Seacroft Crescent South, 
Seacroft 
 

0.32 Site adjacent to Seacroft Library and 

labour club suitable for residential 

development.   

 

 

South Parkway, Seacroft 
 

2.7 This site was included in the JVCo 

agreement with Bellway Homes which 

has now ceased.  This is a cleared housing 

site suitable for redevelopment with links 

to the Wyke Beck valley. 

 

 

Kendal Drive, Halton Moor 
 

0.43 This is a cleared housing site suitable for 

residential redevelopment. Members are 

supportive of site development subject to 

agreement around the provision of 

adequate school places. 

 

 

Wykebeck Mount, 
Osmondthorpe 

3.1 This site is formed of the former 

Osmondthorpe Primary School site and 

cleared housing land to the north of 

Wykebeck Mount.  Outline planning 

consent for housing has previously been 

granted (now expired) for the former 

school site, although both sites are 

suitable for the development of new 

homes. 

 

Acre Mount, Middleton 
 

2.08 This site is mainly cleared with only 2 

plots of land and 1 house remains in 

private ownership.   

 

The Neighbourhood framework prepared 

for Middleton and Belle Isle which sets 

out development opportunities for the 

site, which include housing. The site is 

also being considered for school use. 

 

Page 302



The site has an allocation of 24 units via 

the 2015-18 Affordable Homes 

Programme.  

 

Stage 1 checks have been completed and 

a planning statement will be prepared. 

 

 

Middleton Park Avenue, 
Middleton 
 

4.06 This site has been cleared of former flats 

and is in use as open space but the 

brownfield section is not designated. 

Opportunity to consider this site 

alongside the Wade Trust owned land to 

the east.  Wades have indicated a 

willingness to sell. 

 

 

 

Meynell Approach, Holbeck 
 

0.41 This site is cleared and is being used for a 

site compound by the PFI contractor until 

December 2015.  

 

There is an outline planning permission 

for the site that expires in 09/2015 and 

will need an extension of time 

application.  

 

 

Lovell Park Road, Little 
London 
 

0.62 This site is clearerd and is being used for a 

site compound by the PFI contractor until 

December 2015.  

 

There is an outline planning permission 

for the site that expires in 09/2015 and 

will need an extension of time 

application.  

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 303



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate: City Development Service area: Asset management and 
regeneration 
 

Lead person: Mark Mills 
 

Contact number: 2476421 

 

1. Title:  Next steps in the Brownfield Land Programme 
 

Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 

 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

 
The Council’s Brownfield Land Programme was established in January 2013 with the 
aim of bringing brownfield sites owned by the Council forward for development of 
new homes in a coordinated and phased way and at pace, whilst helping to mitigate 
developer risk and increase viability.  The programme includes 29 sites totalling 
45ha of land, capable of delivering c.1200 new homes, predominantly in the Halton 
Moor, Middleton and Seacroft areas of the city. 
 
The delivery of high quality new housing across tenures and in the right locations is 
critical to realising the Vision for Leeds and delivering the Best Council Plan.  It plays 
a key role in meeting the needs of current and future residents of Leeds, in enabling 
families and children to be healthy and to succeed and in helping communities 
realise ambitions for the regeneration of their neighbourhoods.   
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x   

Page 305



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

2

Previous screenings in the progress of the Brownfield Land Programme have 
indicated that no specific implications for equality groups were anticipated, though 
the general benefit of housing choice and quality for disadvantaged neighbourhoods 
can be expected; and that the planning process for each site would take care of site 
design and accessibility issues. 
 
This screening supports a report to Executive Board on 19 November 2104 seeking 
support for the use of the Homes and Communities Agency’s Development Partner 
Panel route as the procurement model and delegated authority to package the 
programme appropriately and to enter development agreements.  
 
 

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

• Advancing equality of opportunity 
• Fostering good relations 

 
 
 
x 
x 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 

Page 306



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The scope of the proposal is limited to specific development sites, all occurring within 
neighbourhoods disadvantaged to different degrees. However they all comprise long 
term vacant land causing potential or actual negative impact and in freeing up 
development their improvement will be of economic, social and environmental benefit.   
 
A robust options appraisal for the procurement route has been used and if approved, the 
reports’ recommendations will ensure value for money and resource efficiency, and will 
enhance rather than divert resources from support for vulnerable groups, speeding up 
the pace of delivery and giving the council an opportunity to be more prescriptive about 
the type of housing (older people/ affordable/ market); and about the quality of 
development. 
 
The proposals help meet the requirements for open market, specialist, affordable and 
self-build homes identified in the Housing Investment Land Strategy. The strategy 
requires development proposals to meet local need and support regeneration 
opportunities which again will address equality groups’ housing choice.  The proposal 
also responds to the Better Lives for People in Leeds agenda, primarily focused on older 
people.  
 
Market research with developers to frame conditions for disposal has been undertaken 
and reinforces the expectation that a mix of tenure and house type is needed on all 
identified sites, and may enable more Extra Care units to be established.  In addition, 
support for local labour and training targets is a commitment by all taking part.  
 
Ward/Executive member consultation has regularly been undertaken as the Brownfield 
Land Programme has progressed and community engagement has been particularly 
strong and positive in Middleton/Belle Isle and Chapel Allerton wards, resulting in the 
publishing of Neighbourhood Frameworks.  Seacroft’s is expected very soon. 
 
The planning process will operate for any development proposal coming forward and 
ensure that consultation is accessible across communities 
 

• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Now that more detail is available it is possible to see that the mix of housing on any given 

Page 307



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

4

site might impact differently on equality groups, or be perceived so to do, and that not just 
overall decisions about mix and tenure will be required but section 106 decisions 
regarding affordable housing and green-space for example, will need to bear that in 
mind.   
 
Similarly it is possible that communities in wards not represented within the Brownfield 
Land Programme might perceive that resources are being allocated unequally and 
respond negatively. 
 
Integrating new residents into established communities where there may be cohesion 
issues might pose a challenge to both groups.   
 
 

• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

Going forward into delivery phases, programme managers will ensure that the most 
robust research into need and demand continues to be available to potential 
developers and partners and informs decision-making. 
 
Communities will be involved in decision-making so far as possible in the expectation 
that planning approvals and supporting section 106 decisions regarding affordable 
housing and green-space reflect existing neighbourhood plans and aspirations, and 
high standards of design and build can be achieved.   
 
This process will be eased by the Neighbourhood Frameworks that actively promote 
an inclusive approach to engagement that mines existing structures and can highlight 
any emerging cohesion problems and their possible resolution. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Mark Mills Programme Manager 23 October 2014 

Page 308



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   

   

5

 

Date screening completed 21 October 2014 
 

 

7. Publishing 

Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 

For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 309



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

Report author: Ben Middleton 

Tel: 2477817 

 

Report of : Director of City Development 

Report to: Executive Board 

Date: : 19 November 2014 

Subject:: Design & Cost Report for NCP Car Park, Harper Street, Leeds 

Capital Scheme Number:  32216  

 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City & Hunslet 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion 
and integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 10.4(3) 

Appendix number: 1 

 

Summary of main issues  
 
1. The NCP car park on Harper Street is located adjacent to the Kirkgate Market, which is 

about to commence a major refurbishment and is close to the Victoria Gate retail 
scheme and John Lewis department store, currently under construction.  It is a modern 
multi-storey car park offering circa 646 spaces. 

  
2. In the context of the significant redevelopment proposed and underway in the 

immediate vicinity, along with the Council’s ambition for Leeds to become the best city 
in the UK, with an economy that is both prosperous and sustainable, there is now a 
unique opportunity to acquire the head tenant’s leasehold interest.  This would allow 
the Council to receive direct a substantial rental income from their sub tenant, NCP.  
This would align with the recently approved Asset Management Plan which includes 
enhancing the value of the Council’s investment portfolio in order to produce much 
needed revenue to support the Council’s budget position.  This particular acquisition 
would produce an immediate and growing revenue surplus for the Council. 

  
3. This is a unique opportunity to acquire a strategic investment in an improving area of 

the city which will enhance the quality of the council’s investment portfolio.   
  

 

Page 311

Agenda Item 20



 

 

Recommendations 
 
4. Executive Board is recommended to: 

i) approve the acquisition of the head lease as an investment on the terms outlined 
within the confidential appendix;  

ii) approve the injection of, and give authority so spend, the sums detailed in the 
confidential appendix into the capital programme. 

iii) note that the Director of City Development under his delegated powers will 
negotiate the detailed Heads of Terms for the acquisition. 
 

  

  

 
 
1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to obtain Executive Board approval to the proposed 
acquisition of the Council’s head tenant’s leasehold interest, which would allow the 
council to receive direct a substantial rental income from their sub tenant NCP. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The Harper Street multi-storey car park was constructed in 1999 by NCP by way of 
a ground lease and offers circa 646 car parking spaces immediately adjacent to the 
Kirkgate Market as identified on the attached plan.  The council holds the freehold 
interest and granted a ground lease for a term of 125 years to NCP from 26 
November 1999.  There is provision within this ground lease for annual rental 
increases, the current rent received by the council is £8,039 (eight thousand and 
thirty nine pounds) per annum. 

2.2 In 2007 NCP carried out a number of sale and leasebacks of their UK car parks, in 
order to raise capital, to a third party (now the council’s head-tenant) who in turn 
granted NCP a full repairing and insuring sub-lease for a term of 30 years which 
expires 28/05/2037, this is subject to minimum upward only annual rental increases.  
The rent payable to the head tenant for the current financial year is £595,000. 

2.3 The net income received by NCP from car parking at Harper St for the financial year 
2013/14 was £1,139,201. 

2.4 This potential acquisition should be read in the context of its proximity to the Victoria 
Gate scheme which has been developed in partnership with the Council, and clearly 
sits within the Council’s ambition for Leeds to become the best city in the UK; with 
an economy that is both prosperous and sustainable.  Combined with the highly 
successful Trinity Leeds development and the planned redevelopment of the 
Kirkgate market; all major contributors in the provision of significant new jobs for the 
people of Leeds, will bring a step change in the retail economy of the city and 
regenerate an area of the city which has been identified as a redevelopment 
opportunity for over 20 years, and also drive continued demand for car parking in 
this area of the city. 

 

 

 

Page 312



 

 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Design Proposals and Full Scheme Description. 

3.2 This proposal is seen as a further opportunity to increase and improve the quality 
and diversity of the council’s property investment portfolio.  This principle is one of 
the 10 key proposed actions in the draft Asset Management Plan, to support the 
council’s revenues.  If acquired, it would sit well alongside other major key 
investments such as the Arena, the re-developed Merrion House and the potential 
warehouse investments in the Aire Valley.  The timing is particularly opportune, as 
the car park is located close to the Kirkgate Market and John Lewis store under 
construction which is due to open in September 2016. 

3.3 Victoria Gate and John Lewis will under-pin the strength of this location for car 
parking, and an acquisition would assist the council in mitigating its loss of car 
parking revenue on the Union Street site which closed in March 2014 to allow the 
Victoria Gate retail scheme to be constructed. 

3.4 The head tenant breached its banking covenants, and a consortium of banks now 
controls this interest.  An opportunity has arisen to acquire the head-tenants interest 
from the bank and receive the rental income from NCP direct.  The full financial 
details are outlined in the confidential appendix. 

3.5 Car parking in Leeds city centre is limited and has reduced recently with the closure 
of the Union Street car park and the anticipated closure of the Council’s Sovereign 
Street car park later this year will add further pressure, as and when Caddick 
redevelop Quarry Hill, the car parking in this area will diminish further. 

3.6 Hammerson will be providing a further 800 spaces in a new multi-storey car park 
attached to the John Lewis store, but the attraction of the new retail development is 
such that it will provide a far greater demand for car parking than the 800 spaces 
provided. 

3.7 This is a unique opportunity to acquire a strategic investment in an improving area 
of the city which will enhance the quality of the council’s investment portfolio.   
Please note the sub lease to NCP will remain and they will continue to operate the 
car park.     

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The Executive Member for Transport and the Economy has been briefed on 16th 
September 2014 and is supportive of the acquisition proposal. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening has taken place, indicating 
that there are no implications and therefore further assessment is not required.  The 
EDCI screening document is attached at Appendix 2. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The proposed acquisition supports the Best Council Plan objective of ‘Becoming a 
more efficient and enterprising Council’, and underpins a number of priorities 
including: ‘improve how we’re organised and making the best use of our assets’ by 

Page 313



 

 

seeking to optimise the Council’s investment portfolio; and ‘generating income for 
the Council’ providing an annually increasing income to support the Council’s 
revenue budget.  Not only would the acquisition provide a net surplus income at a 
time when there is unprecedented pressure on the Council’s revenue budget, but it 
would also put a strategically located site, within the heart of a significant city centre 
regeneration area, back into Council ownership and control. 

4.3.2 The recently approved Asset Management Plan 2013-17 has, as one of its ten 
areas of focus ‘making the Council’s portfolio work better’, undertaking to improve 
the scale and quality of the investment portfolio to assist and support the Council’s 
revenue budget, including strategic acquisition where there is a strong financial 
case to do so. 

4.4   Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The proposed acquisition would provide the Council with a net surplus annual 
income as outlined in the confidential appendix after allowing for borrowing costs. 

4.4.2 Capital Funding and Cash Flow. 

See attached confidential appendix.           

4.5   Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 Under Part 3 Section 3E Paragraph 2(a) of the Council’s Constitution (Officer 
Delegation Scheme (Executive Functions)) the Director of City Development has 
authority to discharge any function of Executive Board in relation to the 
management of land (including valuation, acquisition, appropriation, disposal and 
any other dealings with land or any interest in land) and Asset Management. 

4.5.2 The Chief Asset Management and Regeneration Officer has authority to take the 
decisions requested in this report under Executive functions 1 and 10 (specific to 
the Director of City Development) of the Director of City Development’s sub 
delegation scheme. 

4.5.3 The matters detailed within this report are subject to call in. 

4.5.4 The information contained in the Appendix to this report relates to the financial or 
business affairs of a particular person, and of the Council.  This information is not 
publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept in relation to 
certain companies and charities.  It is considered that since this information was 
obtained through one to one negotiations for the purchase of the land/property 
referred to then it is not in the public interest to disclose this information at this point 
in time.  Also the release of such information would or would be likely to prejudice 
the Council’s commercial interests in relation to and undermine its attempts to 
acquire by agreement similar properties in the locality in that owners of other similar 
properties would be aware about the nature and level of consideration which may 
prove acceptable to the Council.  It is considered that whilst there may be a public 
interest in disclosure, much of this information will be available from the Land 
Registry following completion of the purchase and consequently the public interest 
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this 
information at this point in time.  It is therefore considered that this element of the 
report should be treated as exempt under rule 10.4(3) of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules. 

 

Page 314



 

 

4.6   Risk Management 

4.6.1 Under the terms of the ground lease, in order to calculate the ground rent, NCP 
have to provide annually details of the preceding years net income generated from 
car parking, as highlighted earlier, the net income generated for the financial year 
2013/2014 was in the region of £1.14 million and independently, the council’s car 
parking services have confirmed they could generate a net annual income from car 
parking of circa £1.2 million. 

4.6.2 In addition, the sub tenant has to pay annual minimum fixed increases in the rent. 

4.6.3 The risk to the council is very low, as should the tenant become financially 
insolvent, or at lease expiry, the council can double the current income derived from 
the investment by operating the car park directly itself, via car parking services. 

5 Conclusion 

5.1 In conclusion, this is an attractive investment proposition for the council to acquire, 
as not only of minimal financial risk, but also places the council in more control of an 
important asset in an improving area of the city centre. 
 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to: 
i) approve the acquisition of the head lease as an investment on the terms 

outlined within the confidential appendix; 
ii)  approve the injection of, and give authority so spend, the sums detailed in 

the confidential appendix into the capital programme 
iii) note that the Director of City Development, under his delegated powers, will 

negotiate the detailed Heads of Terms for the acquisition. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None. 

 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 

unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 315



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 317

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



29.0m

Multistorey Car Park

29.0m

Headquarters

28.3m

NEW YORK STREET

El Sub Sta

16-18

UNION STREET

Sub Sta

38

PC

HA
RP

ER
 ST

RE
ET

GEORGE STREET
MI

LL
GA

RT
H 

ST
RE

ET

46

FB

27

Posts

22 32

40

Shelter

1

FB

48

Station

5024 to 26

9

PC

23

3

Posts

PCs

TCBs

42

1

DYER

Bus Station

6 to 16

25

22 to 30

16

El

PO

27

29.0m

STREET

Police

Coach

Kirkgate Market

31.1m

31

5

44

Fn

Leeds City

MULTI STOREY CAR PARK
HARPER STREET

LEEDS
LS2

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014
Ordnance Survey LA100019567 

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M. CHRISTIAN

SE3033SE

16596/B
SCALE 1:1,260

DATE SAVED:     26/09/2014

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\16500 - 16599\16596B Harper Street Car Park RED LINE.mxdPage 321



This page is intentionally left blank



   
   

  

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate: City Development  Service area: Asset Management 
 

Lead person: Ben Middleton 
 

Contact number: 0113 247 7817 

 

1. Title:  Acquisition of leasehold interest of the NCP Car Park, Harper Street, Leeds 
 

Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 

 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

 
The proposed acquisition of the head tenant’s leasehold interest in the NCP Car 
Park at Harper Street, Leeds.  The acquisition would allow the Council to receive 
direct a substantial rental income from the sub-tenant NCP.  The EIA screening is in 
respect of the proposal to acquire this interest. 
 

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 323



   
   

  

2

 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 

Questions Yes No 

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

• Advancing equality of opportunity 

• Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 

• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 

Page 324



   
   

  

3

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Name Job title Date 

Christine Addison 
 

Chief Asset Management 
& Regeneration Officer 

08/10/2014 

 
 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 

Date screening completed  
06/10/2014 

If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

10/10/2014 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 325



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Director City Development 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19 November 2014 

Subject: Connectivity Improvements to South Bank 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:  10.4(3) 
Appendix number: II 

Summary of main issues  

1. The revitalisation of Leeds Dock (formerly Clarence Dock), is a key component of the 
regeneration of the South Bank and the continued growth of the city centre to help 
achieve the city’s vision to be Best City. The proposals set out in this report are in line 
with the objective of the Leeds City Council Best Council Plan to promote sustainable 
and inclusive economic growth. 

2. The issues surrounding the lack of success of the area are well documented: the 
former proposition failed, partly due to connectivity issues from the city centre.  The 
new owner, Allied London, has a renewed vision and development proposition to 
attract new creative and digital businesses, enhance the facilities for local residents 
and workers, and animate the public realm to attract visitors of all ages to the 
waterfront, thereby helping to help drive footfall and exposure to the nearby Royal 
Armouries.  

3. If successful, this will significantly help to realise the city’s vision for South Bank and 
have a significant and positive impact on the local economy. Allied London has a 
strong track record in delivering successful regeneration, as exemplified by the 
successful Spinningfields scheme in Manchester which faced similar issues to those 
facing Leeds Dock. Key to this was close partnership working, and support from, the 
Local Authority. 

4. Measures to address the connectivity issues outlined above have been identified: 
public realm improvements at a cost of £144,000 and four transport proposals: a low 
fare shuttle bus from the rail station to the South Bank including Leeds Dock, a free or 

 Report author:  Cath Follin 

Tel:  2477861 

Page 327

Agenda Item 21



 

 

low fare water taxi service, improved cycle routes and storage and car sharing 
initiatives at a total cost of £1,547,500 over five years. Officers believe that significant 
investment is required to support the viability of Leeds Dock. 

5. Leeds City Council has been unable to fund these measures on its own. However 
Allied London has offered, as a major landowner, to contribute £94,000 towards the 
costs of public realm improvements from the rail station to Leeds Dock and to meet the 
majority of the costs of the transport proposals.  

6. Both officers and Allied London believe that the revitalisation of Leeds Dock is unlikely 
to succeed without close partnership working of all stakeholders and an enhance 
infrastructure within the South Bank. 

Recommendations 

7. Executive Board is recommended to note that: 

i) a contribution of £50k LCC funding will be sought from the capital 
programme and alongside private sector contributions of £94k will help fund 
public realm improvements from Leeds Rail Station through South Bank. 
Once the details have been finalised a report will be taken to Director of City 
Development for approval; 

ii) a contribution of £25k is made from the Leeds Transport Plan towards the 
cycling and bus stop provision to complement the £150k City Connect 
scheme which will provide cycling infrastructure from the Leeds Railway 
Station to Leeds Bridge by extending facilities into the South Bank; 

iii) funding will be allocated from the S106 Public Transport contributions to 
support public transport provision from the railway station to Leeds Dock. It is 
recommended that the bus is branded as ‘City Bus (South Bank)’, with fares 
kept in line with the existing City Bus (currently 50p). 

 

Page 328



 

 

Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report outlines issues impacting on the potential success of Leeds Dock and 
the rest of South Bank and proposes contributing funding and in-kind support to a 
number of public realm, cycling and public transport improvements to improve 
connectivity to South Bank. The proposals set out in this report are in line with the 
objective of the Leeds City Council Best Council Plan to promote sustainable and 
inclusive economic growth. 

2 Background information 

2.1  Leeds Dock (formerly Clarence Dock), is a key component of the city’s vision for 
the regeneration of the South Bank and the continued growth of the city centre. 

The issues surrounding the lack of success of the area are well documented: the 
former proposition failed to be sustainable, in particular with the commercial and 
leisure usages of the area.  The new owner, Allied London has been progressing a 
renewed vision and development proposition for the area. This comprises of 
133,700 sq. ft. of office workspace designed for technology, media and 
telecommunications users, 8,000 sq. ft. of convenience shopping, 10,000 sq. ft. of 
mezzanine gym space; 26,500 sq. ft. restaurants and bars and a new themed 
leisure attraction combining bar/restaurant, event space, heritage/ exhibition 
space, totalling 4-5,000 sq.ft. on Dam Island. (see Appendix I) 

2.2 Allied London’s strategy focusses on bringing fresh vitality to the area, attracting 
creative and digital industries and making it more of a destination for leisure whilst 
better meeting the day to day retail requirements of residents and workers.  If 
successfully delivered, this will represent a major achievement for the city’s vision 
for South Bank and it has the potential to have a significant and positive impact on 
the local economy. In particular, the focus on technology, media and 
telecommunications end users can support the digital economy of the area and 
broader city region, whilst the footfall generated by the leisure operators can help 
drive footfall and exposure to the nearby Royal Armouries The museum has seen 
its visitor figures as much as triple on weekends where Allied London have held 
events. 

2.3 Allied London is developing a varied events programme for people of all ages; for 
example it held a Dragon Boat race as part of the Waterfront Festival and recently 
staged ‘The White Whale’ - a modern retelling the nautical classic Moby Dick - on 
the Leeds Liverpool Canal at the Dock. There have been outdoor cinema 
screenings throughout August and September. 

2.4 November will see the arrival of the Leeds Dock weekend markets with a range of 
stalls, award winning street food, live music and a pop up bar.  Leeds Dock is also 
hosting The Thought Bubble Festival from 9th – 16th November; this is the UK’s 
largest event of its kind: an annual celebration of sequential art in all its forms, 
including everything from superhero comics to independent and small-press 
artists and writers. It will include free art and writing based workshops for young 
people and adults, a two day academic conference, talks and master classes led 
by industry professionals and a programme of art related film screenings. The 
events programme, changes towards everyday retail, better leisure provision and 

Page 329



 

 

increased office space are all helping to create a critical mass at Leeds Dock. 
Improvements to connectivity are now needed to support these changes. 

2.5 Allied London has a strong track record in delivering successful regeneration, as 
exemplified by the successful Spinningfields scheme in Manchester – an area that 
faced similar issues to those that have faced New Dock. Key to this was close 
partnership working, and support from, the Local Authority. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Connectivity is one of the most significant issues facing Leeds Dock. The area 
suffers from severance on a number of different levels: 

i. there is a limited cycle route through to the area; 

ii. the dominance of the highways provides a major physical and psychological 
barrier for pedestrians; 

iii. although public transport serves the area, there is only one bus service that 
serves Leeds Dock specifically – twice an hour, although this does not serve 
the rail station. Other routes serve bus-stops that are a 5 minute walk from 
Leeds Dock, but only one serves bus stops near to the rail station.  

iv. it is estimated that the journey time to Leeds Dock from the station, using 
public transport and additional walking time, is approximately 20 minutes plus, 
whilst it can be walked in less.  

3.2 These issues are not just limited to Leeds Dock: the South Bank area in general 
suffers from these issues, and the colleges and pending free school development 
in particular share these issues. Thus, any efforts to address issues would have 
benefit for a number of different regeneration initiatives.  

3.3 Allied London is proactively making investments to help tackle these problems 
and has funded the provision of two water taxi services Friday to Sunday which 
are free of charge. These provide access from Granary Wharf in Holbeck Urban 
Village to Leeds Dock. The taxis carried 4,534 adults and 1,692 children during 
the weekends in July, August & September; their value at present is primarily for 
supporting events at Leeds Dock including those at the Royal Armouries, 
enhancing the visitor experience and helping to market Leeds Dock, however, a 
more frequent service in future could provide a quick and pleasant means of 
transport to both Brewery Wharf (where it does not currently stop) and Leeds 
Dock.  Allied London intend to continue to provide this service throughout the 
year, weather permitting, to support events at Leeds Dock; although they may 
make a small charge next year as users are surprised it is free and have indicated 
they would be happy to pay £1-£1.50. 

3.4 Public Realm and Transport Provision 

3.5 Leeds City Council and Allied London have developed proposals to address the 
connectivity issues outlined above: public realm improvements at a cost of 
£144,000 and four transport proposals: a free shuttle bus from the rail station to 

Page 330



 

 

Leeds Dock, a free water taxi service, improved cycle routes and storage and car 
sharing initiatives at a total cost of £1,547,500 over five years.  

3.6 Public Realm Enhancements Officers propose that the Council contributes 
£50,000 towards public realm improvements from the train station to Leeds Dock 
on a mix of way-finding and simple enhancements including tidying landscaping 
etc if Allied London commits £94,000 to undertake complementary proposals.  

3.7 Officers propose a contribution of £25,000 is made from the LTP towards cycling 
and bus stop provision to complement the forthcoming £150,000 CityConnect 
scheme which will provide cycling infrastructure from the rail station to Leeds 
Bridge.  The cycling provision will comprise signage and minor works on highways 
between Leeds Bridge and Leeds Dock via Bowman Lane, Armouries Way and 
Black Bull Street and take advantage of cycling facilities already installed.  In the 
medium term there will be investigation of further improvements, and the NGT 
scheme will ultimately change the road layout in a way that has considered 
cyclists requirements.    

3.8 Allied London has offered to make a substantial contribution to help fund a City 
Bus service for the South Bank from the train station area to Leeds Dock via 
Hunslet Road.  Officers propose that the Council also makes a phased 
contribution towards this service, tendered through the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority.  If the Council’s support on public transport was initially phased over 
three years, we could then review the situation and, subject to funding availability 
and the success of the scheme, consider additional funding for the following two 
years.  This would enable us to obtain best value for money by tendering the 
service for five years with a break clause at three years. The estimated cost of 
running a service and proposed contributions from the Council and Allied London 
are commercially sensitive and are therefore included in the confidential Exempt 
Appendix II. However Allied London’s contribution to all four transport proposals 
outlined in paragraph 3.5 would be in excess of £1.2m over five years. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 There has been on-going consultation and engagement with key stakeholders in 
South Bank including landowners, businesses, residents and other interest 
groups. The lack of connectivity, the desire for a City Bus South, the need for 
better wayfinding and pedestrian and cycle routes is frequently cited as impacting 
on South Bank reaching its potential to help drive the regeneration of this area.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 An EIA has been completed and the monitoring form is attached as Appendix III. 
Implementing the public realm and public transport proposals will make it easier 
and potentially safer for families and those with disabilities to access leisure 
opportunities in South Bank particularly at Leeds Dock and the Royal Armouries, 
thereby helping us to have a more child and age friendly city centre.  They will 
make also it easier for those with disabilities arriving at or near the train station to 
access employment opportunities in South Bank. 

Page 331



 

 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The success of the South Bank is crucial in helping to deliver our objective to be 
the Best City. The proposals set out in this report are in line with the objective of 
the Leeds City Council Best Council Plan to promote sustainable and inclusive 
economic growth. The main themes of “Good Growth” and “21st Century 
Infrastructure” form the report of the Commission for the Future of Local 
Government are also relevant.  By making it easier for families to access events 
at Leeds Dock and the Royal Armouries, it will also help us to have a more child 
and age friendly city centre. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 Public Realm Enhancements. The Council and Allied London have estimated 
the cost of public realm improvements including minimal way-finding at £144,000. 
Economic Development has indicated that it will be able to contribute up to £50k 
this financial year to help meet some of the public realm/wayfinding costs. In 
addition there is a potential of up to £25k from the Leeds Transport Plan (a 
highways pot) for capital works re cycling, bus stop provision. 

4.4.2 City Bus to Leeds Dock. The Combined Authority has given an initial estimate, 
subject to tendering, of the cost of a bus service with two vehicles operating 
broadly a 10 minute service between 07:00 – 19:00 Monday – Saturday for five 
years. The estimate and any proposed contributions from the Council and Allied 
London are commercially sensitive and are therefore included in the confidential 
Exempt Appendix II.  It is not anticipated that there would be sufficient demand to 
run buses outside the proposed hours, partly because of the greatly reduced rail 
services at these times, however this will be reviewed if demand grows and if 
funding became available. The water taxis will continue to run on Sundays, canal 
conditions permitting. 

4.4.3 The Combined Authority would prefer to operate the new service from 28th April 
2015 in line with their annual review of services.  The provision of an additional 
bus service from the station requires permission from Network Rail, which has 
been granted. 

4.4.4 S106 Public Transport Contributions.  The Council has received £3.5m of 
monies which have been set aside for NGT. We want to be confident that, if some 
monies are used to support public transport provision to South Bank, it is more 
than likely that the funds will be replenished to ensure the £3.5m required by NGT 
is available. 

4.4.5 There are a number of schemes under construction in the City Centre with S106 
Agreements containing clauses for Public Transport contributions.  The Council 
should, within the next year or two, receive a total of £492,276 from Central 
Square & Phase 1 Eastgate alone (respectively £229,804 & £262,472), which 
could replenish the pot to bring it back to the £3.5m minimum required by NGT. 
Clearly, these have not been received yet but with work underway, there is only a 
very low risk of these monies not being paid.   

Page 332



 

 

4.4.6 Business Rate Retention.  If Leeds Dock is full after year 1, it will generate 
additional rates revenue of just over £1m over 5 years.  

4.4.7 Business Improvement District There is a report elsewhere on this agenda on a 
potential City Centre Business Improvement District. The waterfront and South 
Bank is outside the proposed BID area. Investing in South Bank now will improve 
the viability of businesses in this area and increase the potential for a Waterfront 
& South Bank BID; which would generate even more investment in this area.   

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no significant legal issues relating to the recommendations in this 
report; procurement will be undertaken in accordance and Combined Authority 
procedures.  

4.6 The information contained in Appendix II is exempt under Access to Information 
Rule 10.4 (3) as it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). It is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the content of Appendix II as 
exempt outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  

4.7 Risk Management 

4.7.1 Committing to funding from the NGT pot in the expectation of public transport 
contributions from developments that are already on site replenishing the pot 
presents a low risk. In addition, improved transport provision will make it easier for 
new developments and new lettings in the South Bank, leading to greater 
Business Rate income to the Council. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 The revitalisation of Leeds Dock is a key component of the regeneration of the 
South Bank and the continued growth of the city centre to help achieve the city’s 
vision to be Best City.  The issues surrounding the lack of success of the area are 
related to connectivity issues from the city centre.  By making the proposed 
investments in public realm and public transport improvements the city council will 
be able to lever in substantial contributions in excess of our own investment from 
Allied London and resolve the connectivity issues.  This will help to ensure the 
success of Leeds Dock in providing both employment and leisure opportunities, 
contribute to the success of the Royal Armouries and help to stimulate and 
consolidate other developments in the rest of the South Bank. 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to note that: 

i) a contribution of £50k LCC funding will be sought from the capital 
programme and alongside private sector contributions of £94k will help fund 
public realm improvements from Leeds Rail Station through South Bank. 
Once the details have been finalised a report will be taken to Director of City 
Development for approval; 

Page 333



 

 

ii) a contribution of £25k is made from the LTP towards the Cycling and bus 
stop provision to complement the £150k City Connect scheme which will 
provide cycling infrastructure from the Leeds Railway Station to Leeds Bridge 
by extending facilities into the South Bank; 

iii) funding will be allocated from the S106 Public Transport contributions to 
support public transport provision from the railway station to Leeds Dock. It is 
recommended that the bus is branded as ‘City Bus (South Bank)’, with fares 
kept in line with the existing City Bus (currently 50p). 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 334



Hol Be ck

CAMP FIELD

2

La te ral

VI
C

T
O

RI
A 

RO
AD

Ve locity S outh

48

1

30.2m

El

Cen t ra l Pa rk

34

39.3m

The A rches

Posts

M ine rva Ho us e

TCB

Clu b

Plac e

Sq uar e

145

15

Car Par k

33.8m

Vict or ia H ou se

Ar t G a ller y

Play Area

13

Foot Br idge

9

133 to 141

TCBs

SO U T H P A R A D E

14 to  62

6

4

W
IN

E 
S

TR
EE

T

3

to

1

2

16

Ho use

27
26

35.4m

42.7m

6
14

22
19 t0 20

Ho use

Vict o ri a B ri dge

33.8m

60

117

TC Bs

So ver eign  Pl ace

Sovereign S quare

PH

L Twr

RO A D

27.6m

Works

25.8m

El

26.8m

2 t
o  

4

11

43

7
6a

1a

PCs

(Art

CR O W N  P O IN T R O A D 14a

4

HU N S LE T L A N E

Nea l Pl ac e

HUN SLET  RO AD

50

123

144

STR EET

The B rookfield

PH

169 to  228

Sl

Cla ren ce H o use

Leeds Lock

MoP s

1 to  73

MoP s

4

Sav iles H all

Conveyor

Green D
ragon Yard

58

4
5

Ho use

6
10

24

4

Bank

67
a

10
3

6 to  24

Ch
an

g
e A

l le
y

TCBs

20

Car Pa rk

24

WO R M AL D  R O W

30

12 13

TCBs

3

LB

El Sub

9a

Multisto rey Car Par k

320 to  326

El Sub

14 to 22

24

23

16

6 to  12

CO
N C O R D IA

71

15

18

Whitelocks ( PH)

Commercial Cou rt

PH

Cit y V ar ieties

HEATON 'S C OUR T

Br oa d G at e

35
36

46
42

 to
 4

4

TH E
HEA DR OW

3 to 9

PH

6

45 to 49

144

28.2m

164

Ho use

36.3m

15

39.5m

TCBs

127

4

106

44.1m

104

6

31

17

8 9

10

DUN CA N STRE ET

11 13

Sub

10

51d

Kir kg ate

127 to 135

6 8

13 15

20 to 24

38
 to

 4
2

36

8

El Sub Sta

22 24

30
Cr

os
s 

A
rc

a
de

Bramley's Yard

15 17

14 
to 

18

8

19

35

Bank

49

38  40

Shelters

1 to 3

42

Tk

6

14

10

4 to 5

Nag's

2

1

2 to
 8

20

10
9 

to
 1

19

6 8

(Law

3 to  7

ST
RE

E
T

9

52

LB

90

104

28

Warehouse

120

6

4

13Bu ckle y H ou se

The T emp lar  Hotel

6

Sub

KE
N

D
EL

L S
TR

E
E

T

15

1

8

43

Br ew er y

8

ESS

29.0m

Multisto rey Car Par k

YO
R K

 S
TR

E E
T

10

54
 to

 6
8

29

29.0m

Pen tec osta l C hu rch

Posts

ST
RE

E
T

Lan gtons

He adqua rte rs

1

NE W  YO RK  R O A D

LA D YB E C K

2 t
o 

16
25.6m

Po sts

The Chandlers

3

1 to  17

28.3m

25

CR
OW

N  P
O IN

T R
O A D

89

9

PLAY HO USE

6

Sub

CROS S B ELL S TR
EET

3

68

ST
 PE

TE
R

'S PL
A

CE

32

76

QUARRY HILL

2

1 to  4

SM

31.4m

L Tw r

82

3

The

SM

Wareh ou se

CA R L ISL E R O A D

Lan ding Stage

24.3m

Gas G over nor

Fa ct o ry

Shelter

1 to 11
22 to 31

31.7m

8

El Sub Stas

NEW  YO RK  R OA D

TH
E 

G
AR

T
H

El 
S ub

 S
ta

TH
E 

CL
O

S
E

El

ING RA M  R O W

El Sub Sta

VIC TO RI A P LA C E

WA L K

1

Hotel

17
a

Posts

Multi- st orey Car P ark

Crane

9

2

1

6

G RE E K  ST R EE T

Bo nd  C ourt

Statues

Fou nt ain

RU S S EL L S TR E ET

STRE ET

LI
TT

LE
 N

E
VI

LL
E 

S
TR

EE
T

Phoe ni x H ous e

11

32

LB

Shelter

1
18

23

NE
VI

LL
E 

ST
R

EE
T

House
Park Row

70

27.4m

119

68

10

27.1m

Multisto rey Car Par k

L Twr

26.6m

Shelter

10
a

JU
NC

T
IO

N
 S

TR
EE

T

Salem

Reform ed

27.0m

5b

Gallery)

Sub Sta

Neal Place

CR O W N  P O IN T R O A D

26.2m

26.3m

Leeds Cit y College

27.1m

(PH)

PO

Livin gst on e H ou se

TER RACE

El Sub Sta

13

25.2m

Sub Sta

CA R L ISL E R O A D

Tan k

PIT T R O W

Wes t R idi ng

Spencers (PH )

Car Par k ( belo w)

3

52

22

Car Par k

101

Ho lbe ck

TCB

7 t
o 

23

40.2m

48.5m

44

10
5

24 to 28

S Gantr y

42
5

a
26 to  34

32.9m

36

1a

Car Pa rk

BA
N

K
 S

TR
E

ET

Posts

1

Ki
ng

 C
h

ar
le

s S
tre

et

58 to  63

Library

4

42
0 

to
 4

23

16  to  17

32

Po
st

s

4

Alb ion

Sloping masonry

St J ohns  Ce nt re

L Col

15

416 to 419

Sta

House

40

34

40

32

25

22

4

23

46.8m

20

1 to 84

Packh orse

13

El Sub Sta

Angel

1

3

M A R K LA N E

17

159

TCBs

to 154
to 158

133

Wh arf

2

TCBs

PH

to

House

Sub Sta

94 to 96
88 89

4

3 5

16

33
41

16 to 20

39

7

11

6

9 11

7

2

7
55

Bay Hor se Y ar d

10

30

18

20

CA
L L L

AN
E

PH

28

18

Ho
us

e

Low e r H ea dr ow  H ou se

23

17

RIV E R SID E  C O U R T

Quee n  Vic to r ia  Stre et

Chy

30

El

118

WAREHOUSE

34

30.5m

Hall

53 
to  

57

14

Clo th  H all  Stre et

Ba nk

11

14

64

Simpsons Fold West

16 17

30.5m

DO CK  S TRE ET

Bank

26

84 86
80

1

KIR K G A T E

Simpsons Fold East

Co un ty H o use

4

28

WA T ER LO O  ST R EE T

8

(PH)

Bu tch ers  R ow

Park Lane

Car Par k

Br ew er y W ha rf

NE W  Y O RK  S T RE E T

El Sub Sta

16-18

28

23

84

FB

Hous e

3

The  O ld

UN IO N  S TR E E T

Sub Sta

38

19

73

TE
M

P
LA

R
 P

L
A

C
E

27

6

Church R
ow

Kir k In gs

4

Br idg e S tr eet

22

LB

CHU RC H WA LK

33

Po sts

Fn

St Peter's Ch urch

35

18
 to

 5
8

Riv ers ide W al k

Memor ial

19
 to

 5
9

St Pet er 's  G ra veyar d

93

97

109

1 to  187

29.6m

CROS S M AU DE ST

AR M O UR IE S  W AY

28.0m

Aire an d

KIR
K

G
A

T
E

Sta

Merchants Quay

Calder  Navigation

Posts
Moor ing

66

Ware
house

FB

26

BR
IC

K
 S

TR
E

ET
TU R LO W

 C O U R T

CE N TE N A R Y

The G atew ay E ast

80

28.7m

FB

M
ARS

H LA
NE

NE P TU N E ST R EE T

Posts

Posts

ISLAND

CO
T

TO
N

 S
TR

E
E

T

L Twr

Ce ntr e

El Sub Sta

AR M
O UR IE

S  D
R IVE

1 to 30

77

Work s

30.4m

Wor ks

M ILL  ST R EE T

Ambu lan ce

Co nve nt

Sub

32 to 41

BANK

EA S T K IN G  S TR E ET

30 to 43

1 to 15

St Patric k's

ST
 B

AR
N

A
B

A
S 

R
O

A
D

1

1 to  201

6

CIT
Y

En ter pr ise H o use

CR O F T'S  C O U R T

21

Gra nary  W h arf

LBs

7

10

Pen nin e H ou se

ST RE E T

2

Statues

Que e n' s Ho t el

37

72

Cit y  Hous e

47

Bo nd  St ree t

Telep
hon

e E
xch

ang
e

DE
W

SB
U

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

Hurley Ho use

DE
W

SB
U

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

9

Sta

Warehouse

Garage

Work s

26.6m

KI
D

A
C

R
E

 S
T

R
EE

T

WB

14

Training

4
1b

6b

14

Poi nt
Crow n

15

2
4

3

Post

LE AT HL E Y R
O A D

25.5m

25.4m

Garage

BL
A

C
K 

B
U

L
L 

S
TR

E
ET

WA RD

Garage

Lan ding Stage

IN G HAM  S TREE T

CH
A

D
W

IC
K

 ST
R

EE
T

172

25.8m

25.3m

BR O O K F IEL D  ST R EE T

SA YN E R  LA N E

The  C abo t

The Anchor age

Mooring Posts

Sl

1 to  122

AR M O UR IE S  D R IVE

MoP s

ARM O U RI ES S QU AR E

Chy

113

35

CO
U

R
T

97

City Exchange

26.5m

57
 5

9

Bank

30
7

Posts

203

110

29

20
 2

2

18

Fn

31

BO AR  LAN E

So ver eign  H ou se

Statue

1

Am bler H ous e

Fn

1

El Sub Sta

9

Hall

36 38

Hote l

CO M M E R CI AL  S TR EE T

9

Ho ly T rin ity

330 to  334

43.9m

30

36a

24

Wad e L ane

9

3

(PH)

PH

25

47
 to

 4
9

18

8

BR
I G

GA
TE

4
54

29.9m

WA T ER  L AN E

161

LB

76
78

Posts

148

TCBs

82

137

4

1

17

121

El

14

PH

St John's

Q ueen 's C t

BR ID G E  E N D

25

6

PITFALL S TREE T

PH

57 to 59

7

24

37

to

9

43

Le eds
Bridge

22 to 26

32

50

to

57

28

QU EEN S'S CO UR T

15 17

16 18

44

CE
N

TR
A

L 
R

O
A

D

14

7 t
o 

11

32

Fish S treet

32

15

7

Co un ty A r cad e

20

LB

31 to 35
52 54

8

10

HUN SLET  RO AD

19

Club

Cherr y Tr ee Walk

25.9m

59

7

(P
H)

16

3

1 to  54

(PH)

11 to 12

77

Head

to  12

20 to 22

2

109

1 to  58

2 to  4

10
5

10
1

107

66

1
Kir kg ate C h am ber s

21

Courts)

88

6

94
Assembly Street

99 to 101

Ho use

1

NO R T H  C O U RT

8

PH

PC

Ct

1
117

25

Yar d

Ca r P ar k

HA
R P

ER
 S

TR
E E

T

Wh arf

G EO R G E  S TR E ET

76

27

19

74

15

1
2

M
IL

L
G

A
R

TH
 S

TR
E

ET

Circl e H ous e

46

FB

6

25.0m

27.1m
El

CL O S E

Ch
an

tre
ll

2 to 29

Subw ay

M
A

U
DE

 S
TR

E
ET

18
7

5

60 to 136

Magellan Ho use

Pat h

Moor ing

Car Par k

Aire

STEANDER

60

26.2m

ST  PE TE R 'S SQ U A R E

FB

41

Jose ph S to ne s H ou se

The G atew ay N orth

CE
N

TE
N

A
RY

 S
Q

U
A

RE

SQ U A R E

Fear ns  Wh ar f

Posts

Tri nity  O ne

5

Work s

Tan k

25.2m

TCB

24.3m

Ro se W ha rf

76

SA YN E R  LA N E

MP

The

El Sub Sta

97

Station

SA X TO N  L AN E

EAST STRE ET

Le e ds Co l le ge  of

72 to 81

St 
Mar

y's
 H

all

62 to 71

Wor stead House

32.6m

28.3m

El Sub Sta

3

Velocity W est

ME
A D

OW
 R

O A
D

Sta

Quebec H ouse

El Sub

Q UE B E C ST R EE T

PA
RK

 R
OW

PH

Enterpr ise H ouse

CIT Y  WA L K

El Sub Sta

30

27
26

G rav ing Do ck

159

and  Lib rar y

Wat erm
an 's

Ne w  C ent aur  H ou se

Yo rks hir e H ou se

40.5m

TCBs

14

Path

So ver eign

33
 to

 3
5

BIS HO PG ATE STRE ET

Cycle Way

33

ST  AN N E 'S S T RE E T

49

36
52

17

Ho tel

El

Sca rb rou gh

M
EAD

OW
 R

O
AD

AP
E

X V
IE

W

Work s

Sub Sta

El Sub

HO L M E S ST R EE T

1

Filling  S tation

26.5m

26.5m

ESS

KID A C R E  ST R EE T

LA
N

E

9

Workshop

Uni ted

Crown Point

LB

TCP

5a

26.2m

Hous e

El

8

Work s

L Twr

25.6m

Mulber ry

STR EET

SA Y N ER  R O A D

The  M
a lt hous e

MoP

La S alle

Cla re nce  Dock

LB
CH A D W IC K  ST R EE T S O U TH

1 to  81

MoP s

Posts

SM

25.9m

El Sub Sta

32

Hotel

to

to 33

7

1

El

7

Cinema

Bu ildi ngs

99
1

11
9

4 t
o  

14

40
AL

B
IO

N
 ST

R
EE

T
50

50

ST
RE

E
T

56

Subw ay

Bank

308 to  310

19

TH
E BO

U
R

S
E

Ch ang e A l le y

19 to 21

Signal Light

Litt le  C ro ss S tr eet

204 to  208

14

TCBs

Posts

5

11 to 12

34 35

2

SWI NEG A TE

20

14 to 16

Posts

39.0m

1

12

Ch ur ch

6

Posts

18

Royal

11

36

26

El Sub Sta

Angel Inn Yard

23

ST
RE

E T

Mu lt is to rey  Ca r Park

61
a

5

14

45 46

(PH)

10 12

45

51

55

1

58
 6

0

34.0m

71

1

73

143

80

140 to 142
170

129 to 132

Br
ig

g
at

e

37 .2m

107 to 111

1

Queen's Cour t Chambers

14
6

27

64 to  68

El Sub Sta

Bank

TCBs

51

TCB

29

53
59

15 17

Ki
ng

 E
dw

ar
d

24

34
2 to 16

20

The a tre

17

2

21

8

8

TCB

42 65
 6

7

44

21 22

16

20

TCBs

10

6

PH

58

11

NA V IG A TIO N WA L K

CR
OW

N
VI

C
AR

 L
AN

E

82

22 24

SID N E Y S TR E E T

130

1

Ho use

HA
R

E
W

O
O

D
 S

T
R

EE
T

Wat er loo Ho use

4

TCP

5

27

El

Posts

109 to 116

88

22

6 t
o 

8

Sh ear 's

SM

SM

81

32

El Sub

25

44 to 42

Te mplar

24.7m

1

HI
G

H 
CO

U
RT

 L
A

NE

40

5

CR
O S

S
2

Shelter

31

1

1

FB

BACK  YO RK STRE ET

24

Ha ll

BR
ID

G
E

48

Sta tio n

TH E CA L LS

50

Par k

Co lleg e

26.5m

10

95

83

22

TH
E C

HA
ND

LE
RS

99

2

FS

Play hous e
The  We st  York s hi re

EAST STRE ET

2

L Tw r

CRO W N PO INT  RO AD

3

5

3

El Sub Sta

West

Car Par k

Kn ight 's Way  Bridge

MA R SH  L AN E

House

Works

25.2m

78

Chy

3

Timblebeck

SP

Garag e

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

1 to  66

42 to 51

1 to  49

TCB

30 to 43

Club

BA C K  R O W

4

29.0m

7

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

EA
S

T 
P

A
R

AD
E

29

CA
LV

ER
LE

Y
 S

TR
EE

T

31 to 33

2

Cit y M u sue m

6

LBs

Hous e

5

ALEX AND ER  STRE ET

3

18

LEEDS

125

IN FIRMA RY

Leeds City

Inst itut e

21
19

8

CIT Y  SQ U A R E
CO

OK
RI DG

E STREE
T

Cycle

Hilt on Ho te l

28
 to

 3
0

PA
R

K
 R

O
W

7
10

21

121

Pr iest ley

Ke nne th H o dg son  H ous e

Posts

UPPE
R B

ASIN
GH

ALL S
TREE

T
LO

W
ER

 B
A

S
IN

G
H

A
LL S

TR
E

E
T

46 to 50

The E mbankment

7 to
 9

Bas ingha ll

VIC T O RI A

26.9m

27.9m

El

Vanguard H ouse

El Sub Sta

Leeds Cit y

Po tter y F ield s H ou se

New  Bridge House

Sta

LTwr 3b
2b

26.9m

The

Hu nt sman  H ou se

Sub Sta

BU
T

TE
R

LE
Y 

S
TR

E
E

T

110

Ho use

1

25.8m

7

Wareh ou se

Work s

1 to  187

146

25.2m

2

Foot Br idge

70 to  143

Lan ding Stages

WB

25.0m

Lan ding Stage

M cC lur e H o use

Loc k

The Royal

Mast

TH
E BO

U
L

EV
A

R
D

Cn

Sta nley  H ous e

El Sub Sta

33

1

56

34

STRE ET

36

5

PH
22

71
73

 7
5

91
40

3

3
38 36

26

60
76

LB

28
26

3

Shelter

Car Par k

408 to  412

32 33

SOV ERE IG N S TREE T

Trinity Leeds

Posts

30

BLAY
D'S Y

ARD

10

TCB

22
23

Posts
38a

38

25

24 26

41 42

El Sub Sta

43 44

12

57

Dy
son

s C
ham

be
rs

3 to  13

14

19

8

Q ueen 's A r cade

50

14

2 to 6

156
149 to 150

to  168
145

167

83

Win dso r

to

Re gen t C ou rt

1

Lamb er t's

2

3

20 
to 

22

1 to 46

5 7

9

BRI DG E END

18

45

BRIG G ATE

35

9

Sta

33

4

52

46

9

26.3m

21 to 27

21

Leeds

26
16

(PH)

43

121

14

26

S Gantr y

24

21 to  25

Vin e

36

23 to  26

Ge
ne

ra
l E

lli
ot

t

63

5

to 10

G ran d A r cade

69

22  to  51

5

10
7

TCB

Wr
ay

 B
u i

ldi
n g

s

TCBs

56 54

1

1

5

12
1

17

El Sub Sta

TH E CA L LS

5 7

103

1

Ha rfi e ld

Na tion al

30

13

Ho use

FB

24 to  26
ED

W
A

RD
 S

T
RE

E
T

9

PC

23

Ps

Ho
llid

ay

122 to

38

86

40

to

27.7m

3

29.6m

4

Posts

PCs

Ca r P ar k

TE
M

P
LA

R
 L

A
N

E

75

4

TCBs

26.5m

21

42

1

W
ar

eh
ou

s
e

8

LYDIA  STRE ET

LB

DY E R

6

Lan e

Memor ial

8

Bu s S tat ion

CROWN POINT

The Chandlers
87

Sta

4

21

YOR K STRE ET

29.0m

Ent rada Hous e

Posts

DU
K

E
 ST

R
EE

T

1

SL

43

to

Slu ice

FB

14 to 25

The G atew ay S outh

El Sub Sta

Quay O ne

24.4m

Ter races

MP s

29.8m

MP

MP

Dye

29.3m

Church

81 to  126

1 to  12

Work s

1 to  19

12 to 21

Pa
ro

ch
ia l

 Ha
ll

RIC H M O ND  S T RE E T

BOW
 S TR E E T

58 to 71

33.8m

27.1m

Sta
Sub

SW E ET  ST R EE T

27.1m

5

Br idg ew at er Plac e

Velocity E ast

El Sub Sta

15

PR IN C ES  S Q U A R E

35.4m

Ce nte nar y S tr eet

12

147 to 157

FB

4

Frie nds
Prov iden t

1 to  12

1

WE LL IN G TO N

12

Station

3

74

14

Statues

17
15

123

PH

PH

31
36

12

29.3m

32.3m

Mill H
ill Chapel

The  U niver sit y  of  Law

1

30

Sub

27.2m

Unit 1

Crow n  Po in t

8

TCB

3a

17  to  25

39

Bu sin ess
So ver eign

Darnall Works

SHE A F S TR E ET

25.3m

Brew ery 48

LEA THLEY

The

LB

1 to  69

Hotel

Foot Br idge

Mast

1 to  49

El

Posts

Hotel

60

30

LBs

54

BU
T

TS
MILL H

ILL

8

39

29

46 48

The E mbankment

Airedale House

53
55

He adr ow

67

18  
to  

24

TCB

48
62

64

22  to  23

2

1

22
3 

to
 2

26
PO

SM

311 to  319

Square

Sta

27.4m

28

15

8

413 to  415

Shelter

TCBs

Posts

328

27

70

65 69

Hote l

Pack H orse

Pr osp ect Ho us e

Upton's Yard

63

Yard

12

61

The

11

Ho use

48 49

6

5

2

56
 5

7

10

64

So
ve

rei
gn

 Q
ua

y
70

72

163
152

157

Posts

25.9m

2 to 8

PH

14 to 16

7

8

5

23

Cent ra l Arc ade

29
51

51c

TCB 26 to 30

13

11

12 14

El

3

20

44

Bridge

15 to  21

NE
W

 B
R IG

G A TE

50

25

37

HA R R IS O N  ST R EE T

13

27
15

PH

to  1
2

Sta

37
41

PCs

HILL

7

Rockley

37 39

13

34.4m

Ba nk

110

1 t o
 57

Le
em

in
g

 H
ou

se

TCBs

3 5

24

1

Crow n Co urt

PH

1

2

to 104

Pr
ov

id
en

t  
H

ou
se

3 to 5

ASSE M BLY S TREE T

30 to 38

2

11

25.9m

7

6 to 16

Sta

90

25

87

22 to 30

11
PIN

E C
T

Hotel

Sta

BR E W ER Y  PL A CE

2

EASTG ATE

16

El

Cen t enary  Bridge

2

31

25

11

5
26

 to
 5

3

2

St Peters

El Sub Sta

Sub Sta

SM

SM

Ho
us

e

26

85

91

25.6m

to

El
Sub

Sky line

SQU AR E

River

MoP

1 to  128

2

Le e ds Da m (W ei r)

War d Bdy

Clinic

The
Gatew ay

BRU SSE LS STR EET

L Tw r

Leed s C ol leg e

29.9m

EAST STRE ET

SL

Ca r P ar k

ST M ARY 'S  STR EET

El Sub Sta

Car Par k

24.7m

9

L Twr

170 to 196

Multisto rey Car Par k

31 to 80

Ter races

CL A R EN C E  R O AD

St Pe te rs C of  E

Posts

127 to 169

Sta

House

ST
 M

AR
Y'S

 LA
N E

Weaver s

Viaduct

Bu ilde r's  Y ar d

16 to 29

RA IL W AY  S TR E ET

MAR
S H 

LA
NE

RC Ch urc h

TH E AV E N UE

El Sub Sta

Velocity N orth

28.3m

29.0m

1

Sub Sta

G RE A T

Tunnel

2

8

NE W  LA N E

2

1
WIL SO N S T RE E T

18

8

14

16

Clo th  H all C ou rt

1

10a
10

3

5

12

143

Leed s C ity

16

Petanque (B oules)

BED FOR D S TREE T

3

Riv er Ai re

FB

Cit y S qu are

War M emorial

TCBs

4

15

He nr y M o or e

41.5m

8
15 to 16

Hotel

11

Park Plaz a

The  Lig ht

BO AR  LAN E

(PH)

34 to 39

Sub Sta

62

31

7

Gantr y

PCs

M ult isto rey  C ar P ar k

G RE A T W IL SO N S T RE E T

26.4m

Un
i t 2

15

Ret ai l Pa rk

HU N S LE T L A N E

Tetley

Indi gob lu

BU
T

TE
R

LE
Y 

S
TR

E
E

T

41
21

6
10

Par k

HU N S LE T R O A D

5

El Sub Sta

4

Waide s Ya rd

26.5m

Magellan Ho use

Garage

VIC TO RI A S TR E E T

Works

BROO KFIELD

Works

Cr oz ie r H o use

M cC lin tock  H ous e

SM

PH

49 to  55

Sub Sta

1

2

11

37
38

99

61
85

30
6

33
9

89
34

0
40

4

NE
W

 S
TA

T IO
N

58

406 407

28

3

Multisto rey Car Par k

23

PO

34

Mult i- st ore y

2

Mult is to rey

(b
el

ow
)

15

Alb ion  P lace

3 t
o  

7
TR

IN
IT

Y
 S

TR
E

ET

Posts

21

Trev elyan  S qua re

33.2m

The C ore Shopping Centre

9

10

SD

21

11

7

26
216 to 221

32

67

Ca
r P

ar
k

4

FB

24 to  28

Ship Yard

72

22 to  26

2 to 8

Swan S treet

47

33

The S hip

Kin g

11
10

Tho rn ton 's A r cade
2

1

TCBs

155
165

166

25.9m

165a

TCBs

St Joh n's C h ur ch

to

114

1 to  3

7

98 99
97

92 93

9 to 14

Arcade

7

20

NEW

Jun ctio n

9

26.2m

51a

127 to 135

PH

16

HU
N S

LE
T L

A N
E

1 to  44 Riv erside Court

11 12

Kin g E dw ard  S tre et

48

Moor ing Posts

46

10

22

14

Ad elp hi

23 25

Victor ia Qu arter

29

26  28

27 29

Ba nk

2

10

43

Kirkgate

34 36

47

(PH)
Leg s

NE
W

 M
A R

K E
T S

TR
EE

T

Thr ee

Yard

LB

Exc han ge

9

CA L L L AN E

79

El Sub Sta

2

1

10
3

11 to 21

27

7

68 to 78

13

25

Hall

to  86

White Cloth

3

87 to 108

TCBs

De pos it

1

Water

32

95

PO

27

19

83

7 to  25

23

9

Whar f

TE M P LA R  ST R EE T

46

17

29

BO W M AN  L A NE

Yar d

3

29.0m

ST RE E T

Po lic e

Co ach

House

Ch
ur

ch
La

n
e

SL

EASTG A TE

(PH)

11 to 17

CH A N TR E LL  C O U RT

53

DU
K

E 
S

TR
EE

T

Munro Hous e

Posts

DUK E S TREE T

A 6 4 (M )

Ca r P ar k

Ho ldf or th

of M u sic

33 to
 40

25.0m

41 to
 48

Car Par k

26.8m

Car Par k

W
ar d Bdy

60

FEARN'S

Qua rry Hous e

Engine

El Sub Sta

The  D iscov ery

Ro ber ts

81

79

MP

MP

El Sub Sta

Wh arf

25.9m

80

W
ar

eh
ou

se

FO
U

N
D

RY
 S

TR
E

ET

31 .4m

Te chno l ogy

War d Bdy

1 t
o  6

El

9

TH
E 

LA
N

E

1 to 15

RID E R  S TR E ET

Playg round

Car Pa rk

4

(PH)
Gro ve Inn

3

AP E X V IE W

16
17

20

22

Cycle Path

TO R O N TO  S
TR E E T

Tor ont o

INF I RMA RY STREE T

Statue

TH E H EA DR OW

Ho use

17

131

1 to  25

1 to 25

10

7

1

1

Cy
cle

 Pa
th

NE W
 S TAT IO N  ST R EE T

11
13

17

31
35

5

1

Build ings

115

3

26.9m

MEA
D OW

 L
AN

E

3

Off ice Park

HU
N

S
LE

T

10
b

Ret ail Park

SA LE M  P L AC E

Churc h

13

L Twr

2a

El

18

26.1m

Leat hley

Work s

CU
D

B
E

AR
 S

T
RE

E
T

1

26.7m

SC A LA  C O U R T

Printworks Campus

24

L Twr

125

STR EET

MULB ERRY

1 to  182
M acke nz ie H o use

169 to

144 to  211

1 to  168

Ca rti er H o use

Armouries M useum

Work s

Depo t

109

BISH OP GA TE

33.2m

50

9
10

Ch am ber s

10a

Bank

87
77

79
93

 to
 9

7

Posts

42
4

AL
B

IO
N

 S
T

R
EE

T

54

94

1

Mer ton House

21

Car Pa rk

33
7 

33
8

Hea drow  House
28

BA N K  S TR E ET

Posts

Court

64

Posts

Dortm und

Posts

2 4

La
n

ds
 L

an
e

209 to  215

28
4

5 6

BL A YD S  M E W S

Hall

Turk's Head Yard

2

3

59

M usi c H all

55

Buildings

12

Minor and Scurr's  Yard

28.0m

14

1

TCB

4

1

51 53

52
 5

3

69

160

77

162
174 to  178

MEAD OW
 LA NE

Riv
er 

Aire

5

44

O ld 
R ed

 Li
o n

8

7
112

36

2

15

24
 to

 3
2

6 8

b

Leed s E ast

35

34.7m

El

Hirst's  Yard

Sub Sta

28.7m

10a

14

PH

29.0m

16 18

55

House

15

17 19

Gra nd

27 to  30

12

Sub

(PH)

12

14

10 11

to

35

51
TCB

43

Cr ow n  S tre et B u ildin gs

1

18

Co rn

18 19

M ER R IO N  S TR E E T

50 52

97
 9

9

1

Waterloo Ap ar tments

LU D G A TE  H ILL TCBs

TCB

100

102

106 to 118

2

32.6m

College

Ca r P ar k

7

23

Ch anc ellor  C ou rt

He ref or d

29.3m

Kirkga te  M arke t

Wat er

30
31

32

31.1m

33

85

31

34

17

5
WH

A R
F S

TR
E E

T

Br ew er y

PH

6

HIG H CO U R T

LA D Y L A N E

4

28.0m

23

10

44

29.0m

New  Yor k Apartments

41

7

Moor ing

45

5

Wharf

1 to 25

2
27

 to
 3

0

KIR KG A TE

7

Fn

Leed s C ity

A6 4(M )

War

Brid ge
Crow n Po int

ST PETE R'S STRE ET

The  Pal ac e

LB

El

St P eter's  Buildings

Hotel

Co ur t
Ho ste l

Wat er

Viadu ct

Slu ice

El Sub Sta

5 to 12

L Tw r

L Twr
MARS H LA

NE

Lan ding Stage

SM

1

1

Wh arf

24.9m

Tow in g P ath

25.1m

Re cre atio n G r ou nd

M idd le  Sc hoo l

27.7m

The

Shearers House

FL
A

X
 P

LA
C

E

Pump

52 to 61

House

The Loom H ouse

7

Pr esb y

44 to  57

16 to 29

Saxton Gardens

1:7,500Scale

®

LEEDS DOCK
ARMOURIES DRIVE

HUNSLET
LEEDS LS10

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M. CHRISTIAN

SE3032NE

17892/(c) Crown Copyright and database right [2014]
Ordnance Survey LA100019567

0 60 120 180 24030
Metres

Date: 30/10/2014

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\17800 - 17899\17892 Leeds Dock PANEL.mxd

Dam Island

´
College of
Building

Leeds
City

College

Leeds City
Station

Royal
ArmouriesLeeds

Dock

Page 335



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 337

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Directorate 

 
Lead person:  Cath Follin Contact number: 2477869 
 
1. Title: Connectivity Improvements to South Bank 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The provision of improved public realm, better cycling facilities and public transport 
between Leeds train station, through South Bank, to Leeds Dock. 
 
Public realm improvements will include way-finding and better maintenance of 
landscaping. 
 
Improved public transport will consist of a new fixed low fare City Bus to serve South 
Bank with two vehicles operating broadly a 10 minute service between 07:00 – 19:00 
Monday – Saturday. 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

√   

Page 339



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

√  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 √ 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 √ 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 √ 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity = Yes 
 Fostering good relations 

√  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
Implementing the public realm and public transport proposals will make it easier and 
potentially safer for families and those with disabilities to access leisure opportunities in 
South Bank particularly at Leeds Dock and the Royal Armouries, thereby helping us to 
have a more child and age friendly city centre and boosting the local economy.  Although 
there are no plans at present to run buses on Sundays, partly because of the greatly 
reduced rail service on Sundays, this will be reviewed should there be sufficient demand. 

Page 340



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

The Water Taxi will however run on Sundays. 
 
The improved cycling facilities will link with City Connect, the trans-city cycle network. 
 
The bus service will help with to make Leeds a more age friendly city as those who are 
less mobile can also access the area via better transport links, signage and pedestrian 
friendly routes.  The signage and public realm improvements will be suitable for those 
with sight and mobility problems.  
 
They will make also it easier for those with disabilities arriving at or near the train station 
to access employment opportunities in South Bank. The improvements will also  make it 
easier for those on low incomes to find employment too, as they rely on public transport 
more, thus reducing worklessness and taking people out of poverty.  
 
As the measures will boost the visitor economy this will help young people find work as 
there are lower barriers to entry in the leisure sector. As Leeds Dock will also support 
creative and digital businesses the measures with help young people find employment 
and start their own businesses as skill sets required are more prevalent among young 
people. 
 
The measures will enable people that live in/near South Bank,  to have easier access to 
the city centre by bus or cycle, 
  
The proposed buses will be accessible for disabled people i.e have low floors and spaces 
for wheelchairs etc. 
 
Landowners and other stakeholders have been consulted on issues facing South Bank 
and there is universal agreement that one of the main issues impacting on the success of 
South Bank is poor connectivity; these measures will help to mitigate this issue.  
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Only positive impacts will occur to all groups as outlined above by improving access to 
employment and leisure opportunities. 
 
The measures will also boost the visitor economy to the city, by increasing spend to 
these businesses, and creating jobs.  
 
Health benefits to people through better cycling facilities. 
 
It will benefit the local residential community by creating better linkages to the city centre  
and help improve their quality of life e.g. through better public realm. 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 

Page 341



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
Allied London, the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the successful bus operator 
will promote  these changes through appropriate media including the internet, printed 
timetables etc.; they will target families, workers, and local residents.   
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. N/A 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval  
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
 
Martin Farrington 

Director City Development 17th October 2014 

Date screening completed  
16th October 2014 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 342



 

 

Report of Director of Children’s Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19 November 2014 

Subject: Outcomes of statutory notices to increase primary school 
provision in Armley and Bramley & Stanningley 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):  

Part A: Armley 

Part B: Bramley and Stanningley 

 

  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local authority’s duty 
to ensure sufficiency of school places.  The changes that are proposed form prescribed 
alterations under the Education and Inspections Act 2006.  The School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 and 
accompanying statutory guidance set out the process which must be followed when 
making such changes.  The statutory process to make these changes varies according to 
the nature of the change and status of the school.   

The schools which are the subject of this report are Castleton Primary School and 
Hollybush Primary school. Both are community schools. At its meeting in July 2014 the 
Executive Board gave permission for the local authority, as proposer, to publish statutory 
notices with regard to these schools. The notices were published on 3 September 2014 
and expired on 1 October 2014, and provide the opportunity to make representations 
regarding the proposals.  A final decision must be made within 2 months of the expiry of 
the notice, therefore by 30 November 2014.   

 

 

 Report author:  Viv Buckland  

Tel:  3951344 

Page 343

Agenda Item 22



 

 

Part A - Expansion proposals for Armley – Outcome of statutory notice to expand 
Castleton Primary School 

 
No representations were received in relation to the notice to expand Castleton Primary 
School. Part A of this report seeks a final decision from Executive Board on the proposal.  

Part B - Expansion proposals for Bramley and Stanningley – Outcome of statutory 
notice to expand Hollybush Primary School 

There was one representation with regard to the notice to change the lower age limit of 
Hollybush Primary School to 2 years old and increase its capacity.   

The proposal also included the expansion of the partnership provision for children with 
severe learning disabilities by eight places. These pupils would be on the roll of the West 
SILC, and therefore this was not a prescribed alteration to Hollybush, however it was 
included in the notice for completeness and transparency. The schools governing body no 
longer wish to progress this option. 

As the representation objected the School Organisation Advisory Board (SOAB) was 
convened to consider the matter and make a recommendation to Executive Board. SOAB 
met on 15 October, the notes of their meeting are attached at Appendix 1.   

Part B of this report details the representations received in response to this notice and 
seeks a final decision from Executive Board on the proposal. 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is asked to: 
 

• Approve expansion of Castleton Primary School by increasing its capacity from 
210 pupils to 420 pupils, increasing the admission limit in reception from 30 to 
60 from September 2016.  
 

• Approve expansion of Hollybush Primary School by changing the lower age limit 
of from 3 to 2 with effect from January 2015 and by increasing its capacity from 
420 pupils to 630 pupils, increasing the admission limit in reception from 60 to 
90 from September 2016. 

 

• Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Capacity Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 344



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. The report is divided into 
two parts - Part A describes the outcome of a statutory notice in relation to the 
expansion of primary provision in Armley for September 2016, and seeks a final 
decision on the proposal.  Part B describes the outcome of a statutory notice in 
relation to the expansion of primary provision in Bramley and Stanningley for 
September 2016, and seeks a final decision on the proposal.   

2 Background information 

Parts A and B  

2.1 At its meeting in July 2014 the Executive Board considered the outcome of 
consultation on two proposals: 

A To expand Castleton Primary School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 420 pupils, 
increasing the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from September 2016.   

B To expand Hollybush Primary School by changing the lower age limit of from 3 
to 2 with effect from January 2015 and by increasing its capacity from 420 pupils 
to 630 pupils, increasing the admission limit in reception from 60 to 90 from 
September 2016, and to expand the partnership provision for children with severe 
learning disabilities by eight places. These pupils would be on the roll of the West 
SILC.  

2.2 Executive Board gave permission to publish statutory notices on these proposals, 
which were brought forward under Education and Inspections Act 2006 and in 
accordance with the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained 
Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. The notices were published on 3 
September 2014 and expired on 1 October 2014. A final decision must be made 
within 2 months of the expiry of the notice, therefore by 30 November 2014. The 
Executive Board is the decision maker for these proposals.   

3 Main issues 

Part A Armley - Expansion proposals for Castleton Primary School; 

3.3 No objections were received during the statutory notice period.  

3.4 During the previous consultation phase 8 written responses were received, 7 in 
favour, 1 against. The concern raised during consultation was addressed in the 
July report to Executive Board.  It focused on the proposed site for the new 
provision and existing traffic on Green Lane. 

3.5 It is proposed that the green space opposite the school which currently has some 
informal use as playspace is used to establish a separate foundation stage 
including children centre, nursery and reception provision, or other elements of 
school accommodation. The land required to accommodate the additional 
buildings for the expanded school, land at the junction of Green Lane / Holdforth 
Close, Armley has been reserved for school use by the Council’s Asset 
Management Board, who are satisfied that greenspace requirements are met.  

Page 345



 

 

3.6 Expansion of this school is proposed because of the increase in the birth rate and 
in particular the high demographic in the immediate area. It is not therefore 
anticipated that expansion would have significant impact on traffic in the area.  
Whilst some families do travel to school by car, this is typically under 20 as the 
majority of families access school on foot or by bus. 

3.7 The governing body continue to support expansion and to engage in 
conversations regarding the process of planning the additional accommodation 
which would be required, should the proposal proceed. No other information has 
emerged to suggest that the proposal should not proceed. 

Part B  Bramley and Stanningley - Expansion proposal for Hollybush Primary 
School 

3.8 One representation was received, which objected to the proposal. Where 
objections are received School Organisation Advisory Board (SOAB) is convened 
to consider the matter and make a recommendation to Executive Board. SOAB 
met on 15 October, the notes of their meeting are attached at Appendix 1.   

3.9 In addition to the expansion and 2 year old provision, an extended partnership 
base for eight children with severe learning disabilities was also proposed.  The 
school already has some partnership provision on site and it was proposed that 
this was extended.  Partnership provision provides an opportunity for children on 
the roll of a Specialist Inclusive Learning Centre (SILC), in this case the West 
SILC, to access learning and/or inclusion opportunities alongside their 
mainstream peers for some or all of the school day. The specialist teaching and 
learning support is provided by the SILC. As such it does not form a prescribed 
alteration to Hollybush Primary, however it was included in the statutory notice for 
completeness and transparency. 

3.10 During the statutory notice period the governing body re-iterated their support for 
the expansion of primary provision and the lowering of the age range of the school 
to enable it to offer FEEE (Free Early Education Entitlement) places for eligible 2 
year olds but they concluded after further consideration and discussion with the 
SILC that they did not support the expansion of the existing specialist provision. 
This aspect of the proposal is therefore withdrawn. 

3.11 One objection was received in response to the statutory notice. The issues raised 
in the objection are outlined in the following paragraph.    

3.12 Concern: That there was insufficient detail provided as to the nature of the 
physical expansion, making it impossible to predict both the impact of the 
expansion on the learning experience of the children and on the built environment 
of the school.  The respondent suggested that the proposal for this proposed 
expansion was withdrawn until detailed plans of the nature of the expansion on 
site were forwarded. 

3.13 Response:  The site is sufficiently large to accommodate the additional 
classrooms, cloakroom and other facilities required for a three from entry primary 
school.  

3.14 Initial discussions have taken place with school leaders regarding the 
accommodation required by the expanded school.  A feasibility study has been 

Page 346



 

 

commissioned and is underway. A decision is required on the proposal to enable 
detailed design work to commence, since it would incur significant costs which 
would be abortive, and therefore not a good use of public funds if the proposal did 
not proceed any further.  Any buildings will be subject to the normal planning 
permission process which would allow further comment on the design. 

3.15 The headteacher and governing body are the key partners in the design process 
for the new accommodation and will be responsible for the efficient functioning of 
the new school accommodation. They will continue to be closely involved in 
discussions regarding design should the project move forward. They are keen to 
retain the ethos of the school and are confident that they would manage any 
changes successfully and that the change will not be detrimental. 

3.16 The statutory notice has a prescribed interval for a final decision of two months. 
Should a decision not be reached by the local authority the matter would be 
referred to the Schools Adjudicator for a final decision. This delay may risk the 
delivery for the proposed start date.     

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 Consultation was managed in accordance with all relevant legislation and local 
good practice. The notice was publicised in the Yorkshire Evening Post and 
copies were placed on all the school entrances. The full proposal was placed on 
the school and council website.  

4.1.2 Banners were placed on the school gates/fence to raise awareness of this phase 
in the statutory process.  A survey was set up using Leeds City Council’s Talking 
Point to enable stakeholders to make comments about the proposals.  
Stakeholders also had the opportunity to make comments in writing, by letter or by 
email.  

4.1.3 Ward members were formally consulted during the public consultation stage and 
were offered the opportunity to comment at statutory notice phase.  No concerns 
were raised.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 The EDCI screening forms have been completed and were attached as an 
Appendix to the original Executive Board report of 16th July 2014. They are 
therefore not attached to this report. 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing 
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and 
desirable school places, and thus reduces the risk of non-attendance. 

4.3.2 A key objective within the Best Council Plan 2013-2017 is to build a child friendly 
city with a priority, ‘Ensure sufficiency of school places’. The delivery of pupil 
places through Basic Need is one of the most basic entitlements of a Child 

Page 347



 

 

Friendly City. A good quality school place contributes to the achievement of 
targets within the Children and Young People’s Plan such as our obsession to 
‘improve behaviour, attendance and achievement’. Castleton and Hollybush 
Primary Schools were both rated as ‘Good’ by Ofsted at their most recent 
inspections. 

4.3.3 In addition, “Narrowing the Gap” and the “Going up a League” agenda is 
fundamental to the Leeds Education Challenge. A key area of monitoring in 
primary schools is the key stage 1 to 2 value added scores. The scores relevant 
to the schools contained in this report are: 

• Castleton Primary School, value added score: 102.2  

• Hollybush Primary School, value added score: 100.2  

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The budgets for these proposals are £3.74m in respect of Castleton Primary 
School and £3.23m in respect of Hollybush Primary School.  The projects are 
intended to meet the local authority’s sufficiency duty and the build costs would 
therefore be met by the local authority. Should the proposals be approved 
planning applications and requests for authority to spend would be put in place.  

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The processes that have been followed are in accordance with the School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2007, and amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations 
to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. 

4.5.2  This report is subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 The statutory time limit for a final decision on each of the proposals detailed in this 
report is 1 December 2014. The proposals to increase primary provision in Armley 
and Bramley & Stanningley have been brought forward in time to allow places to 
be delivered for 2016. Any significant change to the proposals at this stage would 
preclude the delivery of places for 2016, and the authority’s ability to meet its 
statutory duty for sufficiency of school places in the short term may also be at risk.  

4.6.2 A detailed risk register would be established and would be maintained for each 
project if approved. It is necessary to progress feasibility design work at risk 
during the statutory notice phase; however the decision to proceed to detailed 
design stages would not commence until a final decision has been made.  Any 
delay to the statutory process would increase the risk of delayed delivery of the 
building solution or financial risk of abortive fees being incurred. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough good 
school places for the children is one of our top priorities. These proposals have 
been brought forward to meet that need and our statutory duty regarding 

Page 348



 

 

sufficiency. They would ensure that children in Leeds would have the best 
possible start to their learning, and so deliver our vision of a child friendly city.  

5.2 In Armley the proposal to expand Castleton Primary School is a strong one.  It 
would provide additional school places for local children.  No objections were 
raised at the statutory notice stage, the concerns were raised at the consultation 
stage were addressed in the July report to Executive Board. 

5.3 The proposal to expand Hollybush Primary School is also a strong one.  It would 
provide additional school places in an area of demographic need. The governing 
body support expansion of this school.  Whilst an objection was received at 
statutory notice phase, this relates to the lack of detailed design work for the new 
accommodation. This is normal, and is addressed through a parallel building 
planning process, and we are confident that the issues can be addressed 
satisfactorily.    

5.4 School Organisation Advisory Board (SOAB) met on 15 October to consider the 
Hollybush proposal, the notes of its meeting are attached as Appendix 1.  

5.5 It is therefore recommended that the proposals be approved. 

6 Recommendations 

Executive Board is asked to: 
 

• Approve changes to Castleton Primary School by increasing its capacity from 
210 pupils to 420 pupils, increasing in the admission limit in reception from 30 to 
60 from September 2016.  

 

• Approve changes to Hollybush Primary School by changing the lower age limit 
from 3 to 2 from January 2015 and increasing its capacity from 420 pupils to 
630 pupils, increasing the admission limit in reception from 60 to 90 from 
September 2016.   

 

• Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Capacity Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead. 

 

7  Background documents1 

7.1 None 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 349



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Final Minutes 

SCHOOL ORGANISATION ADVISORY BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 15TH OCTOBER, 2014 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Mr R Noake – Diocese of the Church of 
England 
Mr D Roundtree – Schools Group 
Ms B Sice – Roman Catholic Church 
Diocese 
 

IN 
ATTENDANCE 

Mrs E Lowes – Children’s Services 
Mrs R Phillips – Children’s Services 
Mr D Kenny, Headteacher, Hollybush 
Primary School 
Mr A Machin – Legal Services 
Mr A Booth – Governance Services 
Ms J Ward – Observer 
Mr C Snell - Observer 

 
   

 
 

9 Election of the Chair  
 

RESOLVED – That Richard Noake be appointed as Chair for the meeting. 
  

10 Chair's Opening Remarks  
 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and invited those present to 
introduce themselves. 
  

11 Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
  

12 Outcome of statutory notice on proposals to expand primary provision 
in Bramley for 2016  

 
The School Organisation Advisory Board considered a report by the Capacity 
Planning and Sufficiency Team regarding the outcome of a statutory notice on 
proposals to expand primary provision in Bramley for 2016 and to make a 
recommendation to the Executive Board in reaching a decision in relation to 
the proposal to lower the age limit of Hollybush Primary School from 3 to 2 
with effect from January 2015 and to increase the capacity at Hollybush 
Primary School from 420 pupils to 630 pupils, increasing the admission limit in 
reception from 60 to 90 from September 2016. 
  
The Board considered the proposals having regard to the following 
background documents: 
  

Page 351



 

Final Minutes 

•       Report of Capacity Planning and Sufficiency 15 October 2014 – 
Outcome of statutory notice on proposals to expand primary provision 
in Bramley for 2016 

•       Public consultation document 6 May 2014 to 6 June 2014 – Proposals 
to increase primary school places in Bramley 

•       Report of the Director of Children’s Services to Executive Board, 16 
July 2014 – Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places 
in Leeds City Council 

•       A representation received from a member of the public. 
  
Mrs E Lowes, Deputy Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Manager, Children’s 
Services addressed the proposals.  In particular the following matters were 
highlighted: 
  

•       Reference to the consultation period and statutory notice. 

•       The proposals would meet demographic demand and parental 
preference. 

•       Statutory guidance had been followed and was highlighted in the 
report. 

•       There had only been one objection to the proposals. 

•       The proposals had been advertised in the school and at local private 
nurseries.  There had been drop in consultation sessions at the school 
and information was given at a parents evening during the summer 
term. 

  
No questions were raised by the Board and the Chair asked the 
representatives of Children’s Services and the School to leave the room in 
order to discuss the proposals.  The Board considered the concerns raised 
during the statutory notice period and detailed in the report. 
  
The Board noted the objection raised but felt there was very little that 
challenged the proposals. 
  
The groups entitled to vote and in attendance i.e. Diocesan Board of 
Education for the Diocese of the Church of England Group; Roman Catholic 
Church Diocese Group and the Schools Group, voted as follows:- 
  

•       The Diocesan Board of Education for the Diocese of the Church of 
England voted in favour of the proposals to address the need for 
additional capacity in the area. 

•       The Schools Group voted in favour of the proposals to address the 
need for additional capacity in the area. 

•       The Roman Catholic Church Diocese Group voted in favour of the 
proposals to address the need for additional capacity in the area. 

  

Page 352



 

Final Minutes 

RESOLVED – It was the view of the School Organisation Advisory Board that 
the Executive Board be recommended to support the proposals to lower the 
age limit of Hollybush Primary School from 3 to 2 with effect from January 
2015 and to increase the capacity from 420 pupils to 630 pupils, increasing 
the admission limit in reception from 60 to 90 from September 2016 
 
 
 

Page 353



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Report of the Director of Childrens Services 

Report to Executive Board  

Date:  19/11/14 

Subject: Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-19 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The Children and Young People’s Plan is part of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework.  The current plan runs from 2011-15. It is proposed to begin consultation 
on the 2015-19 plan which will require approval by full Council. 

2. The target date for full Council approval is April 2015. 

3. Consultation on proposals will take place with all stakeholders through a series of 
events and meetings commencing in November 2014.   

4. The basis of the consultation will be that the existing framework of obsessions, 
outcomes and priorities has enabled partners to improve outcomes for children, young 
people and their families.  However, progress is not always consistent or enjoyed by all 
children and young people across the city. To go further and faster it is necessary to 
engage partners in a discussion on key challenges and the best strategies for tackling 
them. 

Recommendations 

5. Executive Board note and comment on the proposals for initiating the conversation 
about the shape of the new Children and Young People’s Plan for 2015-19.  

6. To note the officer responsible is the Chief Officer, Partnership, Development and 
Business Support. The decision to be implemented by April 2015. 

 Report author:  Sue Rumbold 

Tel:  (0113) 2243977 
 

Page 355

Agenda Item 23



 

2 
 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 To set out the intention to consult with stakeholders on the development of the 
2015-19 Children and Young People’s Plan before the final draft goes through to 
full Council for approval in April 2015. 

1.2 To suggest that work done as part of the 2011-15 CYPP has produced progress 
in the form of clear improvements in outcomes but that these outcomes are not 
consistent across all areas or necessarily enjoyed by all children and young 
people.  The main issue for the new plan is to build on progress by going further 
and faster in a number of key areas.  It is proposed that consultation on the 2015-
19 will to agree these key challenges and the best strategies for tackling them. 

 

2 Background information 

2.1 The Children and Young People’s Plan is part of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework.  As such it requires approval by full Council and should be the subject 
of consultation with a range of stakeholders.  The current plan runs from 2011-15.  
The framework of obsessions, outcomes, priorities and indicators at the heart of 
the current plan (see page 3) has focused the efforts of partners on improving a 
range of outcomes for children, young people and families. 

2.2 As well as Children and Young People, Executive Board, Cabinet, full Council and 
Council directorates, stakeholders include the Children & Families Trust Board, 
the Leeds Safeguarding Children Board, the Health and Well Being Board, the 
Safer Leeds Executive, Council Scrutiny Committees, Community Committees 
and elected member Children’s Champions.  Individual partners on the main city 
wide partnership boards include the police, voluntary and community sector; 
schools; colleges and academies; West Yorkshire Probation Trust; Youth 
Offending; the Families First Programme; Elected Members; Public Health; 
Clinical Commissioning Groups; NHS Acute; Community and Mental Health 
Trusts; Children’s Centres; Adult Social Care Services; the Children’s and Adult 
Safeguarding Boards; Jobcentre Plus and the private sector.  Local businesses, 
local media partners and local professional sports clubs are also involved in our 
work, and we engage with a range of national and international researchers and 
practitioners.   

2.3 We have a strong performance management model to underpin the changes we 
are making.  Partners have collectively adopted an outcomes based 
accountability (OBA) methodology, measuring our work against the question: 
what is it like to be a child growing up in Leeds, and how do we make it better?  
Applying the challenge: ‘how much did we do? how well do we do it? and is 
anyone better off? 

Page 356



 

3 
 

OUR VISION, OBSESSIONS, OUTCOMES, PRIORITIES & INDICATORS  

Our vision is for Leeds to be a child friendly city.  As part of this vision we will minimise the 
effects of child poverty.   

 
Our vision contributes to the wider vision for Leeds- By 2030 Leeds will be locally and 

nationally recognised as the best city in the UK. 
 

We will drive change by using restorative practice, cluster and locality working and by 
extending the voice and influence of children and young people.  The child is at the centre 

of everything we do.  We have a relentless focus on improved outcomes.    

 

5 outcomes 12 priorities 
(3 starting points highlighted in 
italics) 

17 Key indicators   
(3”obsessions” highlighted in 

italics) 

CYP Are safe from 
harm 

1. Help children to live in safe and 
supportive families 
2. Ensure that the most vulnerable 
are protected 

1.  Number of Children Looked 
After 

2.  Number of children and young 
people with child protection plans 

CYP Do well at all 
levels of learning and 
have the skills for life 

3. Improve behaviour, attendance 
and achievement 
4. Increase  numbers in  
employment, education or training 
 
5. Support children to be ready for 
learning  
 
6.  Improve support where there are 
additional health needs  

 
 

3.  School attendance  
Primary;  Secondary  

4  % of Young people NEET 

5.  % with good level of 
development in Early Years 

6.  % with good achievement at 
the end of primary school 

7.  % gaining 5 good GCSEs 
including English and maths  

8. Level 3 qualifications at 19.   

9.  The number of CYP 16-18 
who start an apprenticeship  

10.  The number of disabled 
children accessing short breaks & 
levels of satisfaction   

CYP Choose healthy 
lifestyles 

7.  Encourage activity and healthy 
eating 
 
8.  Promote sexual health  
 
9.  Minimise the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol & tobacco 

11.  Obesity levels at age 11 

12.  Free school meal uptake- 
primary; secondary 

13.  Teenage pregnancy 

14.   Rates of under 18s alcohol 
related hospital admissions  

CYP Have fun 
growing up 

10.  Provide play, leisure, culture and 
sporting opportunities 

15.  % of CYP who agree with the 
statement “I enjoy my life”  

CYP Are active 
citizens who feel they 
have voice & 
influence 

11.  Reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour 
12.  Increase participation, voice and 
influence 

16.  Proportion of 10-17 year olds 
offending 

17.  C&YP who report influence 
in a) school b) the community  

Page 357



 

4 
 

 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Leeds has a bold, exciting ambition to become the ‘best city’ and the best council 
in the UK.  We will only achieve this if we become the best city for 180,000 
children and young people to grow up in - we want Leeds to be recognised by 
everyone as a ‘child friendly city’.  Historically, many initiatives, both in Leeds 
and other places have made a positive difference to families, but too often these 
are pockets of success that are not spread or sustained effectively, particularly in 
the communities that need them the most.  Gaps in the outcomes enjoyed by 
these communities and the average or best outcomes for the city remain 
significant. 

3.2 Work to improve outcomes using our existing CYPP framework has led to 
significant improvements which are a testimony to the strength of our partnership 
working: 

• the number of children looked after is currently at its lowest point since 2006 

• more children and young people were adopted in Leeds during 2013/14 
(110) than any other financial year 

• child protection numbers have reduced by 27% since the start of the CYPP 

• primary and secondary school attendance are at the highest ever levels 

• the percentage of young people with a Level 3 qualification has risen from 
42% in 2009 to 54% in 2013 
 

3.3 However, significant, complex and stubborn challenges remain.  For example,   
further partnership work in the following areas: 

3.4 Improving overall levels of educational achievement across the city, particularly 
literacy and numeracy.  Improving readiness for learning and ensuring a best start in 
life for pre school children across the city. Tackling significant pockets of 
unauthorised and persistent absence.  

3.5 Narrowing the gaps in outcomes for those children and young people vulnerable to a 
range of poor outcomes. eg. educational, health & employment outcomes for those 
from poorer families, those with special educational needs or disability, some ethnic 
minority groups and those living in particular areas of the city. 

 
3.6 Tackling the impact of parental behaviour on outcomes for children, young people 

and their families; particularly where domestic violence, substance misuse, poor 
mental health and learning disability are issues.  Developing innovative solutions 
and intensive interventions where these issues impact on children and/or adults, 
including work with the perpetrators of domestic violence and greater use of family 
group conferencing.  

 
3.7 Developing more agile and responsive commissioning systems that deliver the right 

interventions effectively and quickly.   
 

Page 358



 

5 
 

3.8 Reducing the number of 0-4 year olds entering the social care system and reducing 
the occurrence of repeat removals where babies taken into care are removed from 
families who have already had at least one child removed. 

 
3.9 Developing sufficient school places across all phases of education and making sure 

that offers of free early years education are taken up in areas where this is currently 
not the case. 

 
3.10 Building a restorative city where an entitlement to a family group conference rather 

than statutory intervention underpins the system.  We are using restorative 
approaches working with families instead of doing things to them or for them, to 
change attitudes, language and behaviours, to enable positive and practical 
decision-making and put in place safe, appropriate arrangements to support 
vulnerable children.  At the forefront of this work is a commitment to the city-wide 
roll-out of family group conferencing, which has long been recognised for its benefits 
to families, but has never been implemented on this scale and with a commitment to 
maximise its transformational potential.  

 
3.11 Investing in early help and intervention approaches on an invest to save basis, and 

doing further work on the estimation of the medium and long term savings arising 
from our interventions. 

 
3.12 Developing our locality working practices to better engage families and communities 

in improving outcomes, and to deliver the right mix of universal, specialist and 
targeted services for each area. 

 
3.13   In order to develop the Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-19 it is proposed to 

consult with the range of stakeholders outlined in 2.2 to deepen our understanding 
of the challenges and the best strategies for tackling them. The plan emerging from 
these consultations will be brought to Executive Board prior to presentation at full 
Council in April 2015.  

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 Proposals for consultation and engagement are set out in this report. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 The purpose of all the strategic and operational activity relating to this this area of 
work is to help all children and young people achieve their full potential.  A central 
element of this to ensure that the needs of vulnerable children, young people and 
families who experience inequality of opportunity or outcomes are identified and 
responded to at the earliest possible opportunity.  The impact assessment will be 
carried out when the proposals for the CYPP 2015-19 are known. 

 

 

Page 359



 

6 
 

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities 

4.3.1 The outcomes and priorities in the Children and Young People’s Plan complement 
those in the Best Council Plan 2013-17 and Joint Health and Well Being Plan 
2013-15. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 Whilst there are no financial and resource issues arising directly from this report, 
the financial challenges facing the Council and partner organisations over the 
coming years will necessitate a transformational re-design of services for children, 
young people and families.   

4.4.2 Over recent financial years, the Council’s prioritisation of resources to support 
vulnerable children and families has seen improvement in all of our CYPP 
priorities and our 3 strategic obsessions.  The financial strategy must be based on 
sustaining these improvements and continuing to support the priorities whilst 
recognising the significant financial constraints and also the changing context and 
role of the local authority particularly around schools and education.   

4.4.3 Looking forward, a cornerstone of the financial strategy will be to protect 
investment to support services around child protection and safeguarding whilst at 
the same time continuing to invest in preventative and early intervention services, 
including implementing new models for improving child and family services 
building on the current locality and cluster arrangements.   

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.  The report is not 
subject to call in because the CYPP is part of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework.  Subject to the exceptions set out below, the   following may be called 
in to be reviewed and scrutinised by the relevant Scrutiny Board:  

• all decisions of the Executive Board;  

• Executive decisions taken by the Health and Wellbeing Board; and  

• Key Decisions taken by Officers. 
 
The power to call in decisions does not extend to;  
 

• Decisions which have been the subject of a previous Call In;  

• Decisions made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules;  

• Decisions made by the Leader in relation to the executive arrangements  

• Decisions made by Community Committees;  

• Decisions made under regulatory arrangements;  

• Decisions made by Joint Committees; or  

• Decisions not taken by the authority  
. 

  

 

Page 360



 

7 
 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 Risks will be updated when the proposals for the CYPP 2015-19 are known. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Significant progress in improving outcomes over the lifetime of the CYPP 2011-15 
can be demonstrated and is an indication of the strength of our partnership 
working and commitment to the plan.  However, significant and complex 
challenges remain.  Consultation on the CYPP for 2015-19 which is due for 
approval by full Council in April 2015 will focus on developing our understanding 
of the challenges and the best strategies for tackling them. 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board note and comment on the proposals for initiating the 
conversation about the shape of the Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-19. 

6.2 To note the officer responsible is the Chief Officer, Partnership, Development and 
Business Support. The decision to be implemented by April 2015. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None. 

                                            
1
 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 361



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Community Centres Review - Proposals to Consult
	7 Leeds Homes Refurbishment Standard
	Leeds Refurbishment Standard Appendix A EIA 301014

	8 Supply of Specialist Housing for Older People
	Specialist Housing for Older People Report Appendix EDCI Screening 101114

	9 Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds: Proposed Next Steps
	Better Lives Report Appendix 1 111114
	Better Lives Report Appendix 2 111114

	10 External Provision of Home Care Services
	External Provision of Homecare Appendix 1 - 23 10 14
	External Provision of Homecare Appendix 2 23 10 14 finance
	External Provision of Homecare Appendix 3 - 23 10 14

	11 Leeds City Council Social Care and Health Capital Fund
	12 Financial Health Monitoring 2014/15 - Half Year
	13 Capital Programme Quarter 2 Update 2014-2017
	14 Treasury Management Strategy Update 2014/15
	15 The Health and Social Care Financial Challenge in Leeds
	16 Temple Mill
	Temple Mill Report Appendix Plan 101114.
	Temple Mill Report Appendix EIA 101114

	17 Design and Cost Report for Playing Pitches and Land at Woodhall Lane, Pudsey, LS28
	Woodhall Lane Report Appendix Plan 101114
	Woodhall Lane Report Appendix 1 101114 EXEMPT

	18 Leeds City Centre Business Improvement District
	BID Report Appendix 1 10114
	BID Report Appendices 2&3 101114
	BID REport Appendix 4 EIA 101114

	19 Next Steps in the Brownfield Land Programme
	Brownfield Land Programme Report Appendix 1 071114
	Brownfield Land Programme Report EIA 071114

	20 Design and Cost Report for NCP Car Park, Harper Street, Leeds
	NCP Car Park Report Appendix 1 071114 EXEMPT
	NCP Car Park Report Plan 071114
	NCP Car Park Report EIA 071114

	21 Connectivity Improvements to South Bank
	South Bank Report Appendix I Plan 071114
	South Bank Report Appendix II 071114 EXEMPT
	South Bank Report Appendix III EIA 071114

	22 Outcomes of Statutory Notices to increase primary school provision in Armley and Bramley & Stanningley
	Increasing Primary Provision Report Appendix SOAB Minutes 071114

	23 Children and Young People's Plan 2015-19

